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VISION

We Strive To Win And Never Accept Defeat.

MISSION

To Become The Largest Technology Player By 2027




©ptcl ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GROUP CORPORATE
VALUES

=) D 7
“AY
@
Be Think Win Value
Resilient Big Every Battle Success




oard Of Directors

Mr. Azfar Mr. Abdulrahim Mr. Ahad
Manzoor A. Al Nooryani Khan Cheema

CHAIRMAN NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Mohamed Mr. Imdad
Karim Bennis Ullah Bosal
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR




®©ptel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Ms. Brooke Mr. Jawad
Marie Lindsay Paul Khawaja

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Khaled Mr. Khalid
Hegazy Murshed

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR




CORPORATE INFORMATION

Management

Mr. Hatem Mohamed Bamatraf
President and Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Mohammad Nadeem Khan
Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Naveed Khalid Butt
Group Chief Regulatory Officer

Ms. Zahida Awan
Group Chief Legal Officer & Company Secretary

Mr. Jafar Khalid
Group Chief Technology & Information Officer

Mr. Ahmad Kamal
Group Chief Customer Care Officer

Mr. Muhammad Shehzad Yousuf
Chief Retail Sales Officer-Fixed Line

Mr. Shahid Abbas
Group Chief Internal Auditor

Syed Atif Raza
Group Chief Commercial Officer &

Group Chief Marketing Officer

Syed Mazhar Hussain
Advisor to President and Group CEO

Legal Advisor &
Company Secretary

Ms. Zahida Awan
Group Chief Legal Officer & Company Secretary

Bankers

Conventional

Allied Bank Limited

Askari Bank Limited

Bank Alfalah Limited

Bank Al Habib Limited

Citibank N.A.

Deutsche Bank A.G.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Faysal Bank Limited

First Women Bank Limited

Habib Bank Limited

Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited

JS Bank Limited

MCB Bank Limited

National Bank of Pakistan

Samba Bank Limited

Soneri Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited
Bank Makramah Limited

The Bank of Khyber

The Bank of Punjab

United Bank Limited

Zarai Taraqiati Bank Limited

Mobilink Microfinance Bank Limited
Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited

U Microfinance Bank Limited

Pak Kuwait Investment Company Limited
Pak Brunei Investment Company Limited



Islamic

Al Barka Bank (Pakistan) Limited
Bank Islami Pakistan Limited

Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited
Meezan Bank Limited

MCB Islamic Bank Limited

Registered Office

-ptel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

PTCL Head Office, Room # 17, Ground Floor (Margalla Side),
Ufone Tower, Plot # 55-C, Main Jinnah Avenue, Sector F-7/1,

Blue Area, Islamabad

Fax: +92-51-2310477

Email: company.secretary@ptclgroup.com
Web: www.ptcl.com.pk

Auditors

EY Ford Rhodes,
Chartered Accountants

Share Registrar

FAMCO Share Registration Services (Pvt.) Limited
8-F, Near Hotel Faran, Nursery,

Block-6, P.E.C.H.S., Shahra-e-Faisal,

Karachi

Tel # 021- 34380101-2

Fax # 021-34380106

Email: info.shares@famcosrs.com




Management leam

Mr. Mohammad
Nadeem Khan

Financial

Mr. Naveed
Khalid Butt

Group Chiel R
Office:

Mr. Hatem
Mohamed Bamat

Mr. Jafar
Khalid

sroup Chief Tech
& Information Officer

_ Mr. Ahmad
Ms. Zahida Kamal

fC




©ptel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Mr. Shahid
Abbas
Group Chief Internal
Mr. Muhammad Auditor
Sheh Yousuf

Syed Mazhar
Hussain




Operating and Financial Highlights

Year ended Dec 31 2024 2023

Key Indicators

Operating profit margin % 11.37 8.23
Net profit margin % 4.48 9.75
Fixed assets turnover Times 0.82 0.81
Debtors' turnover Times 1.90 2.10
Return on equity % 4.15 8.33
Return on capital employed % 5.32 3.99
Earnings Retention % 100.00 100.00
Gearing Ratio 52:48 48:52
Debt ratio % 74.85 69.72
Current Times 0.73 0.80
Quick Times 0.70 0.74
Earnings per share Rs 0.95 1.84
Breakup value per share Rs 22.57 23.01
Dividend payout ratio % - -
Price earnings ratio Times 28.82 6.64
Market price to breakup value Times 1.21 0.53
Dividend per share Rs - -
Dividend Yield % - -
Dividend cover ratio Times - -
Market value per share Rs 27.27 12.23
Revenue Rs (m) 107,766 96,267
Profit/ (loss) before tax Rs (m) 6,885 13,906
Profit/ (loss) after tax Rs (m) 4,826 9,391
Dividend Rs (m) - =
Share capital Rs (m) 51,000 51,000
Reserves Rs (m) 64,108 66,368
Shareholders' equity Rs (m) 115,108 117,368
EBITDA Rs (m) 31,927 26,286
Working capital Rs (m) (57,917) (33,942)
Current assets Rs (m) 160,037 133,153
Total assets Rs (m) 457,686 387,602
Non Current Liabilities Rs (m) 124,625 103,138
ALIS as on Dec 31 No. (000) 2,252 2,345
Average ALIS per employee No. 156 156

* Exclusive of Primary and Basic Rate interface

12
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2022 2021 2020 2019
5.85 5.42 4.80 6.90
10.85 8.94 8.40 8.87
0.75 0.73 0.69 0.73
2.48 3.01 3.31 3.88
8.72 7.10 6.64 7.41
3.10 3.13 2.72 4.02
100.00 100.00 100.00 19.65
40:60 29:71 27:73 30:70
63.97 58.27 55.45 55.39
0.83 0.76 0.86 0.87
0.77 0.71 0.82 0.80
1.78 1.35 1.18 1.24
21.19 19.54 18.43 17.21
- - - 80.35
3.44 6.45 7.70 7.52
0.29 0.45 0.49 0.54
- - - 1.00
- - - 10.68
- - - 1.24
6.10 8.70 9.10 9.36
83,444 76,853 71,804 71,548
13,513 9,682 8,493 9,331
9,053 6,874 6,030 6,347
- - - 5,100
51,000 51,000 51,000 51,000
57,054 48,653 43,010 36,751
108,054 99,653 94,010 87,751
21,882 20,631 19,592 19,986
(21,058) (24,662) (12,812) (10,400)
105,367 79,881 76,744 68,835
305,160 245,735 223,600 209,994
70,681 41,539 40,035 43,008
2,407 2,468 2,454 2,467

156 153 151 156
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Operating and Financial Highlights

Graphical Presentation
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CHAIRMAN’S
Review- 2024

The telecommunications sector in Pakistan driven by technological advancements, is witnessing growth
due to increased demand for mobile and broadband services, and healthy market competition. Mobile
services are expanding, with significant increases in mobile data usage and broadband subscriptions,
indicating a shift towards digital connectivity. The sector benefits from innovation and competitive
pricing, with improving ARPU (Average Revenue Per User). Broadband penetration is rising, with wireless
at 56.58% and total broadband penetration at 58.08%, while mobile subscribers have reached 193
million. Competition among mobile operators is expected to intensify as they aim to increase ARPU and
grow their subscriber base, whereas the investments for provision of high-speed data services will be key

driving force for the industry.

PTCL Group's performance was driven by strong revenue growth across multiple segments. It retained
its position as the leading FTTH operator, holding 36% market share. The mobile segment experienced
the highest recharge growth in the industry, fueled by the expansion of 4G services and improved ARPU.
Additionally, the Data Center, Cloud, and ICT services reflected a significant growth, supported by a
broad customer base that includes public, private, and international clients. PTCL Group achieved an
impressive 17% revenue growth and posted revenue of PKR 219.8 billion for the financial year 2024,
reinforcing its status as Pakistan's top integrated telecom services provider, driven by strong
performance in consumer segments like fixed broadband, mobile data, and wholesale & business
solutions. PTCL registered a 12% year-on-year revenue increase, while Ufone (PTML) reported a 25%
year-on-year growth. Ufone's improved financial position, supported by strong topline growth and cost
optimization measures, enabled it to achieve a positive operating profit with an EBIT of PKR 4.6 billion. U
Microfinance Bank (Ubank) was recognized as the Best Microfinance Bank for Islamic Retail Banking

Offerings in Pakistan at the 2024 Islamic Retail Banking Awards.

PTCL's revenue for the year reached PKR 107.8 billion, driven by robust growth in fixed-line, wholesale,
and business solutions. Flash Fiber, PTCL's premium FTTH service, led the market in 2024, capturing a
significant share of the industry's net additions. The company reported an operating profit of PKR 12.2

billion, reflecting a 55% year-on-year growth, and a net profit of PKR 4.8 billion for 2024.

The share purchase agreement signed with Telenor Pakistan in December 2023, is expected to conclude

in the first half of 2025, pending regulatory approval and customary conditions.

The PTCL Board of Directors and its sub-committees, through their proactive approach and conscious

efforts, have played a key role in providing the roadmap that enabled management to achieve the

Source: PTA website for Industry related numbers.
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milestones set for 2024. Throughout the year, the Board and its
sub-committees remained mindful of the risks and challenges faced by the
Company and the Group. By implementing proactive mitigation strategies and
maintaining foresight, they closely monitored the Company’s as well as Group’s
performance through regular meetings. The active engagement of the members
provided the management with effective direction, leading to significant
improvements in PTCL and PTCL Group's performance. The Board has also
been actively pursuing Ubank to develop its transformational strategy, which is
expected to drive its turnaround in the coming years, providing a fresh
perspective for the Group. We are committed to harnessing our core strengths
and directing our efforts to ensure PTCL Group continues to provide innovative

solutions that drive growth and enhance the customer experience.

In conclusion, on behalf of the PTCL Board and PTCL Group, | would like to
assure all shareholders that we are dedicated to utilizing our expertise to deliver
maximum value to PTCL and its shareholders. We look forward to an even more

prosperous year ahead for PTCL Group in 2025.

-

Azfar Manzoor

Chairman, PTCL Board
Islamabad: February 11, 2025
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PRESIDENT
& GROUP CEO’S (MESSAGE)

We are proud to share that 2024 has been a year of remarkable achievements and transformative milestones
for PTCL Group. As we continue our journey to becoming Pakistan’s leading techco, we remain dedicated to
innovation, customer-centricity, and national digitalization.

One of the most defining moments of 2024 was our continued progress in the acquisition of Telenor Pakistan.
With the signing of the Share Purchase Agreement in December 2023, we have taken a significant step
forward in redefining the telecom landscape in Pakistan. Once completed, this acquisition will not only expand
our reach but also strengthen our capabilities to offer seamless connectivity and a superior digital experience
to millions of Pakistanis.

PTCL Group remained steadfast in its commitment to delivering best-in-class services. Our flagship FTTH
service, Flash Fiber, has maintained its dominant position in the market, achieving significant growth in new
connections. By prioritizing customer experience and aggressive network expansion, Flash Fiber has become
synonymous with fast, reliable, and uninterrupted internet services. Similarly, our business solutions segment
expanded significantly, with state-of-the-art Data Centers and Public Cloud platforms offering scalable,
secure, and efficient digital infrastructure to government institutions, enterprises, and startups.

In 2024, we introduced a range of innovative services tailored to enhance the digital lifestyle of our customers.
The launch of the SHOQ TV Box transformed the entertainment experience, offering a diverse selection of
content through an Android TV-powered platform. Furthermore, our WhatsApp Bot revolutionized customer
support, ensuring seamless self-service options for billing, service management, and product inquiries.

Ufone 4G continued its exceptional performance, with record-breaking growth in subscribers and a
strengthened market position. The launch of value-added services, such as international roaming offers and
digital financial solutions, reinforced Ufone 4G’s position as a customer-centric brand. The digital brand ONIC
also witnessed unprecedented success, with exponential growth in subscribers and revenue, proving that the
future of telecom is truly digital-first.

Beyond business success, 2024 was a landmark year for PTCL Group in terms of recognition and
partnerships. We were honored with multiple prestigious awards, including the GSMA Global Mobile Award for
‘Best Mobile Innovation for Emerging Markets and the SAMENA Telecommunications Council’s ‘Best
Business Strategy and Expansion’ award. Additionally, our brand partnerships with national sports icons such
as Arshad Nadeem and the Pakistan Hockey Team helped us connect with the nation’s youth and reinforce
our commitment to sports development.

Corporate social responsibility remained at the heart of our mission. Through our ‘Dil Se’ platform, we
empowered communities with initiatives that truly made a difference. Our ‘Ba-lkhtiar’ program continued to
uplift women entrepreneurs by providing them with digital tools, financial literacy, and vocational training. We
took pride in facilitating the participation of exceptional women entrepreneurs at GITEX Global in Dubai, where
they showcased their talent on an international stage.

We also launched impactful community initiatives under ‘Act of Kindness,” ensuring access to clean drinking
water, providing e-bikes to university-going girls, and enabling the deaf community with an Al-powered early
warning system in partnership with GSMA. Our dedication to public health was evident through our
collaboration with UNICEF and NEOC on a nationwide polio eradication campaign, leveraging Ufone’s
extensive network to raise awareness and encourage vaccinations.

Despite global economic uncertainties and industry challenges, PTCL Group remained resilient, adaptive, and

24




forward-thinking. As we look ahead to 2025, we are confident that our strategic
vision, technological advancements, and unwavering commitment to customer
satisfaction will drive us to even greater heights.

| extend my deepest gratitude to our valued customers, employees, and partners
who have been integral to our success. Your trust and support inspire us to push
boundaries, innovate fearlessly, and continue shaping the digital future of
Pakistan. Together, we will forge ahead, creating new opportunities and
redefining possibilities for the nation.

Thank you for being part of our journey.

Hatem Mohamed

Bamatraf

President and Group Chief Executive Officer
Islamabad: February 11, 2025
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Drectors of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited {FTCL) are pleased 1o presant the Annual Repart,
along with the audited financial statements and the auditors’ report, for the year ended December 317, 2024,

FTCL Group delivered an outstanding double-digit revenus growth of 17% In the financial year 2024, The Group’s
excegtmrnai parfommance reaffinms s posiion as Pakistan's leading integrated telecom servics provider

PTCL's revenue surged to Rs 107.8 billion, reflecting a 12% increase from 2023, dnven by strang growth in
Fixed-line, Wholesale, and Business Solutions. Fiash Fiber, PTCL's pramiusm FTTH service, dominated the markst
n 2024, secunng a substantial share of the Industny’s nat-additions. The company reported an operating profit of
Rs 12.2 billion, marking a 56% growth over the previous year, and a riet profit of Rs 4.8 billion for 2024,

An overview of the Company's performance dunng the year is outlined balow

Industry Outlook

In. 2024, Pakistan's economy stabilized under an IMF-led plan, with jkey indicators:showing s:gruficant
improvemeant. Inflation and policy rates daclined notably, the PKR maintained stability aoainst the US Daollar,
and GOP growth remained steady. The telecom sector navigated a dynamic landscaps shapad by ecanomic
recovery, reguiatary reforms, and shifting consumer preferences. White resilient, the industry faced challenges
such as low ARPL lsvels, tising aperational costs, and experisive Imported equipmerit. Despite these Hurdles,
the telecom sector continued to be a key driver of digital transformation, financial iInclusion, and enterprize
connectivity, playing a pivotal rele in the nation’s economio advancement.

Cellular subscriptions grew to 193 million, a 2% increase from last year, with teledensity reaching 80%. Mobile
broadband adoption expandsad by 11% year-on-year, surpassing 128 milien sul=onbers, driven by Increasing
digital =etvice adoption and smariphone penetrafion. The number of 4G subscribers ross slonificantly,
pushing 4G penstration tn 63.3%. Ufone 4G showcasad remarkable resilience, expanding ifs subschnber base
to over 26 milion—achieving a 4% increase compared fo the industry’s 2% growth. The company enhanced
monetization through strategic data bundles and premium services, supporting ARPU growth. ONIC, Ufons
4G's digital-first brand, gained strong traction among tech-savvy cansumers.

Fixed broadband subscriptions grew to3 million, reflecting 24% growth in 2024, FTCL's continued mvestment
in Flash Fiber accelerated fiber =xpansion, strengthening its market leadership with over 650K subsaribers and
the highest net additions in the industry. The trarsition from copper 1o fiber reshaped the fixed broadband
landstape, enhancing network reliabl|ity and service quality. By the end of 2024, PTCL's total fixed broadband
subscribers reached approximately 1.7 million, driven by growing housshold demand for high-speed Internst
and entarprse connectivity.

The indisstry contended with persistent cost pressures due to high energy tanffs and operational expenses;
prompiing telecom opsrators o impiement cost-optimization strategies. Regutatory and taxation challenges;
mncluding high GST on telecom services and digital levies, further impacied affordability and mvestment
potential, Operators focused on ARPU enhancement, cost efficiencies, and network modarnization to sustain
profitabiity. PTGL Group spearheaded fiber expansion efforts, reinforcing its infrastructure to support
next-geneation connectivity soiutions.

Looking ahead, the telecom sector = po=ed for sustained growth, with key opportunities in 85 readiness and
fiber rietwark expansion The Industry confinues to experience a surge in data consumption and digital
services, with Increasing demand for OTT plaiforms, viden streaming, e-commerce, and b@n&ﬁ solutions.
Addifionally, the nsing nesd for cloud computing, data’ caniers, and ICT senvces—particularly among
enerprises and SMEs—undetscores the sirategic role of telecom operators i Pakistan's digital
transtormation.

FTCL Group remains at the forefront of this evolution, leveraging Ifs robust infrastructure and expeiise to




©ptel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

enhance senvice offerings and support businessss in thelr digital acceleration journay. With a customer-cantric
approach, operational resilience, and strategic expansion, the Group is well-positioned to navigate challenges
and capitalize on emerging oppertunities in the evelving telecom landscape

Financial Performance

FTCL Group posted a revenue of Bs 218.8 billion, driven by rohist growth i consumer segments, mcluding
fixed broadhand, moblle data, whaolessle, and businsss solutions.

TheGroup's susiained topline growih and ngorous cost optimzation measures resulied in & 188%: incregsa in
operating profit. Due to higher finance costs compared to the previous year, the Group reporiad a net loss of
Rs 14.4 billion; however, this marks a 74% improvement over fast year.

Revenues

PTCL maintained its strong financial performance in 2024, achieving a récord-breaking annual revenue of As
1078 billion, a 12% yeasr-on-year incresss from 2023, This growth was primanly drven by outstanding
performance in broadband, wholesale, and business solutions.

FTCL's ‘aggressive FTTH expansion enhanced its sxceptional topline growth. Building on lest year's
momenturn, PTCL prioritized delivering the fastest and most reliable infemet sarvices through s flagship
FTTH brand, “Flash Fiber." This customer-ceninic sirategy sclidified PTGL's market dominance, capturing the
migjority share of nst addiions i the FTTH segment. The fixed broadband business recorded & 20%:
year-on-year growth, while Flash Fiber witnessed an unprecedented 104% year-on-year sxpansion.

in 2024 PTCL Gr&up further cemented its pesition as Pakistan's premier digital enabler by significantly
expanding its cuiting-edge Data Centers and Public Cloud platfomms, encompassing laaS, PaaS, and SaaS.
The company enhanced its enterprise offerings, delivering secure, scalable, and efficient Multi-Cloud solutions
through its natiohwide infrastructure to a diverse-clientele, ncluding government bodies, public and private
institutions, major banks, startups, and system integrators. FTCL's commitment to innovation was evident In
its next-generaiion Data Centers and Cloud Platforms, ensuring seamiess connegiivity, robust data security,
fester processing spesds, and reliable disaster recovery solutions.

Ufone 4G achieved a 25% year-on-year growih in topline revenue during 2024, demonstrating remarkable
resilience and sxpansion dcross multiple fronts. This growth was propelled by ar enbanced customer
expeniance and sirategic digital engagement through data-cenltric products and key partnerships with leading
digital platforms. Ufone 4G's impressive growth undersceres its commitment to customer excallence and
digital innovaiion:

Profitability

The.company reported an aperating profit of As 122 billlen, reflecting:a 5% growth over last year, and a net
profit of A= 4.8 billlon far 2024 PTCL's earnings per share (EPS) for the year are Rs 0.85.

Ufone 46 achisved a positive operating profit with an EBIT of PKA 4.8 bilion representing a 1943 increase as
compared to last year

FTCL Group's reported a net loss of Rs 14.4 billlon, reflecting an improvemeant of 14% compared to the
previous year.

Cash Flows

PICL strategically utiiizad its cash flows toward expanding its F1TH network to capitalizz on the increasing
demand for high-spesd intermat. Simultansously, efforts were made to maintain copper network to sustain
revernue streams and acquire custarmers in areas without FTTH coverags. Targsied investments were alao
directed toward strengthening the bisiness services segment to drive revenus growih. In parallel, Ufone 4G




continued expanding Itz 4G network, optimizing spectrum utilization to enhance miobils intermet services.
PTCL Group's comprehensive strafegy reflecis its commitment te maintaining competiiveness and
addressing evoiving consumer demands

Appropriations

Mo dindend was recommended by the Beard of Directors for the financ:al year 2024 inview of the company's
requiremant for network expansion of PTCL s FTTH and Utone 4G, other network Upgiada requirements and
invesiment in subsidiaries

Other Matters

There are no material changes andfor commitments affeciing the financial posifien of the Company which
have ocourred betwean the end of the financial year and the dats of this report.

Your attention is drawn to nete 14.7 of PTCL's financial statements as well as note 187 of the consoljdated
financial statements for the year, which sxplain that the matters reiating to certain employess’ nghts under the
PTCL pansion scheme are pending with variols courts, as highlighted by the external auditors| in their audit

reporis

PRODUCTS & SERVICES -
CONSUMERS

The year 2024 has been a transformative one for PTCL Group, marked by remarkable schisvements and
significant milestones. Commitied to delvenng exceptional services; the erganzation continues io dove
innovation, snhance cusiomer satisfaction, and spesrfead Pakistan's dightal transformation. With an
unwavering focus on becoming the country's leading technology company, PTCL Group has sirengthened ils
positien.as a plonser in the ndustry.

Wireline Broadband

PTCL s strategic expansion of its Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) network has been a key dnver of iis impressive
revenue growth, reinforcing its position as the leading provider of home Internet connectivity. Building on last
year’s momentum, PTCL’s flagship Flash Fiber brand has set new benchmarks in speed and reliability,
significantly enhancing customer satisfaction: Thie customer-first appreach. has enabied PTCL to capture-a
substantial share of FTTH subscribers, accounting for appraximately 50%6 of industy net add|tions.

In 2024, PTCL's fixed broadband ssgment achieved an outstanding 20% year-oves-year growth, with Flash
Fiber axperiahcing an exgeptional 104% Inchease. The company now senves over 650,000 FTTH subseribers,
with ongoing network esxpélrﬁinn delivering remarkable results. More than 1.5 million hames are now Flash
Fibes-ready; undersconng FPTCL's continued commitment to advancing Pakistan’s high-speed internet
infrastrlctune,

SHOQ

Beyond broadband, PTCL Group introduced the SHOGQ TV Boax, powersd by Andioid TV by Goodle. This
cutiing-edgs pmduc:t m'd&algﬂeﬂ to redefine the TV viewing experience, offering an enriched mix of
entartainment and news: FTCL has also ed the way with the industry’s fist-aver cord-cutting initiative,
enablirig IFTV multicast fransmission ovel wiralass networks —satting new standards for digital entertainment
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WhatsApp Bot — A Game-Changer in Customer
Service

Az an industrg-first infiative, FTCL's WhatsApp Bot Has revoluiionzed customer ssrvice: by streamlining
inferactions and enhancirng user convenience. This Al-powsred solifion allows users to subserbe to gpeed
bolt-ans instantly, register and track complaints effortlessly, access biling detalls, and make bill payments
through FTCL s groundbreaking partnership with PayFast. With thess innovations, PTCL continuss to push
boundaries, offsring customers a seamless and more sfficient digital experience

Syl FLASH
Optel FE8h

Pay Your PTCL Bill

'IN 3 CLICKS WITH

WHATSAPP BOT
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PRODUCTS & SERVICES -
BUSINESS

A= g wailblazer in the telecommumications industry, FTCL Business Solubions continues io push the
boundanes of innovation, solidifying its position ‘as the undisputed technology leadar in the B2ZB telecom
market The business ssgment achisved 1% YoY amowth. By levetaging siate-of-the-art solufions,
cutting-edae Infrastructure, and an unwavering commitment to digial frensfomation, we empower
businessss o thrive In an Increasingly interconnectad world. In 2024, we achieved major milestones In cloud
services and IGT solutions, moludmg the successiul deployment of Pakistan’s first bapking cloud. Cur cloud
offerings have redafined industry benchmarks for scalability, securnty, and performance, enabling businesses
to transition seamilessly imo hyvibnd and multi-cloud emvironments. Thess socomphshments underscore our
shility o daliver transformative solitiots that mest the evalving neads of our clients, ensuring fhey maintain a
compsiifive edge In 2 dynamic markeiplace




Enterprise Solutions

PTCL Enterprise Sclutions remained on track with several key initistives and projects. The focus remained on
expanding our exsting portfolio—Cloud & Connactivity—while making inroads into emerging domains such as
IoT and terminats: While our core offenngs continued to serve businessss through connestvity, managed
services, and cloud & securty solutions, we also made a significant impadt in the wireless connectivity sector,
secunng one of the largest GSM customers n the market and ensunng seamless connestivity for pilgnms
dunng their sacred joumey. Additionally, PTCL played a crucial role in powering a Safe Gity infrastructure,
reinforcing secunty and surveillance capabliities through its robust network. Thanks to PTCL s trusted brand
reputation, we are also managing the sunveillance and secunty infrastructure of 8 major bank

In 2024, Enterprise Solltions sustained consistent growth, seouring sirategic 10T and cloud projects while
expanding its core connectivity business atross both public and private sestors. This success grew by an
aggressive sales strategy, Innovative product management, and an unwavering focus on customer needs,
allowing PTCL to broaden its customer base and penstrate new market segments.

As a key dilver of Pakistan's digital transformation, PTCL has expandsd iis Enterprise Solutions porifolio
beyond connectivity, positioning iself as a trusted digital pariner for businesses. In alignment with Iis
digital-first vision, PTCL expanded Itz corporate customer base by introducing ploneering loT solutions,
including U-Telematics and U-PTT Additionally, we enterad the Device-as-a-Service {Daal) ssgment, offaring
loT tarminals bundled with connectivity, further strengthening customer engagemsant and retention

With a sharp focus on acguiting new enterpnse customers across diverse indusines, PTCL suocessfilly
entared the Fitech sector, faciitating seamless transactions through handheld POS devices powered by
FTGL's connegivity and integrated with Terminal Managesment Systems (TMS), Today, FTCL serves IGT and
Cloud customers agross key industnes such as education, finance, healthcare, and FMOG. As the national
camear, PTCL continues to position itself as a key enabler of Pakistan's digital ecosystem, dedicated 1o
accelerating digital transformation for busmesses. Looking ahead, we remamn committed to leveraging
strategic parinerships with leading technology providers to dellver future-ready, Gutfing-2dge solutions:

International Solutions

PTGL Intemational Solifions has further strengthened its position as a leader in the telecommunications
sector, driving inrnovation, expanding connectivity, and delivering uriparalleled value to its customers. With a
strategic focus on data centers, hyper-scaler connectivity, and nexi-genaration technalogies, we have
achieved significant milestanes that reflect our commitment to excellence and growth,

In alignment with global digital transformation trends, PTCL Intemational Solutions has prioritized the
expansion of hyper-scaler connectivity and the development of state-af-the-art dafa centers. By hosing
nodes for giobal content and garning providers, we have gignificantly enhanced the customar experience,
reduced latency, and ensured seamless connectivity.

A kay highlight of the year was the successiul finalization of the A2P SM5 contract with e& UAE. This stfategic
parinership not only secures long-term revenue but alse miroduces advanced firswall implementations,
strengihening neftwork secunty and ensunng rellable sepice, This colleboration wnderscores PTCL's
commitment 1o leveraging global alliances to drive revenue growth while deliering securs, high-guality
messaging solutions

Additionally, the PTCL/Uforie 4G wholesale team made remarkable strides in expanding 5G (NS8Aj and LTE
footprints worldwide. In 2024, we successfully extended 5G NSA services to 13 cuuniries and expanded LTE
coverage to over 50 destinations. reinforcing PTUL's role as a key player in the global telegcommunications
landscaps.

Bullding on extensive temestnal connesihity comdors with nelghbounng countries, FTGL remamns commiiied
to ' becoming a regional transit hub for data and voice connectivity. This year, we capitalized ori the Pak-China
corridor (CPEC) for Trans-Pakistan Cannechivity manetization, unlocking new revenus sireams and fosterning
regional collaboration, Additiopally, the expansion of stbmanne cable capacity has further strengthenad
digital sovareignty and intermnational connectivity. FTCL s launch of PIE Karachi (powersd by De-Ch s sat o
revolutionize reglonal connectivity and data exchange
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Amidsvoiving mdustry challenges—such a@s OTT proliferation and grey traffic termination— FTCL Intemational
Solutionis has demansirated resllience by proastively collaborating with regulatory bodies like FTA, CMOs,
and the LB industny. This ensures the protection of voice busmess revenuss while maintaining service
axcallence. Moving forward, PTCL Intemationa! Solutions remams dedicated to driving Innovation, sxpanding
conpecityity, and delivanng exceplional value, reinforcing s role as a leader In the global t=lzcom landacape.

Carrier Solutions

in FY 2024, PTCL Carrier Wholesale Business conftinued to strengthen stralegic parinerships with all major
telecom industry players, ncluding Celivlar Mobile Cperators, LOUFLL providers, Telecom |nfrastructure
providars, [5Ps and defence institutions.

With a stgie-of-the-art intematonal submanne cable network, compnsing four diverse routes [AAET, SMWA.
IMEWE, and PEACE) and a new cable, Africa-1, in the pipeline, PTCL is well-pesitionad to cater to the nation’s
growing data nesds. Additionally, PTCL's nationwide fiber-oplic netwotk, equipped with multiple redundant
link=. resillent core netwolks, melre access, and Ter-2 certified data centers, has solidified its reputation as
the pariner of choica for the carrer Industry.

Recognizing the growng demand for camier-grade ICT selutions, FTCL expanded (ts portfolio beyond
copnedtivity, Introducing Managed Security, Manasged DDoS, Managed DNES, CDM-as-a-Sarvice, and
Carrar-neuiral IXP services in collaboration with Rading 1CT suppliprs. This fmnsfomation positions PTCL as
a comprehensive selthon provider rather than just a connectinty provider

; ,] BUSINESS )
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SME Solutions

Committed to sxcellence; PTCL SME Solutions mantained jts strong: growth Wajectory in BY 2024 by
strategically enhancing s product portfolio, slevating customer experience, and oplimizing oparatonal
sfficiency

The digitalization of the Lead-to-Cash sales joumney has improved opststional tansparency, enabling
real-time maonitoring of key performance metrizs such as Mean Time to Provision (MTTP} and Mean Time to
Fesolve (MTTH). Addiionally, the snd-fo-end cusfomer supperd joumey was revamped, including an
Upgraded IVA system and a dedicatad short cods (4000) for PTCL and Ufene 4G networks, ensuring seamlsss
accesaiflity

PTCL EME Sclutions also pionesred next-generation tschnologies, mling out m=-Wi-F, NG Firewslis, and
SaaS solutions to enhance operational efficiency and security for SMEs. A groundbreaking milestone was the
deployment of Pakistan's first 6G-ready Digial Indoor System (D13 for mdoer mebility coverage in residential

35




and commercial projects. Additionally, FTCL developed ISP-as-a-Service, extending fts reach bayond
fixed-line infrastructure 1o tap into untapped market potantal.

This progressive strateqy underscores PTCL Group's commitment 1o driving digital transformation for SMEs,
ansurng businesses receve value added services beyond conventional conneciivity.

SUPPORT FUNCTIONS

Network Infrastructure

The year 2024 has been a landmark penod for FTCL Group, defined by groundbreaking technological
advancaments that have laid a-strong foundation for future growth. The company has successiully sxecuted
strategic initlatives focused on network expansion, capacity enhancement, and the deployment of
cutiing-edge solutions to drive both commercial success and opargtional efficiancy.

In the fced broadband segment, PTCL achieved record-breaking milestones, delvenng 500,000 FTTH heme
passes in 2024, This sucoess was driven by maticulous plarining, early ODN design provisioning, preciss ISP
furecasting, and sfficlent inventary management. The mpld expansion of GPON also fasilitated the sirategic
fiberization of 238 Ufone 4G sites, contributing te FTGL's 56 readiness roadmap. Additionally, the successiul
deployment of the ONT Network Locking solition across existing vendors has effectively mitigated device
pllferage, addressing crifical commeatcial demands:

A breakthrough in transport infrastructure was the Jaunch of PTCL's Super Core Transport Network, delivering
200/4005G per wavelength over an ultra-lang-haul network. Desigred with industry-leading resillence; this
network can withatand up fo seven simultansous physical fiber cuts, ensuring unparalieled relablity and
performances,

These achlevements underscore FTCL's unwavering commiiment i innovation, efficiency, and service
excellence. As we move Into 2025, we remain focused on strengthening our network capabilities, ambracing
nexi-genemtion technologiss, and delivering an unmatched customer expenarics.

Information Technology

PTCL excalled in axecuting projects that propelled digital trensformation, enhariced operational efficiency, and
elevated customer experiences. The auccesshul implementation of major nitlatives across IT Transformation,
Cloud, Enterprse Data Network, Contact Center, and IT Platform Services refiects PTCL's commitmest fo
technological innovation and business agiiiy.

Under the [T Transfarmation Program), PTCL revamped Its Fixed Product Portfalio, aligning offerings with buginess
objectives and drving revenue growth through key strategic inftistives. A major breakthrough in supply chain
managemant was the Implementation of senalized imveniory for Broadband CPEs, enabling end-to-end tracking
and improved operational efficiency

Customer experience was mgnﬁmarrtly enhancad through a Proactive Care approach for Broadband Services,
reducing customer complaints via preveniive measurss, Additionally, the successhul replacement of the legacy
Unica Campainn Management System with a new Customer Value Managemernt (CVM) System resultad in a
100%+ increase In customer engagement.

In Data Center Operahms. FTCL reinforced fis lesdership by completing a 90-raok Data Center readiness project
and obtaining Ti&-242-C Rated 3 and |S0 2000 certifications, solidifying its position as Pakistan's lamest carfified
co-location provider The company also upgraded its Cloud Services infrastructure, achieving POl DSS
accreditation; easuring the seamiless migration of critical workloads with zero downtimea.

The Enterprise Data Network (EGN) underwent a major infrastructure refresh at the CDC, Incorporating SON
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solutions like ACI and next-generation firewalls, significantly iImproving security, agility, and efficiency. Meanwhile,
IT Piatform Optimizations saw the migration of 0S5/85S workioads to IBM Powsr1D servers and the depioymeant
of Red Hat OpenShift, boesting scalability, performance, and cost sfficiency.

The Contact Centsr domain witnessad a transformative upgrade with the migration to UCCE 12,6, integrating Al
capabiiities to optimize cusiomer interactions, reduce response times, and onboeard new BPO clients saamiessly.
These accomplishmants reaffim PTCL's dedization to comtmuous innovation, operational ewce|lence, and
customer-cantiic service enhancement, positioning fhe company as a |eader in Pakistan's digital fransformation
jourmey and a trusted partner for businesses nationwids.

People & Organization

In 2024, PTCL Group remained steadfast in culbivating a winning culture-anchered m our corporate values—Be
Reslliant, Think Big, Wirs Every Batile, and Value Success, Thesa principles were furither einforcad through the
Values In Action program, an expenential |saming initiative designed for both management and
non-managemsent smployees. This program fostered a culture of excsilence, encouraged innovatan, and
promoted continuous professional growth across the arganization,

Our unwavering commitment to employes: engagement and workplacs axcellence was exemiplified by an
exceptional 78% engagement score in the Employes Voices Survey, surpassing both global and {schnology
industry benchmarks. This remarkable achievement refiects the successul integration of our corporate values
inta the employee experience solidifying PTCL Group's reputation asan employer of choice in the telecom
secion

L=adership engagement remained pivotal in fostering @ dynamic and inclusive work ermarFonment. The
Hreakfast Serles an Interactive platform that enabled emplovess to engage dirscily with leadership, continuad
to promote open dialogue, coliaboration, and accountability. Prioritzing employes well-being, we dedicated
an entireguarter to initiatives mimed atenhancing both mental and physical heaith. Programs such as Wellness
Wednesdays arnid Team Days strengthened workpiace relationships and promoted a holistic approach o
well-being, enriching the overall employee experience.

WE STRIVE TO WIN & NEVER ACCEPT DEFEAT

PHemtyiofiee # Ty Mo fEpress Your Tatont

PTCL Group r=affirmed s commitment to continuous leaming and leadership development; achigving an
impressiva 123,867 leaming hours, including 37,214 digital leaming hours. Key initiatives, such ‘as the
Leademhip Expeciations Immersive Program for Vice Presidents, provided an in-depth understandinig of the
Leadership Expectations Model, helping shape the organization's leadership DNA. Addittonal programs,
including the Leadarship Academy for Directors and the Feople Managsr Toolkit Workshops, were fallored to
strengthen leadership capabiities at all levels. Thess comprehensive initiatives played a vital role in culinating
2 resllient, futureready leadsership pipeline. equipping our Jeaders with the skills nesded to navigate an
ayar-avolving business [andscape.

Significant strides were made in talent management and employ=e recognifion throughout 2024, To furiher
embead a culture of appreciation, PTCL Group expanded its digital recognition Initiatives, celsbrating




employvess with awards such as On-the-Spot Awards, Star of the Month, and Alphz of the Quartsy,

Cur talent management framework was further strengthened, faciiitating over 480 talent moves through the
Talent Management Suite. These Included leadership advancements, latefal movemants, =sscondments
attachments, and stretch assignments, snsunng that emplovess had ample opportunities for professional
grawth
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BUILDING A WINNING CULTURE THROUGH
RECOGNITION

LOG INTY THEE GTARWALL APP | APRMYSTANWALL.COM
A TRENTY TTIRBE & INY FARE 2 E X PRESYOMITALERT POWERED BY STARWALL

Our commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inglusion (DEl) remains focused on gender, youth, and disabiiity
molusion, As par of owr progressive approach, we miroduced the DE Charter, a trapstormative framawaork
desigried to diive sustainable and meaningful change. This charter resnforees our dadication o inclusiee hirng
practices, leadarship development, and equiteble growth cppariunities, festering a workplace where individuals
frem 2l backgrounds feal valued, respected, and empowered  Bayand the workplace, we leverage digital and
financial Incluslon to bridgs accessibility gaps, empower underrepresented communities, and oreals widespread

50Gial Impact

Throlgh Impactiul DEl inilatives—such as the Intemational Day of Psople with Disabiliies. the Breast Cancar
Awaranegs Campaign (Pinkitbar 2024), and Intermatidnal Women's Day—FTCL Group continies to champion
workplace diversity and empioyes well-baing. These efforts not anly foster an inclusive corporate culfure but atso
contributz to 3 broader societsl vision where women and marginalized groups have equal opportuniiies o
suecesd

As we advance this fransformation, oaur visioh remains clear o be a calalyst for sustainable gender inclusion,
paving the way for a more eguitable and progressive fulure Togsther, we are bullding 2 world of egual
ocppaiunities

A roblst Health, Bafety, and Erwironmental (HSE) framiewaik remained central to our operations in 2024 Kay
mitlafives included the strengthening of safeély protocals trough risk vebinars, emergansy mock drilis, and
digital safety courses, The establishment of the HSE & Sustainabiity SteerCo, led by the Fresident & Group CED,
played a crucial rofe in implementing life-saving rulss, waste management programs, and workplase safely
policies. Additionally, the publication of a blenmal report covenng GHG emissions, sustainabllity initiatives, CSR
contributions, and solar energy projects reinforced PTCL Group's commitment to environmental responsibility.
Enhancements 1o the HSE Reporting & Incident Managemearnt Teal further streamlined ircident racking and
resolution processes
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Digital mnovation remained a key sirategic priority, driving significant advancements in fleet management and
emplayee services. The launch of the #MyRids Flest Management Salution fransformed vehicle booking, driver
database management, and real-time tracking. Additionally, 1,900 vehicles were sucoessfully migrated to an
advanced trackng platform, ntegrating geo-fencing and event-based alerts to enhance oparational sfficiency.
Mathonwids fraining programs ensured smooth adoplion & effective utilization of these d!gdal sotutions

The PeoplaCare Experience Hub played a pivotal role In enhancing employes servicss In 2024, introducing the
WhatsApp CareBot, which provides 24/7 real-time support. Further digitalization efforts included the launch of
a digrtal housing faailitation glatform, enabling employees to-apply for housing, track application statuses, and
sireamline approval processss with sgsa. These imbaitives demonsirate our ongoing commiment io
enhancing the employee experience and operational sifclancy.

Disclosure of Gender Pay Gap

At PTCL Group, we are deedly committed to fostering an inclusive and sguitdbie workplace, ensuring that all
employees are fairly compensated for their contributions, regardless of gender. Qur Gender Pay Gap Report
provides a transparent analysis of mean and median pay differences between male and female esmployees.

Gender Pay Gap - Mean 10%a
Gender Pay Gap - Median 239

Median Hourly Wage Mean Howty Wage
Male 2018 _ 668
Female 2,952 | 600 |

While we have made sanificant stndes in namowing the gender pay gap, we rémain focused on further
advancing gendsr equity across the organization. Our goal s 1o create an environment whers all employess
have egual opportunities to arow, thrive, and succsed at PTCL Sroup.

Customer Care

FTCL Group remained steadfast in is commitment to enhancing the overall customer expesnence by
strergithening network stabiity, reducing complaimt resolution tme, and Improving broadband speed
perdormance. Cusiomer centricity has alwayvs _heen the comerstone of PTCL Group's strategy, driving the
launch of variois inftiatives ta uphold Ufone 435's market leadership in Nat Promoter Score (NPS) and elevate

the Customier Happiness Indsx (CHI)




As part of the cusfomer expatience program, FTCL Group executed a comiprehensive customers joumey
transtormatian inifiative, dimed at streamlining onboarding, complaint resclution, and other ortical progesses. This
inMative marked a sigrificant shift from reactive lo preactive: care by leveraging the cutting-sdoe capabilities of the
Nokis Service Management Platform. Through proactive measurss, FTCL Groub can now identify and resalve
customer (ssues even before they are reparted, emsunng ssamiess service delivery

With a vision to leéad the irdustry in Flash Fibier customer experience, PTCL Group infroduced a dedicated Flash
Fiber Customer Experience Program, offesing premium customer support and enhanced s=rvice levels.
Additionally, in collaboration with 28 FTCL Group Custerner Care-has integrated industry best practicas through
the Customar Exparlence Framewdrk and the Moments of Trith Program, further elevating the cverall senvics
ERPENETE.

Al & Automation: Transforming Customer
Experience

Al and automatian are at the heart of PTCL Group's customer expenience strategy, drving the implementation of
state-of-the-art Al-powered solutions acrss key areas of Custorner Care:. One of the miost significant
advancaments has been the introduciion of an Al-powerad Quality Assurance Bot, which Ras revolutionzed
Oty Assurance processes, providing real-fime senfiment analysis and desp insights to facilitate prosctve
SOIVICE ITproveTents.

Expanding its customer s=if-service capabiiities, FTCL Group has intgrated WhatsAop with Neksa's advanced
Semvice Management Flatfonm and consolidated seff-care services on webchat These digital innovations have
empowerad customers, significantly Increased s=lf-cars adoption rates while sireamlining servics accessiblity,
Further reinforcing s digital transformation, PTCL Group successfully launched e-Gilling, resulting in 5 substantial
slnge in customar adoplion.

Demonsirating iis unwavering commitment toservice exsallence, PTCL Group mantained its top mnking in
third-party mystery shopping assessmenis, reinforcing its dedication to delivernng best-In-class cusiomear senvice.

Contact Centers: Strengthening Customer
Engagement

PTCL Group Contact Centers have played & pivotal roleas a direct link between the company and its
customers. By Implementing segmented and priantized treatment, PTCL and Ufone 4G helpline services
have been significanily enhanced, ensuring fasier and more personalized support

Bevond seamless customer sarvice, the Contact Centsr has emerged gs 3 stalegic business driver,
coniributing to revenue growth through new sales Initiatives and outbound CVM campaigns. With a strung
emphas:s on customer retention and win-back strategies, PTCL Groun's Customer Care team has positivaly
impacted the company’s boftom ling, strengthening customar loyaity and long-tesm engagement.

Reaffimming its commitment to service excellence, FTCL Group has succsssfully maintained its 150 90072018
certification, underscoring its dedication to continuous Improvement and sdherence to the highest guality
standaids.

Setting Industry Benchmarks in Customer Care

Through a sirategic blend of innovation, operational excellence, amd customer-centric intiatives, FTCL Group
continues to redefine Industry benchmarks. With an unwavering focus on digital transformation, Al-powersd
senvice enhancements, and proactive customer engagement, PTCL Group remains a leader in customer care.
reirforcing Its vision of delivering exceptional and seamless service experignces.
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MARKETING & COMMUNICATION

It all began with a transformative milestorie—itiemarger of Telenor Pakistan into the FTCL Group family. Once
finalized, this strategic Integration will not only reinforce PTCL Group's leadership In the fslecom sectar bt
also pave the way for a digital revolution, ersuring ssamiess cannectinty for milllons across Pakistan

A GAME-CHANGING LEAP

i =]
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Recognizing the nation’s nsatiable passion for oncket, we infreduced SHOQ TV, offienng. free Inve sireaming
o bring the sxcitemient of the garne directly to fans across the country. This imtiative camented PTCL Group's
rale as a driving force In digital entertainment, ensunng thal no moment of the action ls missed

Spesd remains the defining factor in the fiber infemset category, and fo remforce Flash Fiber's
position—parficulardy among younger audiences—we broughl on Haris Rauf and Naseem Shah as brand
ambassadors. Ther aw paca and aleatnfying enargy perfeatly embody the essence of Elash Fiber, making
tham theideal faces of our high-speed connectivity revaluton.

But our jnnovations extended far beyond connectivity. We redefined financigl convenienca with the
introduction of UPaiza money transfers, Mastercard integration, and intermational remitiances services, making
transactions efforiless, secure, and widely accessible Further stréamlinimg the digital experlencs, we
launched the UPTEL app. which unified My tHone and FTCGL Touch inta a single seamiass platform. This
inriovation not only earned a stellar 4 d-star mting fram users but also saw an impressive 3.97 milllon monthly
achive users, setiing a new benchmark in digital convenience

Empowering Communities, Transforming Lives

Our mest impactiul Inifiatve of 2024, Bl 52 Ba-lkhiar, empowered 100 women with digital skills. fostzring
financial independence and unlocking new oppodunities: for growth. Howeyer, this- was. just the
beginning —FTCL Group is commitied fo expanding this movenent 1o 20 more districis, reaching millions and
driving meaningful, lasting changs

Through #aaTheDigitaiExpert, we eguipped mothers with the conhdencs to navigate the digital world, whila
a dedicated Digital Safsty Bookle! ensurad their anline experlences remalnad sacure. The DIl 32 movement
became 2 symbal of hope, spraading joy and empowearment—from Eid surprises for commuters fo e-bikes for
voung worien, snabling safer mobility. We also addressad basle human nesds, installing hand pumps in That
lo provide clean drinking waler o underseved communities
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CELEBRATING MOTHERS THE DIGITAL EXPERTS!

KI KHUSHI BAN'NA MUSHKIL
BAS JO BHI KARO, KARO <
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Reviving Pakistan’s Sporting Legacy

Sporis are the Reartbeal of Pakistan, and while ericket dominates the natlonal stage, FTCL Group belleves in
upiifiing all athletes and reviving non-manstream sporis, 4s 3 brand, we are commitisd o elevating
underrepresanted sports, giving them the recognition and support they deserve.

We proudly celebrated Pakistan's golden sporting mements, from Arshad Nadeam's fistoric gold medal win,
fmmontalized in our "Aye Jawan Sesnatan” campaign, o reigniting national pnde in hiocksy through
EHockeyHaiPakistaniShaan, As Pakisian's hothkey t2ams triumphed on the world stage, we siood at the
forefront. reminding the nation of its rich sperting hertage and the glory it continues to achisve.

D uine

Building a Smarter, More Connected Future

2024 wasn'{ just a yvear of milesiones; it was a testament to PTCL Group’s unwavenng cammitmient Lo shaping
a smarter, more connected, and more empowerad Pakistan. And a5 we look fo the future, one thing &
certaim—1this 5 just the beginning, With innovation, inclusivity, and impact at the core of our vision, we are
building a fufure whiere every Pakisiani has the power to thrive:

Procurement

In an aver-svolving global economic and logistical landscape, PTCL Group hes remained steadfast in ensuling
seamliess supply chain management while cultivating strategic partnerships to drive long-term, sustainabls
value crestian
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Throughout 2024, PTCL Group successfully implemented transformative inftistives aimed 'at optimizing
procurement procasses, strengthening vendor relatianships, and enhancing cost efficiencies. A key milestone
was the successful adoption of BAP Ariba, reveiutionizing procurement opsrations by fully automating the
vendor onboarding procsss. This culting-edge advancement has not only streaml|ined opefafions and
minimized manual Intervention but also bolstered transparency across all procurement activities.

Furthering its digial transformation’ joumey, PTCL Group erhanced workflow efficiencies, expanded
automation, and reinforced data-driven decision-making to 2levate procurement performance. Expanding the
vendor base remained & strateqic prionty, with a strong emphasis on supplier diversity and inclusion. By
fostering infovation through strategic callaboiations, FFCL Group successfully mitigated risks and aghieved
significant cost savings without compromising quality or supply chain reliability.

Despile persistent global supply chain disruptions and market unceriainfies, PTCL Grolp ensured the
uninterrupted supply of critical goods and services through proactive risk mitigation sirategies and seamless
giakeholder coordination. By upholding robust govemance siandards, procuremsant processes were further
strengthensd to reinforce transparency, compliance, and oparational excellence—ultimately anhancing
sarvice dellvery and customer satisfastion,

Looking ahead, PTCL Group remains committed 1o continuous innovation, deepening supplier partnerships,
and hamessing siate-of-the-an procurement technologies 1o support its shiategic objectives and drive
sustainable growth.

Regulatory Affairs

In 2024, FTCL Group aclively engaged with both Infermal and extermnal stakeholders fo create an epabling
reguiatary environment that faciitates the implemeantation of strategic intiatives, reinforcing s position as
Pakisian's leading telecornmiunications sefvice provider:

Key regulatory consultations included amendments to Telecom Rules, the Over-The=Top (OTT) Regulatory
Framework, the Draft Framework for Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNO), Data CVAS Licenses, Tarifl
Regulations for Cellular Mobille Telecommunication Services, Intemational Moblle Feaming Service
Guidelnes, the Rsgulatory Framework for Radio Local Area Networks (RLAN), Wholesale 1P Bandwadith
Reselling, Amendmenis to AccoUnting Separation Regulafions, Ravisions to Radio Base Station Charges, and
Adjustments to Numbsering Charges

Thi sector regUlator resognized PTCL Group's effolts In pionsering Mational Boaming in Pakistan, particUlarly
for enhancing conneciivity along the Makran Coastal Highway. Furthermore, PTCL Group confinues to
collaborate. with other operators o leverage Infrastructure Shanng oppertunities. By ensunng technical
readiness for Active Sharing (MORAN) in aligneent with the Framework for Telecom Infrastructure Sharing,
FTCL Group s driving efficiency and expanding network accessibility.

Thise first-af-their-kind inftiatives supporied by prograssive policy and regulatory measures, slongsids PTCL
Group's strategic business collaborations with Innovative service providers and its landmark merger and
acquisition. initietves, will not only enhance oparational sffictency and sarvice gquaelity but also deliver
significant environmental benefits through enargy conservation and a reduced carbon foolprint.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

Corporate Secial Responsibility (CSR) = an integral part of a company's identity, refleciing its commitment to
making a meaningiul impact keyond financial success: Engaging in initiatives that benefit communities s not




lust a responsibilily but ‘an sppeiiunity to drive positive social ‘change. By Investing |In commirity
deveiopment, corporations play a arucial rale in fostering susiainable and Inclusive growth

Ih 2024, PTCL Group continued its dedication to CSR through 4 diverse fangs of initiatives, reaffiming its
commitment o making a tanglble difference In socisty

DIL SE - A Social Impact Platform

DIL SE s FTCL Group's social impact platform, designed to promote digital melusion, compassion, and
nnovation. Bullt on thres core plllars—Techd!nclusion, Act of Kindnass, and Social Innovation—it sarves as a
catalyst for uplifting communitiss and addressing erticab socistal challenges in Pakistan

Undar Techdinclusion, DIL 3E spearheads transformatnve initiatives. Ba-lkhhar, the flagship project
smpowers women by squipping them with digital skills, financial independence, and entrepransurial
capabilifies. Ancther graundbreaking Imtialive is PFTCL Group's parnership with ConmectHesr, South Asia's
ieading ass=tive technology startup; revoluionzing disaster respanse tor the deaf community In Pakisian
Through Al-powsred solutions, this project ensures life-saving information reaches desl mdividuals during
emergendies, even in low-connechivily areas

The Act of Kindness pillar 1= rooted in the belief that 2ven the smallest acts can creals prefound change. This
initiztive fosters collective compassion, proving that simiple gestures can have lasting imipacis.

Meanwhils, Social Innovation supporis slarups tackling pressing socistal Issues, nuturmg solutions that
create meaningiul, leng-term change: By svolving with emerging challenges, this pillar ensures that
technotogy and innovation continus to serve humanity.

Through BIL SE, BETCL Group 1s not just bndging gaps—it s building a future where technology, empathy, and
progress go hand in hand

optel ufone@®  Lan
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Ba-lkhtiar

The Ba-|khtiar Fregram is a colleborative initiative between PTCL Group and the Pakistan Poverty Alleviation
Fund (PPAF) aimed at empowering wamen entreprenslrs by providing tham with digital and financial tools to
establish sustainable home-based businessss.

The pllet program was launched 0 Haripur, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Identifying 100 semi-skilled wamen aged
T8-28, most of whom held bachelor's or master's degress but lasked formal business opportunities. Thess
wamen recaived 15 days of advancad training at TEVTA Haripur, where they refined thelr craftsmanship and
|zarned new tachinigues

FTCL Group provided them with fres smanphones equipped with Ufone 4G 5lMs, offering a year of free
Intemat access, along with activated UPaisa mobile wallets to facllitaie digital transaciions, U Microfinance
Bank (U Bank}, & PTCL Graup subsidiary, conducted digital financial teracy sessions at FTOL Hanpur Stafi
College, teaching participants how to manage bank accounts and mobile wallets, while also offering
microfinance loans to ligible beneficianes.

To further strengthen their entreprensurial jouney, Daraz, Pakistan's leading s-commesrce platfomm,
conducted hands-on fraining on seiting up seller accounts. lisfing products, and managing online siores,
followed by bliweskly support sessions

The progmam's success was evident as gradustes began running their businesses online, marking the start of
their sociceconomic mobllity journey. PTGL Group continued to suppart them by providing opportunities to
ghowcase their work on national and intemational piatforms, Including Lok Mala; Pakistan's largest cultural

and heriisge featival, Where then hardmade preducts recaived widesporsad recognilian

To honor their achisvements | a high-profile graduation ceramony wes held in Islamabad, attended by the
UAE Ambassador, key stakeholders, and prominent personalifies from various indusitiss—including sporiz,
fashion, entertainment, and Business—who applauded these women's resilience and hard work
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The Road Ahead

PTCL Group's commitmeant o these women extends beyond training. Moving forward, the Group will:

. Fasllitate startup registrations with seed funding to scale thelt businesses

. Provide worsspace at PTCL Haripur Siaff College.

. Arrange exposure visits 1o textile factories in Faisalabad.

' Caliaborate with leading brands, potantially securing dedicaled retall spate for thelr produsts:

- Offer advanced tralning on Shopily and Mata Suite to enhance digital sales sxpertiss,

. Provide ongaoing mesntorship through PTCL's Razekaar Progliam, ensuring susiained business growth.

By brdging the digital divide and fostering sntrepreneuwrship, Ba-lkitiar exsmpliies PTCL Group's
commitment to women's economic and digital empowsmment,  transforming lives and inspmng similar
initiztives across Pakistan:

Act of Kindness — One Gesture at a time

The Act of Kindness pillar of DIL 3E is driven by the betsf that every gesture, no matter how small, can create
waves of positive change: Through a serss of mesningful inibatives, PTCL Group contimues fo spread
compassion and inspire generosity in sociaty.

From surprising Eid travellers with festive gifis 1o empowening young girls with e-bikes for independent
commuies and installing clean water weils in Thar for 15:000 people, FTCL Group has impacied lives in
diverse and meaningiul wayvs.

Notable Initiatives Under Act of Kindness:

. Khushiyon Bhari Eid Train: Utone 44 surpnsed travellers heading home for BEd with complimentary
tickets and gifts, bringing unexpected joy fo ther journeys. A recipient summed it up: "UHone 4G
always says “Turri HI Tau Ho,' but today, thay truly proved it"

. E-Bike Initiative: Female students receved e-bikes, granting them Independance and security. This
initiative is more than just an upgrade in mobiiity—it's a step toward empowenment.

Thar Clean Drinking Water Project PTCL Group installed hand pumps in five villages in Umerkat-Thar,
providing clean drinking water to over 15,000 people
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More CSR Highlights

. Gandhara Citrus Festival 2024: PTCL Group sponsored this svent in Taxia, pramoting citrus and
olive cultivation while presening Gandhama’s rich heritage and traditional stone carving art.

. Bano Achai Ki Misaal (Ramadan Campaign): Encouraged nationwide charitable glving through digital
ouireach, supporiing organizetions llke Shaukat Khanum, Pink Ribbon Pakisian, and indus Hospiial

. Disaster Relief in Balochisiamn: Irstalled a2 stafe-of-the-art water filtration plant in Gwadar in parinarshin
with Pakistan Red Crescent Socisty to provide clean drinking water to flood-affectad communities

. Annual Blood Donation Drive: Held on World Blood Donor Day [June 74), FTGL employess actively
pariicipate, ranfolcing the company’s culture of compassion.

. Polio Awareness Campalign with UNICEF: Launched awarenass initiatives using Ulons 4G's extensive
network, edusating communities on pollo vaconation

. Tech for Tomorrow (Pehli Kiran Schools Initiative): Upgraded digital leaming by replacing outdated
interriet devices with Blaze technology, ensuring unintenupted educalion for undersarved childran,

. Breast Cancer Awareness (Pinktoberl: lluminated PTCL Tower in pink, conducted awarensss
sassidns, and supported Shaukat Khanum Memorial Hospital and Pink Ribbon Pakistan.

. ConnectHear Partnership: Developed Al-powered emergency alerts for the deaf community,
addressing a entical gap m disaster responss.

. Empowering Youth through IT Incubation: Provided fres broadband services to Hope Uplift
Foundation's IT center In Lahors, enabling digital skills training for uniderserved youth,

. School Supplies for Cholistan's Mobile Schools: Distributed school bags to childran in remote desert
aregs ensUring sceess to guality education

Building a More Resilient Future

PTCL Group's participation in the Humantanan Conmectivity Charter Workshop 2024 further reaffirmed its
commitrnent 1o levetaging technology for disaster resilience, ensuring searnless comimunication during
emegencies.

Through these nitiatives, PTCL Greup is not just a telecommunications provider—it 5 a force for positive
change. fostenng digital iInclusion, community empowerment, and sustanable development across Pakisian

SUBSIDIARIES

Pak Telecom Mobile Limited

In 2024, Pakistan's economy showe] signs of stablization under an IMF-led plan, wifh key economic ndicators
improving sianificantly. Inflation and policy rates declinad, the Pakistani Rupss maintained stiabllity against the US
Doliar, and GDP growth remaned steady. Despite these positive trends, the telecom sector continued to grapple
with parsistert challenges, including low Average Revenue Per User [ARPU), high aperational costs, and rising
expensas for imported equipment. Nevertheless. the industry remained a comerstone of digital ransformation,
financial inclusion, and enterprse connectivity, playing a crucal rokein dnving the country’s economic progress:

The telecom Industry experienced notable expansion, with eellular subscriptions riging to 193 millien—a 2%
increase from the previous year—white fele-density stood at 80%. This growth expanded pomarily by Incredsing
digital adoption and 3 siirge in smartphone penetration. The numbat of 4G subscribers saw substantial growth,
pushing 4G penetration fo 63.3%. Amid this evolving landscape, Ufone 4G demonstrated resilisnce, expanding s
‘subscrber base to over 26 million—a 4% increase that outpaced the industry’s average growth of 2% Lone 4G's
stiategle focus on monstization thiough targeted dafa bundles & premijum sesvices contributed to #2 ARPU growth




The cutiock for the telecom sector remains eptimistic, with significant epportunities emerging In 5G readiness. The
n=ing demand for data consumpton and digig! senices— including OTT platforms, widao streaming, e-commerce,
and business solutions—presents a substantial growth avenue for tslecom operators.

In 2024 Utone 4G achieved remarkable growth, recording a 25% year-on-year revenus increase. This Succass was
drivein by a strong emphasis on customer experience, digital engagement through data-centic products, and
strategic parinerships with leading digital platforms. By the end of the year, Ufone 4G's subsariber base had
exceaded 26 million, with more than 17 million being 4G users. This achievemnent was largely attnbutable te Ufone
4@'s investments in network modsmization, customer expaiiences enhancament. and bedhnologlesl nnovation.

The year 2024 marked a milestone for Ufone 4G, with significant technological advancements providing a strong
foundation fof fulure growth. The company’s technology t2am successiully execuied key shategic intiatives,
including network expansion, capacity enhancement, and the deployment of cutting-edge solutions to drive
commercial objectives and operational efficiency

Ufone AG reached & major milestone with the rollout of 2,046 LTE 2100 rafarming sites. 303 x 4T6S sector spiits,
and the:deployment of 50 Massive MIMO sclutons to enhance capacity. Additionally, the company lsunched 21
new sites, contributing to 2 28% year-on-year increase in 4G data fraffic by Desember 2024. These improvemeants
slleviated congastion in key markets, significantly enbancing the customer experience.

The company also made strides in national roaming, launching 2/36G rational roaming with Jazz along the Makran
Highway and preparing for 2G/3G/4G roaming with Telenor on 47 sites—a move that is expecied to reduce costs
for themerged antity

On the teshnological front, Ufone AG made significant advancements in voice senvices, rapidly expanding s VoL TE
certification to 5.2 millon cartified devices and reaching 2 8 milion active Vel TE subscribars. This nbatve aligned
with the company’s sirategy to phasz out Its 35 nebvork while modemizing its core infrastruciure through the
expansion of its Smgle Packst Core platform

Utone 4G's commitmant to Innovation transiated Into outstanding business parformancs, achisving the highest
recharge growth in the industry with a 27% year-on-year increase in 2024. The company =iipassad the PKR 2
bilion and PKR 10 billicn monthly recharge milestones, further sclidifying iis strong market pesition. its success
was iargely driven by ‘a customer-ceniric spproach, enhancing user expenence, and deepening digital
engagement A key factor in this growth was Ufone 4G's seamless integration of value-added services (VAS) into
its core offenngs, ennching the overall digital ecosystem.

One of the company's standout iInnovations was the launch of the UPTCL app, which merged My Ufone and FTCL
Touch into & unified platform. This inmative was met with widespread eustomer approval, acheving an Impressive
4.4 user rating and e monthly aciive Usor Base of 3.97 millen, sating a new benchmark for comvenience and
customer safistachion m the telecommunications ndusiry.

Ufone 4G remialined gteadiast In s comimitment to enhancing the overall custorner experignce. The campany
focused on network stabiliy, faster complaint resolution, and an improved wireless experience. With customer
centnoity at its core, Ufone 4G intreduced several inihatives to uphald is leadership in Nat Promater Score (NP3,
snsuring continued trust and satisfaction among its users.

In 2024, Ufore 4G further strengthened s presence in Pakistan's markst through a strategic partnership with
Peshawar Zalmii, one of the miost prominent franchises In the Pakistan Supsr Leagus [PSL). This coliaboration
urderscorad Ufone 4G's dedicalion to supporfing sports and resonaling with the nation’s deep passion for ctickst
The partnership signficanty enhanced the brand's wisbiity dunng one of Pakistan’s most-watched sporting
Eyams.

As part of its marketing strategy, Ufone 4G faunched the highly engaging 'Data Bohhagat Hal® campaign, featunng
grickel stperstar Babar Azam. The campaign went beyond taditionsl adveriising, employing disruptive and
integrated marketing strategies that resonated with audiences, Ufone 4G's brand presence exiended far beyond
conventional media, making a significant impacst durnng the PSL, T20 World Cup, and Zalimi Women's League,
further strengthening its connection with cricket enthusiasts and sports fans.
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As an apnual praciice, Wfone 4G parinered with Pink Ribbon Pakistan te launch a month-long bresst cancer
awareness campaign. This initative was aimed at educating the public and making a meaningful Impact in the fight
agairis! breast cancer, reflecting the company's comimitrnenit 1o sooial respansibiifty.

ONIC coantinues to redefine the telecom expenance, driving remarkable growth n 2024 The company achieved a
threafold inctease in B0-day active subscoribers, a sevenfold surge I revenue, and Introducsed over 40 feslum
enhancements throughout the year, reinforcing its commitmment to innovation and cusiomer-cenine solufions.

U Microfinance Bank Limited — U Bank

Despite a challsnaing economic landscape charactenzad by inflahon, uncenainty, and financial constraints: L Bank
demonstrated remankable resilienca in FY 2024 Staying true to fs mission of financal inclusion, the bank remalned
focused on expanding depasits and disbursements, diversifying s business segmenis, and snsunng capial
presenvation. With-an extensie natonwide presence of 303 branches: U Bank continues o provide accessibie and
molushve financal senvicss to 3l segments of soclety across Pakistan

Througheout 2024, U Bank enhanced s product portfolo and revenue streams while strengthening its market
pasion. The bank disbursed over PKR 68.7 bilicn, reflecting substantial growth in total leniding, Its loan portialio
exhibited a well-balanced mix of assets and Iiabilities, demanstrating improvad financial strength, By the end of the
vear, U Bank reportad a daposit closing of PKR 126:6 billionand a Gross Lean Portfolio of PKR 89.6 billon.

The lslamic Banking divislon expenenced exceptional growth, closing the year with a Gross Financing Portfolio of
PKR &4 billon and total annua! dishursamernts of PKR £ 2 billion: Additonally, the dvisionactieved ts highest-aver
deposit closing of PKR 8.3 billon, reinforcing It arowing footprint in the lsamic financse sector

Significant progress was made acress the corporate; retall, digital, and Islamic banking segments, each playing a
prvatal rdle In revehue growth. The bank's mobile wallet user bade sypanded by 800,000, and total remitinnce
transactions surpassed 44 000, further strengtheming U Bank's position n the digital banking space.

U Bank's achisvements weke recogrized on multiple prestigious platfonmis in 2024, The bank was honored as the
Best Microfinance Bank for Islamic Retail Banking Offerings in Pakistan at the Cambridge [FA Awards and received
the Giobal Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Banchmarks ([GDEID) Award in four categones. Notably, U Bank also
became the first micrafinance bank In Pakistan 1o be recognized as a Registered Training Organization outside
Practice (TOoF) by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakestan (ICAPL

Committed to community development, L) Bank actively promoted financial Iiteracy, agricultural Wraining, and
wormen's empowerment (nitiatives. As pant of PTCL Group's ‘Ba-lkhtiar' CSR Program, the bank trained 100
women entreprensurs 0 Hanpwr, fostenng financial independence and business acumen, Addibonally, U Bank
played an active role in the State Bank of Pakistan’s National Financial Literacy Program (NFLP} and Agriculture
Financial Literacy Program (AFLP), reinforceng its commitment to sconomic empowsarmeant.

With & year marked by remarkshle achisvements. U Bank confiriles to drive firancial Inclusion, sconamic
upliftment, and digital transformation across Pakistarn.

DVCOM Data (Private) Limited - DVCOM Data

DVCOM is a 100% owned subsidiary of PTCL with 5 MHz spectrum in the 1900 MHz band. The licenss for the
spectium being used by DVGOM Data has-expired during the year. PTOL plans to merge the DVCOM into
PTCL

Smart Sky

Smart Sky, a wholly owned subsidiary of FTCL, was originally establishad to provide Direci-To-Home [BTH)
entertainment services. Howaver, the company was unable to securs the necessary |icemse for DTH

operations, imiting s ability to launch senvices.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has fully complied with all material requirements outlined in the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Govemancs) Regulations, 2018 (hereinafter refered to a5 “the Regulations™), as well as the
Pakistan Stock BExchange Regulations {PSX Regulations). The Board of Direstors hereby confirms the
fullowlng In adherance to these Regulations:

Compliance — General

- The Company's vision, mission statement, corparate values, and overall strategy are formulated,
adopted, and penodically reviewed by the Board as deemed appropriats.

. A formal Code of Conduct 1s in place.and publicly accsssible on the Company’s website.

. Rebust systems arnid controls, including a whistle-blowing policy, have been implementad to identify
and address grievances arising from unsthical praciices.

. The intemal conirol framework, including financial controls, is weil-structured in dasign and has bean
sffectively implemanted and continuously monitored

. All material transactions and significant matters are dacided by the Board of Directors and
management, In accordancs with the delegation of authority approved by the Board.

- A comprehensive record of significant policies is maintained, including details of their approval and
any amendments made over time.

. The Company has not deviated from the best practices of eorporate governancs, as outlined in the
Reaulations

Compliance - Financial Statements & Auditors

. The financial statements; preparsed by the management, present a true and fair view of the Compamy’s
financial position, opefational resulfs, cash fliows, and changes in equity.

. Proper bools of secounts are maintained, ensurmg financial transparency and accouniability

- Apptopriate accounting policies have bean consistently applied, and financial estimates are based en
prudent and reasonable judgment.

n The financial statemenis have bean prepared In compliance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as applicable In Pakistan, with full disclesure of any deviations.

. There are no significant concems regarding the Company's ability to confinue as a going concam.

. The Audit Committes has recommiended the appointment of EY Ford Rhodes, Chartered

Arcountants, a5 the Company's sxtamal auditors for the financal year ending Decamber 31, 2025,
and the Board has endorsad fhis recommendation.

. Infermation regarding outstanding taxes and levies s disclased in the notes 1o the financtal
siatomants.

. Detalls of aggregats remuneration, perquisites, and benefits recaived by Directors have besn
disclosed in Note 29 of the financial statements.

- A comprehensive disciosure of related party transactions is provided In Note 43 of the financial
sigtemenis.

. The statement of vaiue of investments related o employees’ retirement plans s included in MNote 7.4

of the financial staternents.
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Compliance - Board Performance

. A strugtured and effective mechanism is in place o conduct an annual evaluation of the Board's
parformance, including that of iz commitizes.
. At the beginning of each Direcior's term, the Chairman of the Board issues a formal letier cutlining the

Director’s role; obligations, powers, _réﬁpr::rnaihumﬂs, remunaration, and entitiements, in accordancs
with the Companies Act, 2077, the Company's Articles of Asseciation, and relevant policies.

* The Baard has formally approved the Directors’ Remuneration Palioy, 2nsuring alignment with best
corporaie govemnance practices. Direciors recaive fees for attending Board and comimittes meastings,
with the Board ensuring that sueh ramuneration does notl comproimise their Indspendence and
incentivizes value creation within the Company.

. Dwring the year, the Company armanged the Directors’ Training Program (OTF} for two Directors,
fulfilling the prescribed certification requirements. Additionally, 2 manual detailing Directors’ roles,
responsibilities, obligations, and powers was provided to them,

. In compliance with clauses 561 and 5.6.4 of the PSX Regulations, the Board of Directors has
established the threshoid for identifying employess of the Company who are classified as Execuiives.

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors FBoard”) comprises nine Members. Pursuant to the provisions of the Shareholders
Apteemant batween the President of Pakistan on behalf of the Government of Pakistan ("GOP") and Etisalat
Infemational Pakistan ("Sirategic Investor), as well as the Articles of Association of the Company, the GOP
nominaies four (04) Members on the Board of the Company, while Straiegic Investor nominates five (05)
Members The present Board consists of nine (9) directors as follows

Male: Eright

Female: One

The compesition of the Board Is as follows:

| | Independent Directars None
i | Mon-executive Dirsctors

Mr. Azfar Manzoedr, Chaitman
Mr_ Abdulrahim A Al Noonyani
Mr. Imdad Utleh Bosal

Mr. Jawad Paul Knawa@

Ur. Khaled Hegazy

Mr_ arad Khan Cheema

Dr. Mohamed Kanm Banms
Ms. Brooke Marie Lingsay

Mr. Khalid Murshed

= R IR = TS O B S

il | Executive Dirsclors
v | Famaie Birectors

| =

Further, during the year, the Tollowing pemsans were members of ine Beard:

Name of DireciorMember Mame of Director-Membar

=
o
=
in

-

Ms: Brooka Marie Lindsay

Mr. Azfar Marzoot M. Abdulahim A Al Mooryani
2 | ‘Capt (Fetd) Murammad Malmood & | Ms:Brooke Marig Lindsay
3 | Mr. Hassan Nasir samy 3 | Br. Mohamsed Karm Bennis
4 | Mr lawad Paul Khawaja 10| Mr. Khaled Hegazy
5 | Mr. Imdad Ullsh Bosal 11 | Mr. Mikhail Gerchuk
& | Mr Ahad Khan Chesma 12 | Mr. BKhafld Murshed




The Diregiors, CEQ and Executves, do not hald any interes! in the shares of the Company other than that
disclosed m the pattemn of sharsholding.

The 'Closed Perdod!, plior 1o the announcemen of imefim/final results, was determined, end business
decisions, which may matenally affect the markat price of Company’s securities, wers determined, and
imtimated to Direciors, employess. and the stock exchangs Material'pnce sensifive information was
disseminated among all market parficipanis thiough the sidck exchiange

Compiianca statemsant with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Govemance) Regulations, 2019 and
Auditors Revigw thersoh by statutory auditors are part of this repon. Chalrman's Haview, Notice of Anhuzl
General Masting, historical business indicators, composition of the Audit Committes; the Human Resource &
Remunaration Commities; the Investmeant & Finance Cornmitizs, the nurnber of Board Mestings, attendance
of Directars, and Shareholding Pattern are also part of this repart

RISK MANAGEMENT

Enterprise Risk Managsment (ERM) i3 a furidamental pillar of PTCL's strategic exscution, recoghizing the
ever-avolving risk landscape and the unceriainties within our oparating envirenment. The nead for preactively
idantifying, assessing, and mitigafing ksy risks has become meressingly oritical over time. Ineffecive nisk
management could hinder the achieverment of our strateglc goals, Impact Gustomer experences; damage our
reputation, weaken our financial poaition, and fall short of sharehoider expectations:

The Baoard, through thie Audit Commitize, provides ovarsight of PTCL s ERM, ensuring its s=amiess Integration
into decision-making processes. Te support this, we have implementad a robust ERM Policy and Framework
that shapes the company's risk profile. This profile undergoes continuous monitaring through the identification
and evaluation of potential nsks affecting PTGL's business. Our risk management approach aligns with
globally recognized best practices, inciuding Gartner, GOS0 principles, and 150 31000.

Key risks with the potential to adversely impact Company's abllity to achisve its strategic targsts ars dentified

as following:

' Ongoing litigations

. Competition from other operators

. Debt & Financing cost challenges of PTCL Group
. Delays in Telenor Pakistan merger transaction

. Tax recoverable and telated outstanding cases

. Cicoupational, heaith and safety hazards

In collaborgtion with Internal and sxternal stakeholders, PTCL consistantly sssesses the potential impact of
existing and emerging risks, Implementing necessary measurss fo mitigate or minimize thair effecis in
allgnment with it= approved Risk Appetfiie.

ETHICS & COMPLIANCE

Strengthening Governance and Integrity at PTCL
Group

PTCL Group remans committed to fostenng a culture of integnty, accountability, and ethical busness
practices. In 2024, the Ethics & Compliance (E&C) function underwent significant transformation, snsuring a
proaciive approach to govemance, regulatary adherence, risk mitigation, and fostering a culture of ethical
accountability across the PTGL Group.




optel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Key Developments in 2024

PTCL Group Compliance transitioned from & regulatory compliance focus to a comprehensive E&C program,
structured around 4 risk-based govamancs model aligned with globdl best practices. This transformnation follows =
stiuctured approach—beginning with risk assessments to idantify and mitigate compliance vulnarabilities, leading
to the refinement of compliance policies and frameworks. To suppert these enhancements, PTCL Group invested
in targeted traning and awareness programs, ensuring employess understand thelr compliance obligations
Furthenng this commitment, FTGLE continues io drve compliance innovation: through swutomation and data:
analytics. ensuring a dynamic approach to nisk management and ethical govemance. '

FTCL Group has strengthenid the ethical foundations with the updated PTCL Group Code of Conduct, aligning
with giobal best practices and renforcing sthical leadership at al levels. In parallel, PTCL Group continues #s
leumey towards aligming with 150 37307 Complance Mapagement System standards, highlighting FTCL's
cormmitment to achieve and maintain compliance maturity in line with global benchmarks. Additionally, the PTCL
Business Code of Conduct m to establish clear sthical expecistions foi-third parties, enguring their obligation to
adhere to falf competiton, anticomuption, anti-money laundering, global sanchiors, export controls, and
responsible business practices such as the prevention of child labour and forced labour.

FTCL Group reinforced its commitment to egulatory compliance through the sutomabion of comphance psk
managameant, with two stuctured complisnce matrices covering both beecom and non-telecom regulations.
Grealer awareness of third-party due diligence and engagement policy has strengthensd risk management across
busingss relafionships. The Group also expanded s focus on global sanctions and expert controls, ensuring
employess are equipped fo navigate complex regulstory requirements when mteracting wath third partes
Additionally, compliance clausss are now ambeddad nto prospective contracis, addendums, and renewals,
‘safeguarding PTCL from compliance risks and ensuring adherence to anti-bribery and ant-corruption, anti-money
laundering, giobal sarictions, and export coritrol requirsments.

PTOL Group has priomized embedding a striong cutture of ethics across all levels. A ‘tone from the top’ agproach
has been actively reinforced through consistent commumnications from the GED and CXOs, undersconng the
Group's comimitment to ethical business practices. Senior leadership has plaved ‘a pivetal mle in diving
compliance initiatives. To further strengthen ethical awareness, multi-channel engagement campaigns were
laurched, including digital raining, sthica! dilemma cas2 studies, and compliance warkshops. The Conflict of
interest (CO) Disclosure Managament System was automated, enhancing transparency and efficiency in managing
COl disclosures. Additionally, compliance tools and resources were made readily accessible 1o all empioyess
through the revamped comphance portal on the smployes intranst.

In 2024, compliance govemarice shucture was further strengihensd with the establishment of the Eihics &
Compliance Charter, which formally defines the function's mandate, roles, and responsibliities, reinforcing PTCL
Group's commitment to ethical leadarship. The Ethics & Compliance Steenng Committee’s charter was also
revised, expanding its focus from regulatary compliance to a braader ethics and compliance govemance madei.

Recognition of Compliance Excellence

FTCL Group’s advancements in cempliance: oversight, automation, and nsk management have set high
standards. These efiots were also aclmowledged 3= part of the e& Group's compllarcs govemance across
its foolprint, reinforcing PTCL Group's commitment to transparency, ethical leadership, and best-in-class
compiance practices

Continued Commitment to Ethical Governance

Looking ahead, PTCGL Group remains steadfast in strengthening its compliance govemance, integrating ethical
leadership atross all levels, and leveraging digial transformation fo ensure transparent, responsible, and
sustainable business operations. With a firm commitment te "Doing the Right Thing,” PTGL Group waill
continue advancing its compliance: funchon, seiting new benchmarks: for corporate \ntegnty, trust, and

long-term sustainabllity,




WAY FORWARD

A= Prkistan's economy stahiizes, the telecom seclor stands at a crossroads of oppertunity and challerige.
Whila sasing Inflatlon, lower policy rates, and a stable PKR parity foster a more conducive business
anvironment, high enargy costs and taxation continue to weigh on profitability, However, the surging demand
for digital services, sxpanding breadband pepstration, and the growing need for entermnse conneativity
present significant avenuss for growth. The Industry remaing steadfast in is commitment toinfrastructure
ekpansion, capacity buliding, and techinologledl Innowation, all'of which are pivatal to propeliing Pakistan's
digital ecanomy forward,

In the moblle segment, data consumption remains the primary growth diver, Telecom opearaiors are actively
enhancing ARPL through targefed data bundies, pramium digital services, and personalized offerings, all
while addressing tising operational costs. The industry's shift toward diglial-first biands, dpp-based uUser
expariences, and Increasing smartphone penetration reflects avolving consumer preferences. In responss,
operators are (Gcusing an ensrgy sificlency and prudant resolires managament as key sirategles to mitigate
cust pressures and ensure lang-tarm sustainabllity.

The fixed broadband sacior Is undergoing 2 rapld transforrnation, marked by aceslerated fiber adoption
replacing legacy. copper |nfrastructure, PTCL's strategic Investments in fiber expansion and high-speed
connectivity solutions have nat only reinforosd lis marke! leadership but also sianificantly snhanced network
reliability and service quality, V/ith the increasing demand for cloud computing, |PTV, and snterprise sclutions,
telecom operators are pricritizing long-haul network expansion, submarine cable \nvestments; and Data
Center capacity enhancements to meet the country’s growing bandwidth needs.

To sustain moementum, the Industry must continue modemizing Infrastruciure and ensuring 56 readiness.
Future growth will be driven by data consumption; cloud computing, data centars, and ICT services,
pasitioning telecom operators as key enablers of Pakisten's digital ransformation. As the industry navigates
evolving market dynamics, PTCL Group remains at the forefront, leveraging its strong Infrastructure, digital
innowation, dnd custemer-centric approach to overcoms challenges and seize emerging opporiunities. By
embracing technological advancements, oplimizing operations, and expanding market reach, the telecom
sector i3 waell-positioned to drive sustained prograss In 2025 and beyond.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Board of Direclors extends Iis sincere gratiiude to our customers, suppliers, contractors, service
providers, stakeholders, and sharehalders for thelr unwavering suppart and trust.

Wa also acknowledge and deeply appreciate the hard work, diligence, and dedication of our employees
geross the country, whose commitment has erisuted the seamiess provision of services while enabling the
Cornpany to suceessiully navigate a highly cofmpetitive operating environment.

A special note of appraciation s extended 1o the Government of Pakistan and =& Group for their comtinued
suppart and ancouragemant in our mission to enhance sharsholder valie and drive digital transformation.

On behalf of the Board of Direclors

HATEM MOHAMED BAMATRAF AZFAR MANZOOR

F"rgidém and Giroup Chist E‘mmut_lx’r’e Officar Chairman PTCL Board
Islamabad: February 11, 2025
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FIBER-TO-THE-

TOWER (FTTT)

PTCL provides high-speed infemel access to all mobile operators
of the couniry through its FTTT services







COMPOSITION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE AS AT
FEBRUARY 11, 2025

I 1. Dr. Mohemed Kanm Bennis, Chalimman

2. Nr. Abdulabhim Ac Al Nooryani

3. Mr Mohamed Dukandar

4 Mr. Ahad Khan Cheema

| 5. Mr. Imdad Uah Bosal ]

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS - MEMBERS
OF THE COMMITTEE DURING FY-2024

Total 05 Meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the
Financial Year ended December 31, 2024.

| Namezof Drector-Mamber | Attendance
br. Mohamed Kanm Bannis
Mr. Abdulramm A Al Nooryan)

. Mohamed BDukandar
Mt Ahad Khan Chesma
M. Jawad Paul Khawaia

|’ Mr. Imdad Ultah Bosal

1
2
3
4

S I O S

FUNCTIONS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

¢ Recommends tothe Board In appraving Company's finarcial statemants and appointrsnt of
Extarnal Auditars.

Reviews the scope of intemal contrmol,

ldonitors statutory and corporate goveimance complianoes.

Betermines the appropriate measures to safeguard Company's assats

Reviews enterprise risk management processes, exposures and recommends eppropnats
policies to the Board.

Beviaws [ riecommends significant policies and Company's delegation of fiduclary powers.
Chversees tax and fiscal exposures.

Discuss major intemnal audit findings with externsl auditors.

Heviaws whistle blowing material casss,
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COMPOSITION OF HUMAN RESOURCE &
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AS AT
FEBRUARY 11,2025

1. Mr Abdulabim A Al Noarvanl, Chaliman
2. Mt Khaled Hegazy

3. Ms. Brooks Maite Lindsay

4 Mr Ahed Khan Chesms

|5- Mr. Jawad Paul Khawala

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS-MEMBERS
OF THE COMMITTEE DURING FY-2024

Total 07 meetings of the HR & R Committee were held during
the Financial Year ended December 31, 2024,

Sr.| MName of Drector-Member Ahtendance
1 | Mr Abdulrafim A. Al Nooryani
2 | Ms. Brocke Mane Lindsay

wir. Mikhail Gemchuk
Mr. Khaled Hegazy
4 | Nr.Ahad Khan Cheema

N Imdad Lliah Boss!
Mr. Jawad Paul Khawaja

3

| =t | PO [ |

5 |-

FUNCTIONS OF HUMAN RESOURCE &
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

* Reviews [ recommends development, mamntenance of long-term HR policies, effective
employee development programs, appropriate compensation & benefit plans and good
governance mode! in line with statutory reguirements as well as best practices of gﬂaﬁmrﬁn
rate govemnance.

« Ensures that the governance, HR policies and procadures are aligned with the strategic vision
and core objectives of the Company.

=« Provides leadership.and guidance for the oerganizational transfermation required to achieve
Companys corporate objectives




COMPOSITION OF INVESTMENT & FINANCE
COMMITTEE AS AT FEBRUARY 11, 2025

1. M Khaled He Chairman
. D Mohamed Kanm Bennis

3. Mr. Khald Murshed

Mr. Imdad Ulleh Bosal
Mr. Jawad Faul Khawaja

4,
a

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS-MEMBERS OF
THE COMMITTEE DURING FY-2024

Total 06 meetings of the Investment and Finance Committee
were held during the Financial Year ended December 31, 2024.

| Name of Director-Member | Attendance

3

Mr Mikhail Gerchuk
Mr. Khaled Hagazy

br Mohamed Kanm Bennis
ir. Khalid Murshed

Mr. Imdad Ullah Bosal
Mr. Jawad Paul Khawaija

R - B

L T B 0 ) = Y I

n

FUNCTIONS OF INVESTMENT AND FINANCE
COMMITTEE

»  Heviews/ recommends the Company's annual budgsts and business plans, Company’'s treas-
ury policies and framework including mvestment / divestment strategy, financial risk manage-
ment strategy and rules, execution of mergers and acquisition strategy, procurement policy
and procedures, investiment projects encompassing expansions and new technologies based
on evaluafion measurement indicators: and Company’s capifal structure strategy including
exiernal funding requirements.

s Evaluates Company's dividend policies with regards fo reg utatory provisions and Company’s
funding and working capital requiramenis.
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COMPOSITION OF PTCL BOARD AND
ATTENDANCE OF PTCL BOARD MEMBERS
DURING THE FY-2024

Total 09 Board Meetings were held during the Financial
Year ended December 31, 2024,

Name of Diector

| Mr. Hassan Nasir Jamy 2

! | Gapt (Retd) Muhammad Mahmood |Chairman| 3

Mr. Azfar Manzear 4

2 | Mr Imdad Ultah Bosal Member g

3 | Mr Jawad Paul Khawaja Member a

4 | Mr. Ahad Khan Chesma Member o

5 | Mr Abdulmhm A Al Nooryani Mamber g

& | Ms. Broake Marie Lindsay Meamber 8
7 | Mr. Khalid Murshed Member a

o M Milkhall Gerchulk Member 4

Mr. Khaled Hegazy Member 5

o | Dr. Mohamed Karim Bennis Meamber 8




STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED
COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

THE “REGULATIONS”)

Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited
(The “Company”) Year ending Decemeber 31, 2024

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Reguiaions in thefollowing manner

1

-y
o,

The total numtier of Direciots are ning as per the following

B Maie: Eignt

b. Female: One

The compdsition of the Board of Direciars (the "Board”) is as foliows:

i | Ingependent Directars
i | Non-executive Bireciors

:

Mr. Azfar Manzoor, Chairman
Mr. Abdulrarim A. Al Nooryan
Mr. Imdad Ullah Bosal

Mr. Jawad Paul Khawaja:
Mr_Ahad Khan Cheema

Dr. Mohamed Kanm Bennis
Mz: Brooke Marie Lindsay

Mr. Khalid Murshed

Mr. Khaled Hegazy

@] gorf sl ] | o)

il | Brecuive Direclos
v | Eemale Bireciors

:

-
i

Ms: Brooke Marie Lindsay

The Directors have confirmed that none of fhem & senving as a director on mare than seven |isted
companies, including this Company

Tne Gompany has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured hal appropriate sieps nave been
taken to disseminate if tnroughout the Company along with its supperming polices and procegures.

Tne Beard nas a vision/mission siatement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies of the
Company. The Board has ensured fhat complete record of the significant peligies along with their date

of approval or updating, s maintained by the Company.

All the powets of the Board have been duly exercised, and declsions on relevant matiers have been



10.

11

12

taken by the Boar) shareholders as empowesed by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act,
2017 (he “AcT”) and the Reguiations

The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman The Board has comphed with trie
reguiremients of the At and the Begulations with resped 1o frequency, recordlng and circulating
minutes of mesting of the Board.

The Board has a formal palicy and transparent procedures for remuneration of Diredors in accordance
wilr the: Act-and the Hegulations.

During the year, Direclors Cerificalions under the Direciors Training Program was arranged, for
following:

Gapl {Retd) Muhammad Mahmood
Mr. Azfar Manzoor

Additionally, an information booklet 1o acquaint the Directors with their rale, obligations, powers and
responsibilities, has been provided to them.

The Board has approved appainiment of Chigl Financial Officer (“GFO"), Cempany Searetary and
Head of Internal Audl, including their remuneration and lerms and congiions of employment and
complied with relevant requirements of the Begulations.

The GFRD and the Chief BExeculivie Officer ("CEQT) guly encorsed the financlal slaternents belore
approval of the Board.

The Board has formed committees comprising members given below:
al Audlt Commitiee

Dr. Mohamed Karim Bennis, Chairman

Mr. Abdulrzhim A. Al Nooryani

Mr. Mohamed Dukanda:

Mr. Ahad Khan Cheema

Mr. lrndad Liliah Besal

S

)] Human Resource and Remuneration Committes
Mr. Abdulrahim A. Al Nooryari, Chairman

Mr. Khaled Hegazy

Ms. Brooke Marie Lindsay

Mr. Ahad Khan Cheema

Mr Jawad Paul Knawala

T T T
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cj Investment and Finance Commitise
1. Mr. Khaled Hegazy, Charman

2 Br Mohamed Katim Bennis

3. Mr. Khalid Murshed

4 Mr. Imdad Ullah Besal

5. Mr.Jawad Paul Khawaja

13. The terms of referance of the aforesaid commitiess have been formed, documentad and adwised to the
committess for compliance.

14. The frequency of mestings (quartery/half yearly/ yearly) of the commitice were as perfollowing:
a) Audit Commiitae:

The frequency of mestings is on quarterly basis and as per the raquiremeant of the Company. Total five
mestings were held during vear 2024

b)Human Resource and Remuneration Commities:

The frequency of meetings s on quartsrly basis and as per the reguirement of the Company. Total
saven mestings were held during year 2024

) Investment and Finance Commitizs:

The frequency of meefings is on quarterly basis and as per the requiremeant of the Company. Total six
meatings wers hald during year 2024

15. The Board has set up an sffective mtemal audit function

16 The statutory auditors of the Company have confirmed that they have besn given a satisfactory rating
under the Quality Cantrol Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (*|CAPY),
and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakisian, thal they and all their pariners are in compliance
with Intematiorial Federation of Accountants (*IFACY) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the
ICAP, and that they and the pariners of the firm invalved in the audit are not a close relative (spouss,
parent, dependent and non-dependant children) of the CED, CFO, Head of Internal Audit, Company
Secretary of Directors of the Company

17. The statutory auditors or the persohs associated with them have not been appeinted o provide other
seTvices =xcapt In acoprdance with the Act, the Regulations or any other reguiatory reguirement and the
auditars have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard.
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18. We continm that all regquirsments of Regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33 and 38 of the Regutations have been
complied with. With regards to Regulations & 27 (1)(1}, 27-{1){i), 22 (1) and 28 (2), we explain as follows

The Board comprises nine members. Fursuant to the proevisions of the Shareholders Agresment etwesn
the President of Pakistan an bahalf of the Govemment of Pakistan and Eisalat International Pakistan, and
the Arficles of Association of the Company, the Government nominates four (04} Members, while Efisalat
nominates five {05) Members

The Company routinaly arranges Directars' training whenevar required. The election of the Board of
Directors was held on Novembser 08, 2024, and the curent Board Is not fully caitified.

HATEM MOHAMED BAMATRAF AZFAR MANZOOR

President and Group Chief Executive Officar Chairman FTCL Board
Islamabad: February 11, 2026




Independent Auditors’ Review
Report

To the members of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited

Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in the Listed
Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

We have reviewed the enciased Siatement of Campliance with the Listed Gomparnies (Code of Gorporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Direclors of Pakistan
Telecommunication Company Limited (fie Company) 1of fhe year ended 31 Decembier 2024 In accordance with
the requirements of Regulation 26 of the Regulations

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulafions is that of the Board of Directors of the Company.
Our rasponsibility is ta review whather the Statemant of Compliance rsflects the status of the Company's
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and repert if it does nat ahd o highlight any non-compliancs
with the reguirements of the Regulations. A review Is limited primaniy o inguines of the Company’s
personnel and review of vanous documenis prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of fhe financial statemenis we are required fo obtain an understanding of the accounting
and internal control sysiems saificlent (o plan the audit and develop an effeciive audit approach. We are not
required to consider whether the Boald ¢f Directors’ siatement on Infernal control covers all risks and controls
of to form an opinien on the effectiveness of such Internal controls, the Company’s cofporale governance
procedures and nsks.

The Regulations require the Company 10 place before the Audit Committee, and upen recommendation of the
Audit Commitiee, place before the Board of Directors. for their review and approval, ifs related parly transac-
tions. We are only reguited and have ensured compliance of this reguirernent ta the extent of the approval of
the related parly transactions by the Beard of Directors upon recommendaiion of the Audit Committes.

BEased on our review nothing has come 1o out attention which eauses Us 10 believe that the Statement of Com-
pliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, In all material respects, with the Regulations

as applicabie to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024

Further, we highlight below Instances of non-campliance with the requirements of the Begulations as reflectad
in the paragraph reference where these are sialed (n the Statement of Compliance:
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18 There are no Independent Directors on the Board of the Company.

18 Tre Chairman of the Audit Committee is a non-exacutiva director.

B fs Kl

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Place; Kareshi
Dae: 05 Aptil, 2025
UDIN . CR202410120FC2EDIYHS8




DATA CENTER &
CLOUD SERVICES







Roem # 20 2nd oo,
Zadin Fiazs, The Mall, Lshoes

Amin & Co. L AT

Fawslpindvisizmstad office:
CTHARTERED ACOOUINTANTS S: 08 & 09 2nd Poor, Gy Cenirs,

Bspk-Rogd, Fawszlpind
s g

Independent Assurance Report To The Board of
Directors on the Statement of Compliance with the
Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023 and Sukuk
(Privately Placed) Regulations, 2017 for the year ended
December 31, 2024

Introduction

We. have underiaken a reasonable assurance engagement that the Secunties and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (the SECH) has required in terms of its Shariah Governance Regulations, 2023
{the Regulations) and Sukuk (Privately Placed) Regulations, 2017 - External Shariah  Audit of the
Company for assessing comphance by Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited's fthe
Company) financial amangements, contracts and transactions, in relation to the Sukuk-2 amounting to
Rs. 10,000 million, Sukuk-3 amounting to Rs. 5,000 million. Sukuk-4 amounting to RBs. 5000 million,
Sukuk-5 amounting to: Bs: 2,500 milion, Sukuk-6 ameunting to Bs. 10,000 mullien, Suluk-7 amaunting
to Rs. 5,000 milllon and Sukuk-8 amounting fo Rs. 5,000 million (collectively referred to as “the Sukuk")
having Sharah implications with the Sharigh principles (oriteria specified below) for the year ended
December 31, 2024 This engagement was conducted by a multidissiplinary team including assurance
practitioner and independent Shariah Scholar. '

Applicable Criteria

The ariteria for the asswance engagement. agamst which the Statement of Compliance with the Shariah
Govermnance Regulations, 2023 and Sukuk (Privately Placed) Regulatiops, 2017 for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (the Statement) (underiyving subject matier information) |5 asssssed, comprse of the
Shariah principles and riles, a5 dsfined in the Regulations and reproduced as under: a) legal and
regulatory framework administersd by the Commission, b) Shariah standards Issusd by the Accounting
and Auditing Organization for lslamic Fnancial Institutions {AA0IF]), as notified by Commission; c) Isiamic
Financial Accounting Standards, developed by the Insiitute of Chartered Accountanis of Pakistan, as
notified by the Commission; d) guidance and recommendations of the Shanah advisory committes, as
notifisd by Commussion; and, &) approvals, rulings or pronouncemsnts of Shanah Supervisory Board or
the Shariah Advisor of the Company, in line with (3) fo (d)above. Our engagement was canied out
as required under Regulation 28 of Chapter VIl of the Reguiations in the above criteria. The above
criteria were evaluated for their implications on the decuments and transactions of the Sulak issued
by the company as reflectsd in the annexed Statement of Compliance for the year sndsd Decembet
35, 2024

Management's Responsibility for Shariah Compliance

Management Is responsible fo ensure that the financial armangements, confracts and transactions, in
relation to the Sukuk, having Shanah implications, entered into by the Gompany with s sukuk holders,
othed financial msfitutions and stakeholders and relaied policies and procedures are, In substanca and
in their legal form, n compliance with the requirements of Shariah rules and principles. The
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management i also responsible for design, implemeniafion and maintenance of appropriate intemal
confrol precedures with respect fosuch comphlance and mainienance of relevant accounting reconds,

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics for Chartered
Accountants lssued by the Institiite of Chartered Accountarits of Pakistan (the Code), which s founded oh funda-
mental principles of integrity, objectivity, professlonal competence and due care, confidentiality and professional
behavior. The firm applies International Standard on Quality Management (I50M-1] "Quality Management for
fitme that paddnm audits or revizws of financial statements, or other assbirancs or related senvicec engagaments”
and aczordingly maintains 2 comprehensive system of quality control incdluding  documented pﬁllt_:fa and
procedures regarding complianee with ethical requirements, professional standards and appllcable legal and
regulatory requirements

Our Responsibility and Summary of the Work Performed

Our responsibllity v comnection with this engagement is th sxpress an opinion on compliance of the
Company's financial armangements, coniracts, and transactions in relation to the Sukuk having Shariah
implications with Shanah prnciples, in all matenal respects for the year ended December 31, 2024
based en the svidence we have oblained We conduclted our reasonsble assurance sngagsment in
accordance with International Standard on  Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), ‘Assurance
Engagemants other than audits or reweews of historical financial information’, 1ssued by the Intemational
Aluditing and Assdrance Standards Board Thal standard reguires thal we plan and perform this
engagsment fo obiain reasonable asswance about whether the compliance of the Company's financal
arrangements, coptracts, and transactions having Shanah imphcations with Shanah prnciples 15 fres
from material missiatement I refation to the Sukuk The procedutss selgcted by us for the engagemant
depend on our judgment, Including an assessment of the risks of material non-compliance with the
Shanah principles. In. making those nsk assessments, we considered and tested the intemal control
ralevant to the Company's comipliance with Shariah principles In ordar to design procedures that are
approprate In the circumstances. but not for the purpose of expressing an oginion onthe effectivensss
of the Company's intemal control, We have designed and performed necessary venfication procsdures
on various financial arangements, conirgels and trarsactions In relation to the Sukuk having Shariah
implications and related policies and procedures based on judgmental and systemalic samples with
regard to the compliance of Shanah principies. We behieve that the evidence we have obtained through
performing our procedures were sufficient and appropriate tb provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusion

Bazed on our rezsonsble assUrancs engagemelt, we tapoit thal in our opinion, the Company's financial
arrengements, contracis and iransactions for the year ended Decamber 31, 2024 In relation to fhe
Sukuke are in compliance with the Shansh prnciples, in all matenal respects.

I\~
Amin & Co

Charlered Accountanis
Lahore
Dated. 28 March 2025




Statement of Compliance with the Shariah Governance
Regulations, 2023 & Sukuk (Privately Placed) Regulations
2017

For The Year Ended December 31, 2024

This Statement of Complance (the Statement) for the year ended December 37, 2024, is being presentad to
comply with the regqliremsnis underthe Shariah Govarnancs Regulations, 2023 and Sukuk (Privately Placed)
Regulations, 2077 {the Regulations) issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SEGP).

The fingncial amangements, confracts and transactions, entersd by The Pakistan Talecommunication
Company Limited {the Company) in respect of Sukuk-2 amounting to Rs. 10,000 milllen, Sukuk-3 amounting
toRBs. 5,000 million, Sukuk-4 amounting to Bs. 5,000 milien, Sukuk-5 amounting 1o Bs. 2.500 milion Sukuk-6
amounting to Bs. 10,000 milllon Sukuk-7 amounting to Bs. 5,000 and Sukuk-8 amounting to Rs. 5,000 million
{collectively referred to as "the Sukuk'} for the year ended December 31, 2024 are in compliance with the
Sukuk features and Shanah reguirements in accordance with the Begulations.

We also confirm that

The Company has established procedures and processes for all Sukuk related Iransactions (o comply with
Sukuk featUres and applicable Shiariah governance law reguirements

. The Campany has implemented and maintained sueh internal control and risk management system,
that the management delermines necessany 10 mitigate the risk of non-compliances of the Sukuk
features and applicable

. ‘Sharah governance [Ew requiremenis, whnelher due 1o fraud of-emor.

- The Company has a process to ehsire that the mahagement and, where appropriate authorized
persannel responsiole 1o ensure the Gompany’'s compliance wilh the Sukuk reiated features and
applicable-Shariah governance law requirements, are properly trained and systems are properly
updated

We also confirm trial the Company in respect of he Sukuk is in compliance with:

a} Rules, regulations and directives issued by the SECP,

b} Pronouncetments of Shanah Supetvisony Board,

¢} Requirements of the applicable Islamic Financial Accounting Standards as notifled by the SECP, Tany,
and

d) Approvais and rulings given by the Shanah Aovisor of the Sukuk which are in line with the Hegulations ang
in accordance with the rllings of Sharlah Advisory Commitles.

HATEM MOHAMED BAMATRAF
President and Group Chief Executive Officer
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SHARIAH COMPLIANCE REVIEW REPORT

March 28, 2025

The purpose of this report is to provide an opinion on the Shariah Compliance of the secured Privately
placed Sukuk of PKR 5,000 million (Sukuk) Issued by Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited Sukuk-
4,

It is the core responsibility of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited ST5-4 to manage the Sukuk
in such a manner which is in compliance with the Shariah principles as laid out in Shariah guidelines. In
the capacity of the Shariah Advisor, my responsibility lies in providing Shariah guidelines and ensuring
compliance with the same by review of activities of the Sukuk. | express our opinion based on the review
of Information, provided by the issuer, to an extent where compliance with Shariah guidelines can be
objectively verified.

Keeping in view the above; | certify that:

I have reviewed all the transaction, documents, procedures adopted by issuer as well as the operational
activities of the Sukuk which included the review of all transaction and source of earning. | have found
them to be in compliance with the Shariah Guidelines.

On the basis of infermation provided by the company, all operations and affairs have been carried out in
accordance with the rules and principles of Shariah for the sukuk year ended December 2024, The Sukuk
is in compliance with the provided Shariah guidelines and there is no need to provide any charity to purify
the Incame. Therefore, it Is resolved those investments in Secured Privately Placed Sukuk of PKR 5,000
million issued by Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited Sukuk-4 1s in accordance with Shariah
principles as per the Shariah guidelines provided by Sharlah supervisory council,

May Allah (SWT) bless us and forgive our mistakes and accept our sincere efforts In accomplishment of
cherished tasks and keep us-away from sinful acts.

Issued by:

Mufti Muhammad Abdullah
Shariah Advisor
SECP/IFD/SAf115
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited (the
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of profit or loss, the
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information,
and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the statement of financial
position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity
and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner
so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of the
profit and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 14.7 to the unconsolidated financial statements, which describes matters relating to certain
pensioners’ claim under the Company’s funded pension scheme, which are currently pending adjudication for the reasons
explained in the above-mentioned note. The Company has not made provision against the said claims in the unconsolidated
financial statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of the most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Following are the Key audit matters:

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

As more fully described in Note 5.19, Note 28, Note
23 and Note 11 to the unconsolidated financial
statements, the Company reported revenue of Rs.
107,766 million (FY23: Rs. 96,267 million), trade
debts and contract assets of Rs. 60,563 million
(FY23: 52,587 million) and contract liability of Rs.
9,224 million (FY23: Rs. 9,067 million) for the year
ended or as of 31 December 2024.

Management records revenue according to the
principles of IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, including following the 5-step model
therein.

We identified a risk of management override
through inappropriate manual topside revenue
journal entries, given revenue is a key performance
indicator, both in external communication and for
management incentives.

We also consider auditing the revenue recorded by
the Company to involve greater auditor effort and
attention, due to the multiple IT systems and tools
utilized in the initiation, processing and recording
of transactions, which includes a high volume of
individually low monetary value transactions. The
involvement of IT professionals was required to
determine the audit approach to test and evaluate
the relevant data that was captured and aggregated,
and to assess the sufficiency of the audit evidence
obtained.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating the design
and testing the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Company’s revenue recognition process,
which includes management’s determination of the
timing of revenue recorded.

With the support of our IT professionals, we also
evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the appropriate flow
of transactional data through the IT systems and
tools and the reconciliation of the transactional data
to the accounting records.

For significant revenue streams, our audit procedures
included the following, on a sample basis:

- We used data analytic tools to identify revenue
related manual journals posted to the general
ledger and traced these back to underlying
source documentation, to evaluate the propriety,
completeness and accuracy of the postings.

- Where it was deemed to be most effective, we
extended the use of data analytics.

- Forrevenue streams where the above procedures
were not used, we obtained the billing data to
general ledger reconciliation, which included
the relevant adjustments to deferred and
accrued revenue balances. We reperformed
these reconciliations, including assessing the
accuracy of the data inputs to underlying source
documentation, including contractual agreements
where applicable. In addition, we tested the
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

Income tax recoverable

e We also assessed the adequacy of the Company’s
disclosures in respect to the accounting policies on
revenue recognition.

For a sample of transactions, selected across all
revenue streams, undertaken during the year, we
traced the revenue recognized for each transaction
in the general ledger to the relevant underlying
supporting documents and cash receipts.

mathematical accuracy and completeness of the
reconciliations and material reconciling items,
including significant revenue postings outside of
the billing systems.

We recalculated the revenue recognised to
evaluate whether the processing of the revenue
recognition by the Company's IT systems was
materially correct.

As more fully described in Note 5.23 and Note 25
to the unconsolidated financial statements, the
Company has recognized income tax recoverable
in accordance with IAS 12, Income Taxes, being
the amount already paid in respect of current and
prior periods in excess of current tax due for those
periods, based on whether management judges that
it is expected that the amount will be recovered
from the federal tax authorities.

An income tax recoverable of Rs. 40,537 million
(FY23: Rs. 22,599 million) has been recognized, as
management has concluded that this amount will
be recovered via a mixture of receipt of refunds
and adjustment against amount of current tax
due for future periods. Currently, a number of tax
assessments are pending at different appellate
forums.

Auditingthe Company’s recognition and recoverability
of income tax recoverable is significant to the audit
because it involves material amounts, and the
judgements and estimates in relation to the period
of time over which it is expected to utilize these
assets, results in increased estimation uncertainty.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating the
design effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
recognition and
recoverable,
reporting date.

Involvement of tax specialistin assessment of whether
the tax paid by/ on behalf of the Company to federal
tax authorities is adjustable under the provisions of
the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, including review of
underlying documentation relating to any related tax
litigation/ income tax assessment before appellate
forums and/ or federal tax authority.

Examination of income tax returns and tax refund
applications, to assess existence, accuracy and
valuation of amount recognized in the unconsolidated
financial statements.

Inspecting correspondence with tax authorities,
minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors of
the Company and direct replies against confirmations
circularized by us to selected tax and legal advisor of
the Company to identify any pending taxation matters
relating to the income tax recoverable.

recoverability of income tax
including reassessment at each
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Income tax recoverable

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in respect
of the recognition of the income tax recoverable.

Impairment of Investment in Pak Telecom Mobile Limite

d (PTML) - a subsidiary company

As more fully described in Note 4(d), Note 5.11 and
Note 18 to the unconsolidated financial statements,
in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets,
the Company calculates the value in use ('VIU') for
its equity investment in (and sub-ordinated loan to)
determine whether an adjustment to the carrying
values is required. As of 31 December 2024, the
Company has recognized equity investment in and
sub-ordinated loans to PTML of Rs. 65,000 million
(FY23: Rs. 65,000 million) and Rs. 40,250 million
(FY23: Rs. 23,250 million), respectively.

The Company’s assessment of the VIU of its equity
investment involves estimation about the future
performance of the wireless market. In particular,
the determination of the VIU for PTML was sensitive
to the significant assumptions regarding projected
sales growth rate / Average Revenue Per User,
operating margin / cost rationalization, long-term
market growth-rate and discount rate.

Auditing the Company’s impairment test for PTML
was complex and involved significant auditor
judgement, given the estimation uncertainty related
to the significant assumptions described above and
the sensitivity to fluctuations in those assumptions.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

We obtained an understanding and evaluated the
design effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
equity investment impairment review process,
including, for example, management’s controls over
the significant assumptions described for the VIU
assessment.

For the impairment assessment as of 31 December
2024, we also evaluated, with the help of EY valuation
specialists, the methodology applied in the PTML
VIU model, as compared to the requirements of
IAS 36, including the mathematical accuracy of
management’s model.

We performed procedures to assess the significant
assumptions used in PTML VIU model, including:

- Evaluating the estimate for free cashflows to
firm, for example by comparing underlying
assumptions to external data, such as economic
and industry forecasts for Pakistani telecom
market, supporting evidence provided by
management, and for consistency with evidence
obtained from other areas of our audit.

- Comparing the cash flow projections used in the
PTML VIU model to the information approved by
the Company’s Board of Directors and evaluating
the historical accuracy of management’s
business plans, which underpin the VIU model,
by comparing prior years’ forecasts to actual
results.

- Comparing forecast capital expenditure to actual
historical spend and market specific events.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of Investment in Pak Telecom Mobile Limited (PTML) - a subsidiary company

- With the support of EY valuation specialists,
comparing the discount rate and long-term
growth-rate assumptions to EY independently
determined ranges.

- Performing sensitivity analyses on the above-
described assumptions in the VIU model, to
evaluate whether a reasonable change in
assumptions would cause an impairment of the
equity investment in PTML or indicate additional
disclosures were appropriate;

- Inconsidering the existence of contrary evidence,
for management's assessment of implied
recoverable value, we compared the PTML
EBITDA multiple.

e We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures provided in Note 4(d) of the unconsolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of Investment in U Microfinance Bank Limited (Ubank) - a subsidiary company

As more fully described in Note 4(d), Note 5.11 and
Note 18 to the unconsolidated financial statements,
in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets,
the Company calculates the value in use ('VIU'] for
equity investment in Ubank to determine whether
an adjustment to the carrying value of the equity
investment in Ubank. As of 31 December 2024, the
Company has recognized equity investment in Ubank
of Rs. 11,084 million (FY23: Rs. 6,684 million plus
sub-ordinated loans of Rs. 1,200 million).

The Company’s assessment of the VIU of its equity
investment in Ubank involves estimation about the
future performance of the microfinance market.
In particular, the determination of the VIU for
equity investment was sensitive to the significant
assumptions of loan disbursement under secured
portfolio, cost rationalization, the long-term growth
rate, and the discount rate.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

e \We obtained an understanding and evaluated the
design effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
equity investment impairment review process,
including, for example, management's controls over
the significant assumptions described for the VIU
assessment.

e Fortheimpairmentassessmentas of 31 December
2024, we also evaluated, with the help of EY valuation
specialists, the methodology applied in the Ubank
VIU model, as compared to the requirements of
IAS 36, including the mathematical accuracy of
management’'s model.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of Investment in U Microfinance Bank Limited (Ubank) - a subsidiary company

Auditing the Company’s annual impairment test e We performed procedures to assess the significant

for the equity investment in Ubank was complex assumptions used in Ubank VIU model, including:
and involved significant auditor judgement, given ' ' o

the estimation uncertainty related to the significant - Evaluating the estimate for dividend payout on
assumptions described above and the sensitivity the basis of expected Capital Adequacy Ratio, for
to fluctuations in those assumptions, as well as example by comparing underlying assumptions
market specific factors. to external data, such as economic and industry

forecasts for Pakistani microfinance market,
supporting evidence provided by management,
and for consistency with evidence obtained from
other areas of our audit.

- Comparing the cash flow projections used in the
Ubank VIU model to the information approved by
the Company’s Board of Directors and evaluating
the historical accuracy of management’s
business plans, which underpin the VIU model,
by comparing prior years’ forecasts to actual
results.

- With the support of EY valuation specialists,
comparing the long-term growth rate and
discount rate assumptions to EY independently
determined ranges.

- Performing sensitivity analyses on the above-
described assumptions in the VIU model, to
evaluate whether a reasonable change in
assumptions would cause an impairment of the
equity investmentin Ubank orindicate additional
disclosures were appropriate.

e We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures provided in Note 4(d) of the unconsolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Capitalization of property, plant and equipment

As more fully described in Note 5.10(a) and Note 15
to the unconsolidated financial statements, during
the year, the Company has recognized additions to

property, plant and equipment amounting to Rs.
33,090 million.

In order to expand its network coverage and bring
improvements to network quality, the Company
continue to incur relatively high level of capital
expenditure.

Auditing the Company’s recognition of additions
to property, plant and equipment is significant to
the audit because it involves material amounts,
and the judgements and estimates in relation
to measurement of cost on initial recognition,
determination of pointin time they are available for
use, classification of property, plantand equipment
and assessment of certain elements of expenditure
as either capital or revenue expenditure.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

e We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design
and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Company’s process for incurrence of capital
expenditure.

e For a sample of transactions, selected across all
classes of property, plantand equipment, undertaken
during the year, we:

- Traced the amount capitalized in the general
ledger to the relevant underlying supporting
documents and cash payments.

- Ascertained the nature of costincurred to assess
whether it meet the criteria for capitalization, as
per IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment.

- Traced the cost of completed projects, transferred
from capital work in progress to operating fixed
assets to underlying documentation including
completion certificates, where relevant, and
comparing the date of capitalization with
supporting documentation.

e Performing physical verification, including by
observing their connection to network, of items of
property, plant and equipment added during the year.

e Analyzing repair and maintenance ledger to identify
any items that may meet the capitalization criteria.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act, 2017 [XIX of 2017) and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with I1SAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
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date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:
a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017);

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up
in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose of the
Company’s business; and

d) no zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

Other matter

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor, whose report
dated 05 May 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion along with an emphasis of matter paragraph.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Omer Chughtai.

&0 b fide

Chartered Accountants

Place: Islamabad
Date: 05 April, 2025
UDIN: AR202410120RMYJrSfuk




FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31,2024

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital and reserves
Share capital 6 51,000,000 51,000,000
Revenue reserves
General reserve 27,497,072 27,497,072
Unappropriated profit 36,610,433 38,871,108
64,107,505 66,368,180
115,107,505 117,368,180
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employees retirement benefits 7 42,652,874 34,324,346
Deferred government grants 8 16,721,916 15,080,525
Long term loans from banks 9 62,780,360 50,781,306
Contract liabilities 1,442,432 1,661,536
Lease liabilities 10 1,027,777 1,290,725
124,625,359 103,138,438
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 169,319,472 141,423,801
Short term running finance 12 47,116,732 24,214,700
Security deposits 13 653,373 616,031
Unclaimed dividend 208,131 209,256
Current maturity of lease liabilities 10 337,022 391,989
Current portion of long term loans from banks 318,719 239,408
217,953,449 167,095,185
Total equity and liabilities 457,686,313 387,601,803
Contingencies and commitments 14

The annexed notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Financial Officer

W
resident & CEO Chairman
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 161,172,503 144,017,787
Right of use assets 16 1,383,038 1,698,902
Intangible assets 17 1,467,066 1,742,663
164,022,607 147,459,352
Long term investments 18 76,236,284 71,836,284
Long term loans and advances 19 51,780,602 32,225,182
Deferred income tax 20 5,470,851 2,745,195
Contract cost 21 139,135 183,092
297,649,479 254,449,105
Current assets
Stores and spares 22 8,201,385 9,433,265
Contract cost 21 3,707,304 2,593,728
Trade debts and contract assets 23 60,563,180 52,587,358
Loans and advances 24 2,778,971 4,628,442
Income tax recoverable 25 40,536,947 22,598,810
Prepayments and other receivables 26 32,160,933 31,281,778
Cash and bank balances 27 12,088,114 10,029,317
160,036,834 133,152,698
Total assets 457,686,313 387,601,803

Chief Financial Officer

President & CEO

@N/

Chairman
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PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

2024 2023

Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Revenue 28 107,766,309 96,266,714
Cost of services 29 (79,490,710) (73,766,526)
Gross profit 28,275,599 22,500,188
Administrative and general expenses 30 (9,027,260) (8,410,537)
Selling and marketing expenses 31 (4,853,017) (4,544,9517)
Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets 23.3 (2,145,765) (1,619,174)
(16,026,042) (14,574,662)

Operating profit 12,249,557 7,925,526
Other income 32 17,224,380 19,409,582
Finance and other costs 33 (22,588,481) (13,429,171)
Profit before tax 6,885,456 13,905,937
Taxation 34 (2,059,613) (4,515,394)
Profit after tax 4,825,843 9,390,543
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 35 0.95 1.84

The annexed notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Financial Officer

resident & CEO

110

@VM/

Chairman
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Profit for the year 4,825,843 9,390,543

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that will not be reclassified to statement of profit or loss:

Remeasurement loss on employees retirement benefits (9,172,587) (107,594)

Tax effect 2,086,069 31,202

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year - net of tax (7,086,518) (76,392)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year (2,260,675) 9,314,151

The annexed notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements.

\~‘\‘\&¢\J\J % @w/

Chief Financial Officer President & CEO Chairman
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CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities 37 40,848,268 28,914,461
Payment to Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust ([PTET) 7.3 (990,436) (959,087)
Payment to PTCL Employees Gratuity Fund 7.3 (47,131) -
Other employees retirement benefits paid (2,409,533) (1,986,808)
Advances from customers (38,707) 268,188
Addition to contract cost (5,795,303) (4,232,159)
Income tax paid 25 (3,345,103) (2,597,890)
Net cash from operating activities 28,222,055 19,406,705

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure (36,186,583) (30,686,658)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,508,216 5,995,755
Long term subordinated loans to subsidiries (19,500,000) (8,000,000)
Repayment of subordinated loans - Pak Telecom Mobile Limited 2,500,000 2,000,000
Investment in Pak Telecom Mobile Limited = (25,500,000)
Investment in U Microfinance Bank Limited (3,200,000) (1,600,000)
Return on long term loans, employee loans and deposits 6,594,679 4,753,678
Government grants received 3,071,005 1,457,834
Long term loans and advances (2,005,426) (6,585,831)
Dividend income - U Microfinance Bank Limited - 443,743
Net cash used in investing activities (43,218,109) (57,721,479)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid (1,125) (558)
Interest paid on short term running finance (5,509,578) (1,181,886)
Proceeds from long term loans 11,999,054 28,401,325
Interest paid on long term Loans (11,308,509) (8,064,259)
Repayment of lease liabilities - interest (293,170) (162,953)
Repayment of lease liabilities - principal (733,853) (454,657)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (5,847,181) 18,537,018
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (20,843,235) (19,777,756)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (14,185,383) 5,592,373
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 38 (35,028,618) (14,185,383)

The annexed notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Financial Officer

resident & CEO
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Chairman
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CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

Issued, subscribed and

paid-up capital Revenue reserves
. . General Unappropriated Total
Class ‘A Class ‘B Total .
reserve profit

(Rupees in ‘000

Balance as at January 01, 2023 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072 29,556,957 108,054,029

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - - 9,390,543 9,390,543
Other comprehensive income / (loss)

- net of tax - - - - (76,392 (76,392)

- - - - 9,314,191 9,314,151

Balance as at December 31, 2023 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072 38,871,108 117,368,180

Balance as at January 01, 2024 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072 38,871,108 117,368,180
Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - - 4,825,843 4,825,843
Other comprehensive income / {loss)

- net of tax - - - - (7,086,518) (7,086,518)

- - - - (2,260,675) (2,260,675

Balance as at December 31, 2024 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 217,497,072 36,610,433 115,107,505

The annexed notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements.

‘-E:\NQ\!\J N/

Chief Financial Officer President & CEO Chairman
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

2.1

(a)

The Company and its operations

Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited ("PTCL", “the Company”] was incorporated in Pakistan on
December 31, 1995 and commenced business on January 01, 1996. The Company, which is listed on the
Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited [PSX], was established to undertake the telecommunication business
formerly carried on by the Pakistan Telecommunication Corporation ([PTC). PTC's business was transferred
to the Company on January 01, 1996 under the Pakistan Telecommunication (Re-organization) Act, 1996,
on which date, the Company took over all the properties, rights, assets, obligations and liabilities of PTC,
except those transferred to the National Telecommunication Corporation (NTCJ, the Frequency Allocation
Board (FABJ, the Pakistan Telecommunication Authority (PTA) and the Pakistan Telecommunication
Employees Trust (PTET). The registered office of the Company is situated at PTCL Headquarters, Ufone
Tower, Plot No. 55-C, Main Jinnah Avenue, Sector F-7/1, Blue Area Islamabad.

The Company provides telecommunication services in Pakistan. It owns and operates telecommunication
facilities and provides domestic and international telephone services and other communication facilities
throughout Pakistan. The Company has also been licensed to provide such services in territories of Azad
Jammu and Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan.

The business units of the Company include the following:

Business unit Geographical location

1 Headquarter Ufone Tower, F-7/1, Islamabad.

2 PTCL Business Zone- North Telecom House F-5/1, Islamabad.

3 PTCL Business Zone- Central 131, Tufail road Lahore.

4 PTCL Business Zone- South Clifton Exchange, Hatim Alvi road Karachi.

The Company has signed a Share Purchase Agreement with Telenor Pakistan B.V. (Telenor) in 2023 to
acquire a 100% stake in Telenor Pakistan (Pvt] Ltd (Telenor Pakistan] and Orion Towers (Pvt) Ltd based
on an Enterprise Value of Rs. 108,000,000 thousands on a cash free, debt free basis. The transaction will
be financed through a seven year (with one year grace period) US Dollar syndicated Financing Facility
amounting to USD 400,000 thousand led by International Finance Corporation (IFC] and the relevant
Financing agreements have been signed on June 27, 2024. This transaction is subject to necessary
regulatory approvals.

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards

as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprises of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017.

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where the provisions of and directives issued underthe Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS Standards,

the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

These financial statements are the separate financial statements of the Company (PTCL). In addition to

these separate financial statements, the Company also prepares consolidated financial statements.

Standards, interpretations and amendments adopted during the year

The following amendments to existing standards have been published that are applicable to the Company’s

financial statements covering year, beginning on or after the following dates:

New accounting standards / amendments and IFRSs interpretations that are effective for the year

ended December 31, 2024.

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 (unless otherwise stated). The Company has not early adopted
any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
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Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments in IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments clarify:

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, an entity is required to disclose when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as
non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants
within twelve months.

The amendments had no impact on the classification of the Company’s liabilities.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum Taxes and Final Taxes - IAS 12

Pursuant to the issuance of Circular 7 by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, in May 2024,
the Company has changed the method of accounting for final and minimum taxes, chargeable under the
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

The Circular 7 specifies that all final taxes, payable under the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance),
calculated with reference anything other than “taxable income” is a levy within the scope of IAS 37
"Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” and IFRIC 21 “Levies”. Previously, such a charge
was recognized as “Current income tax”.

Further, the Circular 7 specifies that an entity has an option to either recognize:

(a] amount of tax chargeable under the Ordinance, calculated with reference to taxable income at
notified rates (i.e., under the Normal Tax Regime [NTR]), as income taxes within the scope of IAS 12
“Income Taxes” and any excess amount of charge, resulting from application of requirements of the
Ordinance relating to minimum tax under the section 153 and turnover tax under the section 113,
will however be recognized as levy within the scope of IAS 37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets” and IFRIC 21 “Levies”.

(b)  amount of minimum tax under the section 153 and turnover tax under the section 113 will be
recognized as levy within the scope of IAS 37 and IFRIC 21, whereas, any excess amount under NTR
will be recognized as income taxes.
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(b)

The Company has applied the guidance in the Circular 7 in following manner:
Final taxes:

Final tax, calculated with reference to tax deductible from amount of payment receivable against export of
services, under the section 154A, are recognized as “Final tax” before the sub-head “Profit before tax”, in
the statement of profit or loss. Previously, such a charge was also recognized as “Current income tax”.

Minimum taxes:

The Company has elected to select approach (a) described above, as it considers that it is probable that
amount of tax under NTR will be higher than the related minimum tax or turnover tax for the individual
entities with the Company. Accordingly, amount of tax under NTR will continue to recognize such an amount
as "Current income tax” expense. Any excess amount of charge, with reference to minimum tax resulting
from amount of tax deductible from payments against provision of services, under the section 153(1b), and
turnover tax under the section 113 has however been recognized as “Minimum tax differential”, before
the sub-head “Profit before tax”, in the statement of profit or loss. Previously, such a charge was also

recognized as “Current income tax”.

The Company has, however, recognized the related income on deferred tax asset recognized for adjustable
turnover tax as part of “Deferred income tax” income.

As required, the Company has retrospectively applied the above guidance, however, as none of the
Company’s income is subject to FTR whereas turnover tax is expected to be adjusted against tax payable
under the NTR, the adoption of above-mentioned guidance has had no impact on the financial statements
in the current and prior periods.

New accounting standards / amendments and IFRS interpretations that are not yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of
issuance of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these
new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

Effective date (annual periods
beginning on or after)

Lack of exchangeability - Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 | 01 January 2025
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to
specify how an entity should assess whether a currency is
exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange
rate when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
also require disclosure of information that enables users
of its financial statements to understand how the currency
not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or
is expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance,
financial position and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption
is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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Effective  date (annual periods
beginning on or after)

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments—Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

On 30 May 2024, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS | 01 January 2026
9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments (the Amendments).
The Amendments include:

- Aclarification that a financial liability is derecognised on
the ‘settlement date” and introduce an accounting policy
choice [(if specific conditions are met) to derecognise
financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment
system before the settlement date.

- Additional guidance on how the contractual cash flows
for financial assets with environmental, social and
corporate governance (ESG) and similar features should
be assessed

- Clarifications on what constitute ‘'non-recourse features’
and what are the characteristics of contractually linked
instruments

- The introduction of disclosures for financial instruments
with contingent features and additional disclosure
requirements for equity instruments classified at fair
value through other comprehensive income (OCI).

The Amendments are effective for annual periods starting
on or after 1 January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, with
an option to early adopt the amendments for classification of
financial assets and related disclosures only. The Company
is currently not intending to early adopt the Amendments.

With respect to the amendments on the derecognition of
financial liabilities that are settled through an electronic
payment system, the Company is currently performing an
assessment of all material electronic payment systems
it uses, in order to assess whether the amendments will
result in a material change with respect to current practices
and whether it meets the conditions to apply the accounting
policy option to derecognise such financial liabilities before
the settlement date. Moreover, the Company is reviewing all
its other payment systems to ensure that the corresponding
financial assets are derecognised when the right to cash
flows are extinguished and that the corresponding financial
liabilities are derecognised on settlement date.
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Effective  date (annual periods
beginning on or after)

IAS 7 - adjustments resulting from adoption of IFRS 18
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS | 01 January 2027
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 is however
still to be notified by Securities and Exchange Commission
of Pakistan. Narrow-scope amendments have also been
made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from
operations under the indirect method, from “profit or loss’
to ‘operating profit or loss’” and removing the optionality
around classification of cash flows from dividends and
interest. In addition, there are consequential amendments
to several other standards.

IAS 7 - adjustments resulting from adoption of IFRS 18
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards,
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. Upon
adoption SECP may, however, prescribe a different effective
date.

The Company is currently working to identify all impacts the
amendments will have on the primary financial statements
and notes to the financial statements.

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity -
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In December 2024, IASB issued Contracts Referencing 01 January 2026
Nature-dependent Electricity (Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7). The amendments include:

- Clarifying the application of the ‘own-use’ requirements

- Permitting hedge accounting if these contracts are used
as hedging instruments

- Adding new disclosure requirements to enable investors
to understand the effect of these contracts on a
company’s financial performance and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Early
adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. The
clarifications regarding the ‘own use’ requirements must
be applied retrospectively, but the guidance permitting
hedge accounting have to be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application.

These amendments are not applicable to the Company.
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Effective  date (annual periods
beginning on or after)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts | 01 January 2026
(IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard
for insurance contracts covering recognition and
measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective,
IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4)
that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-Llife, direct insurance
and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial
instruments with discretionary participation features. A few
scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17
is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts
that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast
to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on
grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17
provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts,
covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS
17 is the general model, supplemented by:

- A specific adaptation for contracts with direct
participation features (the variable fee approach)

- Asimplified approach (the premium allocation approach)
mainly for short-duration contracts.

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures required.
Early application is permitted, provided the entity also
applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first
applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the
Company.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Consolidated financial statements
and Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale
or Contribution of Assets between and Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture (amendment)

On 11 September 2014, the IASB issued Sale or Contribution Not yet determined
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28).
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures in dealing with the loss
of control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an
associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that
a full gain or loss is recognised when a transfer to an
associate or joint venture involves a business as defined in
IFRS 3 Business combinations. Any gain or loss resulting
from the sale or contribution of assets that does not
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or
joint venture.
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(a)

(b)

Effective  date (annual periods
beginning on or after)

In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective
date of the amendments until such time as it has finalised
any amendments that result from its research project on
the equity method. Early application of the amendments is
still permitted.

Further, IASB has issued annual improvements in IFRS in
July 2024, wherein certain amendments have been made
to various standards which are effective for annual periods
beginning on and after 01 January 2026. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of these recently announced
improvements.

In addition to the above, the following new standards
have been issued by IASB but are not notified by SECP for
application in Pakistan:

IFRS 1 - First time adoption of International Financial 01 January 2004
Reporting Standards

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial | 01 January 2007
Statements

IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 01 January 2007
Disclosures

The application of the above standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements, in the period of applicability, except for IFRS 18. The Company is currently working
to identify all impacts IFRS 18 will have on the primary financial statements and notes to the financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value and the recognition of certain employees retirement
benefits on the basis of actuarial assumptions.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting and reporting standards as applicable
in Pakistan requires use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’'s accounting policies.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements, are as follows:

Provision for employees retirement benefits

The actuarial valuation of pension, gratuity, medical, accumulating compensated absences plans and
benevolent grants requires the use of certain assumptions related to future periods, including increase in
future salary / pension / medical costs, rate of increase in benevolent grant, expected long-term returns
on plan assets and the discount rate used to discount future cash flows to present values.

Provision for current and deferred taxation

The Company recognizes income tax provision using estimates based upon expert opinions of its tax and
legal advisors. Differences, if any, between the recorded income tax provision and the Company’s tax
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liability, are recorded on the final determination of such liability. Deferred income tax is calculated at the
rates that are expected to apply to the periods when the temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted, by the date of the statement of financial position. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of deferred tax
assets to be utilised.

(c) Useful life and residual value of fixed assets

The Company reviews the useful lives and residual values of fixed assets on a regular basis. Any change in
estimates may affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property, plant and equipment with
a corresponding effect on the related depreciation charge.

(d)  Impairment of financial assets

Management exercises judgement in measuring the loss allowance on trade debts and contract assets
under simplified approach and recognizes the expected credit loss using a provision matrix based on
historic experience and forward looking assumptions equal to the life time expected credit losses inherent
to trade debtors and contract assets. For other financial assets, expected credit loss is recognized based
on a general approach which includes an assessment of expected credit risk underlying these financial
assets.

The Company performed impairment tests for its equity investments in Pak Telecom Mobile Limited (PTML]
and U Microfinance Bank Limited (Ubank], respectively, as on December 31, 2024, considering the current
and historical financial performance and capital requirements of these entities.

(d)(i) PTML

The Company has determined recoverable amount of Investment in PTML, a subsidiary of the Company
providing 3G and 4G cellular mobile services, based on a value-in-use determined through discounted
cash flow method, which was higher than the carrying amount of investment in PTML in the Company’s
financial statements. Value-in-use was estimated using cash flow projections approved by the Board of
Directors of PTML, covering a five-year period. The Company has applied a discount rate of 12.02% and
the long-term steady growth-rate of 6.50%, to the cash flow projections. The calculation of value-in-use is
most sensitive to the following assumptions:

(a) Discount rates

The discount rate reflects current market assessment of the rate of return required for the business
and is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model. The discount rate reflects the target Weighted
Average Cost of Capital of the Company.

(b) Key business assumptions

These assumptions are based on business plan approved by the Board of Directors which includes
revenue improvements on the basis of multiple strategies planned including increase in Average
Revenue per User (ARPU]J, increase in subscribers and rationalization of cost etc.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Management believes that after considering the various scenarios no reasonably possible change in any of
the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable
amount.

(d)(ii) Ubank

The Company has determined recoverable amount of Investment in Ubank, a subsidiary of the Company
providing microfinance and branchless banking services, based on a value-in-use determined through
discounted cash flow method, which was higher than the carrying value of investment in Ubank in the
Company'’s financial statements. Value-in-use was estimated using cash flow projections approved by the
Board of Directors of Ubank, covering a five-year period. The Company has applied a discount rate of 17.2%
and the long-term steady growth-rate of 6.00%, to the cash flow projections. The calculation of value-in-
use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e

(a) Discount rates

The discount rate reflects current market assessment of the rate of return required for the business
and is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model. The discount rate reflects the target Weighted
Average Cost of Capital of the Company.

(b) Key business assumptions

These assumptions are based on business plan approved by the Board of Directors which includes
revenue improvements on the basis of multiple strategies planned, including increase in loan
disbursement in secured portfolio, and cost rationalization.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Management believes that after considering the various scenarios no reasonably possible change in any of
the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable
amount.

Other estimates and judgments

Provision for stores and spares

A provision against stores and spares is recognized after considering their physical condition and expected
future usage. It is reviewed by the management on a quarterly basis.

Contract costs

Contract cost comprises incremental cost of acquiring the customers that are directly associated with the
contracts as an asset if those costs are expected to be recoverable and the Company estimates the average
life of the customer for amortization of capitalized contract cost.

Government grants

The Company recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be
received and the Company will be able to fulfill conditions associated with grants. Further, the Company
recognizes grant income on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Company recognizes its
expenses, the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate, restricted to the extent of
any amount the Company determines is likely to be refunded back to the donor.

Other provisions

Management exercises judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposures to contingent
liabilities related to pending litigations or other outstanding claims. Judgment is necessary in assessing
the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range
of the financial settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this evaluation process, actual losses
may be different from the originally estimated provision.

Right of use assets and lease liability

The Company has applied incremental borrowing rate for recognition of lease liabilities and corresponding
right of use assets under IFRS-16.

Summary of material accounting policies

The accounting policies as set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements expect for the change presented below.

The Company adopted disclosure of Accounting Policies [Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2) from 1 January 2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies
themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.
The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’, rather than ‘significant’, accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies,
assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users need to
understand other information in the financial statements. Management reviewed the accounting policies
and made updates to the information disclosed in material accounting policies.
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Amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
became effective on 1 January 2023 and accordingly the Company has presented separate deferred tax
asset in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets.
Previously, deferred tax on lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were presented on a net basis because
the balances qualify for offsetting under paragraph 74 of IAS 12. There was no impact on the statement of
financial position and there was also no impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2022 as
a result of the change.

5.1  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). These financial
statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees (Rs), which is the Company’s functional currency. The
amounts presented in these financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

5.2 Foreign currency transactions and translations

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates
prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies,
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the statement
of financial position. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions,
and from the translation of monetary items at end of the year exchange rates, are charged to statement of
profit or loss for the year.

5.3 Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected as present expected to be paid, as present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

5.4 Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair values, as deferred income, when there is reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received and the Company will be able to comply with the conditions
associated with the grants.

Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred, are recognized on a systematic basis in the
income for the year in which the related expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate for the cost of
an asset are recognized in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the related asset.

5.5 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognized equivalent to the value of the proceeds received by the Company. Any difference,
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value, is recognized to income, over
the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs, which are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of a qualifying asset,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement of
profit or loss.

5.6 Trade and other payables

Liabilities for creditors and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for the goods or services received, whether or not billed to the
Company.

5.7 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each
statement of financial position date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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5.8

5.9

5.10
(a)

(b)

(c)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Company has a possible obligation as a result of past events, the
existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain
future events, not wholly within the control of the Company; or when the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation, that arises from past events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Dividend distribution

The distribution of the final dividend, to the Company’s shareholders, is recognized as a liability in the
financial statements in the period in which the dividend is approved by the Company’s shareholders; the
distribution of the interim dividend is recognized in the period in which it is declared by the Board of
Directors.

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land and capital work in progress, is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment losses. Freehold land is stated at cost less
identified impairment losses, if any. Costincludes expenditure, related overheads, mark-up and borrowing
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs, if reliably measurable, are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognized as
a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the cost will flow to the Company. The carrying amount of any replaced parts as well as other repair and
maintenance costs, are charged to statement of profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses if any. It consists of expenditure incurred
in respect of tangible fixed assets in the course of their construction and installation.

Depreciation on assets is calculated, using the straight line method, to allocate their cost over their
estimated useful lives.

Depreciation on additions to property, plant and equipment, is charged from the month in which the
relevant asset is acquired or capitalized, while no depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset
is disposed off. Impairment loss, if any, or its reversal, is also charged to statement of profit or loss for
the year. Where an impairment loss is recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to
allocate the asset's revised carrying amount, less its residual value, over its remaining useful life.

The gain or loss on disposal of an asset, calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in statement of profit or loss for the year.

Right of use assets

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. If the
Company assesses contract contains a lease and meets requirements of IFRS 16, the Company recognises
a right-of use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. Right of use asset is calculated
as the initial amount of the lease liability in terms of network sites and right of way at the lease contract
commencement date. The right of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method.

Intangible assets

(i) Licenses

These are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any identified impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated using the straight line method, to allocate the cost of the licenses over its
estimated useful life, and is charged to statement of profit or loss for the year.

The amortization on licenses acquired during the year, is charged from the month in which a license
is acquired / capitalized, while no amortization is charged in the month of expiry / disposal of the
license.



optel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

(i) Computer software

These are carried at cost less accumulated amortization, and any identified impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated, using the straight line method to allocate the cost of software over their
estimated useful lives, and is charged to statement of profit or loss for the year. Costs associated
with maintaining computer software, are recognized as an expense as and when incurred.

The amortization on computer software acquired during the year is charged from the month in which
the software is acquired or capitalized, while no amortization is charged for the month in which the
software is disposed off.

5.11 Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Investments in subsidiaries and associates, where the Company has control or significant influence, are
measured at cost less impairment loss, if any.

5.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example freehold land, are not subject to depreciation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment on the
date of the statement of financial position, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized, equal to the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets
that suffered an impairment, are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each statement of
financial position date. Reversals of the impairment loss are restricted to the extent that asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortization, if no impairment loss has been recognized. An impairment loss, or the reversal of an
impairment loss, are both recognized in the statement of profit or loss for the year.

5.13 Stores and spares

These are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. Items in transit are valued at cost, comprising invoice values and other related charges
incurred up to the date of the statement of financial position.

5.14 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

The Company presents basic earning per share (EPS). Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

5.15 Trade debts / Contract assets

Trade debts are carried at their original invoice amounts, less any estimates made for expected credit
losses based on review of all outstanding amounts at reporting date. Bad debts are written off as per
Company policy.

5.16 Financial instruments

5.16.1 Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets on initial recognition in the following categories: at amortized
cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL]) and at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company
changes its business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

(a) Amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL: (i} It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to
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collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(b) Fair value through other comprehensive income

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL: (i) It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and [ii) Its contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment by investment basis.

(c) Fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
irrevocably designates a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

5.16.2 Recognition and measurement

5163

5164

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component] or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL],
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
(i) Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
amortized costs interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest

income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in
statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in
statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Financial assets at Debt investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
FVOCI calculated using effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognized in statement of profit or loss. Other net
gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses

accumulated in OCI are reclassified to statement of profit or loss.

Equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognized in statement of profit or loss. Other net
gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCl are reclassified to statement of profit or loss

(iii) Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in statement of
profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Company include trade debts, contract assets, long term loans, deposits, other
receivables and short term investments.
Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes loss allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured
at amortized cost and contract assets. The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
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lifetime ECLs. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

Lifetime ECLs are those that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the financial assets carried at amortized cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

5165 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified
as FVTPLfitis classified as held-for-trading, itis derivative oritis designated as such on initial recognition.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognized in statement of profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized
in statement of profit or loss. The financial liabilities of the Company include short term security deposits
and trade and other payables.

5.16.6 Derecognition
Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognized at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed) is recognized in statement of profit or loss.

5.17 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position, if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts, and the Company
either intends to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

5.18 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash with
banks and short term finances under mark up arrangements with banks. Cash equivalents are short term
highly liquid investments, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value.

5.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies the performance obligations by transferring a promised
good or service to a customer. Goods or services are transferred when the customer obtains control of the
assets.
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The Company mainly generates revenue from providing telecommunication services such as data, voice,
Internet Protocol Television (IPTV], connectivity services, interconnect, Information and Communication
Technology (ICT), digital solutions and equipment sales etc.

Services are offered separately and as bundled packages along with other services and / or devices. For
bundled packages, the Company accounts for individual products and services separately if they are
distinct i.e. if a product or service is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package and if
a customer can benefit from it. The consideration is allocated between separate product and services |i.e.
distinct performance obligations, “P0Os”) in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling prices.

The stand alone selling prices are determined based on the observable price at which the Company sells
the products and services on a standalone basis. For items that are not sold separately, the Company
estimates standalone selling prices using other methods [i.e. adjusted market assessment approach, cost
plus margin approach or residual approach).

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations

Product and services Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligation

Voice, Broadband, IPTV The Company recognizes revenue as and when these services are provided
(i.e. actual usage by the customer).

Devices The Company recognizes revenue when the control of the device is transferred
to the customer. This usually occurs at the contract inception when the
customer takes the possession of the device.

Installation charges Installation services provided for service fulfillment are not distinct
performance obligations (PO) and the amount charged for installation service
is recognized over the average customer life.

Corporate services Revenue is recognized over the period when these services are provided to the
customers. Where hardware (e.g. routers) are provided as part of the contract,
the Company recognizes these as distinct PO only if the customer can benefit
from them either by selling for more than scrap value or using with services
from other service providers.

Carrier and Wholesale Revenue from C&WS services is recognized when the services are rendered.
(C&WS])
International revenue International revenue represents revenue from foreign network operators,

for calls originating outside Pakistan. It is recognized over the period when
services are provided to the customers.

5.19.1

Principal versus agent presentation

When the Company sells goods or services as a principal, revenue and related cost is reported on a gross
basis in revenue and operating costs. If the Company sells goods or services as an agent, revenue and
related cost are recorded in revenue on a net basis, representing the margin earned.

Whether the Company is considered to be the principal or an agent in the transaction depends on analysis
by management of both the legal form and substance of the arrangement between the Company and its
business partners; such judgments impact the amount of reported revenue and operating expenses but do
not impact reported assets, liabilities or cash flows.

Income on bank deposits

Return on bank deposits is recognized using the effective interest method.

5.19.2 Dividend income

5.20

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
Contract cost

The Company capitalizes the incremental costs of obtaining and fulfilling a contract, if they are expected
to be recovered. The capitalized cost is amortized over the average customer life and recognized as cost
of sales. Applying the practical expedient of IFRS 15, the Company recognizes the incremental cost of
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obtaining and fulfilling a contract as expense when incurred if the amortization period of assets is less
than one year.

5.21 Contract assets

The contract assets primarily relate to the Company's rights to consideration for postpaid services provided
to subscribers but not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to trade debts when
the rights become unconditional.

5.22 Contract liability

A contract liability is the obligation of the Company to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Company has received consideration or an amount of consideration is due from the customer. If a
customer pays consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier]. Contract
liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Company discharges its obligation under the contract.

5.23 Taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises of current and deferred income tax, and is recognized in income for
the year, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income, in
which case the related tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income.

(a)  Current

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the date of the statement of financial position. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns, with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation,
and establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(b)  Deferred

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary
differences arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the differences
reverse, and the tax rates that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, at the date of the statement of
financial position.

(c)  Group taxation

The Company is taxed as a one fiscal unit along with it's other wholly own subsidiaries under section 59AA
to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Current and deferred income taxes are recognized by each entity within
the group, regardless of who has the legal rights for the recovery of tax. However, current tax liability /
receivable is shown by the Company as it has legal obligation / right of recovery of tax upon submission of
annual tax return. Balances among the group entities as a result of group tax is shown as other income
tax recoverable / payable to the respective group entities.

5.24 Employees retirement benefits

The Company provides various retirement / post retirement benefit schemes. The plans are generally
funded through payments determined by periodic actuarial calculations or up to the limits allowed in the
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The Company has constituted both defined contribution and defined benefit
plans.

(a)  PTCL Employees General Provident Fund (GPF) Trust

The Company operates an approved funded provident plan covering its permanent employees. For the
purposes of this plan, a separate trust, the "PTCL Employees GPF Trust” [the Trust], has been established.
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(b)

5.25

Monthly contributions are deducted from the salaries of employees and are paid to the Trust by the
Company. In line with the Trust’s earnings for a year, the board of trustees approves a profit rate for
payment to the members. The Company contributes to the fund, the differential, if any, of the interest paid/
credited for the year and the income earned on the investments made by the Trust.

Defined benefit plans
The Company provides the following defined benefit plans:

(i) Pension plans

The Company accounts for an approved funded pension plan operated through a separate trust, the
“Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust” (PTET), for its employees recruited prior to January
01, 1996 when the Company took over the business from PTC. The Company operates an unfunded
pension scheme for employees recruited on a regular basis, on or after January 01, 1996.

(i) Gratuity plan
The Company operates an approved funded gratuity plan for its New Terms and Conditions (NTC)
employees and contractual employees.

(i) Medical benefits plan

The Company provides a post retirement medical facility to pensioners and their families. Under
this unfunded plan, all ex-employees, their spouses, their children up to the age of 21 years (except
unmarried daughters who are not subject to the 21 years age limit] and their parents residing with
them and any other dependents, are entitled to avail the benefits provided under the scheme. The
facility remains valid during the lives of the pensioner and their spouse. Under this facility, there are
no annual limits to the cost of drugs, hospitalized treatment and consultation fees.

(iv]  Accumulated compensated absences

The Company provides a facility to its employees for accumulating their annual earned leaves.
Accumulated leaves can be encashed at the end of the employees service, based on the latest drawn
basic salary as per Company policy.

(v)  Benevolent grants
The Company pays prescribed benevolent grants to eligible employees / retirees and their heirs.

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit plans, is the
present value of the defined benefit obligations at the date of the statement of financial position less the
fair value of plan assets.

Lease liability

The Company recognizes lease liabilities as per IFRS - 16 at the present value of the remaining lease
payments using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are measured at their
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital

Authorized share capital

2024 2023 2024 2023
(Number of shares ‘000) Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
11,100,000 11,100,000 “A”" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 111,000,000 111,000,000
3,900,000 3,900,000 “B" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 39,000,000 39,000,000

15,000,000 15,000,000 150,000,000 150,000,000
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6.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital

2024 2023 2024 2023
(Number of shares ‘000) Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
3,774,000 3,774,000 A" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 37,740,000 37,740,000

issued as fully paid for consideration
other than cash - note 6.3 and note 6.5.

1,326,000 1,326,000 “B" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 13,260,000 13,260,000
issued as fully paid for consideration
other than cash - note 6.3 and note 6.6.

5,100,000 5,100,000 51,000,000 51,000,000

6.3 These shares were initially issued to the Government of Pakistan, in consideration for the assets and
liabilities transferred from Pakistan Telecommunication Corporation (PTC) to Pakistan Telecommunication
Company Limited (PTCLJ, under the Pakistan Telecommunication (Re-organization] Act, 1996, as referred
to in note 1.

6.4 Except for voting rights, the "A” and "B” class ordinary shares rank pari passu in all respects. "A” class
ordinary shares carry one vote and "B” class ordinary shares carry four votes, for the purposes of election of
directors. "A” class ordinary shares cannot be converted into “B” class ordinary shares; however, “B” class
ordinary shares may be converted into "A” class ordinary shares, at the option, exercisable in writing and
submitted to the Company, by the holders of three fourths of the “B” class ordinary shares. In the event of
termination of the license issued to the Company, under the provisions of the Pakistan Telecommunication
(Re-organization) Act, 1996, the "B class ordinary shares shall be automatically converted into "A” class
ordinary shares.

6.5 The Government of Pakistan, through an “Offer for Sale” document, dated July 30, 1994, issued to its
domestic investors, a first tranche of vouchers exchangeable for “A” class ordinary shares of the Company;
subsequently, through an Information Memorandum dated September 16, 1994, a second tranche of
vouchers was issued to international investors, also exchangeable, at the option of the voucher holders,
for "A" class ordinary shares or Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) representing “A" class ordinary shares
of the Company. Out of 3,774,000 thousand “A” class ordinary shares, vouchers against 601,084 thousand
A" class ordinary shares were issued to the general public. Till December 31, 2024, 599,611 thousand
(December 31, 2023: 599,610 thousand) “A” class ordinary shares had been exchanged for such vouchers.

6.6 In pursuance of the privatization of the Company, a bid was held by the Government of Pakistan on June
08, 2005 for sale of “B” class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each, conferring management control. Emirates
Telecommunication Corporation ( Etisalat), UAE was the successful bidder. The 26% (1,326,000,000 shares)
"B" class ordinary shares, along with management control, were transferred, with effect from April 12,
2006, to Etisalat International Pakistan (EIP), UAE, which is a subsidiary of Etisalat.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
7. Employees retirement benefits

Liabilities for pension obligations
Unfunded 7.1 15,278,509 12,283,715
15,278,509 12,283,715
Gratuity - funded 7.1 - 47,131
Accumulated compensated absences - unfunded 7.1 2,143,511 2,052,020
Post retirement medical facility- unfunded 7.1 21,049,516 15,634,286
Benevolent grants - unfunded 7.1 4,181,338 4,307,194
42,652,874 34,324,346
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Defined benefit pension plan

Defined benefit gratuity plan

Funded Funded
2024 2023 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
7.3 Changes in the fair value of plan assets
Balance at beginning of the year 149,115,429 135,125,260 2,783,909 2,365,201
Expected return on plan assets 20,785,339 15,924,142 407,083 289,737
Payments made to members
on behalf of fund - - 173,581 152,305
Gain on remeasurement of assets 3,079,767 7,371,461 205,896 128,971
Contributions made by the Company
during the year 990,436 959,087 47,131 -
Benefits paid (11,536,530) (10,264,521) (173,581) (152,305)
Balance at end of the year 162,434,441 149,115,429 3,444,019 2,783,909
7.4  Plan assets for funded defined benefit pension plan are comprised as follows:
2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Percentage Rs ‘000 Percentage
Debt instruments - unquoted
- Defense savings certificates 34,729,689 21.39 30,869,129 20.71
- Pakistan investment bonds 36,144,413 22.25 28,335,193 19.00
70,874,102 43.64 59,204,322 39.71
Cash and cash equivalents
- Term deposits receipts 24,600,000 15.15 24,692,000 16.57
- Sukuks 3,741,428 2.30 3,164,617 2.12
- Pakistan investment bond 1,866,330 1.15 816,314 0.55
- Term finance certificates 44,775 0.03 44,775 -
- Treasury bills 33,771,089 20.79 30,223,089 20.27
- Cash and bank balances 2,430 0.00 5,109 -
64,026,052 39.42 58,945,904 39.51
Investment property
- Telecom tower 11,807,573 7.26 11,795,667 7.92
- Telehouse 3,333,976 2.05 3,333,000 2.24
- Corporate offices 2,317,067 1.43 2,309,996 1.55
17,458,616 10.74 17,438,663 11.71
Fixed assets 11,463 0.01 9,063 0.01
Other assets 11,789,622 7.26 15,050,684 10.09
164,159,855 101.07 150,648,636 101.03
Liabilities
- Staff retirement benefits (166,051) (0.10) (126,866) (0.09)
- Amount due to PTCL (25,634) (0.02) (1,326) -
- Accrued and other liabilities (328,046) (0.20) (295,842) (0.20)
- Provision for zakat (1,205,683) (0.75) (1,109,173) (0.74)
(1,725,414) (1.07) (1,533,207) (1.03)
162,434,441 100.00 149,115,429 100.00
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7.5 Plan assets for defined gratuity fund are comprised as follows:
2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Percentage Rs ‘000 Percentage

Units of mutual funds 162,659 4.72 136,188 4.89

Term deposit receipt 1,500,000 43.55 1,500,000 53.89

Term finance certificate 450,000 13.07 450,000 16.16

Bank balances 1,331,360 38.66 697,721 25.06
3,444,019 100.00 2,783,909 100.00

7.6

7.7

The expected contributions in the next financial year to be paid to the funded gratuity plan by the Company
is Rs 173,581 thousand.
Sensitivity analysis

The calculations of the defined benefits obligation is sensitive to the significant actuarial assumptions
set out in note 7.1 (d). The table below summarizes how the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period would have increased / (decreased) as a result of change in the respective assumptions.

Impact on defined benefit obligation

1% Decrease
in assumption

1% Increase
in assumption

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Future salary / medical cost
Pension - funded 10,092,295 (9,526,570)
Pension - unfunded 1,626,471 (1,473,199)
Gratuity - funded 210,247 (198,462)
Accumulating compensated absences - unfunded 181,027 (166,992)
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded 3,673,647 (3,131,948)
Discount rate
Pension - funded (23,715,908) 27,521,063
Pension - unfunded (2,400,767) 2,815,675
Gratuity - funded (198,151) 204,352
Accumulating compensated absences - unfunded (166,796) 177,148
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded (3,130,167) 3,632,394
Benevolent grants - unfunded (621,786) 721,549
Future pension
Pension - funded 27,833,623 (23,729,400)
Pension - unfunded 2,845,917 (2,402,047)
Benevolent grants
Benevolent grants - unfunded 729,744 (622,139)
Increase by Decrease by
1 year 1 year
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Expected mortality rate
Pension - funded (6,497,243) 6,473,611
Pension - unfunded (911,220) 939,737
Gratuity - funded (38,782) 33,183
Accumulating compensated absences - unfunded (25,021) 21,408
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded (1,057,465) 1,073,465
Benevolent grants - unfunded (249,378) 257,182
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The above sensitivity analysis are based on changes in assumptions while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
When calculating the sensitivity of defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method
at the end of the reporting period] has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognized
within the statement of financial position.

7.8 Through its defined benefit pension plans the Company is exposed to a number of actuarial and investment
risks, the most significant of which include, interest rate risk, property market risk and longevity risk for
pension plan and salary risk for all the plans.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

8. Deferred government grants
Balance at beginning of the year 15,080,525 14,205,487
Received during the year 3,071,005 1,457,834
18,151,530 15,663,321
Income recognized during the year 32 (1,429,614) (582,796)
Balance at end of the year 16,721,916 15,080,525

This represent grants received from the Universal Service Fund, as assistance towards the development
of telecommunication infrastructure in rural areas, comprising telecom infrastructure projects for basic
telecom access, transmission and broadband services spread across the country.

9.  Long term loans from banks

Annual Mark-up
Rate (3 month Repayment Repayment 2024 2023
Bank KIBOR Plus) Commencement Date Installment  Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Interest Principal

9.  Longterm loans from banks

MCB Bank Ltd 0.30% September 15,2022 December 15,2026  Bi-Annual 9.1 11,000,000 11,000,000
Habib Bank Ltd 0.40% March 31, 2023 June 30, 2027 Bi-Annual 9.2 35,000,000 35,000,000
Bank Alfalah Ltd 0.40% &  January 25, 2024 January 25, 2028

0.60% & July 18,2024 & July 18, 2028 Quarterly 9.3 8,000,000 3,000,000
Faysal Bank Ltd 0.50%  October 01, 2024 October 01,2028  Quarterly 9.4 7,000,000 -

Banklslami Pakistan Ltd  0.55% March 28, 2024 March 28, 2028 Quarterly 9.5 2,000,000 2,000,000

Less: transaction costs (219,640) (218,694)
62,780,360 50,781,306
Accrued Interest 318,719 239,408

63,099,079 51,020,714
Current portion of long term loans from banks (318,719) (239,408)

62,780,360 50,781,306




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2024

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

The Company entered into a syndicate term finance agreement dated 16 June 2022 to avail long term
finance facility to the extent of Rs. 11,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its wholly
owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation over
the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the MCB Bank Limited - Security Agent, which shall constitute a
first charge in favour of MCB Bank Limited - Security Agent (for the benefit of the Syndicate). The loan is
repayable in 6 bi-annual instalments commencing from 15 December 2026.

The Company entered into a syndicate term finance agreement dated 29 December 2022 to avail long term
finance facility to the extent of Rs. 35,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its wholly
owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation over
the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the HBL Bank Limited - Security Agent, which shall constitute a
first charge in favour of HBL Bank Limited - Security Agent (for the benefit of the Syndicate). The loan is
repayable in 6 bi-annual instalments commencing from 30 June 2027.

During the year, the Company has entered into a finance agreement dated 05 April 2024 to avail long term
finance facility to the extent of Rs. 5,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity/subordinated loan to its
wholly owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation
over the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent, which shall constitute
a first charge in favour of Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent. The loan is repayable in quarterly
instalments commencing from 18 July 2028.

In 2023, the Company has entered into a finance agreement dated 24 October 2023 to avail long term
finance facility to the extent of Rs. 3,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its wholly
owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation over
the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent, which shall constitute a first
charge in favour of Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments
commencing from 25 January 2028.

The Company entered into a new finance agreement dated August 29, 2024 to avail long term finance facility
to the extent of Rs. 7,000,000 thousand for the purpose of subordinated loan, equity injection in PTML and
to meet the capex requirements of the Company. The finance facility is secured by way of first pari passu
charge on all assets [(excluding land, building, licenses & international revenue receipts/receivables).
The loan is repayable in seven years (with four year grace period], with installments on quarterly basis
commencing from October 01, 2028.

The company has obtained finance facility under musharakah contract with banklslami Pakistan Limited
dated 28 Dec 2023 to avail the finance facility to the extent of Rs.2,000,000 thousand for the purchase of line
& wire equipment. The effective rate of profitis 22% with a share of 96.08% (Banklslami) and 3.92% (PTCL).
The contract is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation over hypothecated assets in favour
of the Banklslami Pakistan Limited. The musharaka contract involve 12 quarterly payments and shall be
wound up in the manner agreed. The musharaka agreement ends on 28 December 2030.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
10. Lease liabilities
Balance at the begnning of year 1,682,714 1,619,093
Additions during the year 251,360 518,435
Modifications during the year 171,564 4,802
Terminations during the year (6,986) (4,965)
Interest expense 33 293,170 162,953
Lease rental paid (1,027,023) (617,604)
Balance at the end of the year 1,364,799 1,682,714
Current portion shown under current liabilities (337,022) (391,989)
Due after 12 months 1,027,777 1,290,725
Lease commitments
Not later than one year 547,686 579,921
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 1,068,159 1,472,424
Later than 5 years 428,618 402,582
Total undiscounted lease commitments 2,044,463 2,454,927
Future finance cost (679,664) (772,213)
1,364,799 1,682,714
11. Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 13,264,221 16,719,184
Accrued and other liabilities 11.1 46,085,468 41,878,273
Technical services assistance fee 11.2 48,230,684 41,410,987
Advances from customer/ contract liability 9,155,557 7,405,126
Retention money / payable to contractors and suppliers 7,582,467 8,593,518
Payable to subsidiaries on account of group taxation 1.4 40,733,736 24,022,866
Sales tax payable 3,468,014 1,393,847
Income tax collected / deducted at source 799,325 -
11.3 169,319,472 141,423,801
11.1 Accrued and other liabilities
Accrued liability for operational expenses 13,169,211 11,244,451
Amount withheld on account of provincial levies
(Sub-judice) for ICH operations 11.1.1 12,110,803 12,110,803
Accrual for Government / regulatory expenses 16,812,077 14,172,127
Accrued wages 3,253,401 3,395,566
Others 739,976 955326
46,085,468 41,878,273

11.1.1 This represents International Clearing House “ICH" revenue which were shared between the Company
and other Long Distance and International “LDI" operators in the ratio of 50:50. Therefore, out of this,
50% of the amount represents revenue not recognized by the Company. As the ICH operator, the Company
challenged the imposition of sales tax on ICH revenue and the matter is sub-judice in different courts of
law; therefore, the relevant share of the ICH partners is being held by the Company till the finalization of
the subject cases.
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11.2 Liability has not been settled since State Bank of Pakistan has not yet acknowledged the extension of
Technical Service Assistance (TSA] Agreement.

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
11.3 Trade and other payables include payables to the following
related parties:

U Microfinance Bank Limited 895 643
DVCOM Data (Private) Limited (DVCOM) 1,955,000 1,785,000
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation 4,151,059 3,452,154
Etisalat - Afghanistan 53,718 59,434
Etihad Etisalat (Mobily) 3,941 19,475
Telecom Foundation 13,654 13,276
Government of Pakistan (GoP) related entities 2,293,643 2,070,961
TF Pipes Limited 4,630 4,630
PTCL Employees GPF Trust 89,535 56,563

Retention money / payable to contractors and suppliers
TF Pipes Limited 2,940 2,940

These balances relate to the normal course of business of the Company and are interest free.

11.4 This represents payable to PTML Rs 36,754,667 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 23,607,121 thousand),
Ubank Rs. 3,559,472 thousand (December 31, 2023: nil), DVCOM Rs 416,051 thousand (December 31, 2023:
Rs 415,745 thousand) and Smart Sky Rs. 3,546 (December 31, 2023: nil) on account of group taxation.

12.  Short term running finance

These facilities are obtained from various commercial banks with an aggregate limit of Rs.31,550,000
thousand (December 31, 2023: 17,500,000 thousand) and are secured against 1st pari passu charge on
present and future current assets and all other movable assets of the Company. These facilities carry
markup rates ranging from T-month KIBOR to 6-month KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.17%
(December 31, 2023: 1-month KIBOR to 3-month KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.20%) per annum.

This also include shariah compliant, rated, unlisted, unsecured, privately placed short term sukuk
amounting to Rs. 20,000,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: 5,000,000 thousand) issued to meet the
working capital requirements with a tenor of 6 months from the issue date at 6-months (December 31,
2023: 6 months from the issue date at 6-months) carrying mark-up rates of 3-month KIBOR to 6-month
KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.13% (December 31, 2023: 6-month KIBOR plus weighted average
rate of 0.20%) per annum. Habib Bank Limited was a mandated lead advisor, arranger and investment
agent for the sukuk. The issuer has the right to exercise call option on or after 3 months from issue date.

13. Security deposits

These security deposits are received from customers for services to be provided and are refundable /
adjustable on termination of their relationship with the Company. These are non interest bearing and
include security deposits of Rs 3,623 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 3,623 thousand] from Pak Telecom
Mobile Limited ([PTML), a related party. The Company has adjusted / paid a sum of Rs nil [December 31,
2023: Rs 4 thousand] to its customers during the year against their balances. Amount of these security
deposits has been kept in a separate bank account.
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14.

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

Contingencies and commitments
Contingencies
Indirect taxes

Against the decision of Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue [ATIR] upholding tax authorities’ decision to
impose Federal Excise Duty (FED) amounting to Rs 365,098 thousand on Technical Services Assistance fee
assuming that the fee is against franchise arrangement for the period from July 2008-09 & 2010-11, PTCL
has filed reference in the Honorable Islamabad High Court. Accordingly, the stay order was granted by the
Honorable Islamabad High Court. Similarly, against an order of the Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA] for
the services sales tax, a demand of Rs 461,629 thousand on Technical Services Assistance fee was raised
assuming that the fee is against franchise arrangement for the period from October 2012 to December
2014. The appeal is sub judice before the Commissioner Appeals - PRA, and the stay order from the
Honorable Lahore High Court is also in place against any coercive measures.

Based on an audit of certain monthly returns of FED, a demand of Rs 1,289,957 thousand was raised on
the premise that the Company did not apportion the input tax between allowable and exempt supplies. The
Company is in appeal before ATIR, which is pending adjudication. Meanwhile, the Honorable Islamabad
High Court has granted a stay order in this regard against any coersive measures.

Matters of international incoming has been raised by Sindh Revenue Board [SRBJ and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa
Revenue Authority (KPRA) with demands of Rs. 4,417,000 thousand and Rs. 2,374,000 thousand. For KPRA,
Writ Petition has been filed before Peshawar High Court who has granted stay against the show cause
notice. With reference to SRB, case has been decided against PTCL by Commissioner Appeals, against
whom appeal has been filed before Tribunal. Tribunal SRB has granted stay in the case.

The Sindh Revenue Board [SRB] has assessed Sindh sales tax on services amounting to Rs 702 million
on the premise that PTCL did not pay sales tax on invoices issued for services rendered to Cellular Mobile
Operators (CMOs). Department view was not supported by the record and PTCL has submitted detailed
evidence to refute the same before the learned Commissioner Appeals, SRB and stay has been granted.
Management and tax advisors believe that this case would be settled in favor of PTCL owing to the evidence
on record.

Income tax

For the tax years 2007, 2009, 2010, 2011 to 2023, Taxation Officer disallowed certain expenses, tax credits
and levied short deduction of WHT. The impugned orders were challenged at the relevant appellate forums
which allowed partial relief thereof. After taking into account the orders of CIR (Appeals), ATIR as well as
rectification orders tax impact of the disallowances is Rs 64,851,469 thousand. Appeals on the remaining
outstanding items are pending adjudication before ATIR. Reference in respect of 2007 is subjudice before
the Honorable Islamabad High Court. Stay has been obtained in all cases from different fora. The CIR
(Appeals) have remanded back the disallowances relating to tax years 2014 and 2020 having tax impact of
Rs. 5,937,972 thousand to Taxation Officer.

For the Tax Year 2020, Taxation officer objected to the quarterly advance tax calculation submitted by the
Company based on group taxation and raised demand amounting to Rs. 2,855,907 thousand despite that
PTCL had filed option for group taxation within prescribed time. The Islamabad High Court has decided the
case in favor of PTCL.
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Others

14.7 In 2010, Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust ("PTET") board approved the pension increase
which was less than the increase notified by the Government of Pakistan ["GoP"). Thereafter, pensioners
filed several Writ Petitions. After a series of hearings, on June 12, 2015, the Apex Court decided the case in
the interest of pensioners. On July 13, 2015, Review Petition was filed in Supreme Court of Pakistan against
the Judgment of June 12, 2015.

The Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan [Apex Court] disposed the Review Petitions filed by the Company,
the Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust (PTET) and the Federal Government (collectively, the
Review Petitioners] vide the order dated May 17, 2017. Through the said order, the Apex Court directed
the Review Petitioners to seek remedy under section 12(2) CPC [Civil Procedure Code) which shall be
decided by the concerned Court in accordance with the law, and to pursue all grounds of law and fact
in other cases pending before High Courts. The Review Petitioners filed the applications under section
12(2) CPC before respective High Courts, however the same were dismissed by the Islamabad High Court
vide Judgment dated January 22, 2018, as being not maintainable. The said order of the Islamabad High
Court was challenged by the Company and PTET before the Supreme Court which was pleased to recently
dispose of the Appeals vide its order dated April 29, 2024 and remanded back the 12(2) applications to the
High Court(s) for recalling the earlier order in respect of those Petitioners who opted for VSS. The fresh
12(2) applications were filed before the Honourable Islamabad and Peshawar High court(s) and the cases
have been admitted for hearing vide order dated June 24, 2024 and July 11, 2024, respectively. Both the
high court have issued notices to the VSS optees seeking pension.The applications before the Islamabad
High Court are fixed for hearing on April 17, 2025 and on April 08, 2025 before the Peshawar High Court.

PTET hasimplemented the Apex court decision dated June 12,2015 to the extent of 342 pensioners who were
the petitioners in the main case. Some of the interveners [pensioners) seeking the same relief as allowed
vide order dated June 12, 2015, have been directed by the Apex Court to approach the appropriate forum
on May 10, 2018. Islamabad High Court on November 02, 2021, has decided that the GOP increases are not
allowed to VSS optees, PTC pensioners and to the workmen. To the extent of Civil Servants, the Islamabad
High Court allowed the GOP increase. However, to the same extent appeal has been filed before Apex
court within the limitation. The pension cases before the Supreme Court were fixed on February 11, 2025
and the Court directed the pensioners, PTCL and PTET to submit their written submissions/arguments.
The court has reserved the judgment, however, the matter may be fixed for hearing if the Court requires
any further clarification after thorough review of the submissions. Under the circumstances, management
of the Company, on the basis of legal advice, believes that the Company’s obligations against benefits is
restricted to the extent of pension increases as determined solely by the Board of Trustees of the PTET in
accordance with the Pakistan Telecommunication (Re-Organization) Act, 1996 and the Pension Trust Rules
of 2012 and accordingly, no provision has been recognized in the Company’s financial statements.

Due to complexity of the matter and varying decisions from courts in this regard, it is not practical to
estimate reliably the financial impact, in case of unfavorable outcome of this matter, before its conclusion.

14.8 The Companyimplemented policy directives of Ministry of Information Technology conveyed by the Pakistan
Telecommunication Authority regarding termination of all international incoming calls into Pakistan. On
suspension of these directives by the Honorable Lahore High Court, the Honorable Supreme Court of
Pakistan dismissed the pertinent writ petitions by directing Competition Commission of Pakistan (CCP)
to decide the case. The Honorable Sindh High Court suspended the adverse decision of CCP. The case
was fixed on September 12, 2024. Sindh High Court has disposed of the case, directing the Competition
Commission Appellate Tribunal (CCAT) to decide the pending matter. The court has also granted a stay
against any adverse action by the CCP until the appeals are finally decided by the CCAT. The Matter is
pending before the Competition Appellate Tribunal.
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14.9 A total of 1452 cases (December 31, 2023: 1,348 cases) against PTCL involving Regulatory, Telecom
Operators, Employees and Subscribers. Because of number of cases and their uncertain nature, it is not
possible to quantify their financial impact. Management and Legal advisors of the company are of the
view that the outcome of these cases is expected to be favorable and liability, if any, arising out on the
settlement is not likely to be material.

14.10 No provision on account of above contingencies has been made in these financial statements as the
management and the tax / legal advisors of the Company are of the view, that these matters will eventually

be settled in favor of the Company.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
14.11 Guarantees and bid bonds issued in favour of:

Bank guarantees
Universal Service Fund (USF) against government grants 9,270,431 8,088,668
Others 14.11.1 3,252,806 3,009,705
12,523,237 11,098,373
Corporate guarantee in favour of PTML 65,497,000 56,400,000
Corporate guarantee in favour of Ubank 10,000,000 10,000,000
75,497,000 66,400,000

14.11.1 Others includes bank guarantees given on behalf of DVCOM Data (Private] Limited to PTA amounting to

Rs 675,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs. 675,000 thousand).

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
14.12 Commitments

Contracts for capital expenditure 10,275,706 10,496,849
Letter of comforts in favour of PTML 3,500,000 3,500,000
13,775,706 13,996,849

15. Property, plant and equipment
Operating fixed assets 15.1 138,294,889 123,757,109
Capital work in progress 15.6 22,877,614 20,260,678
161,172,503 144,017,787
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15.4 Disposals of property, plant and equipment:

Following assets were disposed off during the year with book value exceeding five hundred thousand
rupees.

Accumulated  Net book Sale [Loss) / Gain Mode of Particulars of
Cost depreciation value proceeds  on disposal disposal purchaser / relationship with Company

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Apparatus, plant

and equipment 13,555 10,104 3,451 237 (3,214) Auction M/S Gujranwala Cables
Apparatus, plant
and equipment 25,016 14,502 10,514 429 (10,085) Auction M/S Rehmani Traders
Apparatus, plant
and equipment 127,989 100,449 27,540 2,240 (25,300) Auction M/S Bismillah Metals Impex
Apparatus, plant
and equipment 110,981 94,730 16,251 1,943 (14,308) Auction M/S Latif Brothers
Vehicle 19,091 15,273 3,818 3,818 - Company  Ms. Zahida Awan,
Policy GCLO & CS
Vehicle 21,625 10,134 11,491 9,011 (2,480) Company  Mr. Muhammad Shoaib Baig,
Policy GCPO
Vehicle 17,105 13,682 3,423 3,423 - Company  Mr. Zarrar Hasham Khan,

Policy GCBSO

335,362 258,874 76,488 21,101 (55,387)

15.5 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost of services 29 17,854,225 16,528,561
Administrative and general expenses 30 210,037 218,522
Selling and marketing expenses 31 125,949 133,692
18,190,211 16,880,775

15.6 Capital work in progress
Buildings 433,337 584,810
Lines and wires 12,737,776 10,710,193
Apparatus, plant and equipment 4,337,792 4,066,036
Turnkey projects 5,368,709 4,899,639
22,877,614 20,260,678

15.7 Movement during the year

Balance at beginning of the year 20,260,678 17,388,774
Additions during the year 35,902,977 30,434,490

Transfers during the year
- operating fixed assets (32,806,449) (26,448,956)
- intangible assets (479,592) (1,113,630
(33,286,041) (27,562,586)

Balance at end of the year 22,877,614 20,260,678
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16. Right of use (ROU) assets
Lease rentals Right of way 2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Movement during the year
Balance as at January 01, 2024 880,452 818,450 1,698,902 1,777,706
Additions during the year 212,332 39,028 251,360 518,435
Modifications during the year 1,558 170,006 171,564 4,802
Terminations during the year (4,585) (2,402) (6,987) (4,965)
Depreciation for the year 29 (472,931) (258,870) (731,801) (597,076)
Balance as at December 31, 2024 616,826 766,212 1,383,038 1,698,902
16.1 The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the life of 1 to 15 years.
Licenses and Computer
Note spectrum software Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
17. Intangible assets
As at December 31, 2022
Cost 4,639,013 3,373,351 8,012,364
Accumulated amortization (3,805,726) (2,761,374) (6,567,100)
Net book value 833,287 611,977 1,445,264
Movement during 2023
Opening net book value 833,287 611,977 1,445,264
Additions - 1,113,630 1,113,630
Amortization charge for the year 29 (214,982) (601,249) (816,231)
Net book value 171 618,305 1,124,358 1,742,663
As at December 31, 2023
Cost 4,639,013 4,486,981 9,125,994
Accumulated amortization (4,020,708) (3,362,623) (7,383,331)
Net book value 618,305 1,124,358 1,742,663
Movement during 2024
Opening net book value 618,305 1,124,358 1,742,663
Additions - 479,592 479,592
Amortization charge for the year 29 (169,434) (585,755) (755,189)
Net book value 171 448,871 1,018,195 1,467,066
As at December 31, 2024
Cost 4,639,013 4,966,573 9,605,586
Accumulated amortization (4,190,142) (3,948,378) (8,138,520)
Net book value 448,871 1,018,195 1,467,066
Annual rate of amortization (%] 4-10 6.67 - 33
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
17.1 Breakup of net book values as at year end is as follows :

Licenses and spectrum
Telecom 17.2 396,662 415,552
WLL spectrum 17.2 - 134,223
WLL and LDI License - AJK & GB 17.3 44,651 58,047
IPTV 17.4 7,558 10,483
448,871 618,305
Computer software 1,018,195 1,124,358
1,467,066 1,742,663

17.2 The Pakistan Telecommunication Authority (PTA) renewed the license of the Company, to provide
telecommunication services in Pakistan, for a period of 25 years, commencing January 01, 2021, at an
agreed license fee of Rs 472,219 thousand. In June 2005 PTA modified the previously issued license to
provide telecommunication services to include a spectrum license at an agreed license fee of Rs 3,646,884
thousand. Wireless Local Loop (WLL] license under which the Company provided WLL services in Pakistan,
over a period of 20 years, commencing October 2004, expired in October 2024 and accordingly has been
derecognised from the financial statements.

17.3 PTA issued a license under section 5 of the Azad Jammu and Kashmir Council Adaptation of Pakistan
Telecommunication (Re-organization) Act, 1996, the Northern Areas Telecommunication (Re-organization)
Act, 2005 and the Northern Areas Telecommunication (Re-organization) (Adaptation and Enforcement]
Order 2006, to the Company to establish, maintain and operate a telecommunication system in Azad
Jammu and Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan, for a period of 20 years, commencing May 28, 2008, at an agreed
license fee of Rs 109,270 thousand. During 2015, PTA had allocated additional spectrum for WLL services
in Azad Jammu & Kashmir (AJ&K] and Gilgit-Baltistan (GB) for Rs 98,487 thousand. The duration of the
License shall be for the remaining period of the existing WLL licenses. The cost of the licenses is being
amortized, on a straight line basis, over the period of the licenses.

17.4 Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority [PEMRA] had renewed the IPTV license effective from its
last renewal date i.e. November 02, 2016, at an agreed license fee of Rs 37,000 thousand. The cost of the
license is being amortized, on a straight line basis, over a period of 10 years.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

18. Long term investments
Investments in subsidiaries and associate 18.1 76,184,857 71,784,857
Other investments 18.2 51,427 51,427

76,236,284 71,836,284
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2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

18.1 Investments in subsidiaries and associate - at cost (unquoted)

Wholly owned subsidiaries

Pak Telecom Mobile Limited - Islamabad 65,000,000 65,000,000
6,500,000,000 (December 31, 2023: 6,500,000,000)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each

U Microfinance Bank Limited - Islamabad 8,083,857 4,083,857

808,571,420 (December 31, 2023: 408,571,420)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each

100,000,000 (December 31, 2023: 100,000,000)

Preference shares of Rs 10 each 1,000,000 1,000,000
Advance for purchase of shares 2,000,000 1,600,000
11,083,857 6,683,857

DVCOM Data (Private) Limited - Karachi 1,000 1,000

10,000 (December 31, 2023: 10,000 )
ordinary shares of Rs 100 each
Shares held 100% (December 31, 2023: 100%)

Smart Sky (Private) Limited - Islamabad 100,000 100,000
10,000,000 (December 31, 2023: 10,000,000)

ordinary shares of Rs 10 each
Shares held 100% (December 31, 2023: 100%)

76,184,857 71,784,857
Associate
TF Pipes Limited - Islamabad
1,658,520 (December 31, 2023: 1,658,520)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each
Shares held 40% (December 31, 2023: 40%)]) 23,539 23,539
Less: accumulated impairment loss on investment (23,539) (23,539)

76,184,857 71,784,857
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
18.2 Other investments
Fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) - unquoted
Thuraya Satellite Telecommunication Company - Dubai, UAE
3,670,000 (December 31, 2023: 3,670,000)
ordinary shares of AED 1 each 63,900 63,900
Less: accumulated impairment loss on investment (32,473) (32,473)
31,427 31,427
Alcatel - Lucent Pakistan Limited - Islamabad
2,000,000 (December 31, 2023: 2,000,000)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 20,000 20,000
51,427 51,427
19. Long term loans and advances - considered good
Loans to PTML - unsecured 19.1 40,250,000 23,250,000
Loans to Ubank - unsecured 19.1 - 1,200,000
Loans to employees - secured 19.2 1,172,074 1,153,297
41,422,074 25,603,297
Advances to vendors and suppliers 11,435,439 9,449,178
52,857,513 35,052,475
Current portion shown under current assets
Loans to subsidiaries - unsecured 24 (750,005) (2,500,000)
Loans to employees - secured 24 (326,906) (327,293)
(1,076,911) (2,827,293)

51,780,602 32,225,182
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19.2 Reconciliation of carrying amounts of loans to executives and other employees:

19.3

As at January

As at December

01,2024 Disbursements Repayments 31,2024
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Executives 128,394 69,774 (24,123) 174,045
Other employees 1,024,903 396,732 (423,606) 998,029
1,153,297 466,506 (447,729) 1,172,074
As at January As at December
01, 2023 Disbursements Repayments 31, 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Executives 56,221 170,557 (98,384) 128,394
Other employees 1,072,729 233,519 (281,345) 1,024,903
1,128,950 404,076 (379,729) 1,153,297

Maximum amount of loan to executives and other employees outstanding at any time during the year:

Executives
Other employees

2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
114,501 282,377
1,516,354 1,253,363

These loans and advances are for house building and purchase of vehicles and motor cycles. These loans
are recoverable in equal monthly installments spread over a period of 5 to 10 years and are secured against

retirement benefits of the employees.

Loans to executive employees include loan balances of key management personnel aggregating Rs 96,680
thousand (December 2023: 34,525 thousand).

List of key management personnel having outstanding balances of loans up till December 31, 2024 are as

under:

No. Name of employees

Mr. Arslan Haider

Mr. Abdullah Hameed

Mr. Ch Mudasser Shafig

Mr. Ishtiag Naveed Gill

Mr. Muhammad Fahim Ur Rehman
Mr. Muhammad Shehzad Yousaf
Mr. Muhammad Nadeem Khan

Mr. Muhammad Amir Siddiqi

O ~JO0 01T &~ WN —

No.

10
1
12
13

Name of Employees

Mr. Saleem Ullah Baig

Mr. Salman Ali Bajwa

Mr. Syed Muhammmad Shoaib
Mr. Syed Muhammad Imran Al
Ms. Zahida Awan

The maximum aggregate amount of loans to key management personnel outstanding at any time during
the year was Rs 110,226 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs. 36,194 thousand).
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2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
20. Deferred income tax
Deferred tax asset / (liability) relating to:
Taxable temporary difference
Accelerated tax depreciation (7,839,125) (6,997,072)
Accelerated tax amortization (69,577) (100,543)
Contract cost (1,115,467) (805,278)
Right of use assets (401,081) (492,682)
Deductible temporary difference
Provision for obsolete stores 57,751 58,076
Impairment loss on trade debts and other receivables 2,148,569 1,981,969
Liabilities claimable on payment 6,006,333 6,006,333
Lease liabilities 395,792 487,987
Long term investment and other receivables 288,196 215,696
Minimum tax 5,080,490 2,381,292
Tax losses 909,553 -
Others 9,417 9,417
5,470,851 2,745,195
20.1 Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,745,195 (1,898,305)
Charge / (Reversal] for the year in respect of
Accelerated tax depreciation (842,053) 205,172
Accelerated tax amortization 30,966 50,786
Provision for obsolete stores (325) (217,407)
Impairment loss on trade debts and other receivables 166,600 (927,967)
Right of use assets 91,601 93,965
Lease liabilities (92,195] (46,314)
Contract cost (310,189) 45,862
Long term investment and other receivables 72,500 215,696
Liabilities claimable on payment - 2,842,415
Tax losses 909,553 -
Minimum tax 2,699,198 2,381,292
Recognized in statement of profit or loss 2,725,656 4,643,500

Balance at end of the year 5,470,851 2,745,195
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
21. Contract cost
Cost to obtain a contract 472,930 454,110
Cost to fulfil a contract 3,373,509 2,322,710
21.1 3,846,439 2,776,820
Current maturity of contract costs (3,707,304) (2,593,728)
139,135 183,092
21.1 Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,776,820 2,579,213
Capitalization during the year 5,795,303 4,232,159
8,572,123 6,811,372
Amortization during the year 29 (4,725,684) (4,034,552)
Balance at end of the year 3,846,439 2,776,820
22. Stores and spares
Stores and spares 8,400,527 9,633,528
Provision for obsolescence 22.1 (199,142) (200,263)
8,201,385 9,433,265
22.1 Provision for obsolescence
Balance at beginning of the year 200,263 834,799
Reversal during the year (1,121) (634,536)
Balance at end of the year 22.2 199,142 200,263

22.2 The company has written-off stores amounting to Rs. 161,000 (December 31, 2023: Rs. nil]. Furthermore,
the company has reversed Rs. 1,121 thousand (December 31, 2023 : Rs. 634,536 thousand) of the store and
spares provision during the year.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
23. Trade debts and contract assets - unsecured
Trade debts 54,074,869 46,903,456
Contract asset 6,488,311 5,683,902
60,563,180 52,587,358
Domestic
Considered good 23.1 16,517,529 14,531,971
Considered doubtful 7,351,384 6,776,902
23,868,913 21,308,873
International
Considered good 23.2 44,045,651 38,055,387
Considered doubtful 57,475 57,475
44,103,126 38,112,862
67,972,039 59,421,735
Expected credit loss on trade debts and contract assets 23.3 (7,408,859) (6,834,377)
23.4 60,563,180 52,587,358
23.1 These include amounts due from the following related parties:
Maximum aggregate Up to More than
amount 6 months 6 months 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
U Microfinance Bank Limited 29,946 29,946 - 29,946 96,054
GoP related entities 3,773,998 790,472 2,121,886 2,912,358 4,171,000
3,803,944 820,418 2,121,886 2,942,304 4,267,054
23.2 These include amounts due from the following related parties:
Maximum aggregate Up to More than
amount 6 months 6 months 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Emirates Telecommunication
Corporation 42,005,179 3,254,208 38,750,971 42,005,179 36,387,482
Etisalat - Afghanistan - - - - 638,348
GoP related entities - - - - 199,239

42,005,179 3,254,208 38,750,971 42,005,179 37,225,069
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2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
23.3 Expected credit loss on trade debts and contract assets
Balance at beginning of the year 6,834,377 8,097,166
Expected credit loss on trade debts

and contract assets 2,145,765 1,619,174

Write off against expected credit loss on trade debts
and contract assets (1,571,283) (2,881,963)
Balance at end of the year 7,408,859 6,834,377

23.4 These amounts are interest free and are accrued in the normal course of business.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

24. Loans and advances - considered good
Current portion of long term loans to employees 19 326,906 327,293
Current portion of long term loans to subsidiaries 19 750,005 2,500,000
Advances to suppliers and contractors 241 1,702,060 1,801,149
2,778,971 4,628,447

24.1 These include Rs 26,774 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 26,774 thousand) to TF Pipes Limited, a related

party.
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

25. Income tax recoverable

Balance at beginning of the year (842,694) 5,687,108
Current tax charge for the year - profit or loss (2,699,198) (9,158,894)
Tax impact on re-measurement gains / (loss) - OCI = 31,202
Tax paid during the year 3,345,103 2,597,890
(196,789) (842,694)

Tax receivable on behalf of subsidiaries
under group taxation 11.4 40,733,736 23,441,504

Balance at end of the year 40,536,947 22,598,810
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
26. Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments
- Pakistan Telecommunication Authority - related party 9,647 29,060
- Others 1,031,509 892,752
1,041,156 921,812
Other receivables
Due from related parties 26.1 22,297,710 18,041,660
Funded pension 7.1 2,951,439 6,251,822
Gratuity - funded 7.1 121,601 -
Receivable from Government of Pakistan 26.2 2,164,072 2,164,072
Federal Excise Duty (FED) 26.3 3,283,111 3,283,111
Others 1,738,259 1,805,716
Less: Impairment loss on other receivables 26.4 (1,436,415) (1,186,415)
32,160,933 31,281,778
Maximum
aggregate Up to More than
amount 6 months 6 months 2024 2023
Note  Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
26.1 Pak Telecom Mobile Limited 26,5 17,620,708 3,241,532 14,796,546 18,038,078 12,883,636
DVCOM Data (Pvt] Limited 3,384,878 - 3,384,878 3,384,878 3,358,528
Emirates Telecommunication
Corporation 71,305 - 71,305 71,305 71,305
Interest on subordinated loan to PTML 821,743 674,895 - 674,895 848,909
Interest on subordinated loan to Ubank 85,634 - 85,634 85,634 280,161
Pakistan Telecommunication Employees
Trust 29,634 24,308 1,326 25,634 1,326
U Microfinance Bank Limited 639,883 16,426 - 16,426 596,054
Smart Sky (Pvt) Limited 1,891 - 860 860 1,741
22,651,676 3,957,161 18,340,549 22,297,710 18,041,660
26.2 This represents the balance amount receivable from the Government of Pakistan, on account of its agreed
share in the Voluntary Separation Scheme, offered to the Company's employees during the year ended
June 30, 2008.
26.3 This represents payments under protest on account of FED on interconnect charges. The Honourable
Supreme Court has decided the case in favor of PTCL.
26.4 This includes provision for impairment of Rs. 535,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: 535,000 thousand) in
respect of DVCOM Data (Pvt] Limited.
26.5 This amount includes TSA fee receivable from PTML Rs 13,822,359 thousand ( December 31, 2023:

Rs 10,574,719 thousand).
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
27. Cash and bank balances
Cash in hand 112,080 163,532
Balances with banks:
Deposit accounts - local currency 271 1,440,655 984,056
Current accounts
Local currency 1,213,715 2,105,847
Foreign currency- USD 33,465 thousand
(December 31, 2023: USD 24,040 thousand) 9,321,664 6,775,882
10,535,379 8,881,729
27.2 12,088,114 10,029,317

27.1 The balances in deposit accounts, carry mark-up ranging between 7% and 21% (December 31, 2023:
7% and 21%) per annum. These deposit accounts include Rs 1,498 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs.
690 thousand ) with U Microfinance Bank Limited - a related party. The maximum aggregate amount
outstanding at any time during the year amounts to Rs 1,498 thousand.

27.2 Bank balance includes Rs. 212,391 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs. 81,812 thousand] carrying profit at
the rate of 5.87% (December 31, 2023: 11.1% ) per annum from Shariah arrangements.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
28. Revenue

Broadband and IPTV 49,280,794 41,184,622

Voice services 8,685,123 8,254,353
Wireless data 1,058,630 1,664,009
Revenue from retail customers 59,024,547 51,102,984
Corporate and wholesale 38,624,476 34,872,807
International 10,117,286 10,290,923

Total revenue 28.1 107,766,309 96,266,714

28.1 Revenue is stated net of trade discount amounting to Rs 31,684 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 38,032
thousand) and Federal Excise Duty and sales tax amounting to Rs 16,955,531 thousand (December 31,
2023: Rs 15,074,900 thousand). International revenue represents revenue from foreign network operators,
for calls that originate outside Pakistan. Revenue amounting to Rs. 1,153,383 thousand (2023: Rs. 1,115,260
thousand] has been recognized during the year from opening contract liability.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

29. Cost of services
Staff cost 29.1 15,042,936 14,557,528
Outsourced staff cost 2,653,333 2,395,431
Interconnect costs 1,157,552 1,269,678
Foreign operators costs and satellite charges 8,113,950 8,063,539
Fuel and power 11,633,974 10,411,431
Cost of devices sold 3,643,032 2,546,212
Amortization of contract costs 21.1 4,725,684 4,034,552
Rent, rates and taxes 1,406,157 1,926,067
Repairs and maintenance and IT cost 7,907,841 7,218,028
Annual license fee and regulatory charges 29.2 2,842,722 2,482 841
Security service charges 861,435 734,980
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15.5 17,854,225 16,528,561
Depreciation on ROU assets 16 731,801 597,076
Amortization of intangible assets 17 755,189 816,231
Other expenses 160,879 184,371
79,490,710 73,766,526

29.1 This includes Rs 1,465,093 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 1,420,239 thousand] in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

29.2 This represents the Company’s contribution to the National Information Communication Technology
Research and Development Fund (National ICT R&D Fund], Universal Service Fund (USF), annual license
fee and other regulatory charges, in accordance with the terms and conditions of it's license to provide
telecommunication services.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

30. Administrative and general expenses
Staff cost 30.1 2,563,017 2,480,313
Outsourced staff cost 63,426 57,261
Fuel and power 466,566 466,205
Rates and taxes 235,118 230,861
Repairs and maintenance cost 370,190 326,354
Gas and water 155,829 128,551
Travelling and conveyance 128,097 141,374
Technical services assistance fee 30.2 3,550,846 3,148,385
Legal and professional charges 30.3 734,191 589,622
Billing and printing expenses 363,234 412,312
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15.5 210,037 218,522
Other expenses 186,709 210,777
9,027,260 8,410,537

30.1 This includes Rs 249,623 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 241,982 thousand] in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

30.2 This represents the Company’s share of the amount payable to Etisalat - UAE, a related party, under an
agreement for technical services, at the rate of 3.5%, of the PTCL Group's consolidated revenue.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
30.3 This includes auditors’ remuneration
Statutory audit, including half yearly review 30.3.1 14,456 10,800
Out of pocket expenses - 700
14,456 11,500
30.3.1 This fee is inclusive of out of pocket expenses.
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
31. Selling and marketing expenses
Staff cost 31.1 2,109,560 2,041,488
Outsourced staff cost 806,923 728,491
Advertisement and publicity 31.2 720,358 750,713
Sales and distribution charges 1,090,227 890,567
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15.5 125,949 133,692
4,853,017 4,544,951

31.1 This includes Rs 205,459 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 199,169 thousand] in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

31.2 It includes donation Rs. nil thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 5,000 thousand). Donations that exceed
Rs 1,000 thousand are given to the parties given hereunder:

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Name of Donees
Rashid Khan Trust - 5,000
- 5,000
32. Otherincome
Income from financial assets:
Return on bank deposits 32.1 366,773 278,778
Late payment surcharge from subscribers 550,142 14,539
Interest on subordinated long term loan to subsidiaries 5,792,408 4,976,955
Exchange gain - 3,870,271
Dividend income from U Bank - 443,743
6,709,323 9,584,286
Income from non-financial assets:
Government grants recognised 1,429,614 582,796
Re-chargeable projects income 599,676 1,087,626
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,146,152 5,898,105
Imputed interest income on employee loans 345,027 -
Scrap sales 2,334,271 1,673,036
Rental income 459,275 370,809
Others 201,042 212,924
17,224,380 19,409,582

32.1 Income from financial assets include Rs 268 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 63 thousand] earned from
Shariah arrangements.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
33. Finance and other costs
Bank and other charges 288,709 190,526
Interest on long term Loans 11,387,820 8,235,281
Interest on running finance 6,389,277 1,740,054
Imputed interest expense on employee loans - 39,789
Interest Expense - Employee Benefits 3,859,624 3,060,568
Interest on lease liabilities 293,170 162,953
22,218,600 13,429,171
Exchange loss 369,881 -
22,588,481 13,429,171
34. Taxation
Current tax
Current year 4,785,269 5,604,855
Prior year - 3,554,039
4,785,269 9,158,894
Deferred tax
Current year (2,725,656) (1,432,079)
Prior year - (3,211,421)
20.1 (2,725,656) (4,643,500)
2,059,613 4,515,394
2024 2023
34.1 Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit before tax (Rupees in thousand) 6,885,456 13,905,937
Percentage Percentage
Applicable tax rate 29.00 29.00
Super tax - 2.46
Effect of change in tax rate - (1.66)
Others 0.91 2.67
0.91 3.47
Average effective tax rate 29.91 32.47
2024 2023
35. Earnings per share - basic and diluted
Profit for the year Rupees in thousand 4,825,843 9,390,543
Weighted average number
of ordinary shares Numbers in thousand 51,000,000 51,000,000

Earnings per share Rupees 0.95 1.84
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36. Non-funded finance facilities

The Company has non funded financing facilities available with banks, which include facilities to avail
letters of credit and letters of quarantee. The aggregate facility of Rs 26,350,000 thousand (December 31,
2023: Rs 27,600,000 thousand) and Rs 17,350,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 18,350,000 thousand]
is available for letters of credit and letters of guarantee respectively, out of which the facility availed at
the year end is Rs 9,313,640 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 13,448,900 thousand) and Rs 15,074,000
thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 11,098,373 thousand] respectively. The letter of guarantee facility is
secured by a hypothecation charge over certain assets of the Company, amounting to Rs 176,250,000

thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 125,650,000 thousand).

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
37. Cash generated from operating activities
Profit before tax 6,885,456 13,905,937
Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,190,211 16,880,775
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 66,457
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 755,189 816,231
Depreciation of right of use assets 731,801 597,076
Amortization of contract cost 4,725,684 4,034,552
Provision for obsolete stores and spares 161,000 -
Reversal of obsolete stores and spares (1,121) (9,323)
Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets 2,145,765 1,619,174
Provision for employees retirement benefits 5,781,823 4,921,957
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,146,152) (5,898,105)
Return on bank deposits (366,773) (278,778)
Imputed (income) / expense on long term loans - 39,789
Imputed interest on lease liabilities 293,170 162,953
Return on subordinated long term loans to subsidiaries (5,792,408) (4,976,955)
Interest on long term Loans-Syndicate Partners 11,387,820 8,235,281
Interest on short term running finance 6,389,277 1,740,054
Dividend income - (443,743)
Unearned revenue realised (180,397) (166,615)
Release of deferred government grants (1,429,614) (582,796)
Exchange loss / (gain) 319,146 (3,013,171)
44,849 877 37,650,750
Effect of cash flows due to working capital changes
(Increase) / decrease in current assets:
Stores and spares 1,072,002 (1,787,355)
Trade debts and contract assets (10,406,096) (10,370,632)
Loans and advances 99,476 1,217,262
Prepayments and other receivables (4,493,437) (3,893,660)
(13,728,055) (14,834,385)
Increase in current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 9,689,104 6,088,489
Security deposits 37,342 9,607
Cash generated from operating activities 40,848,268 28,914,461
38. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 27 12,088,114 10,029,317
Short term running finance 12 (47,116,732) (24.,214,700)
(35,028,618) (14,185,383)
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38.1 Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flow arising from financing activities.

Liabilities Long term
Lease  Unpaid/ unclaimed loans

liabilities dividend from banks Total

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Balance as at January 01, 2024 1,682,714 209,256 51,020,714 52,912,684
Addition during the year - net 709,108 - - 709,108
Changes from financing cash flow (1,027,023) (1,125) 79,311 (948,837)
Total liability related changes - - 11,999,054 11,999,054
Balance as at December 31, 2024 1,364,799 208,131 63,099,079 64,672,009
Balance as at January 01, 2023 1,619,093 209,814 22,448,367 24,277,274
Addition during the year - net 681,225 - - 681,225
Changes from financing cash flow (617,604) (558]) 20,337,066 19,718,904
Total liability related changes - - 8,235,281 8,235,281
Balance as at December 31, 2023 1,682,714 209,256 51,020,714 52,912,684

39. Remuneration of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Executives

The aggregate amount charged in the financial statements for remuneration, including all benefits, to the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executives of the Company are as follows:

Chairman Chief Executive Officer Executives
Key management Other
personnel executives
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Managerial remuneration - - 129,806 109,485 375,872 330,128 3,385,449 2,164,167
Honorarium 300 300 - - - - - -
Retirement benefits - - - - 24,544 19,090 284,707 154,258
Medical - - - - 41,615 37,021 296,868 177,310
Housing - - 98,993 78,825 - - 1,400 1,805
Utilities - - 50,800 27,098 27,892 20,375 1,392 1,686

300 300 279,599 215,408 469,923 406,614 3,969,816 2,499,226
Bonus paid - - 119,960 66,868 157,761 132,538 1,170,190 586,136

300 300 399,559 282,276 627,684 539,152 5,140,006 3,085,362
Number of persons 1 1 1 1 32 35 1115 822

The Company also provides free medical and limited residential telephone facilities, to all its Executives,
including the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ). The Chairman is entitled to free transport and a limited
residential telephone facility, whereas, the Directors of the Company are provided only with limited
telephone facilities; certain executives are also provided with the Company maintained cars. Approximate
value of of medical and car facility is Rs. 157,327 thousand (December 31, 2023 : Rs. 93,507 thousand).

Aggregate amount charged in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 as fee to 9
directors including chairman fee is Rs 176,798 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 156,441 Thousand) for
attending Board of Directors and sub-committee meetings.
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40. Rates of exchange

Assets in US dollars have been translated into Rupees at USD 1 = Rs 278.55 (December 31, 2023: USD 1 =
Rs 281.86), while liabilities in US dollars have been translated into Rupees at USD 1 = Rs 278.55 (December
31, 2023: USD 281.86).

41. Employees’ provident fund

Investments out of the provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of
the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated for this purpose.

42. Financial instruments and risk management

42.1 Financial risk factors

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, other
price risk and interest rate risk], credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on its financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors (the Board). The Board has prepared a ‘Risk
Management Policy” covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and investment of excess liquidity. All treasury related transactions are carried out within the parameters
of this policy.

(a)  Market risk
(i)  Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises mainly from future commercial
transactions, or receivables and payables that exist due to transactions in foreign currencies.

The Company is exposed to currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the United States Dollar (USD), Arab Emirates Dirham (AED), EURO (EUR) and Chinese Yuan (CNY).
Currently, the Company’s foreign exchange risk exposure is restricted to the amounts receivable from /
payable to foreign entities. The Company’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
UsD
Trade and other payables (11,000,505) (12,247,473)
Trade debts 43,690,293 38,321,795
Cash and bank balances 9,321,664 6,775,882
Net exposure 42,011,452 32,850,204
AED
Trade and other payables - (5,570)
EUR
Trade and other payables (3,017 (617)
CNY

Trade and other payables (651,283) -
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The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:

2024 2023
Rupees per USD
Average rate 278.48 279.98
Reporting date rate 278.55 281.86
Rupees per AED
Average rate 75.82 76.23
Reporting date rate 75.84 76.74
Rupees per EUR
Average rate 301.24 302.74
Reporting date rate 290.08 311.50
Rupees per CNY
Average rate 38.71 39.55
Reporting date rate 38.16 39.63

If the functional currency, at the reporting date, had fluctuated by 5% against the USD, AED, EUR and CNY
with all other variables held constant, the impact on profit after taxation for the year would have been Rs
1,468,178 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 1,116,033 thousand) respectively lower / higher, mainly as a
result of exchange gains / losses on translation of foreign exchange denominated financial instruments.
Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis.

(ii)  Other price risk

Other price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency
risk]), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its
issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
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(iii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

At the date of the statement of financial position, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest bearing

financial instruments is:

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Financial assets
Fixed rate instruments:
Staff loans 1,571,404 1,498,324
Bank balances - deposit accounts 1,440,655 984,056
3,012,059 2,482,380
Variable rate instruments:
Subordinated long term loan to PTML 40,250,000 23,250,000
Subordinated long term loan to Ubank 19.1 - 1,200,000
40,250,000 24,450,000
Financial liability
Variable rate instruments:
Syndicate Term Finance Facility 63,099,079 51,020,714
63,099,079 51,020,714

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Therefore,
a change in interest rates at the date of the statement of financial position would not affect the total
comprehensive income of the Company.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

If interest rates on long-term loans to subsidiaries [ PTML and U-Bank] and syndicate term finance facilty
(PTCL]) at the year end date, fluctuate by 1% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, profit
after taxation for the year would have been Rs 389,552 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 420,687 thousand]
higher / lower, mainly as a result of higher / lower mark-up income on floating rate loans / investments.

(b)  Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the
other party, by failing to discharge an obligation. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date is as follows:

2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Long term loans and advances 40,345,163 22,776,004
Trade debts and contract assets 60,563,180 52,587,358
Loans and advances 1,076,911 2,827,293
Other receivables 24,035,969 19,847,376
Bank balances 11,976,034 9,865,785
137,997,257 107,903,816
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The credit risk on liquid funds is limited, because the counter parties are banks with reasonably high credit
ratings. In case of trade debts, the Company believes that it is not exposed to major concentrations of credit
risk, as its exposure is spread over a large number of counter parties and subscribers. The long term loans
include a sub-ordinated loan of Rs 40,250,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 23,250,000 thousand)
to the subsidiary-PTML. Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets arising from contract with
customers amounts to Rs 2,145,765 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 1,619,174 thousand). Trade debts
include receivable of Rs. 44,947 483 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 41,292,884 thousand) from related
parties.

The credit quality of bank balances and short term investments, that are neither past due nor impaired,
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about
counterparty default rate:

Rating Rating

Short term Long term Agency

National Bank of Pakistan A-1+ AAA PACRA
Bank Alfalah Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
Soneri Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA
The Bank of Punjab A-1+ AA+ PACRA
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
Askari Bank Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA
Allied Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
United Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
Banklslami Pakistan Limited A-1 AA- PACRA
Bank Al-Habib Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
Faysal Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA
Citi Bank, N.A P-1 Aa3 Moody's
Albaraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited A-1 A+ VIS
Mobilink Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A PACRA
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited A-1+ AA VIS
JS Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA
Sindh Bank Limited A-1+ AA- VIS
Silk Bank Limited A-2 A- VIS
Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
Meezan Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
The Bank of Khyber A-1 A+ VIS
First Women Bank Limited A-2 A- PACRA
Samba Bank Limited A-1 AA VIS
U Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A+ VIS
Khushhali Microfinance Bank Limited A-2 A- VIS
Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A VIS

Due to the Company’'s long standing business relationships with these counterparties, and after giving due
consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not expect non-performance by these
counter parties on their obligations to the Company. Accordingly, the credit risk is minimal.
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(c)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The Company follows an effective cash management policy and continuously monitors its liquidity position
to ensure availability of funds, and to take appropriate measures for new requirements.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2024:

Carrying Less than One to five More than

amount one year years five years

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Syndicate Term Finance Facility 62,780,360 - 62,780,360 -

Security deposits 653,373 653,373 - -

Short term running finance 47,116,732 47,116,732 - -

Trade and other payables 126,973,696 126,973,696 - -

Unclaimed dividend 208,131 208,131 - -
Current portion of long term

loans from banks 318,719 318,719 - -

Lease liabilities 2,044,463 547,686 1,068,159 478,618

240,095,474 175,818,337 63,848,519 478,618

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2023:

Carrying Less than One to five More than

amount one year years five years

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Syndicate Term Finance Facility 50,781,306 - 48,781,306 2,000,000

Security deposits 616,031 616,031 - -

Short term running finance 24,214,700 24,214,700 - -

Trade and other payables 106,341,898 106,341,898 - -

Unclaimed dividend 209,256 209,256 - -
Current portion of long term

loans from banks 239,408 239,408 - -

Lease liabilities 2,454,927 579,921 1,472,424 402,582

184,857,526 132,201,214 50,253,730 2,402,582

42.2 Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements, approximate
their fair values. Fair value is determined on the basis of objective evidence at each reporting date.

Fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 and 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which is as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted] in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable
inputs).
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Details of the Company’s assets’ fair value hierarchy as at December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Long term other investments 2024 - - 51,427 51,427
Long term other investments 2023 - - 51,427 51,427

There has been no transfers from one level of hierarchy to another level during the year.

Measurement of fair value

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

Type Valuation technique

Discounted cash flows:
The valuation model
considers the present
value of projected cash
flows, discounted using
long term discount
rate that reflect the
risk inherent to the

Non listed equity
investments -
Thuraya Satellite
Telecommunication
Company

investment in these equity

instruments

Discounted cash flows:
The valuation model
considers the present
value of projected cash
flows, discounted using
long term discount
rate that reflect the
risk inherent to the

Non listed equity
investments - Alcatel -
Lucent Pakistan Limited

investment in these equity

instruments

Significant unobservable
inputs

Long term discount rate 9%
(31 December 2023: 9%)

Future free cash flows

Long term discount rate
15.5% (31 December 2023:
15.5%)

Future free cash flows

Sensitivity of input to fair value

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease) in the discount rate
would decrease (increase) the fair
value by Rs. 5,570 thousand (Rs.
6,960 thousand) (31 December

2023: Rs.5,545 thousand (Rs. 6,933
thousand)).

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease) in the future free cash
flows would increase (decrease)

the fair value by Rs. 2,360 thousand
(Rs. 2,270 thousand) (31 December
2023: Rs. 2,351 thousand (Rs. 2,263
thousand))

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease) in the discount rate would
decrease (increase] the fair value by
Rs.264,820 thousand (Rs. 298,970
thousand) (31 December 2023:

Rs. 363,425 thousand (Rs. 413,156
thousand))

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease) in the future free cash
flows would increase (decrease) the
fair value by Rs. 189,040 thousand
(Rs. 182,800 thousand) (31 December
2023: Rs. 246,260 thousand (Rs.
231,748 thousand))
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FvOCI - FVTPL - Assets at
equity equity amortized
instruments instruments cost Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
42.3 Financial instruments by categories - 2024
Financial assets as per statement of
financial position
Long term other investments 51,427 - - 51,427
Long term loans and advances - - 51,780,602 51,780,602
Trade debts and contract assets - - 60,563,180 60,563,180
Loans and advances - - 2,778,971 2,778,971
Other receivables - - 32,160,933 32,160,933
Cash and bank balances - - 12,088,114 12,088,114
51,427 - 159,371,800 159,423,227
Financial liabilities as per statement of
financial position Liabilites at amortized cost
Trade and other payables 155,896,576
Securities deposits 653,373
Unclaimed dividend 208,131
Lease liabilities 1,364,799
158,122,879
FVOCI - FVTPL - Assets at
equity equity amortized
instruments instruments cost Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Financial instruments by categories - 2023
Financial assets as per statement of
financial position
Long term other investments 51,427 - - 51,427
Long term loans and advances - - 32,225,182 32,225,182
Trade debts and contract assets - - 52,587,358 52,587,358
Loans and advances - - 4,628,442 4,628,442
Other receivables - - 31,281,778 31,281,778
Cash and bank balances - - 10,029,317 10,029,317
51,427 - 130,752,077 130,803,504

Financial liabilities as per statement of

financial position

Liabilites at amortized cost

Trade and other payables 132,624,828
Securities deposits 616,031
Unclaimed dividend 209,256
Lease liabilities 1,682,714

135,132,829

42.4

Capital risk management

The Board’s policy is to maintain an efficient capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence, and to sustain the future development of the Company’s business. The Board of Directors
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43.

monitors the return on capital employed, which the Company defines as operating income divided by total
capital employed. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:

(i) to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders: and

(i) to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Company manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company
may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to
reduce debt.

For working capital and capital expenditure requirements, the Company primarily relies on internal cash
generation and does not have any significant borrowings.

Transactions with related parties

The Government of Pakistan and Etisalat International Pakistan (EIP), UAE are the majority shareholders
of the Company. Additionally, the Company’'s subsidiaries Pak Telecom Mobile Limited, U Microfinance
Bank Limited, DVCOM Data (Private) Limited, Smart Sky (Private) Limited, associate T.F. Pipes Limited,
Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Key management personnel and employee funds are also related parties
of the Company. The remuneration of the Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Executives is given in note
39 to the financial statements. The amounts due from and due to these related parties are disclosed in
the respective notes including note 8,9,11,13,18,19,23,24,25,26 and 27. The Company has also issued a
letter of comfort and corporate guarantee in favour of PTML as disclosed in note 14.12. The Company had
transactions with the following related parties during the year:

Aggregate % of
shareholding in the

Particulars Company
Shareholders
The Government of Pakistan 62.18%
Etisalat International Pakistan 26%
Subsidiaries
Pak Telecom Mobile Limited Not applicable
U Microfinance Bank Limited Not applicable
DVCOM Data (Private] Limited Not applicable
Smart Sky (Private) Limited Not applicable
Associated undertakings
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation - Ultimate Parent Company Not applicable
Etisalat - Afghanistan Not applicable
Etisalat - Egypt Not applicable
Etihad Etisalat Company Not applicable
TF Pipes Limited Not applicable
Telecom Foundation Not applicable
Employees retirement benefits plans
Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust Not applicable
Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited General Provident Fund Trust Not applicable
Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited Employees Gratuity Fund Not applicable
Other related parties
Pakistan Telecommunication Authority Not applicable
Universal Service Fund Not applicable
National ICT R&D Fund Not applicable

Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority Not applicable
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Chief Executive, directors and key management personnel

The Company also has transactions with Chief Executive Officer, directors and other key management
personnel transactions with whom are disclosed in note 19 and 39 to these financial statements.

Following particulars relate to holding and associated companies incorporated outside Pakistan with
whom the Company had entered into transactions during the year:

Names Country of incorporation Basis of association

- Holding Company

Etisalat International Pakistan United Arab Emirates Holding Company
- Associated Companies
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation  United Arab Emirates Associate of the Holding Company
Etisalat - Afghanistan Afghanistan Associate of the Holding Company
Etisalat - Egypt Egypt Associate of the Holding Company
Etihad Etisalat Company (Mobily) Kingdom of Saudi Arabia ~ Associate of the Holding Company
2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Details of transactions with related parties
Shareholders
Technical services assistance fee 3,550,846 3,148,385
Subsidiaries
Sale of goods and services 6,376,676 5,355,549
Purchase of goods and services 1,927,623 1,589,423
Mark up on long term loans 5,792,408 4,976,784
Rental income 47,557 40,890
Dividend income - 443,743
Return on deposit accounts 15,017 -
Long term loans to subsidiaries 19,500,000 8,000,000
Long term investment in subsidiaries 4,400,000 27,100,000
Repayment of Long term loan from Subsidiaries 2,500,000 2,000,000
Associated undertakings
Sale of goods and services 7,198,677 8,698,356
Purchase of goods and services 952,976 1,002,461
Contribution to:
Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust 990,436 959,087
PTCL Employees Gratuity Fund 47131 -
Charge under license obligations 2,842,722 2,482,838

Transactions with the entities controlled by Government of Pakistan, have not been separately disclosed as
these are ordinary trasactions conducted in normal course of business.

44. Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Gross amount Amount not in Net as per
subject Offset Net amount scope of statement of
to offsetting offsetting financial position
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
As at December 31, 2024
Trade debts 43,809,880 (5,649,369) 38,160,511 22,402,669 60,563,180
Trade creditors (6,624,898) 5,649,369 (975,529) 12,288,692 13,264,221
As at December 31, 2023
Trade debts 39,457,746 (1,351,055) 38,106,691 14,480,667 52,587,358
Trade creditors (2,414,577) 1,351,055 (1,063,522) 15,655,662 16,719,184
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2024 2023
(Number) (Number)

45. Number of employees
Total number of persons employed at end of the year 14,466 15,008
Average number of employees during the year 14,715 15,182

46. Corresponding Figures

Prior year figure have been re-arranged , wherever necessary, for better presentation and comparison.
Reclassification of corresponding figures of the financial statements is given below:

Reclassification from Reclassification to 2024

Rs ‘000
Cost of services Finance costs 2,335,213
Administrative and general expenses Finance costs 397,874
Selling and marketing expenses Finance costs 327,481
Receivable from Government of Pakistan Prepayments and other receivables 2,164,072

47. Disclosure Requirements For Shariah Compliant Companies

As per the requirements of the fourth Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017, Shariah compliant companies
and companies listed on the Islamic index shall disclose the following:

2024 2023

Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Long term loans from banks 9 16,000,000 9,000,000

Short term running finance 12 23,688,746 7,468,545

Revenue

Revenue earned from shariah compliant business 28 107,766,309 96,266,714
Other income earned from Shariah-compliant sources

Return on bank deposits 32 268 63

48. Date of authorization for issue

48.1 These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on
February 11, 2025.

\‘E\‘\‘,Q\‘\J M/

Chief Financial Officer President & CEO Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our apinion, consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants” Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan (the Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 18.7 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes matters relating to certain
pensioners’ claim, under the Holding Company’s funded pension scheme, which are currently pending adjudication for the
reasons explained in the above-mentioned note, the Holding Company has not made provision against the said claim in the
consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Following are the Key audit matters:

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition from telecom business

As more fully described in Note 5.28(a), Note 34,
Note 26 and Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported revenue of Rs.
194,903 million (FY23: Rs. 164,315 million), trade
debts and contract assets of Rs. 64,356 million
(FY23: 56,377 million) and contract liabilities of Rs.
13,982 million (FY2023: Rs. 11,488 million), for the
year ended or as of 31 December 2024, from its
telecom operations.

Management records revenue according to the
principles of IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, including following the 5-step model
therein.

We identified a risk of management override
through inappropriate manual topside revenue
journal entries, given revenue is a key performance
indicator, both in external communication and for
management incentives.

We also consider auditing the revenue recorded
by the Group to involve greater auditor effort and
attention, due to the multiple IT systems and tools
utilized in the initiation, processing and recording
of transactions, which includes a high volume of
individually low monetary value transactions. The
involvement of IT professionals was required to
determine the audit approach to test and evaluate
the relevant data that was captured and aggregated,
and to assess the sufficiency of the audit evidence
obtained.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating the design
and testing the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Group’s revenue recognition process, which
includes management’s determination of the timing
of revenue recorded.

With the support of our IT professionals, we also
evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the appropriate flow
of transactional data through the IT systems and
tools and the reconciliation of the transactional data
to the accounting records.

For significant revenue streams, our audit procedures
included the following, on a sample basis:

- We used data analytic tools to identify revenue
related manual journals posted to the general
ledger and traced these back to underlying
source documentation, to evaluate the propriety,
completeness and accuracy of the postings.

- Where it was deemed to be most effective, we
extended the use of data analytics.

- Forrevenue streams where the above procedures
were not used, we obtained the billing data to
general ledger reconciliation, which included
the relevant adjustments to deferred and
accrued revenue balances. We reperformed
these reconciliations, including assessing the
accuracy of the data inputs to underlying source
documentation, including contractual agreements
where applicable. In addition, we tested the
mathematical accuracy and completeness of the
reconciliations and material reconciling items,
including significant revenue postings outside of
the billing systems.

- We recalculated the revenue recognised to
evaluate whether the processing of the revenue
recognition by the Group’'s IT systems was
materially correct.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition from telecom business

Income tax recoverable

For a sample of transactions, selected across all
revenue streams, undertaken during the year, we
traced the revenue recognized for each transaction
in the general ledger to the relevant underlying
supporting documents and cash receipts.

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures in respect to the accounting policies
on revenue recognition.

As more fully described in Note 5.33 and Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
recognized income tax recoverable in accordance
with IAS 12, Income Taxes, being the amount already
paid in respect of current and prior periods in
excess of current tax due for those periods, based
on whether management judges that it is expected
that the amount will be recovered from the federal
tax authorities.

An income tax recoverable of Rs. 52,305 million
(FY23: Rs. 32,356 million) has been recognized, as
management has concluded that this amount will
be recovered via a mixture of receipt of refunds
and adjustment against amount of current tax
due for future periods. Currently, a number of tax
assessments are pending at different appellate
forums.

Auditing the Group’s recognition and recoverability
of income tax recoverable is significant to the audit
because it involves material amounts, and the
judgements and estimates in relation to the period
of time over which it is expected to utilize these
assets, results in increased estimation uncertainty.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design effectiveness of controls over the
Group’s recognition and recoverability of income
tax recoverable, including reassessment at each
reporting date.

Involvement of tax specialistin assessment of whether
the tax paid by/ on behalf of the Group to federal
tax authorities is adjustable under the provisions of
the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, including review of
underlying documentation relating to any related tax
litigation/ income tax assessment before appellate
forums and/ or federal tax authority.

Examination of income tax returns and tax refund
applications, to assess existence, accuracy and
valuation of amount recognized in the consolidated
financial statements.

Inspecting correspondence with tax authorities,
minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors
of the Group and direct replies against confirmations
circularized by us to selected tax and legal advisor
of the Group to identify any pending taxation matters
relating to the income tax recoverable.

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in respect
of the recognition of the income tax recoverable.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Capitalization of property, plant and Equipment

As more fully described in Note 5.17(a) and Note
19 to the consolidated financial statements, during
the year, the Group has recognized additions to
property, plant and equipment amounting to Rs.
57,310 million.

In order to expand its network coverage and bring
improvements to network quality, the Group continue
to incur relatively high level of capital expenditure.

Auditing the Group's recognition of additions to
property, plant and equipment is significant to
the audit because it involves material amounts,
and the judgements and estimates in relation
to measurement of cost on initial recognition,
determination of point in time they are available for
use, classification of property, plantand equipment
and assessment of certain elements of expenditure
as either capital or revenue expenditure.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design
and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Group's process for incurrence of capital
expenditure.

For a sample of transactions, selected across all
classes of property, plantand equipment, undertaken
during the year, we:

- Traced the amount capitalized in the general
ledger to the relevant underlying supporting
documents and cash payments.

- Ascertained the nature of costincurred to assess
whether it meet the criteria for capitalization, as
per IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment.

- Traced the cost of completed projects, transferred
from capital work in progress to operating fixed
assets to underlying documentation including
completion certificates, where relevant, and
comparing the date of capitalization with
supporting documentation.

Performing physical verification, including by
observing their connection to network, of items of
property, plant and equipment added during the year.

Analyzing repair and maintenance ledger to identify
any items that may meet the capitalization criteria.

Impairment of non-current assets of Pak Telecom Mobil

e Limited (PTML), a component of the Group

As more fully described in Note 4(e) to the
consolidated financial statements, in accordance
with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, in view of
identification of indicators of impairment, the Group
calculated the Value In Use ('VIU'] for property, plant
and equipment, right of use assets and intangibles
of PTML (hereinafter referred as “"Wireless Cash
Generating Unit (CGU)"), with carrying values of
Rs. 117,743 million (FY23: Rs. 108,483 million), Rs.
12,488 million (FY23: Rs. 9,902 million) and Rs. 50,861
million (FY23: Rs. 57,003 million), respectively, to
determine whether an adjustment to the carrying
values is required.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the
design effectiveness of controls over the Group’s
impairment review process, including, for example,
management’s controls over the significant
assumptions described for the VIU assessment.

Forthe impairment assessment as of 31 December
2024, we also evaluated, with the help of EY valuation
specialists, the methodology applied in the Wireless
CGU VIU model, as compared to the requirements
of IAS 36, including the mathematical accuracy of
management’s model.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of non-current assets of Pak Telecom Mobile Limited (PTML), a component of the Group

The Group has concluded that no impairment
is required to be recognized in the consolidated
financial statements, as VIU of Wireless CGU
exceeds its’ carrying value. The Group’s assessment
of the VIU of Wireless CGU involves estimation about
the future performance of the wireless operations. In
particular, the determination of the VIU of Wireless
CGU was sensitive to the significant assumptions
regarding the projected sales growth rate, operating
margin, long-term market growth-rate and discount
rate.

Auditing the Company's impairment test for Wireless
CGU was complex and involved significant auditor
judgement, given the estimation uncertainty related
to the significant assumptions described above and
the sensitivity to fluctuations in those assumptions.

We performed procedures to assess the significant
assumptions used in Wireless CGU VIU model,
including:

- Evaluating the estimate for the projected sales
growth rate and operating margin, for example
by comparing underlying assumptions to external
data, such as economic and industry forecasts for
Pakistani telecom market, supporting evidence
provided by management, and for consistency
with evidence obtained from other areas of our
audit.

- Comparing the cash flow projections used in
the Wireless CGU VIU model to the information
approved by PTMLs Board of Directors
and evaluating the historical accuracy of
management’s business plans, which underpin
the VIU model, by comparing prior years' forecasts
to actual results.

- Comparing forecast capital expenditure to actual
historical spend and market specific events.

- With the support of EY valuation specialists,
comparing the long-term growth rate and
discount rate assumptions to EY independently
determined ranges.

- Performing sensitivity analyses on the above-
described assumptions in the VIU model, to
evaluate whether a reasonable change in
assumptions would cause an impairment of
Wireless CGU or indicate additional disclosures
were appropriate.

- Inconsidering the existence of contrary evidence,
for management's assessment of implied
recoverable value, we compared the Wireless
CGU’s EBITDA multiple.

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures provided in Note 4(e) of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Expected credit loss allowance against advances

As more fully described in Note 5.27.iv.a and Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with requirements of IFRS 9, Financial
Instruments (as applicable in Pakistan), the Group
recognizes expected credit allowance against its
portfolio of advances to the customers, extended by
U Microfinance Bank Limited (Ubank, a component
of the Group), and amounting to Rs. 81,377 million
(FY23: Rs. 77,475 million), which is spread across
various branches.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 -"Financial
Instruments” (as applicable in Pakistan] which
requires application of a forward looking, expected
credit loss ("ECL") impairment model.

We consider this as a key audit matter, as the
determination of ECL involves significant estimation
and management judgement and this has a material
impact on consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The key area of judgement includes:

1. Categorization of advances into Stage 1,2 and 3
based on identification of:

a. Exposureswith a significantincrease in credit
risk ["SICR"] since their origination.

b. Classified portfolio, in accordance with
requirements of the Prudential Regulations
(Non-performing Loans [NPL]).

c. Other Individually impaired / defaulted
exposures.

2. Assumptions used in the ECL model for
determining probability of default ("PD"), loss
given default ("LGD"") and exposure at default
("EAD") including, and not limited to, assessment
of financial condition of the counterparties,
expected future cashflows, developing and
incorporating forward looking assumptions,
macroeconomic factors and the associated
scenarios and expected probability weightages.

We applied a range of audit procedures to audit the
Group’s estimate of IFRS 9 expected credit loss including
the following:

We reviewed the management's process of
assessment of allowance for ECL against advances
including the Group’s accounting policy and ECL
model methodology adopted during the year.

We assessed the design effectiveness of the key
controls over:

- The governance of ECL model, its validation and
any model updates performed during the year,
including relevant approvals.

- The classification of advances into Stages 1, 2
and 3 and timely identification of SICR and the
determination of NPL / individually impaired
exposures.

- The integrity of data inputs into the ECL model.

Where required, we involved our IFRS 9 experts
to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of
ECL models (including EADs, PDs and LGDs)
methodology/functionality and assumptions used
in the ECL models.

For a sample of exposure / borrowers, we performed
procedures to test the accuracy of critical data used in
ECL estimations such as Probability of Default (PDs)
determined by management and its reasonableness,
accuracy of cash flows used in ECL models, including
the impact of collaterals and the accuracy of other
critical data and assumption used in ECL models.

In addition, we selected a representative sample
of borrowers from the advance portfolios and
performed tests and procedures such as review of
credit documentation, past due status, nature of
collateral held by the Group.

We also assessed adequacy of disclosures as included
in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements
regarding the advances.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Going concern

As stated in note 1.4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group has incurred loss after tax amounting to
Rs. 14,394 million, for the year ended 31 December
2024 [FY 23: Rs. 16,729 million) and its accumulated
losses as at 31 December 2024 amount to Rs.
43,576 million (FY23: Rs. 22,078 million). As of 31
December 2024, current liabilities of the Group
exceed its current assets by Rs 82,494 million (FY
23: Rs. 39,240 million).

Management has prepared the financial statements
of the Group on a going concern basis. This involves
judgement in assessing group's ability to meet its
obligations. Given the level of judgement required
in the forecasting process and assessment of
uncertainty related to going concern, we considered
it as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included among others the
following:

Inspected business plan duly approved by the Board
of Directors of the Group.

Assessed the appropriateness of methodology used
by the management in preparation of projections.

Analyzed the Group’s history of actual performance
versus budget to evaluate historical forecasting
accuracy.

Checked accuracy and relevance of source data used
in projections along with the overall mathematical
accuracy of the projected financial information.

Assessed reasonableness of the assumptions used
in projections along with performing stress testing
on the assumptions such as Average revenue per
user (ARPU]J, Subscribers growth, inflation, Deposit
and advances growth rates, interest rate yields etc.

Checked that the disclosure of uncertainty related
to going concern made by the management is in
accordance the requirements of applicable financial
reporting framework.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information included in the annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2024, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements,
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and Companies Act, 2017 and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as
applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

U Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matters

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor, whose report
dated 05 May 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion along with an emphasis of matter paragraph.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Omer Chughtai.

&0 b fide

Chartered Accountants

Place:Islamabad
Date: 05 April 2025
UDIN: AR202410120YPXzBTgM3




FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital and reserves
Share capital 6 51,000,000 51,000,000
Revenue reserves
General reserve 27,497,072 27,497,072
Accumulated loss (43,575,731) (22,077,634)
(16,078,659) 5,419,438
Statutory and other reserves 935,752 909,981
Unrealized gain / (loss) on investments measured
at fair value through OC| 409,162 (39,198)
36,266,255 57,290,221
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long term loans from banks 7 104,867,250 97,086,269
Subordinated debt 8 - 1,149,701
Deposits from banking customers 9 39,870,286 38,543,311
Lease liabilities 10 12,429,735 12,844,406
Employees retirement benefits [N 42,846,083 34,654,516
Deferred government grants 12 35,252,992 31,563,512
Advances from customers 1,442,432 1,661,536
License fee payable 13 8,799,401 11,265,626
Long term vendor liability 14 30,816,234 50,212,883
276,324,413 278,981,760
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 158,600,800 140,130,306
Deposits from banking customers 9 96,741,897 65,519,233
Interest accrued 6,716,644 4,973,189
Short term running finance 16 51,678,636 48,138,253
Current portion of:
Long term loans from banks 7 134,887,702 25,294,133
Subordinated debt 8 1,000,000 -
Lease liabilities 10 4,458,672 4,221,954
License fee payable 13 2,328,854 125,862
Long term vendor liability 14 35,565,847 17,403,361
Security deposits 17 1,654,053 1,439,771
Unpaid / unclaimed dividend 208,131 209,256
493,841,236 307,455,318
Total equity and liabilities 806,431,904 643,727,299
Contingencies and commitments 18
The annexed notes 1 to 55 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
. | — |
\ ‘J D - W
A\
Chief Financial Officer resident & CEO Chairman
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2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19 283,621,411 256,368,893
Right of use assets 20 15,528,532 14,798,834
Intangible assets 21 52,713,512 59,351,525
351,863,455 330,519,252
Long term investments 22 51,427 51,427
Long term loans and advances 23 12,280,602 10,275,182
Long term loans to banking customers 28 13,664,090 14,619,521
Deferred income tax 29 16,896,173 19,692,379
Contract costs 24 329,145 354,707
395,084,892 375,512,468
Current assets
Stock in trade, stores and spares 25 8,891,967 10,472,670
Trade debts and contract assets 26 64,355,709 56,377,374
Loans to banking customers 28 60,802,770 57,344,695
Loans and advances 27 3,706,842 3,381,459
Contract costs 24 5,575,409 4,254,928
Income tax recoverable 30 52,304,986 32,356,188
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 31 30,337,039 32,748,886
Short term investments 32 161,231,289 51,149,234
Cash and bank balances 33 24,141,001 20,129,397
411,347,012 268,214,831
Total assets 806,431,904 643,727,299

Chief Financial Officer

President & CEO

@N/

Chairman
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PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

2024 2023

Restated

Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Revenue 34 219,781,968 188,666,827
Cost of services 35 (162,382,454) (145,931,615)
Gross profit 57,399,514 42,735,212
Administrative and general expenses 36 (32,859,412) (26,800,788)
Selling and marketing expenses 37 (13,305,289) (12,267,834)
Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets 38 (5,117,163) (1,393,543)
(51,281,864) (40,462,165)

Operating profit 6,117,650 2,273,047
Other income 39 25,618,798 30,401,316
Finance costs and other expenses 40 (52,633,552) (55,536,951)
Loss before tax (20,897,104) (22,862,588])
Income tax 41 6,502,944 6,133,422
Loss for the year (14,394,160) (16,729,166)
Loss per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 42 (2.82) (3.28)

The annexed notes 1 to 55 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

\ﬁ:\w\\}

@w’/

Chief Financial Officer resident & CEO Chairman
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
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2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Loss for the year (14,394,160) (16,729,166)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Remeasurement (loss) / gain on employees retirement benefits (9,190,006} (237,294)
Tax effect 2,086,069 31,202
(7,103,937) (206,092
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Gain / (loss) on debt instruments arising during the year 631,493 (60,956)
Tax effect (183,133) 23,773
Unrealized gain / (loss) on debt instrument - net of tax 448,360 (37,183)
(6,655,577) (243,275)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (21,049,737) (16,972,441)

The annexed notes 1 to 55 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Wz
\‘E\‘\‘,Q\‘\J /%

Chief Financial Officer President & CEO
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Chairman
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CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations A 82,735,612 23,054,628
Employees retirement benefits paid (2,786,139) (2,217,817)
Deposits from banking customers 32,549,639 23,737,229
Return on long term loans and short term investments 5,068,552 13,493,813
Advances from customers 2,455,189 (1,957,915)

Payment made to Pakistan Telecommunication

Employees Trust (PTET) (990,436) (959,087)
Income tax paid (8,746,712) (5,657,722)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 110,285,705 49,493,129

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure (60,911,472) (57.692,676)
Acquisition of intangible assets (1,085,163) (3,209,203)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,298,815 6,331,256
Additions to contract costs (8,789,152) (7,000,528)
Long term loans and advances (1,660,393) (6,585,831)
Short term investments (109,633,695) 91,773,016
Government grants received 8,137,042 4,952,587
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities (167,644,018) 28,568,621

Cash flows from financing activities
Loans from banks - net 117,374,550 (29,520,197)
Subordinated debt (149,701) (22,095)
Finance cost paid (47,352,012) (40,441,832)
License fee - repayments (263,233) (4,834,344)
Vendor liability - net (1,234,163) 1,294,774
Lease liabilities - repayments (10,544,782) (8,289,445)
Dividend paid (1,125) (558)
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 57,829,534 (81,813,697)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 471,221 (3,751,947)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year (28,008,856) (24,256,909)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 442 (27,537,635) (28,008,856)

The annexed notes 1 to 55 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Chief Financial Officer

M/

resident & CEO Chairman
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Unrealized loss

paid-up capital Revenue reserves on investments
General Accumulated Statutoryand  measured at fair value
Class ‘A Class ‘B’ Total reserve losses other reserves through OCI Total
(Rupees in ‘000)

Balance as at December 31, 2022 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072  (5,371,204) 813,661 (2,015) 73,937,514

Effect of restatement - - - 228,828 66,107 - 294,935

Balance as at January 01, 2023 (restated) 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072  (5,142,376) 879,768 (2,015) 74,232,449
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year (Restated) - - -1 (16,729,166) - - 1] (16,729,166)

Other comprehensive loss - - - - (206,092 - (37,183 (243,275)

- - - - (16,935,258) - (37,183)  (16,972,441)

Statutory and other reserves - - - 30,213 - 30,213

Balance as at December 31, 2023 (restated) 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072  (22,077,634) 909,981 (39,198) 57,290,221
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss for the year = - || (14,394,160 = - | | (14,394,160)

Other comprehensive (loss) / income = - (7,103,937) - 448,360 | | (6,655,577)

- - (21,498,097) = 448,360 (21,049,737)

Statutory and other reserves - - - 25,771 - 25,771

Balance as at December 31, 2024 37,740,000 13,260,000 51,000,000 27,497,072  [43,575,731) 935,752 409,162 36,266,255

The annexed notes 1 to 55 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

‘-E:\NQ\E\J
Chief Financial Officer

@W/

President & CEO Chairman
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Legal status and nature of business
Constitution and ownership

The consolidated financial statements of the Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (the Group) comprise of the financial statements of:

Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited (PTCL)

Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited (the Holding Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on
December 31, 1995 and commenced business on January 01, 1996. The Holding Company, which is listed
on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited (PSX), was established to undertake the telecommunication
business formerly carried on by Pakistan Telecommunication Corporation (PTC). PTC's business was
transferred to the Holding Company on January 01, 1996 under the Pakistan Telecommunication (Re-
organization) Act, 1996, on which date, the Holding Company took over all the properties, rights, assets,
obligations and liabilities of PTC, except those transferred to the National Telecommunication Corporation
(NTCJ, the Frequency Allocation Board (FABJ, the Pakistan Telecommunication Authority (PTA] and the
Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust (PTET). The registered office of the Holding Company is
situated at PTCL Head Office, Room # 17, Ground Floor [Marga[[a Side),Ufone Tower, Plot No. 55-C, Main
Jinnah Avenue Blue Area, Sector F-7/1 Islamabad. The Parent of the Holding Company is e&.

The Holding Company provides telecommunication services in Pakistan. It owns and operates
telecommunication facilities and provides domestic and international telephone services and other
communication facilities throughout Pakistan. The Holding Company has also been licensed to provide
such services in territories of Azad Jammu and Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan.

The Holding Company has signed a Share Purchase Agreement with Telenor Pakistan B.V. (Telenor) in
2023 to acquire a 100% stake in Telenor Pakistan (Pvt) Ltd (Telenor Pakistan) and Orion Towers (Pvt) Ltd
based on an Enterprise Value of Rs. 108,000,000 thousand on a cash free, debt free basis. The transaction
will be financed through a seven year (with one year grace period) US Dollar syndicated Financing Facility
amounting to USD 400,000 thousand led by International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the relevant
Financing agreements have been signed on June 27, 2024. This transaction is subject to necessary
regulatory approvals.

Pak Telecom Mobile Limited (PTML)

PTML was incorporated in Pakistan on July 18, 1998, as a public limited company to provide cellular mobile
telephony services in Pakistan. PTML commenced its commercial operations on January 29, 2001, under
the brand name of Ufone. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. The registered office of
PTML is situated at Ufone Tower, Plot No 55-C, Jinnah Avenue, Blue Area, Islamabad.

U Microfinance Bank Limited (U Bank)

The Holding Company acquired 100% ownership of U Bank on August 30, 2012. U Bank’s principal business
is to assist in simulating progress, prosperity and social peace in society through creation of income
generating opportunities for the small entrepreneurs under the Microfinance Institutions Ordinance, 2001.
U Bank also provides branchless banking services. U Bank was incorporated on October 29, 2003 as a
public limited company. The registered office of U Bank is situated at Jinnah Super Market, F-7 Markaz,
Islamabad.

DVCOM Data (Private) Limited (DVCOM Data)

DVCOM Data was incorporated as a private limited company under the Companies Ordinance, 1984
(repealed with the enactment of the Companies Act, 2017 on 30 May 2017) on 27 March 2007. The principal
activities of the DVCOM Data are to provide Wireless Local Loop (WLL) services in Pakistan under the
license from Pakistan Telecommunication Authority (PTA]. The registered office of DVCOM Data is located
at Hatim Alvi Road, Clifton, Karachi.

Effective April 01, 2015, the Holding Company acquired 100% shareholding of DVCOM Data from DVCOM
Limited and is the sole customer of the DVCOM Data.

Smart Sky (Private) Limited (Smart Sky)

Smart Sky was incorporated in Pakistan on October 12, 2015 as a private limited company. Smart Sky is
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Holding Company. The registered office of Smart Sky is located at PTCL
Headquarters, G-8/4, Islamabad.
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1.2 Activities of the Group

The Group principally provides telecommunication and broadband internet services in Pakistan. The
Holding Company owns and operates telecommunication facilities and provides domestic and international
telephone services throughout Pakistan. The Holding Company has also been licensed to provide such
services to territories in Azad Jammu and Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan. PTML provides cellular mobile
telephony services throughout Pakistan and Azad Jammu and Kashmir. Principal business of U Bank,
incorporated under Microfinance Institutions Ordinance, 2001, is to provide nationwide microfinance and
branchless banking services.

1.3 The principal business units of the Group include the following:

Business units Geographical locations

PTCL Headquarters Ufone Tower, Blue Area, F-7/1, Islamabad
PTCL Business Zone- North Telecom House, F-5/1, Islamabad

PTCL Business Zone- Central 131, Tufail Road, Lahore

PTCL Business Zone- South Hatim Alvi Road, Clifton, Karachi

PTML Headquarters Ufone Tower, Blue Area, Islamabad

U Bank Headquarters F-7 Markaz, Islamabad

DVCOM Data Hatim Alvi Road, Clifton, Karachi

Smart Sky PTCL Office, G-8/4, Islamabad

1.4 Going concern basis of accounting

The Group hasincurred loss after taxamounting to Rs 14,394,160 thousand, for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Rs 16,729,166 thousand) and its accumulated losses as at 31 December 2024 amount to Rs
43,575,731 thousand (2023: Rs 22,077,634 thousand]. As of 31 December 2024, current liabilities of the
Group exceed its current assets by Rs 82,494,224 thousand (2023: Rs 39,240,487 thousand).

However, as part of annual budgetary process of the Group, the Group has prepared five years projections
for the years ending 31 December 2029 duly approved by the Board of Directors of the Group. These
projections are based on individual business plans for the Holding Company, and each of its subsidiaries
approved by those charged with governance. As per these projections, the Group will continue to generate
sufficient cashflows to meet its obligations as they fall due. The existence of material uncertainty, if any, is
mitigated based on the following factors: a) there has been increase in number of subscribers in the Group
in 2024, the consumption of data per day prices of its products have also increased in 2024 resulting in
overall increase average revenue per user. These are expected to increase further in future years; b) there
has been increase in Wireline segment’s revenue in 2024 due to introduction of Flash Fiber, Fiber-to-the-
Home (FTTH) service and is expected to continue to grow in future years; c) the reduction in policy rate
from 22% to 12% in 2024 is expected to result in significant decrease in finance cost. Reduction in inflation
has been noted in Pakistan in 2024 which is expected to have positive impact on operational cost of the
Group; d] secured lending as a proportion of total advances in Banking segment is expected to increase
which will result in lower delinquency ratio and improved profitability; and e] the Banking segment has
closed certain banking branches which is expected to have positive impact on the profit of the Banking
segment.

Accordingly, considering the aforesaid factors, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

2.  Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards as applicable in
Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017.

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where the provisions of and directives issued underthe Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS Standards,
the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.
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2.1

a)

The applicable financial reporting framework for the consolidated subsidiary U Bank also includes the
following:

- Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of the Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan as notified under the Companies Act, 2017,

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Microfinance Institutions Ordinance, 2001 (the MFI
Ordinance) and the Companies Act, 2017; and

- directives issued by the State Bank of Pakistan [SBP) as well as U Bank’s specific communication
with SBP on specific matters and the directives issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan [SECP).

Whenever the requirements of the Microfinance Institution Ordinance, 2001, Companies Act, 2017 or the
directives issued by the SBP and the SECP differ with the requirements of IFRS or IFAS, the requirements
of the Microfinance Institution Ordinance, 2001, the Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall
prevail.

These financial statements are consolidated financial statements of the Group. In addition to these
consolidated financial statements, the Holding Company and subsidiary companies [PTML, U Bank,
DVCOM Data and Smart Sky) prepare separate statutory financial statements.

Standards, interpretations and amendments adopted during the year

The following amendments to existing standards have been published that are applicable to the Group’s
financial statements covering year, beginning on or after the following dates:

New accounting standards / amendments and IFRS interpretations that are effective for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 (unless otherwise stated). The Group has not early adopted
any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments in IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.

The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments clarify:

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right.

- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, an entity is required to disclose when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as
non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants
within twelve months.

The amendments had no impact on the classification of the Group’s liabilities.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
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statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
Application Guidance on Accounting for Minimum Taxes and Final Taxes - IAS 12

Pursuant to the issuance of Circular 7 by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, in May 2024,
the Group has changed the method of accounting for final and minimum taxes, chargeable under the
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

The Circular 7 specifies that all final taxes, payable under the Income Tax Ordinance, 2007 (the Ordinance),
calculated with reference anything other than "taxable income” is a levy within the scope of IAS 37
“Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” and IFRIC 21 "Levies”. Previously, such a charge
was recognized as “Current income tax”.

Further, the Circular 7 specifies that an entity has an option to either recognize:

(a) amount of tax chargeable under the Ordinance, calculated with reference to taxable income at
notified rates [i.e., under the Normal Tax Regime (NTR)), as income taxes within the scope of IAS 12
“Income Taxes” and any excess amount of charge, resulting from application of requirements of the
Ordinance relating to minimum tax under the section 153 and turnover tax under the section 113,
will however be recognized as levy within the scope of IAS 37 "Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets” and IFRIC 21 "Levies”.

(b)  amount of minimum tax under the section 153 and turnover tax under the section 113 will be
recognized as levy within the scope of IAS 37 and IFRIC 21, whereas, any excess amount under NTR
will be recognized as income taxes.

The Group has applied the guidance in the Circular 7 in following manner:

Final taxes:

Final tax, calculated with reference to tax deductible from amount of payment receivable against export of
services, under the section 154A, are recognized as “Final tax” before the sub-head “Profit before profit”,
in the statement of profit or loss. Previously, such a charge was also recognized as “Current income tax”.

Minimum taxes:

The Group has elected to select approach (a) described above, as it considers that it is probable that
amount of tax under NTR will be higher than the related minimum tax or turnover tax for the individual
entities with the Group. Accordingly, amount of tax under NTR will continue to recognize such an amount
as "Current income tax” expense. Any excess amount of charge, with reference to minimum tax resulting
from amount of tax deductible from payments against provision of services, under the section 153(1b}, and
turnover tax under the section 113 has however been recognized as "Minimum tax differential”, before
the sub-head “Profit before profit”, in the statement of profit or loss. Previously, such a charge was also

recognized as “Current income tax”.

The Group has, however, recognized the related income on deferred tax asset recognized for adjustable
turnover tax as part of “Deferred income tax” income.

As required, the Group has retrospectively applied the above guidance, however, as none of PTCLs income
is subject to FTR whereas turnover tax is expected to be adjusted against tax payable under the NTR, the
adoption of above-mentioned guidance has had no impact on the financial statements in the current and
prior periods.

(b)  New accounting standards / amendments and IFRS interpretations that are not yet effective

Amendments to the following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified
under the Companies Act, 2017 and interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting period beginning
on after January 01, 2025. The management is currently in the process of evaluating the potential impact
on these financial statements.
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Lack of exchangeability - Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 21 Annual periods beginning on or after 1
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to | January 2025

specify how an entity should assess whether a currency is
exchangeable and how it should determine a spot exchange
rate when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
also require disclosure of information that enables users
of its financial statements to understand how the currency
not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or
Is expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance,
financial position and cash flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Early adoption
is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments—Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

On 30 May 2024, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS | Annual periods beginning on or after 1
9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and January 2026

Measurement of Financial Instruments (the Amendments).
The Amendments include:

- Aclarification that a financial liability is derecognised on
the ‘settlement date” and introduce an accounting policy
choice (if specific conditions are met) to derecognise
financial liabilities settled using an electronic payment
system before the settlement date.

- Additional guidance on how the contractual cash flows
for financial assets with environmental, social and
corporate governance (ESG) and similar features should
be assessed.

- Clarifications on what constitute ‘non-recourse features’
and what are the characteristics of contractually linked
instruments

- Theintroduction of disclosures for financial instruments
with contingent features and additional disclosure
requirements for equity instruments classified at fair
value through other comprehensive income (OCI).

The Amendments are effective for annual periods starting
on or after 1 January 2026. Early adoption is permitted, with
an option to early adopt the amendments for classification
of financial assets and related disclosures only. The Group
is currently not intending to early adopt the Amendments.
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With respect to the amendments on the derecognition of
financial liabilities that are settled through an electronic
payment system, the Group is currently performing an
assessment of all material electronic payment systems
it uses, in order to assess whether the amendments will
result in a material change with respect to current practices
and whether it meets the conditions to apply the accounting
policy option to derecognise such financial liabilities before
the settlement date. Moreover, the Group is reviewing all
its other payment systems [such as cheques, credit cards,
debit cards) to ensure that the corresponding financial
assets are derecognised when the right to cash flows are
extinguished and that the corresponding financial liabilities
are derecognised on settlement date.

IAS 7 - adjustments resulting from adoption of IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces | Annualperiods beginning on or after 1
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 is | January 2027

however still to be notified by Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan. Narrow-scope amendments have
also been made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which
include changing the starting point for determining cash
flows from operations under the indirect method, from
‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss’ and removing
the optionality around classification of cash flows from
dividends and interest. In addition, there are consequential
amendments to several other standards.

[FRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards,
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. Upon
adoption SECP may, however, prescribe a different effective
date.

The Group is currently working to identify all impacts the
amendments will have on the primary financial statements
and notes to the financial statements.

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity - Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In December 2024, IASB issued Contracts Referencing | Annualperiods beginning on or after 1
Nature-dependent Electricity [(Amendments to IFRS 9 and January 2025
IFRS 7). The amendments include:

- Clarifying the application of the ‘own-use’ requirements

- Permitting hedge accounting if these contracts are used
as hedging instruments

- Adding new disclosure requirements to enable investors
to understand the effect of these contracts on a
company’s financial performance and cash flows.
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The amendments will be effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Early
adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. The
clarifications regarding the ‘own use’ requirements must
be applied retrospectively, but the guidance permitting
hedge accounting have to be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application.

These amendments are not applicable to the Group.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts | Annual periods beginning on or after 1
(IFRS 17], a comprehensive new accounting standard | January 2026

for insurance contracts covering recognition and
measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective,
IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4)
that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-Llife, direct insurance
and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial
instruments with discretionary participation features. A few
scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17
is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts
that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast
to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on
grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17
provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts,
covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS
17 is the general model, supplemented by:

- A specific adaptation for contracts with direct
participation features (the variable fee approach)

- Asimplified approach (the premium allocation approach)
mainly for short-duration contracts.

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures required.
Early application is permitted, provided the entity also
applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first
applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Group.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Consolidated financial statements and Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
- Sale or Contribution of Assets between and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (amendment)

On 11 September 2014, the IASB issued Sale or Contribution Effective date not yet determined
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28).
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures in dealing with the loss
of control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an




optel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that
a full gain or loss is recognised when a transfer to an
associate or joint venture involves a business as defined in
IFRS 3 Business combinations. Any gain or loss resulting
from the sale or contribution of assets that does not
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or
joint venture.

In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective
date of the amendments until such time as it has finalised
any amendments that result from its research project on
the equity method. Early application of the amendments is
still permitted.

Further, IASB has issued annual improvements in IFRS in
July 2024, wherein certain amendments have been made
to various standards which are effective for annual periods
beginning on and after 01 January 2026. The Group is
currently evaluating the impact of these recently announced
improvements.

In addition to the above, the following new standards
have been issued by IASB but are not notified by SECP for
application in Pakistan:

IFRS 1 - First time adoption of International Financial | Annualperiods beginning on or after 1

Reporting Standards January 2004
IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial | Annualperiods beginning on or after 1
Statements January 2007

IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: | Annual periods beginning on or after 1
Disclosures January 2007

The application of the above standards are not expected to
have a materialimpact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements, in the period of applicability, except for I[FRS 18.
The Group is currently working to identify all impacts IFRS
18 will have on the primary financial statements and notes
to the financial statements.

3. Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value and the recognition of certain employees
retirement benefits on the basis of actuarial assumptions.

4, Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with approved accounting and reporting
standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments
are continually evaluated and are based on historic experience, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are as follows:
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Provision for employees retirement benefits

The actuarialvaluation of pension, gratuity, medical, accumulating compensated absences and benevolent
grant plans requires the use of certain assumptions related to future periods, including increase in future
salary, pension, medical costs, expected long term returns on plan assets, rate of increase in benevolent
grant and the discount rate used to discount future cash flows to present values.

Provision for income tax

The Group recognizes income tax provisions using estimates based upon expert opinions of its tax and
legal advisors. Differences, if any, between the recorded income tax provision and the Group's tax liability,
are recorded on the final determination of such liability. Deferred income tax is calculated at the rates that
are expected to apply to the period when these temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted, by the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Useful life and residual value of fixed assets

The Group reviews the useful lives and residual values of fixed assets on a regular basis. Any change in
estimates may affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, with a corresponding effect on the related depreciation / amortization charge.

Provision for doubtful receivables and contract assets

A provision against overdue receivable balances is recognized after considering the pattern of receipts from,
and the future financial outlook of, the concerned receivable party. It is reviewed by the management on a
regular basis. Contract assets arise when the Group performs its performance obligations by transferring
goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due.

Impairment of non - financial assets

Management exercises judgment in measuring the recoverable amount of assets at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, recoverable
amount is estimated to determine the extent of impairment of such assets.

As at the reporting date, the Group performed an impairment test for its wireless and banking segments.

Wireless

The Group has determined recoverable amount of wireless segment, consisting of property, plant and
equipment, right of use assets and intangible of based on a value-in-use determined through discounted
cash flow method, which was higher than the carrying amount of the wireless segment in the consolidated
financial statements. Value-in-use was estimated using cash flow projections approved by the Board of
Directors, covering a five-year period. The Group has applied a discount rate of 12.02% and the long-term
steady growth-rate of 6.50%, to the cash flow projections. The calculation of value-in-use is most sensitive
to the following assumptions:

a) discount rates
b] key business assumptions
Discount rates

The discount rate reflects current market assessment of the rate of return required for the business and
is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model. The discount rate reflects the target Weighted Average
Cost of Capital of the wireless segment.

Key business assumptions

These assumptions are based on business plan approved by the Board of Directors which includes revenue
improvements on the basis of multiple strategies planned including increase in Average Revenue per User
[ARPUJ, increase in subscribers and rationalization of cost etc.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Management believes that after considering the various scenarios no reasonably possible change in any of
the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable
amount.

Banking

The Group has determined recoverable amount of banking segment, consisting of property, plant and
equipment, right of use assets, intangible, long term investments and loans to banking customers based
on a value-in-use determined through discounted cash flow method, which was higher than the carrying
amount of the banking segment in the consolidated financial statements. Value-in-use was estimated
using cash flow projections approved by the Board of Directors, covering a five-year period. The Group
has applied a discount rate of 17.2% and the long-term steady growth-rate of 6.0%, to the cash flow
projections. The calculation of value-in-use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

al discount rates
b] key business assumptions
Discount rates

The discount rate reflects current market assessment of the rate of return required for the business and
is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model. The discount rate reflects the target Weighted Average
Cost of Capital of the banking segment.

Key business assumptions

These assumptions are based on business plan approved by the Board of Directors which includes revenue
improvements on the basis of multiple strategies planned, including increase in loan disbursement in
secured portfolio, and cost rationalization.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Management believes that after considering the various scenarios no reasonably possible change in any of
the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable
amount.

Other estimates and judgments

(a)  Provision for stores and spares
A provision against stores and spares is recognized after considering their physical condition and expected
future usage. It is reviewed by the management on quarterly basis.

(b)  Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group applies probability approach and constrains the unused resources pertaining to remaining
performance obligations as at the reporting date for recognition of revenue against cash consideration
received. Contract costs comprise incremental cost of acquiring the customers and the Group estimates
the average life of the customer for amortization of capitalized contract cost.

(c)  Recognition of government grants
The Group recognizes government grants when there is reasonable assurance that grants will be received
and the Group will be able to comply with conditions associated with grants.

(d)  Right of use assets and lease liability
The Group has applied incremental borrowing rate for recognition of lease liabilities and corresponding
right of use assets under [FRS-16.

(e)  Expected credit losses on advances (Note 5.27 Financial instruments (U Bank])

(f)l  Contingent Assets and Liabilities [Note 18. Contingencies and Commitments)
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(g)

5.1

a)

Other provisions

The management exercises judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposures to
contingent liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims. Judgment is necessary in
assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, and to quantify the
possible range of the financial settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this evaluation process,
actual losses may be different from the originally estimated provision.

Material accounting policies

The accounting policies as set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements expect for the changes presented below and refered in note 54.1 related to exemption
from application of Effective Interest Rate (EIR) Method.

The Group adopted disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2) from 1 January 2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies
themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.
The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’, rather than ‘significant’, accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies,
assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users need to
understand other information in the financial statements. Management reviewed the accounting policies
and made updates to the information disclosed in material accounting policies.

Amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
became effective on 1 January 2023 and accordingly the Group has presented separate deferred tax asset
in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets. Previously,
deferred tax on lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were presented on a net basis because the balances
qualify for offsetting under paragraph 74 of IAS 12. There was no impact on the statement of financial
position and there was also no impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2022 as a result of
the change.

Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; or the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
its returns. The consolidated financial statements include Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited
and all companies in which it directly or indirectly controls, beneficially owns or holds more than 50%
of the voting securities or otherwise has power to elect and appoint more than 50% of its directors. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date control ceases
to exist.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value and amount of any non controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date through profit
or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is deemed to
be an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with IFRS 9, either in profit or loss or charged to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is remeasured until
it is finally settled within equity.
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Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non controlling
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses on assets transferred are also eliminated and considered an impairment
indicator of such assets. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, and generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and are initially recognized at cost. The Group’s
investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
loss.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, and its unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’'s interest in the associates. Unrealized losses on the assets
transferred are also eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest and considered an impairment indicator
of such asset. Accounting policies of the associates are changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

5.2 Functional and presentation currency

ltemsincluded in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the functional currency). These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees (Rs), which is the Group’s functional currency. The
amounts presented in these financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand.

5.3 Foreign currency transactions and translations

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates
prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign
currencies, are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary items at year end exchange rates,
are charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

5.4 Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects
its non-performance risk.

A number of Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

When it is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximize
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.
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5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

5.1

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures
assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction
price —i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value
on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted
price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which
any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on
initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in the consolidated
profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is
wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Dividend distribution

The distribution of the final dividend, to the Holding Company shareholders, is recognized as a liability
in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividend is approved by the Holding
Company’s shareholders; the distribution of the interim dividend is recognized in the period in which it is
declared by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company.

Statutory reserve

In compliance with the requirements of the Regulation R-4, U Bank maintains statutory reserve to which
an appropriation equivalent to 20% of the profit after tax is made till such time the reserve fund equals the
paid up capital of the U Bank. However, thereafter, the contribution is reduced to 5% of the profit after tax.

Depositors’ protection fund

In compliance with the requirements of section 19 of the Microfinance Institutions Ordinance 2001, U Bank
contributes 5% of annual profit after tax to the Depositors’ Protection Fund for the purpose of providing
security or guarantee to the persons depositing money in U Bank.

Cash reserve

In compliance with the requirements of the Regulation R-3A, U Bank maintains a cash reserve equivalent
to not less than 5% of its deposits (including demand deposits and time deposits with tenure of less than 1
year) in a current account opened with the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) or its agent.

Statutory liquidity requirement

In compliance with the requirements of the Regulation R-3B, U Bank maintains liquidity equivalent to at
least 10% of its total demand liabilities and time liabilities with tenure of less than one year in the form of
liquid assets i.e. cash, gold, unencumbered treasury bills, Pakistan Investment Bonds and Government of
Pakistan Sukuk bonds. Treasury bills and Pakistan Investment Bonds held under Depositors’ protection
fund are excluded for the purposes of determining liquidity.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognized equivalent to the value of the proceeds received by the Group. Any difference,
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value, is recognized in statement of
profit or loss, over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs, which are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of a qualifying asset,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to statement of
profit or loss.
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5.12 Deposits from banking customers

Deposits are initially recorded at the amounts of proceeds received. Mark-up accrued on deposits is
recognized separately as part of other liabilities and is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss over the period.

5.13 Sale and repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue to
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with
the accounting policies for investment securities by U Bank. The counter party liability for consideration
received is included in borrowings from financial institutions. The difference between sale and repurchase
price is treated as markup / return / interest expense over the period of the transaction. Assets purchased
with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repo) are not recognized
as investment in the consolidated statement of financial Position. Amounts paid under these agreements
are included in lending to financial institutions. The difference between the purchase and resale price is
treated as markup / return / interest income over the period of the transaction.

5.14 Employees retirement benefits

The Group provides various retirement / post retirement benefit schemes to its employees. The plans
are generally funded through payments determined by periodic actuarial calculations or up to the limits
allowed in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The Group has constituted both defined contribution and
defined benefit plans.

The main features of these benefits provided by the Group in the Holding Company and its subsidiaries -
PTML and U Bank are as follows:

(a) PTCL Employees General Provident Fund (GPF) Trust

The Holding Company operates an approved funded provident plan covering its permanent employees.
For the purpose of this plan, a separate trust, the 'PTCL Employees GPF Trust (the Trust), has been
established. Monthly contributions are deducted from the salaries of employees and are paid to the Trust
by the Holding Company. In line with the Trust's earnings for a year, the Board of Trustees approves a profit
rate for payment to the members. The Holding Company contributes to the fund, the differential, if any, of
the interest paid / credited for the year and the income earned on the investments made by the Trust.

(b) Defined benefit plans
The Holding Company provides the following defined benefits:

(i) Pension plans

The Holding Company accounts for an approved funded pension plan operated through a separate
trust, the "Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust’ [PTET), for its employees recruited prior to
January 01, 1996 when the Holding Company took over the business from PTC. The Holding Company
also operates an unfunded pension scheme for employees recruited on a regular basis, on or after
January 01, 1996.

(ii) Gratuity plan

The Holding Company operates an approved funded gratuity plan for its New Terms and Conditions
(NTC) employees and contractual employees.

(iii) Medical benefits plan

The Holding Company provides a post retirement medical facility to pensioners and their families.
Under this unfunded plan, all ex-employees, their spouses, their children up to the age of 21 years
(except unmarried daughters who are not subject to the 21 years age limit] and their parents residing
with them and any other dependents, are entitled to avail the benefits provided under the scheme. The
facility remains valid during the lives of the pensioner and their spouse. Under this facility there are no
annual limits to the cost of medicines, hospitalized treatment and consultation fees.
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(ivl Accumulated compensated absences

The Holding Company provides a facility to its employees for accumulating their annual earned leaves.
Accumulated leaves can be encashed at the end of the employees’ service, based on the latest drawn
gross salary as per Holding Company policy.

(v] Benevolent grants

The Holding Company pays prescribed benevolent grants to eligible employees / retirees and their
heirs.

The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit
plans, is the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position less the fair value of plan assets.

PTML

(i) Gratuity plan

PTML operates a funded gratuity scheme, a defined benefit plan, for all permanent employees which
has been approved by the Commissioner of Income Tax in accordance with Part Il of Sixth Schedule
to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Gratuity is payable to each permanent employee with a minimum
qualifying service period of three years.

The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit
plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the
fair value of plan assets. Defined benefit obligation is based on actuarial valuation by independent
actuary based on projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government
bonds that are denominated in Pakistan rupee and have terms to maturity approximating to the terms
of the related liability.

The current service cost of the defined plan, recognized in the profit or loss for the year reflects the
increase in the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current year. Past
service costs are recognized immediately in the profit or loss for the year. The net interest cost is
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair
value of plan assets, and is recognized in the profit or loss for the year.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
(ii) Provident fund

PTML operates an approved contributory provident fund, a defined contribution plan, for all permanent
employees which has been approved by the Commissioner of Income Tax in accordance with Part III of
Sixth Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. PTMLs obligation for contribution to the provident
fund is charged to profit or loss for the year.

U Bank

(i) Gratuity plan

U Bank operates defined benefit plan comprising an funded gratuity scheme covering all eligible
employees completing the minimum qualifying period of service (three years) as specified by the
scheme.

(ii) Provident fund

U Bank operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme for permanent employees. Contributions
to the fund are made on monthly basis by U Bank and employees at an agreed rate of salary (8% of the
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basic salary of the employee), the fund is managed by its Board of Trustees. The contribution of U Bank
is charged to profit or loss.

5.15 Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair values, as deferred income, when there is reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will be able to comply with the conditions
associated with the grants.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred, are recognized on a systematic basis in the
income for the year in which the related expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognized in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
related asset.

5.16 Trade and other payables

Liabilities for creditors and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for the goods or services received, whether or not billed to the Group.

5.17 Non current Assets

(a)  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land and capital work in progress, is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment losses. Freehold land is stated at cost less
identified impairment losses, if any. Costincludes expenditure, related overheads, mark-up and borrowing
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs, if reliably measurable, are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognized as
a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the cost will flow to the Group. The carrying amount of any replaced parts as well as other repair and
maintenance costs, are charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year in which they
are incurred.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment value, if any. It consists of expenditure incurred
in respect of tangible and intangible fixed assets in the course of their construction and installation.

Depreciation on assets is calculated, using the straight line method, to allocate their cost over their
estimated useful lives.

Depreciation on additions to property, plant and equipment, is charged from the month in which the
relevant asset is acquired or capitalized, while no depreciation is charged for the month in which the asset
is disposed off. Impairment loss, if any, or its reversal, is also charged to consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year. Where an impairment loss is recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value, over its remaining useful
life.

An item of property plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss from the disposal are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the carrying amount of the item and are included
in consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

(b) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the consideration transferred, over the
fair value of subsidiary’s identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually.
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(c)

(d)

5.18

5.19

(ii) Licenses

These are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any identified impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated using the straight line method, to allocate the cost of the license over its
estimated useful life, and is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

The amortization on licenses acquired during the year, is charged from the month in which a license is
acquired / capitalized, while no amortization is charged in the month of expiry / disposal of the license.

(iii) Computer software

These are carried at cost less accumulated amortization, and any identified impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated, using the straight line method, to allocate the cost of software over
their estimated useful life, and is charged to income for the year. Costs associated with maintaining
computer software, are recognized as an expense as and when incurred.

The amortization on computer software acquired during the year, is charged from the month in which
the software is acquired or capitalized, while no amortization is charged for the month in which the
software is disposed off.

If payment for an intangible asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, it is recognized at the cash
price equivalent. The difference between the cash price equivalent and the total payments is recognized as
interest expense over the period of credit.

Impairment of Goodwill

Impairment of goodwill is recognised when the recoverable amount of goodwill falls below the previously
recorded value at the time of acquisition.

Right of use assets

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. If the Group
assesses contract contains a lease and meets requirements of IFRS 16, the Group recognizes a right-of
use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. Right of use asset is calculated as the
initial amount of the lease liability in terms of network sites, offices, vehicles and right of way at the lease
contract commencement date. The right of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line
method.

Impairment of non financial assets

Assets that have indefinite useful lives, for example freehold land and goodwill, are not subject to
depreciation and amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
depreciation are reviewed for impairment on the date of consolidated statement of financial position, or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognized, equal to the amount by which the assets’ carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows. Non financial assets that suffered an impairment, are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each consolidated statement of financial position date. Reversals of
the impairment loss are restricted to the extent that asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss has
been recognized. An impairment loss, or the reversal of an impairment loss, are both recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

Long term loans

Long term loans are initially recognized at present value of loan amount disbursed to employees. On
initial recognition, the discount representing difference between loan disbursed and its present value is
recognized as deferred employee benefit in the consolidated statement of financial position. Subsequently,
the unwinding of discount on present value of loans is recognized as income over the loan term using the
effective interest method.
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5.20 Stockintrade

Stock in trade is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises the purchase price of
items of stock, including import duties and other related costs. Cost is determined on a weighted average
basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated
cost necessary to make the sale.

5.21 Stores and spares

Store and spares are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. Items in transit are valued at cost, comprising invoice values and other related
charges incurred up to the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

5.22 Trade debts and contract assets

Trade debts are carried at their original invoice amounts, less any estimates made for expected credit
losses based on review of all outstanding amounts at reporting date. Bad debts are written off as per
Group policy.

Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan issued an SRO through which only financial assets
due from Government of Pakistan in respect of circular debt will be exempt from the requirements of
calculating expected credit loss as per the requirements of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” till 30 June
2022. As the Holding Company’s receivable from Government of Pakistan is not in respect of circular debt,
the Holding Company has recorded the impact of expected credit loss on opening balances of financial
assets due from Government of Pakistan in the Statement of Changes in Equity. There has been no change
in classification of financial assets and financial liabilities due to this change in accounting policy.

5.23 Lease liability

The Group recognizes lease liabilities as per IFRS - 16 at the present value of the remaining lease payments
using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are measured at their amortized cost using
the effective interest method.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property and
equipment (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

5.24 Cash and cash equivalents

Forthe purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand,
cash with banks and short term finances under mark up arrangements with banks. Cash equivalents are
short term highly liquid investments, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

5.25 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each
consolidated statement of financial position date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

5.26 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Group has a possible obligation as a result of past events,
the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one or more
uncertain future events, not wholly within the control of the Group; or when the Group has a present legal
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5.27

or constructive obligation, that arises from past events, but it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Financial instruments

The Group (other than U Bank):

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets on initial recognition in the following categories: at amortized cost,
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL] and at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL: (i} It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Adebtinvestmentis measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as FVTPL: (i) Itis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and (i) Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment by investment basis.

Fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial instruments. On initial recognition, the Group
irrevocably designates a financial instrument that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortized cost or at FVOCI as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Afinancial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component] or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

al Financial assets  These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
at amortized costs interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gain and losses and impairment are recognized in

profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
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b) Financial assets Debt investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
at FVOCI calculated using effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OClI

are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated
in OCl are reclassified to accumulated profits.

c) Financial assets  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
at FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group include trade debts, contract assets, long term loans, deposits, other
receivables, short term investments and forward exchange contracts.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes loss allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured
at amortized cost and contract assets. The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

Lifetime ECLs are those that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the financial assets carried at amortized cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, are classified and measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified
as FVTPLfitis classified as held-for-trading, itis derivative oritis designated as such on initial recognition.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognized in consolidated profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognized in consolidated profit or loss. The financial liabilities of the Group include subordinated debt,
long term loans from banks, long term vendor liability, long term security deposits, interest accrued, short
term running finance and trade and other payables.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the

213




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or
expire. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognized at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed] is recognized in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. These are carried as assets when fair value is positive and liabilities when fair value is negative.
Any change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments is charged to profit or loss for the year.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position, if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts, and the
Group either intends to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

U Bank:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when U Bank becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade
date, the date on which the U Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial instruments - initial recognition

All financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date at which the U bank becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. This includes purchases or sale of financial
assets that require delivery of asset within the time frame generally established by regulations in market
conventions.

All financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at their fair value plus transaction costs,
except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss
where transaction cost is taken directly to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Classification and measurement

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI”) and fair value through profit and loss ["FVTPL").
This classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and is
based on its contractual cash flows.

Financial assets

IFRS has different requirements for debt or equity financial assets. Debt instruments are classified and
measured either at:

- Amortized cost, where the effective interest rate method will apply;

- Fair value through other comprehensive income, with subsequent recycling to the statement of profit
or loss upon disposal of the financial asset; or

- Fairvalue through profit or loss.
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Equity instruments, other than those to which consolidation or equity accounting apply, are classified and
measured either at:

- Fair value through profit or loss; or

- Fair value through other comprehensive income, with no subsequent recycling to the statement of
profit or loss upon disposal of the financial asset (if the instrument by instrument option is to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income is elected).

When classifying a financial asset (other than derivatives and equity instruments), IFRS requires that the
contractual cash flows test is performed, commonly referred to as the solely payments of principal and
interest test ("SPPI”) test. If an instrument fails the SPPI test, it is classified as Fair Value through profit or
loss. When an instrument passes the SPPI test, it undergoes the business model test, on a portfolio level.

Business model Classification basis

Hold to collect

Portfolio accounted at amortized cost

Hold to collect and sell
Others

Portfolio accounted at fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling

Portfolio accounted at fair value through profit or loss

All instruments held for trading are classified as Fair value through profit or loss.

Equity instruments are by default classified as fair value through profit or loss, however, the U bank has an
irrevocable choice on an instrument by instrument basis, to elect that the fair value changes on the equity
investment are accounted for through other comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the investment, the
gain or loss on disposal is recognized in equity. Dividends received are recognized in the profit and loss
account. The following table summarizes the two-stage approach for financial assets classification on

their initial recognition.
Contractual cash flow characteristics test

At initial recognition

Pass Fail
Held within a business model whose | Amortized cost Fair value through profit or loss
objective is to hold financial assets in (FVTPL)
order to collect contractual cash flows
E Held within a business model whose | Fair  value  through other | Fair value through profit or loss
g objective is achieved by both collecting | comprehensive income (FVOCI) | (FVTPL)
w | contractual cash flows and selling | with recycling
0 . .
@ | financial assets (debt)
g
“ Financial assets which are neither held | Fair value through profit or loss | Fair value through profit or loss
at amortized nor at fair value through | (FVTPL) (FVTPL)
other comprehensive income
Conditional fair value option is elected | Fair value through profit or loss | Fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) (FVTPL)
(2]
._§ Option elected to present changes in | N/A Fair  value  through  other
& | fair value of an equity instrument not comprehensive income (FVOCI
held for trading in OCI without recycling
(equity)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost (i.e. loan payables) and are subsequently accounted in
accordance with the effective interest rate method.
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Recognition and measurement
The U bank recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in its financial statements when and only
when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss

When a financial asset or financial liability is recognized initially, the U Bank measures it at its fair value
plus or minus, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial
asset or financial liability. Examples of transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents
such as broker commissions and stamp duty.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assetorfinancial liability are measured at initial recognition at the fair value excluding transaction
costs. Transaction costs for this class of financial instrument are recognized directly in the profit and loss
account.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets can be categorized into the following categories:
i.  Amortized cost (expected credit losses need to be provided);

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income with recycling (expected credit losses need to be
provided);

iii. Fairvalue through other comprehensive income without recycling (for equity instruments for which the
FVOCI option was elected)

iv. Fair value through profit and loss.

The categorization of the instrument determines the manner of subsequent measurement.

Derecognition

Financial assets

A financial asset is derecognized when, and only when:

- the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or

- the entity transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition [substantially all
risks and rewards are transferred meaning that no control is retained).

Financial liabilities

A financial liability (e.g. debt] is derecognized from the balance sheet when it is extinguished, that is when
the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. This condition is met when the debtor either:

- Discharges the liability (or part of it] by paying the creditor, normally with cash, other financial assets,
goods or services; or

- is legally released from primary responsibility for the liability (or part of it) either by process of law or
by the creditor.

Impairment requirement for financial assets

al Impairment of financial assets:

U Bank records allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets held
at amortised cost or FVOCI, together with loan commitments, letters of credit and financial guarantee
contracts [if there is any). Under the SBP’s instructions, local currency credit exposures guaranteed by
the Government and Government Securities are exempted from the application of ECL.
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The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset [the lifetime
expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since
origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12m ECL] as
outlined below.

The 12 month ECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 month after the reporting date. Both LTECLs
and 12 month ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the
nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

U Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period,
of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition,
by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument. U Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in
credit risk for an asset, such as account becoming forborne. Regardless of the change in credit grades,
generally, U Bank considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, U Bank applies the similar
principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Based on the above process, U Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, and Stage 3, as described
below:

Stage1 When loans are first recognised, U Bank recognises an allowance based on 12 month
ECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the
loan has been reclassified from Stage 2. The 12 month ECL is calculated as the portion of
LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. U Bank calculates the 12
month ECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months
following the reporting date. These expected 12 month default probabilities are applied to
a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to
the original effective interest rate (EIR]. This calculation is made for all the scenarios.

Stage 2 When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, U Bank
records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit
risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. The mechanics are
similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and
LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted by an approximation to the original EIR.

Stage 3 For loans considered credit-impaired, U Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit
losses for these loans. U Bank uses a PD of 100% and LGD as computed for each portfolio
or as prescribed by the SBP under the prudential regulations which ever is higher.

Calculation of ECLs

U Bank calculates ECLs based on a three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash
shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to
receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

PD The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time
horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the
facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. PDs for Non rated
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portfolios are calculated based on Days Past Due [DPD) bucket level for each segment
separately. PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward
looking information.

LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default
occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the realisation of
any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments
of principaland interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns
on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments. The maximum period
for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument
unless U Bank has the legal right to call it earlier.

The interest rate used to discount the ECLs is based on the effective interest rate that is expected to
be charged over the expected period of exposure to the facilities. In the absence of computation of the
effective interest rate (at reporting date), U Bank uses an approximation e.g. contractual rate (at reporting
date) due to specific exemption received from SBP till 31st December 2025 regarding application of EIR.

When estimating the ECLs, U Bank considers three scenarios (a base case, an upside, a downside).
Each of these is associated with different PDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also
incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the loans will
cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset.

ECL is accounted for and changes in these ECLs at each reporting date is updated relating to the loss
allowance to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

U Bank uses minimum seven years historical data for computation of LGD or since the inception of product,
where product has been launched within seven year.

5.28 (a)] Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenueis recognized when the Group satisfies the performance obligations by transferring a promised
good or service to a customer. Goods or services are transferred when the customer obtains control of
that assets.

The Group mainly generates revenue from providing telecommunication services such as Data, Voice,
IPTV, Connectivity services, Interconnect, Information and communication technology (ICT], digital
solutions and equipment sales, messaging services, sales of mobile devices etc.

Services are offered separately and as bundled packages along with other services and/or devices.”

For bundled packages, the Group accounts for individual products and services separately if they are
distinct i.e. if a product or service is separately identifiable from other items in the bundled package
and if a customer can benefit from it. The consideration is allocated between separate product and
services (i.e. distinct performance obligations, "P0Os”] in a bundle based on their stand-alone selling
prices.

The stand-alone selling prices are determined based on the observable price at which the Group sells
the products and services on a standalone basis. For items that are not sold separately, the Group
estimates standalone selling prices using other methods (i.e. adjusted market assessment approach,
cost plus margin approach or residual approach).
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Nature and timing of satisfaction of Performance obligations are as follows:

Product and services Nature and timing of satisfaction of Performance obligations

Voice, Broadband, IPTV  The Group recognizes revenue as and when these services are provided [i.e.
actual usage by the customer).

Installation charges Installation services provided for service fulfillment are not distinct
performance obligation and the amount charged for installation service is
recognized over the average customer life.

Corporate Services Revenue is recognized over the period when these services are provided to
the customers. Where hardware (e.g. routers]) are provided as part of the
contract, the Group recognizes these as distinct POs only if the customer
can benefit from them either by selling for more than scrap value or using
with services from other service providers.

Carrier and Wholesale  Revenue from C&WS services is recognized when the services are rendered.
(C&WS]

Mobile telecommuni- Mobile telecommunication services include voice, data and messaging

communication services services. The Group recognizes revenue as and when these services are
provided. These services are either prepaid or billed, in which case they
are paid for on a monthly basis. Revenue for SIM activation and special
numbers is recognized on the date of activation.

Equipment revenue Group recognizes revenue when the control of the device is transferred
to the customer. This usually occurs at the contract inception when the
customer takes the possession of the device.

International Revenue Revenue is recognized over the period when services are provided to the
customers.

Principal versus agent presentation

When the Group sells goods or services as a principal, revenue and related cost is reported on a gross
basis in revenue and operating costs. If the Group sells goods or services as an agent, revenue and
related cost are recorded in revenue on a net basis, representing the margin earned.

Whether the Group is considered to be the principal or an agent in the transaction depends on analysis
by management of both the legal form and substance of the agreement between the Group and its
business partners; such judgments impact the amount of reported revenue and operating expenses
but do not impact reported assets, liabilities or cash flows.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
The Group applies the practical expedient in para 121 of IFRS - 15 and does not disclose information
about the remaining performance obligations that have original expected duration of one year or less.
Constraining of transaction price under pre-paid customer contracts

The Group constrains the unused subscriber resources to the historic pattern of usage for calculation
of the unsatisfied performance obligations as at the reporting date. The Group does not expect
adjustment to the amount of revenue recognized based on such constraining of resources.

5.28 (b) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation of the Group to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration or an amount of consideration is due from the customer. If a
customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier]. Contract
liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs its performance obligations under the
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5.28 (c) Contract assets

5.28

5.28

5.29

5.30

5.31

5.32
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(d)

(e)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The contractassets primarily relate to the Group's rights to consideration for postpaid services provided
to subscribers but not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to trade debts
when the rights become unconditional.

Contract costs

The Group capitalizes the incremental costs of obtaining and fulfilling a contract, if they are expected
to be recovered. The capitalized cost is amortized over the average customer life and recognized as
cost of sales. Applying the practical expedient of IFRS 15, the Group recognizes the incremental cost of
obtaining and fulfilling a contract as expense when incurred if the amortization period of assets is less
than one year.

U Bank revenue recognition

Mark up/ Return/ Interest earned on advances

Mark up income is recognised in profit and loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired assets, U Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument, but not ECL.

The effective interest rate of a financial asset Is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset.
In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired). The effective interest rate is revised as a result of
periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating-rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates
of interest.

Fee, commission and brokerage income

Fee, commission and brokerage income are recognized as services are performed.

Income from investments

Income on investments is recognized on accrual basis or the effective Interest rate method where
applicable. Where debt securities are purchased at premium or discount, those premiums /discounts
are made part of EIR of investments.

Income on bank deposits

Return on bank deposits is recognized using the effective interest method.

Income on inter bank deposits

Income from inter bank deposits in saving accounts are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest method.

Income from investment

Mark-up / return on investments is recognized on time proportion basis using effective interest method.
Where debt securities are purchased at premium or discount, the related premiums or discounts are
amortized through the consolidated profit or loss statement over the remaining period of maturity of said
investment. Gain or loss on sale of securities is accounted for in the period in which the sale occurs.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
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5.33 Taxation

Thetax expense forthe year comprises of current and deferred income tax, andis recognized in consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, in which case the related tax is also recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

(a) Current

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns, with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation, and establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary
differences arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
differences reverse, and the tax rates that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, at the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position.

(c) Group taxation

The Group is taxed as a one fiscal unit along with Holding Company and its other wholly owned
subsidiaries under section 59AA to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Current and deferred income
taxes are recognized by each entity within the Group in their respective statement of comprehensive
income, regardless of who has the legal rights or obligation for the recovery or payment of tax from or
to the tax authorities. However, tax liability / receivable is shown by the parent, on submission of annual
tax return, who has the legal obligation to pay or right of recovery of tax from the taxation authorities.
Balances between the group entities on account of group tax are shown as other receivables / liabilities
by the respective group entities.

5.34 Subordinated debt

Deposits, borrowings and subordinated debt represents sources of funding of U Bank. Deposits, debt
securities in issue and subordinated liabilities are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except where U Bank designates liabilities at FVTPL

5.35 Loans to banking customers

Advances are stated net of ECL provisions determined in accordance with policies stated in note 5.27.
However, for advances that has been classified in Stage 3, provision is determined based on higher of
ECL provision determined in accordance with note 5.27 and provision as per Prudential Regulations for
Microfinance Banks (the Prudential Regulations) issued by SBP as explained below. Advances are written
off according to the Prudential Regulations or when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. These
regulations prescribe a time based criteria for classification of non-performing advances into the following
categories:
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5.36

5.37

Category

Other Assets Especially
Mentioned (OAEM)

General loans

Loan [principal / mark-up)
is overdue for 30 or more
but less than 60 days

‘ Housing loans

Loan [principal / mark-up)
is overdue for 90 or more
but less than 180 days

‘ Microenterprise loans

Loan [principal / mark-up)
is overdue for 90 or more
but less than 180 days

Substandard Loan [principal / mark-up) | Loan (principal / mark-up] | Loan (principal / mark-up)
is overdue for 60 or more is overdue for 180 or more | is overdue for 180 or more
but less than 90 days but less than one year but less than one year

Doubtful Loan (principal / mark-up) | Loan (principal / mark-up) | Loan (principal / mark-up)
is overdue for 90 or more is overdue for one year or | is overdue for one year
but less than 180 days more but less than two or more but less than 18

years months

Loss Loan [principal / mark-up) | Loan (principal / mark-up) | Loan (principal / mark-up)

is overdue for 180 days or
more

is overdue for two year or
more

is overdue for 18 months
or more

In accordance with the Prudential Regulations, U Bank maintains specific provision for potential loan
losses for all non-performing advances. The provision is determined on the basis of outstanding principal
net of collaterals (such as gold] realizable without recourse to a Court of Law.

Category General loans ‘ Housing loans ‘ Microenterprise loans
Other Assets Especially Nil Nil 10%

Mentioned (OAEM)

Substandard 25% 25% 25%

Doubtful 50% 50% 50%

Loss 100% 100% 100%

Specific and general provisions against loans and advances are made in accordance with the requirements
of the Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP from time to time and management assumptions.

Non-performing advances are written off after the loan is classified as “Loss” as per the below criteria.
However, U Bank continues its efforts for recovery of the written off balances.

Categories

Criteria for Charging Off NPLs

General loans
Housing loans

Microenterprise Loans

One month after being classified as “Loss.”

One month after 05 years from the date of classification of loan.

Loan secured against Mortgaged residential, commercial and industrial
properties (Land & building only) is charged off, one month after 05 years from
the date of classification of loan.

All other loan shall be charged off, one month after 03 years from the date of

classification.

Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting of the Group in note
51 to the consolidated financial statements.

Earnings Per Share

The Group presents basic earning per share (EPS). Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Holding Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares outstanding during the year.
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6.  Share capital
6.1 Authorized share capital
2024 2023 2024 2023
(Number of shares ‘000) Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
11,100,000 11,100,000  “A" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 111,000,000 111,000,000
3,900,000 3,900,000 “B” class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 39,000,000 39,000,000
15,000,000 15,000,000 150,000,000 150,000,000
6.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital
2024 2023 2024 2023
(Number of shares ‘000) Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
3,774,000 3,774,000 "A" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 37,740,000 37,740,000
issued as fully paid for consideration
other than cash - note 6.3 and note 6.5.
1,326,000 1,326,000 “B" class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 13,260,000 13,260,000
issued as fully paid for consideration
other than cash - note 6.3 and note 6.6.
5,100,000 5,100,000 51,000,000 51,000,000

6.3 These shares were initially issued to the Government of Pakistan, in consideration for the assets and
liabilities transferred from Pakistan Telecommunication Corporation (PTC] to the Holding Company, under
the Pakistan Telecommunication [Re—organization] Act, 1996, as referred to in note 1.1.

6.4  Except for voting rights, the "A” and "B” class ordinary shares rank pari passu in all respects. "A” class
ordinary shares carry one vote and "B” class ordinary shares carry four votes, for the purposes of election
of directors. "A” class ordinary shares cannot be converted into “B” class ordinary shares; however, "B”
class ordinary shares may be converted into “A” class ordinary shares, at the option, exercisable in writing
and submitted to the Holding Company, by the holders of three fourths of the "B” class ordinary shares. In
the event of termination of the license issued to the Holding Company, under the provisions of Pakistan
Telecommunication [Re—organization] Act, 1996, the "B” class ordinary shares shall be automatically
converted into “A” class ordinary shares.

6.5 The Government of Pakistan, through an “Offer for Sale” document, dated July 30, 1994, issued to its
domestic investors, a first tranche of vouchers exchangeable for “A” class ordinary shares of the Holding
Company; subsequently, through an Information Memorandum dated September 16, 1994, a second
tranche of vouchers was issued to international investors, also exchangeable, at the option of the voucher
holders, for "A” class ordinary shares or Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) representing “A” class ordinary
shares of the Holding Company. Out of 3,774,000 thousand “A” class ordinary shares, vouchers against
601,084 thousand “A" class ordinary shares were issued to the general public. Till December 31, 2024,
599,610 thousand (December 31, 2023: 599,610 thousand) “A” class ordinary shares had been exchanged
for such vouchers.

6.6  Inpursuance of the privatization of the Holding Company, a bid was held by the Government of Pakistan on

June 08, 2005 for sale of “B” class ordinary shares of Rs 10 each, conferring management control. Emirates
Telecommunication Corporation (Etisalat] , UAE was the successful bidder. The 26% (1,326,000,000 shares]
"B" class ordinary shares, along with management control, were transferred, with effect from April 12,
2006, to Etisalat International Pakistan (EIP), UAE, which is a subsidiary of Etisalat.
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7. Longterm loans from banks

7.1  Borrowings from Banks

These represent secured loans from the following banks:

Annual Repayment
markup rate commencement 2024 2023
(3/6 months date Repayment Restated
KIBOR plus) Interest Principal  installments Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
United Bank Limited 0.25% May 2016 May 2020 Quarterly - 166,667
Allied Bank Limited 0.25% May 2016 May 2020 Quarterly - 230,000
MCB Bank Limited 0.24% Mar. 2018 Mar. 2020 Quarterly - 833,333
MCB Bank Limited 0.25% Apr. 2019 Apr. 2023 Quarterly 1,000,000 1,666,667
Bank Islami Pakistan Limited 0.50% Mar. 2020 Mar. 2024 Quarterly 666,667 1,000,000
Askari Bank Limited 0.60% Mar. 2020 Mar. 2024 Quarterly 1333333 2,000,000
MCB Bank Limited 0.50% Sep. 2020 Sep. 2024 Quarterly 2,500,000 3,000,000
Meezan Bank Limited 0.50% Sep. 2020 Sep. 2024 Quarterly 1,666,667 2,000,000
Meezan Bank Limited 0.50% Mar. 2021 Mar. 2025 Quarterly 1,500,000 1,500,000
Faysal Bank Limited 0.50% Mar. 2021 Mar. 2025 Quarterly 1,000,000 1,000,000
MCB Islamic Bank Limited 0.50% Mar. 2021 Mar. 2025 Quarterly 500,000 500,000
Syndicate loan MCB 0.55% Sep. 2021 Feb. 2026 Bi-Annual 711 20,926,703 20,897 445
Faysal Bank Limited 0.60% Apr. 2021 Jul. 2025 Quarterly 4,000,000 4,000,000
Meezan Bank Loan 0.50% Aug. 2022 Nov. 2026 Quarterly 4,000,000 4,000,000
Askari Bank 0.60% Oct. 2022 Jan 2027 Quarterly 2,000,000 2,000,000
Bank Alfalah Limited 0.60% Dec. 2022 Mar 2027 Quarterly 2,000,000 2,000,000
Bank Alfalah Limited 0.60% Jun. 2023 Sep 2027 Quarterly 2,000,000 2,000,000
712 45,093,370 48814112
Annual
markup rate
(1/3/6/12 months

KIBOR plus)
State Bank of Pakistan -1.00% Jun. 2019 Jun. 2025 Bi-Annual 713 1,500,000 1432973
State bank of Pakistan -1.00% Jun. 2023 Jun. 2026 Bi-Annual 7.4 1,015,743 964,242
MCB Bank Limited -2.00% Mar. 2025 Apr. 2025 Quarterly 715 24916872 -
Askari Bank Limited -1.50% Feb. 2025 Feb. 2025 Quarterly 7.1.6 49,780,500 -
Allied Bank Limited 1.25% May. 2022 May. 2023 Bi-Annual AN 750,000 1,500,000
Allied Bank Limited 0.95% May. 2022 Dec. 2022 Bi-Annual 718 222222 333,333
Bank Alfalah Limited 0.50% - 8,096,168
Bank of Punjab 0.95% Dec. 2021 Jun. 2022 Bi-Annual 7.9 85,714 57143
JS Bank Limited 0.10% Nov. 2023 Aug. 2025 Quarterly | 7.1.10 2,000,000 2,000,000
Bank Alfalah Limited 1.50% Jun. 2021 Dec. 2022 Bi-Annual - 1,750,000
MCB Bank Limited 0.75% Mar. 2022 Mar. 2023 Quarterly | 7.1.11 166,667 313,550
Meezan Bank Limited 0.05% Aug. 2023 Aug. 2023 Annual - 2,989,834
National Bank of Pakistan 0.75% - 1,000,000
National Bank of Pakistan 0.65% May. 2023 May. 2024 Bi-Annual | 7.1.12 1,125,000 1,500,000
PMRC -1.00% Dec. 2021 Mar. 2023 Quarterly - 250,000
United Bank Limited 0.85% Dec. 2021 Jun. 2022 Monthly - 158,333
Bank of Punjab 0.00% Dec. 2024 Mar. 2025 Quarterly | 7.1.13 49,999,785 -
131,562,503 22,545,576
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Annual Repayment

markup rate commencement 2024 2023

(3/6 months date Repayment Restated

KIBOR plus) Interest Principal installments Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

MCB Bank Ltd 0.30% Sep. 2022 Dec. 2026 Bi-Annual | 7.1.14 11,000,000 11,000,000
Habib Bank Ltd 0.40% Mar. 2023 Jun. 2027 Bi-Annual | 7.1.15 35,000,000 35,000,000
Bank Alfalah Ltd 0.40% & 0.60% Jan. 2024 Jan. 2028 Quarterly | 7.1.16 8,000,000 3,000,000

Jul. 2024 Jul. 2028

Faysal Bank Ltd 0.50% Mar. 2024 Jun. 2027 Quarterly 7107 7,000,000 -
Bank Islami Pakistan Ltd 0.55% Mar. 2024 Mar. 2028 Quarterly | 7.1.18 2,000,000 2,000,000
Accrued Interest 318,719 239,408
Less: Transaction cost (219.640) (218,694)
63,099,079 51,020,714

239,754,952 122,380,402
Current portion of long term loans from banks (134,887,702) (25,294,133

104,867,250 97,086,269

PTML in 2021 entered into an arrangement with MCB Bank Limited for syndicated term finance facility of
Rs. 21 billion. The facility is secured against hypothecation over fixed and current assest (excluding land,
building and cellular licenses) and corporate guarantee of PTCL amounting to Rs. 21 billion.

All loans are secured by way of first charge ranking pari passu by way of hypothecation over all present and
future movable equipment and other assets (excluding land, building and licenses) of PTML. Three months
KIBOR stands at 12.14% at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: 21.46%) and six months KIBOR stands
at 12.16% at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: 21.49%). These loans also require PTML to comply
with the financial covenants and other operational requirements.

This represents a term finance facility amounting to Rs.1,500 million with State Bank of Pakistan. The
loan is repayable in a single bullet after 5 years. Markup is chargeable at the rate of six month KIBOR
with a negative spread of 1% (6-months KIBOR - 1%]) per annum payable semi-annually by 15th day of
subsequent month of half year.

U Bank entered into a term finance facility agreement amounting to Rs.1,039 million with State Bank of
Pakistan. The loan is repayable in a single bullet after 3 years. Markup is chargeable at the rate of six
month KIBOR with a negative spread of 1% (6-months KIBOR - 1%) per annum payable semi-annually by
15th day of subsequent month of half year.

U Bank entered into a Rs. 25,000 million credit facility agreement with MCB on October 21, 2024,. The
agreement is set to expire on April 30, 2025. The principal is repayable as a bullet payment at maturity, and
the markup is calculated quarterly at a rate of KIBOR minus 2%.

The facility is secured by a lien on government securities, with no margin for T-bills and a 10% margin for
PIBs, along with the registration of a first exclusive charge with SECP (covering T-bills and PIBs under lien
ata 10% margin).
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7.1.6

U Bank entered into a Rs. 50 billion credit facility agreement with Askari bank limited on Novermber 01,
2024,. The tenor is upto 3 months from the date of disbursement. The principal is repayable as a bullet
payment at maturity, and the markup is payable on maturity at the rate of 3 months KIBOR minus 1.5%.

The purpose of the facility is to finance working capital requirements / financing investments.

U Bank entered into a syndicated term finance facility agreement for an aggregate amount of Rs.3,000
million inclusive of Rs.1.5 million green shoe option with Allied Bank Limited. The first payment shall be
due and payable at the end of eighteen months(18) from disbursement date and subsequently every six (06)
months thereafter. Markup is chargeable at 6-months KIBOR plus 1.25% per annum payable semi annually
in arrears.

This loan is secured against First Pari Passu charge over all present and future assets of U Bank with the
margin of 25%.

U Bank entered into a loan agreement for house financing amounting to Rs 500 million with Allied Bank
Limited. This loan is repayable in 9 equal semi-annual instalments of Rs. 55.55 million each inclusive of 6
months grace period. Markup is chargeable at the rate of 6-months KIBOR + 0.95% per annum. The loan
was drawn on December 17, 2021.

This is secured against first pari-passu hypothecated charge on all present and future assets [excluding
land and building) of U Bank inclusive of 25% margin.

U Bank entered into a term finance facility agreement amounting to Rs 600 million with Bank of Punjab.
This loan is repayable in seven (07) equal semi-annual instalments with the first principal repayment
falling due on twelfth (12th) month from the first disbursement date. Markup is chargeable at the rate of
6-months KIBOR + 0.95% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. The purpose of the loan was to
finance housing portfolio of the customer supporting the microfinance growth.

The loan was secured against first pari passu charge of Rs. 800 million inclusive of 25% margin on all
present and future assets excluding land and building.

7.1.10 U Bank entered into a Term finance Agreement amounting to Rs 2,000 million with JS bank Limited to grow

their advances portfolio. The principal amount is payable in full as a single bullet payment at the date of
maturity. Markup was chargeable quarterly at the rate of 3-month KIBOR + 0.10%. The tenor of the loan is
2 years.

The loan is secured against U Bank's investment in JS Asset Management Units with 10% margin as well
as ranking hypothecation charge over U Bank's current assets.

7.1.11 U Bank entered into a loan agreement for house financing amounting to Rs 500 million with MCB Bank

Limited.This loan is repayable in twelve (12) quarterly instalments of Rs. 41.67 million starting from fifteenth
(15th) month each inclusive of 1 year grace period. Markup is chargeable at the rate of 3-month KIBOR
plus 0.75% per annum.
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This is secured against first pari passu charge amounting to Rs.667 million over all current and future
assets [excluding land and building) of U Bank including but not limited to advances/microcredit receivables
and investments (excluding CRR & SLR requirements , any lien over cash/ TDRs etc.). Disbursement will
be allowed against ranking charge which will be upgraded to first pari passu charge within 120 days from
date of AOF i.e. 03 Dec 2021.

7.1.12 U Bank entered into a term finance facility agreement amounting to Rs.1,500 million with National Bank
of Pakistan. The loan term was five years inclusive of 1 year grace period. The loan is repayable in 8 equal
semi annual installments from the eighteenth (18th] month from disbursement. Markup is chargeable at
the rate of 6-months KIBOR plus 0.65% per annum.

The first markup payment shall fall due at the end of 6th month from first disbursement date.
The facility is secured against First pari passu hypothecation charge over all present and future assets
(excluding land and building) of U Bank including but not limited to advances, microcredit receivables, and
investments beyond CRR and SLR requirements of U Bank with 25% margin.

7.1.13 This represents loan from bank of Punjab amounting to Rs.50 billion. The purpose of loan is to finance
working capital requirements of the customer. Maximum tenor of the loan is upto 90 days. Principle is
repayable in a single bullet upon maturity. Markup is chargeable at the rate of 3 month KIBOR plus/minus
spread to be finalised at the time of facility drawdown. The loan is 100% secured against T-Bills/ PIBs
parked in IPS account maintained with Bank of Punjab under lien and set off in favour of BOP.

7.1.14 The Holding Company entered into a syndicate term finance agreement dated 16 June 2022 to avail long
term finance facility to the extent of Rs. 11,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its
wholly owned subsidiary Pak Telecom Mobile Limited. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge
by way of hypothecation over the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the MCB Bank Limited - Security Agent,
which shall constitute a first charge in favour of MCB Bank Limited - Security Agent (for the benefit of the
Syndicate). The loan is repayable in 6 bi-annual instalments commencing from 15 December 2026.

7.1.15 The Holding Company entered into a syndicate term finance agreement dated 29 December 2022 to avail
long term finance facility to the extent of Rs. 35,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its
wholly owned subsidiary Pak Telecom Mobile Limited. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge
by way of hypothecation over the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the HBL Bank Limited - Security Agent,
which shall constitute a first charge in favour of HBL Bank Limited - Security Agent (for the benefit of the
Syndicate). The loan is repayable in 6 bi-annual instalments commencing from 30 June 2027.

7.1.16 During the year, the Holding Company has entered into a finance agreement dated 05 April 2024 to avail
long term finance facility to the extent of Rs. 5,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity/subordinated
loan to its wholly owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of
hypothecation over the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent, which
shall constitute a first charge in favour of Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent. The loan is repayable in
quarterly instalments commencing from 18 July 2028.

In 2023, the Holding Company has entered into a finance agreement dated 24 October 2023 to avail long
term finance facility to the extent of Rs. 3,000,000 thousand for the purpose of equity injection into its
wholly owned subsidiary PTML. The finance facility is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation
over the Hypothecated Assets in favour of the Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent, which shall constitute
a first charge in favour of Bank Alfalah Limited - Security Agent. The loan is repayable in quarterly
instalments commencing from 25 January 2028.
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7.1.17 The Holding Company entered into a new finance agreement dated 29 August 2024 to avail long term

finance facility to the extent of Rs. 7,000,000 thousand for the purpose of subordinated loan, equity injection
in PTML and to meet the capex requirements of the Holding Company. The finance facility is secured by
way of first pari passu charge on all assets (excluding land, building, licenses & international revenue
receipts/receivables). The loan is repayable in seven years (with four year grace period), with installments
on quarterly basis commencing from 01 October 2028.

7.1.18 The Holding Company has obtained finance facility under musharakah contract with Bank Islami Pakistan

Limited dated 28 December 2023 to avail the finance facility to the extent of Rs.2,000,000 thousand for the
purchase of line & wire equipment. The effective rate of profit is 22% with a share of 96.08% (BanklIslami)
and 3.92% (PTCL). The contract is secured by creating a charge by way of hypothecation over hypothecated
assets in favour of the Banklslami Pakistan Limited. The musharaka contract involve 12 quarterly payments
and shall be wound up in the manner agreed. The musharaka agreement ends on 28 December 2030.

Subordinated debt

This represents the fully paid up, rated, privately placed / DSLR listed, unsecured, subordinated, perpetual
and non cumulative debt instrument in the nature of Additional TIER 1 Capital Term Finance Certificates of
Rs. 1,000 million (inclusive of Green shoe option of Rs. 250 million) (The “TFC") as instrument of redeemable
capital under section 66 (1) of Companies Act, 2017 carrying markup at the rate of 6 months KIBOR plus
3.5% payable semi-annually on a non-cumulative basis on the outstanding issue amount. U Bank has full
discretion over the amount and timing of profit distribution and waiver of any profit distribution or other
payment does not constitute an event of default. U Bank may call the TFCs at par (either partially or in
full) with prior approval of State Bank of Pakistan (SBPJ, on any profit payment date after 5 years from the
issue date. The instrument is subordinated as to payment of principal and profit to all other claims except
common shares. These term finance certificates are convertible into fixed number of ordinary shares of U
Bank upon CET 1 trigger event, the point of non viability [PONV] trigger event of failure by U Bank to comply
with the lock in clause.

2024 2023
Restated
Conventional Islamic Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

9.  Deposits from banking customers
Fixed deposits 62,116,323 2,369,009 64,485,332 50,618,743
Saving deposits 52,804,033 4,730,388 57,534,421 43,595,700
Current deposits 13,040,159 1,552,271 14,592,430 9,848,101
9.1 127,960,515 8,651,668 136,612,183 104,062,544
Current portion (96,741,897) (65,519,233)
39,870,286 38,543,311

9.1 Deposits include related parties balances amounting to Rs 8,782,201 thousand (2023: Rs 9,434,760

thousand).
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2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
10. Lease liabilities
Lease commitments
Balance at the begnning of year 17,066,360 18,470,840
Additions during the year 7,919,620 4,826,952
Modifications during the year 171,564 4,802
Terminations during the year (811,401) (21,322)
Interest expense 3,087,046 2,074,533
Lease rental paid (10,544,782) (8,289,445)
Balance at the end of the year 16,888,407 17,066,360
Current portion shown under current liabilities (4,458,672) (4,221,954)
Due after 12 months 12,429,735 12,844,406
- Not later than one year 6,511,550 5,344,936
- Later than one year and not later than five years 12,812,163 13,560,302
- Later than five years 2,481,040 2,404,660
Total undiscounted lease commitments 21,804,753 21,309,898
Future finance cost 4,916,346 4,243,538
16,888,407 17,066,360
2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
11. Employees retirement benefits

Liabilities for pension obligations
PTCL (Unfunded) 15,278,509 12,283,715
15,278,509 12,283,715
Gratuity funded - PTCL, PTML and U Bank 193,209 377,301
Accumulated compensated absences - PTCL (Unfunded) 2,143,511 2,052,020
Post retirement medical facility - PTCL (Unfunded) 21,049,516 15,634,286
Benevolent grants - PTCL (Unfunded) 4,181,338 4,307,194
42,846,083 34,654,516
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11.3 Changes in the fair value of plan assets:

Defined benefit Defined benefit Total
pension plan - funded gratuity plan - funded plan assets
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Balance at beginning of the year
Expected return on plan assets
Payments made to members

149,115,429 135,125,260 3,851,342 3,209,576 152,966,771 138,334,836
20,785,339 15,924,142 981,479 402,620 21,366,818 16,326,762

on behalf of fund - - 173,581 152,305 173,581 152,305
Gain on remeasurement
of assets 3,079,767 7,371,461 190,623 170,115 3,270,390 7,541,576

Contributions made by the Group
during the year
Benefits paid

990,436
(11,536,530) (10,264,521)

959,087

377,303 194,741 1,367,739 1,153,828
(222,861) (278,015) (11,759,391) (10,542,536}

Balance at end of the year

149,115,429

4,951,467

3,851,342 167,385,908 152,966,771

11.4 Plan assets for funded defined benefit pension plan are comprised as follows:

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Percentage Rs ‘000 Percentage
Debt instruments - unquoted
- Defence saving certificates 34,729,689 21.39 30,869,129 20.71
- Pakistan investment bonds 36,144,413 22.25 28,335,193 19.00
70,874,102 43.64 59,204,322 39.71
Cash and cash equivalents
- Term deposits 24,600,000 15.15 24,692,000 16.57
- Sukuks 3,741,428 2.30 3,164,617 2.12
- Pakistan investment bond 1,866,330 1.15 816,314 0.55
- Term finance certificates 44,775 0.03 44,775 0.00
- Treasury bills 33,771,089 20.79 30,223,089 20.27
- Cash and bank balances 2,430 0.00 5,109 0.00
64,026,052 39.42 58,945,904 39.51
Investment property
- Telecom tower 11,807,573 7.26 11,795,667 7.92
- Telehouse 3,333,976 2.05 3,333,000 2.24
- Corporate offices 2,317,067 1.43 2,309,996 1.55
17,458,616 10.74 17,438,663 11.71
Fixed assets 11,463 0.01 9,063 0.01
Other assets 11,789,622 7.26 15,050,684 10.09
164,159,855 101.07 150,648,636 101.03
Liabilities
- Staff retirement benefits (166,051) (0.10) (126,866) (0.09)
- Amount due to PTCL (25,634) (0.02) (1,326) -
- Accrued & other liabilities (328,046) (0.20) (295,842) (0.20)
- Provision for zakat (1,205,683) (0.75) (1,109,173) (0.74)
(1,725,414) (1.07) (1,533,207) (1.03)
162,434,441 100.00 149,115,429 100.00
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11.5 Plan assets for defined gratuity fund are comprised as follows:

2024 2023

Rs ‘000 Percentage Rs ‘000 Percentage

Units of mutual funds 162,659 3.29 136,188 3.53
Term deposit receipts 2,000,000 40.39 1,950,000 52.80
Term finance certificates 450,000 9.09 450,000 11.68
Other assets 103,745 2.10 109,836 2.94
Bank balances 2,235,063 45.13 1,205,318 29.05
4,951,467 100.00 3,851,342 100.00

11.6 The expected contributions in the next financial year to the funded gratuity plan by the Group is Rs 541,884

thousand.

Sensitivity analysis

The calculations of the defined benefit obligations are sensitive to the significant actuarial assumptions
set out in note 11.1 (d). The table below summarizes how the defined benefit obligations at the end of the
reporting period would have increased / (decreased) as a result of change in the respective assumptions.

Impact on defined benefit obligation

1% decrease
in assumption

1% increase
in assumption

Future salary / medical cost
Pension - funded
Pension - unfunded
Gratuity - funded
Accumulated compensated absences - unfunded
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded

Discount rate
Pension - funded
Pension - unfunded
Gratuity - funded
Accumulated compensated absences - unfunded
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded
Benevolent grants - unfunded

Future pension
Pension - funded
Pension - unfunded

Benevolent grants
Benevolent grants - unfunded

Expected mortality rates
Pension - funded
Pension - unfunded
Gratuity - funded
Accumulated compensated absences - unfunded
Post-retirement medical facility - unfunded
Benevolent grants - unfunded

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
10,092,295 (9,526,570)
1,626,471 (1,473,199)
800,548 (711,841)
181,027 (166,992)
3,673,647 (3,131,948)
(23,715,908) 27,521,063
(2,400,767) 2,815,675
(713,296) 793,252
(166,796) 177,148
(3,130,167) 3,632,394
(621,786) 721,549
27,833,623 (23,729,400)
2,845,917 (2,402,047)
729,744 (622,139)
Increase by Decrease by

1year 1year

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
(6,497,243) 6,473,611
(911,220) 939,737
(38,782) 33,183
(25,021) 21,408
(1,057,465) 1,073,465
(249,378) 257,182
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The above sensitivity analysis is based on changes in assumptions while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
When calculating the sensitivity of defined benefit obligations to significant actuarial assumptions, the same
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at
the end of the reporting period) has been applied when calculating the pension liability recognized within
the consolidated statement of financial position.

11.8 Through its defined benefit pension plans, the Group is exposed to a number of actuarial and investment
risks, the most significant of which include, interest rate risk, property market risk, longevity risk for
pension plan and salary increase risk for all the plans.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

12. Deferred government grants
Balance at beginning of the year 31,563,512 29,183,173
Received during the year 8,137,042 4,952,587

39,700,554 34,135,760
Income recognized during the year 39 (4,447 562) (2,572,248)
Balance at end of the year 35,252,992 31,563,512
This includes grants received from the Universal Service Fund, as assistance towards the development
of telecommunication infrastructure in rural areas, comprising telecom infrastructure projects for basic
telecom access, transmission and broadband services spread across the country.
Further, this also includes grant recognized on below market interest rate loan of Rs 1,000 million from
State Bank of Pakistan [SBP] to meet the business funding requirements / financing investments of U
Bank. The differential between the market rate and the actual rate of the loan is recognized as deferred
grant.
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

13. License Fee Payable
Interest bearing 13.1 9,972,090 10,090,613
Non interest bearing 13.2 1,156,165 1,300,875

11,128,255 11,391,488
Current portion (2,328,854) (125,862)
8,799,401 11,265,626

13.1 Interest bearing
Gross amount payable 13.3 9,972,090 10,090,613
Current portion (2,200,545) -

7,771,545 10,090,613

13.2 Non Interest bearing
Gross amount payable 13.4 1,416,198 1,637,747
Imputed deferred interest (260,033) (336,872)
Present value of obligation 1,156,165 1,300,875
Current portion (128,309) (125,862)

1,027,856 1,175,013




optel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

13.3

13.4

14.

In September 2021, PTML acquired 4G license throughout Pakistan excluding Azad Jammu & Kashmir
(AJK) and Gilgit-Baltistan (GB] at a fee of USD 279 million. 50% of the license fee had been paid at the time
of acquisition of license and remaining is being paid as per the agreed terms.

(i) In June 2021, PTML acquired 2G license for operations in AJK and GB at a fee of USD 13.5 million.
50% of the license fee had been paid at the time of acquisition of license and the remaining 50% of
the amount is to be paid in 10 equal annual installments on June 24th each year in US Dollars or
equivalent Pak Rupees. Accordingly, at initial recognition, the aggregate amount payable is discounted
to the present value of future cash flows at the rate of 6% per annum.

(i) In Oct 2021, PTML acquired 4G license for operations in AJK and GB at a fee of USD 1.026 million.
50% of the license fee had been paid at the time of acquisition of license and the remaining 50% of
the amount is to be paid in 10 equal annual installments on October 11th each year in US Dollars or
equivalent Pak Rupees. Accordingly, at initial recognition, the aggregate amount payable is discounted
to the present value of future cash flows at the rate of 6% per annum.

Long term vendor liability

This represents amount payable to a vendor in respect of procurement of network and allied assets which
comprises:

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Obligation under acceptance of bills of exchange
Interest bearing 141 23,875,788 20,194,532
Non interest bearing 14.2 39,406,915 41,258,507
63,282,703 61,453,039
Other accrued liabilities 3,099,378 6,163,205
66,382,081 67,616,244
Current portion (35,565,847) (17,403,361)
30,816,234 50,212,883

14.1 These liabilities carries interest in the range of 12.14% to 21.99% per annum (December 31, 2023: 17.05%
to 24.71% per annum).
14.2 Atinitial recognition, the amount payable is discounted to the present value of future cash flows at the rate
ranging from 3.9% to 4.8% (December 31, 2023: 2.7% to 5.5%) per annum.
2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
15. Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 24,062,927 22,168,379
Accrued and other liabilities 15.1 60,108,504 54,412,420
Technical services assistance fee 15.2 48,230,684 41,410,987
Advances from customers / contract liability 13,982,012 11,488,116
Retention money / payable to contractors and suppliers 7,582,467 8,593,518
Income tax collected from subscribers / deducted at source 1,048,418 641,585
Sales tax payable 3,585,788 1,415,301
15.3 158,600,800 140,130,306
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
15.1 Accrued and other liabilities comprise:

Accrued liability for operational expenses 21,084,640 18,550,881

Amount withheld on account of provincial levies (sub judice)
for ICH operations 15.1.1 12,110,803 12,110,803
Accrual for Government / regulatory expenses 18,172,960 15,455,046
Accrued wages 4,163,239 4,403,373
Others 4,576,862 3,892,317
60,108,504 54,412,420

15.1.1 This represents International Clearing House “ICH" revenue which were shared between the Holding
Company and other Long Distance and International "LDI” operators in the ratio of 50:50. Therefore, out of
this, 50% of the amount represents revenue not recognized by the Holding Company. As the ICH operator,
the Holding Company challenged the imposition of sales tax on ICH revenue and the matter is sub-judice
in different courts of law; therefore, the relevant share of the ICH partners is being held by the Holding
Company till the finalization of the subject cases.

15.2 Liability has not been settled since State Bank of Pakistan has not yet acknowledged the extension of
Technical Services Assistance [TSA) Agreement.

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
15.3 Trade and other payables include payable to the following related parties:
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation 4,431,239 3,712,085
Etisalat's subsidiaries and associates 224,790 37,005
Etisalat - Afghanistan 53,718 59,434
Etihad Etisalat [Mobily) 3,941 19,475
Emirates data clearing house 89,179 46,851
Telecom Foundation 13,654 13,276
TF Pipes Limited 4,630 4,630
GoP related entities 2,293,643 2,070,961
PTCL Employees GPF Trust 89,535 56,563
Retention money / payable to contractors and suppliers

TF Pipes Limited 2,940 2,940

These balances relate to the normal course of business and are interest free.

16. Short term running finance

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
PTML 16.1 4,061,904 7,019,721
U Bank 16.2 500,000 16,903,832
PTCL 16.3 47,116,732 24,214,700

51,678,636 48,138,253
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16.1

16.2

16.3

17.

Under mark-up arrangements with banks, total facilities available amounts to Rs. 8,080 million
(December 31, 2023: Rs 5,980 million), out of which amount availed at the year end was Rs. 3,543 million
(December 31, 2023: Rs. 4,567 million). The current balance of Rs. 4,062 million represents book overdrawn
as at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: Rs. 7,020 million). These facilities secured by first ranking
pari passu charge by way of hypothecation over all present and future assets of PTML, excluding land,
building and licenses. These facilities carry markup rates ranging from 1-month KIBOR to 3-month KIBOR
plus weighted average spread of 0.18% (December 31, 2023: 1-month KIBOR to 3-month KIBOR plus
weighted average spread of 0.23%) per annum.

This facility is obtained from MCB Bank Limited with an aggregate limit of Rs. 500,000 thousand and are
secured against first pari passu charge on all the current and future book debts, advances and receivables
of U Bank. These facilities carry markup rate of T-month KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.5% per
annum.

These facilities are obtained from various commercial banks with an aggregate limit of Rs. 31,550,000
thousand (December 31, 2023: 17,500,000 thousand) and are secured against Tst pari passu charge on
present and future current assets and all other movable assets of the Holding Company. These facilities
carry markup rates ranging from T-month KIBOR to 6-month KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.17%
(December 31, 2023: 1-month KIBOR to 3-month KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.20%) per annum.

The also include shariah compliant, rated, unlisted, unsecured, privately placed short term sukuk
amounting to Rs. 20,000,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: 5,000,000 thousand) issued to meet the
working capital requirements with a tenor of 6 months from the issue date at 6-months (December 31,
2023: 6 months from the issue date at 6-months) carrying mark-up rates of 3-month KIBOR to 6-month
KIBOR plus weighted average rate of 0.13% (December 31, 2023: 6-month KIBOR plus weighted average
rate of 0.20%) per annum. Habib Bank Limited was a mandated lead advisor, arranger and investment
agent for the sukuk. The issuer has the right to exercise call option on or after 3 months from issue date.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Security deposits

Utilizable in business 17.1 792,069 614,544
Others 17.2 861,984 825,227

1,654,053 1,439,771

171

17.2

18.

18.1

These represent utilizable interest free security deposits received from distributors, franchisees and
customers for services to be provided and are refundable / adjustable on termination of their relationship
with the Group. The amount is being fully utilized for the purpose of Group’s business.

These security deposits are received from customers for services to be provided and are refundable /
adjustable on termination of their relationship with the Group. These are non interest bearing. Amount of
these security deposits has been kept in a separate bank account.

Contingencies and commitments
Contingencies

PTCL

Indirect Taxes

Against the decision of Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue [(ATIR) upholding tax authorities’ decision to
impose Federal Excise Duty (FED) amounting to Rs 365,098 thousand on Technical Services Assistance fee
assuming that the fee is against franchise arrangement for the period from July 2008-09 & 2010-11, PTCL
has filed reference in the Honorable Islamabad High Court. Accordingly, the stay order was granted by the
Honorable Islamabad High Court. Similarly, against an order of the Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA] for
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18.2

18.3

18.4

18.5

18.6

18.7

the services sales tax, a demand of Rs 461,629 thousand on Technical Services Assistance fee was raised
assuming that the fee is against franchise arrangement for the period from October 2012 to December
2014. The appeal is sub judice before the Commissioner Appeals - PRA, and the stay order from the
Honorable Lahore High Court is also in place against any coercive measures.

Based on an audit of certain monthly returns of FED, a demand of Rs 1,289,957 thousand was raised on
the premise that PTCL did not apportion the input tax between allowable and exempt supplies. PTCL is in
appeal before ATIR, which is pending adjudication. Meanwhile, the Honorable Islamabad High Court has
granted a stay order in this regard against any coercive measures.

Matters of international incoming has been raised by Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa
Revenue Authority [KPRAJ) with demands of Rs. 4,417,000 thousand and Rs. 2,374,000 thousand. For KPRA,
Writ Petition has been filed before Peshawar High Court who has granted stay against the show cause
notice. With reference to SRB, case has been decided against PTCL by Commissioner Appeals, against
whom appeal has been filed before Tribunal. Tribunal SRB has granted stay in the case.

The Sindh Revenue Board [SRB) has assessed Sindh sales tax on services amounting to Rs 702 million
on the premise that PTCL did not pay sales tax on invoices issued for services rendered to Cellular Mobile
Operators (CMOQs). Department view was not supported by the record and PTCL has submitted detailed
evidence to refute the same before the learned Commissioner Appeals, SRB and stay has been granted.
Management and tax advisors believe that this case would be settled in favor of PTCL owing to the evidence
on record.

Income Tax

For the tax years 2007, 2009, 2010, 2011 to 2023, Taxation Officer disallowed certain expenses, tax credits
and levied short deduction of WHT. The impugned orders were challenged at the relevant appellate forums
which allowed partial relief thereof. After taking into account the orders of CIR [Appeals), ATIR as well as
rectification orders tax impact of the disallowances is Rs 64,851,469 thousand. Appeals on the remaining
outstanding items are pending adjudication before ATIR. Reference in respect of 2007 is subjudice before
the Honorable Islamabad High Court. Stay has been obtained in all cases from different fora. The CIR
(Appeals) have remanded back the disallowances relating to tax years 2014 and 2020 having tax impact of
Rs. 5,937,972 thousand to Taxation Officer.

For the Tax Year 2020, Taxation officer objected to the quarterly advance tax calculation submitted by PTCL
based on group taxation and raised demand amounting to Rs. 2,855,907 thousand despite that PTCL had
filed option for group taxation within prescribed time. The Islamabad High Court has decided the case in
favor of PTCL.

Others

In 2010, Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust ("PTET") board approved the pension increase
which was less than the increase notified by the Government of Pakistan ["GoP”). Thereafter, pensioners
filed several Writ Petitions. After a series of hearings, on June 12, 2015, the Apex Court decided the case in
the interest of pensioners. On July 13, 2015, Review Petition was filed in Supreme Court of Pakistan against
the Judgment of June 12, 2015.

The Honourable Supreme Court of Pakistan (Apex Court] disposed the Review Petitions filed by PTCL,
the Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust (PTET] and the Federal Government (collectively, the
Review Petitioners) vide the order dated May 17, 2017. Through the said order, the Apex Court directed
the Review Petitioners to seek remedy under section 12(2) CPC (Civil Procedure Code) which shall be
decided by the concerned Court in accordance with the law, and to pursue all grounds of law and fact
in other cases pending before High Courts. The Review Petitioners filed the applications under section
12(2) CPC before respective High Courts, however the same were dismissed by the Islamabad High Court
vide Judgment dated January 22, 2018, as being not maintainable. The said order of the Islamabad High
Court was challenged by PTCL and PTET before the Supreme Court which was pleased to recently dispose
of the Appeals vide its order dated April 29, 2024 and remanded back the 12(2) applications to the High
Court(s) for recalling the earlier order in respect of those Petitioners who opted for VSS. The fresh 12(2)
applications were filed before the Honourable Islamabad and Peshawar High court(s) and the cases have
been admitted for hearing vide order dated June 24, 2024 and July 11, 2024, respectively. Both the high
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courts have issued notices to the VSS optees seeking pension. The applications before the Islamabad High
Court are fixed for hearing on April 17, 2025 and on April 08, 2025 before the Peshawar High Court.

PTET has implemented the Apex court decision dated June 12, 2015 to the extent of 342 pensioners who
were the petitioners in the main case. Some of the interveners [pensioners) seeking the same relief as
allowed vide order dated June 12, 2015, have been directed by the Apex Court to approach the appropriate
forum on May 10, 2018. Islamabad High Court on November 02, 2021, has decided that the GOP increases
are not allowed to VSS optees, PTC pensioners and to the workmen. To the extent of Civil Servants, the
Islamabad High Court allowed the GOP increase. However, to the same extent appeal has been filed before
Apex court within the limitation. The pension cases before the Supreme Court were fixed on February
11, 2025 and the Court directed the pensioners, PTCL and PTET to submit their written submissions/
arguments. The court has reserved the judgment, however, the matter may be fixed for hearing if the Court
requires any further clarification after thorough review of the submissions. Under the circumstances,
management of PTCL, on the basis of legal advice, believes that PTCL's obligations against benefits is
restricted to the extent of pension increases as determined solely by the Board of Trustees of the PTET in
accordance with the Pakistan Telecommunication (Re-Organization) Act, 1996 and the Pension Trust Rules
of 2012 and accordingly, no provision has been recognized in these consolidated financial statements.

Due to complexity of the matter and varying decisions from courts in this regard, it is not practical to
estimate reliably the financial impact, in case of unfavorable outcome of this matter, before its conclusion.

18.8 PTCL implemented policy directives of Ministry of Information Technology conveyed by the Pakistan
Telecommunication Authority regarding termination of all international incoming calls into Pakistan. On
suspension of these directives by the Honorable Lahore High Court, the Honorable Supreme Court of
Pakistan dismissed the pertinent writ petitions by directing Competition Commission of Pakistan (CCP)
to decide the case. The Honorable Sindh High Court suspended the adverse decision of CCP. The case
was fixed on September 12, 2024. Sindh High Court has disposed of the case, directing the Competition
Commission Appellate Tribunal (CCAT) to decide the pending matter. The court has also granted a stay
against any adverse action by the CCP until the appeals are finally decided by the CCAT. The Matter is
pending before the Competition Appellate Tribunal.

18.9 A total of 1452 cases [December 31, 2023: 1,348 cases) against PTCL involving Regulatory, Telecom
Operators, Employees and Subscribers. Because of number of cases and their uncertain nature, it is not
possible to quantify their financial impact. Management and Legal advisors of PTCL are of the view that
the outcome of these cases is expected to be favorable and liability, if any, arising out on the settlement is
not likely to be material.

PTML
Indirect Taxes

18.10 The Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) has raised multiple tax demands, by assessing Federal Excise
Duty (FED) on PTML's payments of technical services fee to Etisalat as fee for “Franchise Services”, for
multiple periods - from July 2006 till December 2021. PTML is contesting such assessments and demands
before Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR-A], Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) and the
Istamabad High Court (IHC). Management contends that payments of technical services fee are outside the
ambit of the Federal Excise Act, 2005; and also lack the “franchiser-franchisee” arrangement, essential
for the payments to be considered franchise services fee. Against the demands created by FBR, PTML has
paid Rs 521.76 million in prior years under protest, being carried as receivable from taxation authorities
as reflected in note 31.4 to these consolidated financial statements. Overall exposure on this issue is Rs.
3,282 million (December 31, 2023: Rs. 2,957 million).

Income Tax

18.11 The taxation authorities (FBR] had raised demands aggregating to Rs 1,830 million for tax years 2008 to
2014, by disallowing advance income tax paid by PTML on import of telecommunication equipment, on the
premise that the same was final tax and could not be adjusted against normal tax liability. The earliest case
was instituted in December 2011. PTML contends that these demands are not based on sound taxation
principles: PTMLs telecommunication services have been subject to normal tax since inception and the
imported equipment is used in-house for provision of those services, not sold as commercial imports. On
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18.12

18.13

18.14

18.15

18.16

18.17

18.18

18.19

18.20

18.21

PTMLs tax references filed before the IHC against the unfavourable order of the ATIR, the IHC remanded
the cases back to ATIR for fresh hearing. The tax authorities responded by filing constitutional petition
before the Supreme Court (SC). SC has remanded the matter to ATIR with order of no interference with the
directions of IHC.

Since April 2011, PTML is subject to assessments proceedings under Section 122(5A]) of the Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001 for tax years 2008 to 2018, on account of verification of expenses and tax withholding. The
proceedings are pending before the CIR-A, ATIR and IHC.

Since December 2006, PTML has been contesting various notices and orders in front of the Federal,
provincial and Azad Jammu and Kashmir tax authorities, CIR-A, ATIR and the high courts in respect of
Income Tax, FED and Federal and provincial sales taxes.

Certain Provincial Tax Authorities have disallowed PTMLs claim of input tax credit for the period in which
Honorable Supreme Court of Pakistan had suspended collection of taxes from cellular subscribers. This
matter is sub-judice before different forums.

On 30 July 2020, PTA imposed a fine of Rs. 50 million on PTML on account of suspected grey traffic on their
network and directed it to submit the fine within ten working days of the order. PTML filed appeal before
the High Court of Sindh on 10 August 2020 which suspended the operation of the PTA's determination.

A total of 269 cases against PMTL involving Regulatory, Telecom Operators, Employees and Subscribers.
Because of number of cases and their uncertain nature, it is not possible to quantify their financial impact.
Management and Legal advisors of PTML are of the view that the outcome of these cases is expected to be
favorable and liability, if any, arising out on the settlement is not likely to be material.

U Bank

A super tax at rates ranging from 1% to 4% of taxable income was imposed through the Finance Act, 2022
for Tax Year 2022 and onwards through promulgation of section 4C in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The
Holding Company along with other petitioners has successfully challenged this levy before the Sindh High
Court who held through its Order dated December 22, 2022 that the said tax was to apply effective Tax Year
2023. However, the honourable Court suspended its judgment for 60 days as per the procedure given in
the Code of Civil Procedure, in order for FBR to take up the matter before the Supreme Court. Keeping in
view the Court’s judgment in the petitioner’s favour, no provision has been recorded in these accounts for
super tax for Tax Year 2022 as management is confident for a favorable outcome upon the conclusion of the
proceedings.

For the tax years 2015, 2016, 2017 & 2019, Taxation Officer disallowed certain expenses, tax credits, levied
short deduction of WHT and adjustment of ACT & minimum tax. The impugned orders were challenged
at the relevant appellate forums which allowed partial relief thereof. After taking into account the orders
of CIR (Appeals], ATIR as well as rectification orders, the tax impact amounts to Rs 290,980 thousand.
Appeals on the remaining outstanding items are pending adjudication before ATIR.

The Sindh Revenue Board (SRB) has passed an order dated December 8, 2022 requiring U Bank to deposit
Sindh sales tax amounting to Rs 9.70 million along with penalty and default surcharge on account of
non-payment of withholding Sindh sales tax and adjustment of inadmissible input tax during the period
from January 2017 to December 2017. U Bank has filed an appeal before Commissioner Inland Revenue -
Appeals (CIR-A], which is pending for adjucation.

The Sindh Revenue Board (SRB] has passed orders dated June 2, 2020 and March 12, 2021 requiring U
Bank to deposit Sindh sales tax amounting to Rs 10.23 million and Rs 5.19 million retrospectively along
with penalty and default surcharge on account of short payment of sales tax during the tax year 2015
(January 2014 to December 2014) and 2018 (January 2017 to December 2017) respectively. U Bank has filed
an appeal before Commissioner Inland Revenue - Appeals (CIR-A], which is pending for adjucation.

The Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA]) has passed an order dated February 24, 2020 requiring U Bank to
deposit Punjab sales tax amounting to Rs 7.89 million along with penalty and default surcharge on account
of adjustment of inadmissible input tax for the tax years 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2018. U Bank filed an appeal
before Commissioner Inland Revenue - Appeals (CIR-A], who decided the matter in favour of PRA vide
order dated November 28, 2023.U Bank has filed an appeal against the decision of CIR-A before the ATIR
which is pending for adjucation.
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18.22 The Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA] has passed an order dated May 2, 2019 requiring U Bank to deposit
Punjab sales tax amounting to Rs 10.06 million along with penalty and default surcharge on account of
adjustment of inadmissible input tax for the tax years 2016 and 2017. U Bank has filed an appeal before
Commissioner Inland Revenue - Appeals (CIR-A), which decided the matter in favour of PRA in order dated
November 25, 2019. The said order was received by U Bank on July 2, 2020 making the order-in-appeal
time barred as per the time limit prescribed in Punjab Sales Tax (PST) Act. Being aggravated, U Bank has
filed an appeal against the decision of CIR-A before the ATIR who has decided the matter in favour of PRA.
U Bank has filed an appeal against the decision of ATIR before the Punjab High Court which is pending for
adjuration.

18.23 No provision on account of above contingencies has been made in these financial statements as the
management and the tax / legal advisors of the Group are of the view, that these matters will eventually be
settled in favor of the Group.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

18.24 Bank guarantees and bid bonds of Group issued in favour of:
Universal Service Fund (USF) against government grants 19,079,452 18,113,688
Pakistan Telecommunication Authority 4,387,163 4,509,770
Others 18.24.1 3,514,199 3,013,891
26,980,814 25,637,349
Corporate guarantee in favour of PTML 65,497,000 56,400,000
Corporate guarantee in favour of U Bank 10,000,000 10,000,000
75,497,000 66,400,000

18.24.1 Others includes bank guarantees given on behalf of DVCOM Data to PTA amounting to Rs 675,000 thousand
(December 31, 2023: Rs. 675,000 thousand).

18.25 Commitments

2024 2023

Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

18.25.1 Standby letter of guarantee 18.25.2 - 18,000
Letter of credit for purchase of stock 401,084 467,691
Letters of comfort in favour of PTML 3,500,000 3,500,000
Contracts for capital expenditure 47,273,417 40,877,921
51,174,501 44,863,612

18.25.2 This represents letter of guarantee issued on behalf of U Bank to China Union Pay International Company
Limited for interbank settlements.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

19. Property, plant and equipment
Operating fixed assets 19.1 238,897,893 215,247,214
Capital work in progress 19.6 44,723,518 41,121,679

283,621,411 256,368,893
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

19.4 Disposal of property, plant and equipment:

The assets disposed off during the year with book value exceeding five hundred thousand rupees.

Accumulated Netbook  Sale Gain on Mode of Particulars of purchaser /
Cost  depreciation value proceeds disposal disposal Relationship with the Group
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Apparatus, plant and equipment 13,555 10,104 3,451 237 (3,214) Auction M/S Gujranwala Cables
Apparatus, plant and equipment 25,016 14,502 10,514 429 (10,085) Auction M/S Rehmani Traders
Apparatus, plant and equipment 127,989 100,449 27,540 2,240 (25,300) Auction M/S Bismillah Metals Impex
Apparatus, plant and equipment 110,981 94,730 16,251 1,943 (14,308) Auction M/S Latif Brothers
Vehicle 19,091 15,273 3,818 3,818 - Company Policy Ms. Zahida Awan, GCLO & CS
Vehicle 21,625 10,134 11,491 9,011 (2,480) Company Policy Mr. Muhammad Shoaib Baig, GCPO
Vehicle 17,105 13,682 3,423 3,423 - Company Policy Mr. Zarrar Hasham Khan, GCBSO
Network and allied systems 315,732 311,546 4,186 11,197 7,011 Scrap Sale Various vendors
Network and allied systems 951,265 908,607 42,658 650,000 607,342 Disposal against
sale proceeds Enfrashare

Network and allied systems 328,979 249 874 79,105 79,299 194 Insurance Claim Insurance company
Computer and accessories 15,521 15,033 488 1,165 677 Company policy Company employees
Motor vehicle 1,079 1,079 1,045 1,045 Insurance Claim Insurance company
Furniture and fittings 1,278 724 554 58 (496) Scrap Sale Sheikh Trader Lahore
Furniture and fittings 1,329 775 554 33 (521) Scrap Sale Yaseen Neelam Ghar
Furniture and fittings 47,822 24,571 23,251 7,452 (15,799) Auction M/S Ideal Computer

19.5 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost of services 35 30,811,152 28,466,840
Administrative and general expenses 36 1,709,172 1,426,286
Selling and marketing expenses 37 125,949 133,692
32,646,273 30,026,818
19.6 Capital work in progress

Buildings 433,337 584,810
Lines and wires 12,737,776 10,710,193
Apparatus, plant and equipment 23,351,322 23,165,122
Turnkey Projects 5,368,709 4,899,639
Others 2,832,374 1,761,915
19.6.1 44,723,518 41,121,679

19.6.1 Movement during the year
Balance at beginning of the year 41,121,679 29,378,642
Additions during the year 62,430,681 60,228,035

Transfers during the year to:

- Operating fixed assets

(57,770,284)

(45,558,992)

- Intangible assets (1,058,558 (2,926,006)
(58,828,842) (48,484,998)
Balance at end of the year 44,723,518 41,121,679
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20. Right of use assets (ROU)

2024 2023
Restated
Note Site rentals Right of way Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Movement during the year:
Balance as at
January 01, 2024 13,980,384 818,450 14,798,834 16,585,079
Additions 7,880,592 39,028 7,919,620 4,826,952
Lease modifications
during the year 1,558 170,006 171,564 4,802
Terminations
during the year (901,502) (2,402) (903,904) (18,309)
Depreciation for the year 20.2 | 16,198,712) (258,870) (6,457,582) (6,599,690)
781,936 (52,238) 729,698 (1,786,245)
Balance as at December 31, 2024 14,762,320 766,212 15,528,532 14,798,834
20.1 The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the life of 1 to 15 years.
20.2 Depreciation charge for the year is allocated as follows:
2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost of services 35 4,915,492 5,148,942
Administrative and general expenses 36 1,542,090 1,447,737
6,457,582 6,596,679
21. Intangible assets
Goodwill on acquisition of U Bank 21.1 78,790 78,790
Goodwill on acquisition of DVCOM Data . - -
Other intangible assets 21.3 52,634,722 59,272,735
52,713,512 59,351,525

21.1 Goodwill

These represent excess of the amount paid over fair value of net assets of U Bank on its acquisition on
August 30, 2012 . The recoverable amount of goodwill is tested for impairment annually based on its
value in use, determined by discounting the future free cash flows to be generated by the respective Cash
Generating Units [CGUs).

The cash flow projections include specific estimates for five years and a terminal growth rate thereafter.
The terminal growth rate is determined based on management’s estimate of the long-term compound
annual ‘Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization' (EBITDA] growth rate, consistent
with the assumptions that a market participant would make.

Budgeted growth is based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account past experience and
is adjusted for anticipated revenue growth. Revenue growth is projected taking into account the average
growth levels experienced in the recent years and the estimated sales volume and price growth for the next
five years.

247




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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21.2 Impairment of Goodwill - DVCOM Data

Opening Balance
Impairment loss recognized

Note

40

2024
Rs ‘000

2023
Rs ‘000

656,102
(656,102)

The subsidiary’s license has been expired on 04 November 2024 and in absence of a viable business
plan, the subsidiary is not viewed as a going concern. Consequently, the amount of goodwil recognized is

considered impaired.

Licenses and Computer
spectrum software Total
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs‘000
21.3 Other intangible assets
As at December 31, 2022
Cost 93,034,572 7,426,286 100,460,858
Accumulated amortization and Impairment (30,962,198) (6,093,627) (37,055,825)
Net book value 62,072,374 1,332,659 63,405,033
Movement during the year 2023
Opening net book value 62,072,374 1,332,659 63,405,033
Additions 159,621 3,068,060 3,227,681
Amortization charge for the year (6,290,701) (1,069,278) (7,359,979)
Closing net book value 55,941,294 3,331,441 59,272,735
As at December 31, 2023
Cost 93,194,193 10,494,346 103,688,539
Accumulated amortization and Impairment (37,252,899) (7,162,905) (44,415,804)
Net book value 55,941,294 3,331,441 59,272,735
Movement during the year 2024
Opening net book value 55,941,294 3,331,441 59,272,735
Additions - 1,085,163 1,085,163
Amortization charge for the year 21.9 (6,231,287) (1,491,889) (7,723,176)
Closing net book value 49,710,007 2,924,715 52,634,722
As at December 31, 2024
Cost 93,194,193 11,579,509 104,773,702
Accumulated amortization and impairment (43,484,186) (8,654,794) (52,138,980)
Net book value 21.4 49,710,007 2,924,715 52,634,722
Amortization rate per annum (%) 4-10 6.67 - 33.33
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21.4 Breakup of the net book value as at the year end is as follows:

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Licenses and spectrum - PTCL
Telecom 215 396,662 415,552
WLL spectrum ) - 134,223
WLL and LDI License 21.6 44,651 58,047
IPTV 21.7 7,558 10,483
Next Generation Mobile Services (NGMS] Licenses - PTML ~ 21.8 41,014,714 45,177,058
Mobile cellular Licenses - PTML 21.8 8,177,594 9,922,879
WLL licenses- DVCOM Data - 126,893
Licenses - U Bank 68,828 -
49,710,007 55,845,135
Computer software 2,924,715 3,427,600
52,634,722 59,272,735

21.5 The Pakistan Telecommunication Authority (PTA] has renewed the license of the Holding Company, to
provide telecommunication services in Pakistan, for a period of 25 years, commencing January 01, 2021, at
an agreed license fee of Rs 472,219 thousand. In June 2005 PTA modified the previously issued license to
provide telecommunication services to include a spectrum license at an agreed license fee of Rs 3,646,884
thousand. This license allows the Holding Company to provide Wireless Local Loop (WLL) services in
Pakistan, over a period of 20 years, commencing October 2004, expired in October 2024 and accordingly
has been derecognised from the financial statements.

21.6 PTA has issued a license under section 5 of the Azad Jammu and Kashmir Council Adaptation of Pakistan
Telecommunication [Re-organization] Act, 1996, the Northern Areas Telecommunication (Re-organization)
Act, 2005 and the Northern Areas Telecommunication (Re-organization) (Adaptation and Enforcement]
Order 2006, to the Holding Company to establish, maintain and operate a telecommunication system in
Azad Jammu and Kashmir and Gilgit-Baltistan, for a period of 20 years, commencing May 28, 2008, at an
agreed license fee of Rs 109,270 thousand. During the year 2015, PTA allocated additional spectrum for
WLL services in Azad Jammu & Kashmir [AJ&K] and Gilgit-Baltistan (GB] for Rs 98,487 thousand. The
duration of the license shall be for the remaining period of the existing WLL licenses. The cost of the
licenses is being amortized, on a straight line basis, over the period of the licenses.

21.7 Pakistan Electronic Media Regulatory Authority ([PEMRA) had renewed the IPTV licence effective from its
last renewal date i.e. November 02, 2016, at an agreed license fee of Rs 37,000 thousand. The cost of the
license is being amortized, on a straight line basis, over a period of 10 years.

21.8 (i) NGMS License includes acquisition of 4G license by PTML throughout Pakistan (excluding Azad
Jammu & Kashmir (AJK] and Gilgit-Baltistan (GB)) in September 2021 at a fee of USD 279 million.
The term of the license is 15 years commencing from the date of its acquisition.

(il NGMS Licenses also include acquisition of 4G license for operations in AJK and GB in October 2021
at a fee of USD 1.026 million. The term of the license is 15 years from the date of its acquisition.

(i) Mobile Cellular License include renewal of 2G license by PTML for operations in AJK and GB in June
2021 at a fee of USD 13.5 million. The term of the license is 15 years from the date of its acquisition.
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21.9 The amortization charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost of services 35 6,754,805 6,828,244
Administrative and general expenses 36 968,371 531,736
7,723,176 7,359,980
22. Longterm investments
Investment in associate 22.1 - -
Other investments 22.2 51,427 51,427
51,427 51,427
22.1 Investment in associate - unquoted
TF Pipes Limited - Islamabad
1,658,520 (December 31, 2023: 1,658,520)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each
Shares held 40% (December 31, 2023: 40%]) 23,539 23,539
Less: accumulated impairment loss on investment (23,539) (23,539)
22.2 Other investments
Fair value through other comprehensive income - unquoted
Thuraya Satellite Telecommunication Company - Dubai, UAE
3,670,000 (December 31, 2023: 3,670,000)
ordinary shares of AED 1 each 31,427 31,427
Alcatel - Lucent Pakistan Limited - Islamabad, Pakistan
2,000,000 (December 31, 2023: 2,000,000)
ordinary shares of Rs 10 each 20,000 20,000
51,427 51,427
23. Long-term loans and advances - considered good
Loans to employees - secured 23.1 1,172,074 1,153,297
Advances to vendors and suppliers 11,435,439 9,449,178
12,607,513 10,602,475
Current portion shown under current assets
Loans to employees - secured 27 (326,911) (327,293)
12,280,602 10,275,182

23.1 These loans and advances are for house building and purchase of vehicles and motor cycles. These loans
are recoverable in equal monthly installments spread over a period of 5 to 10 years and are secured against
retirement benefits of the employees.
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Reconciliation of the gross amounts of loans to executives and other employees:

As at January

As at December

01, 2024 Disbursements Repayments 31, 2024
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Executives 128,394 69,774 (24,123) 174,045
Other employees 1,024,903 396,732 (423,606) 998,029
1,153,297 466,506 (447,729) 1,172,074
As at January As at December
01, 2023 Disbursements Repayments 31, 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Executives 56,221 170,557 (98,384) 128,394
Other employees 1,072,729 233,519 (281,345) 1,024,903
1,128,950 404,076 (379,729) 1,153,297

Maximum amount of loan to executives and other employees outstanding at any time during the year:

Executives
Other employees

2024
Rs ‘000

114,501
1,916,354

2023
Rs ‘000

282,377
1,253,363

Loans to executive employees include loan balances of key management personnel aggregating Rs 96,680
thousand (December 2023: 34,525 thousand).

List of key management personnel having outstanding balances of loans up till December 31, 2024 are as

under:

No. Names of Employees

Mr. Arslan Haider

Mr. Abdullah Hameed

Mr. Ch Mudasser Shafiq

Mr. Ishtiag Naveed Gill

Mr. Muhammad Fahim Ur Rehman
Mr. Muhammad Shehzad Yousaf
Mr. Muhammad Nadeem Khan

Mr. Muhammad Amir Siddiqi

O ~JOo~- 01T M~ —

No. Names of Employees

Mr. Saleem Ullah Baig
Mr. Salman Ali Bajwa

W — o ©

Ms. Zahida Awan

Mr. Syed Muhammmad Shoaib
Mr. Syed Muhammad Imran Ali
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24. Contract costs

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost to obtain a contract 2,531,045 2,286,925
Cost to fulfill a contract 3,373,509 2,322,710
241 5,904,554 4,609,635
Current maturity of contract costs (5,575,409) (4,254,928)
329,145 354,707
24.1 Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year 4,609,635 3,900,476
Capitalization during the year 8,789,152 7,000,528
13,398,787 10,901,004
Amortization during the year 24.2 (7,494,233) (6,291,369)
Balance at the end of the year 5,904,554 4,609,635
24.2 Amortization charge for the year has been allocated as follows:
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Cost of services 35 5,023,263 4,293,687
Selling and marketing expenses 37 2,470,970 1,997,682
7,494,233 6,291,369
2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
25. Stockin trade, stores and spares
Stores and spares 25.1 8,201,385 9,433,265
Stock in trade 25.2 690,582 1,039,405
8,891,967 10,472,670
25.1 Stores and spares 8,400,527 9,633,528
Provision for obsolescence 25.1.1 (199,142) (200,263)
8,201,385 9,433,265
25.1.1 Provision for obsolescence
Balance at beginning of the year 200,263 834,799
Reversal / Written off during the year 25.1.2 (1,121) (634,536)
Balance at end of the year 199,142 200,263

25.1.2 The Group has written-off stores amounting to Rs. 161,000 (December 31, 2023: Rs. nil]. Furthermore, the
Group has reversed Rs. 1,121 thousand (December 31, 2023 : Rs. 634,536 thousand) of the store and spares
provision during the year.
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2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

25.2 Stockin trade
SIM cards 305,362 469,054
Mobile phones and accessories 321,857 387,977
Scratch cards 75,033 117,904
ATM cards and stationary 12,384 64,470
714,636 1,039,405
Provision for slow moving stock 25.2.2 (24,054) -
690,582 1,039,405

25.2.1 The Group also holds the sim cards having aggregate cost of Rs. 2,590 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs.
33,800 thousand) on behalf of Digital Technology Managed Services Private limited (ONIC), a related party.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
25.2.2 Provision for obsolescence
Balance at beginning of the year = 38,009
Provision during the year 24,893 87,801
24,893 125,810
Reversal / Written off during the year (839) (125,810)
Balance at end of the year 24,054 -
26. Trade debts and contract assets
Trade debts
- Secured 26.1 729,815 514,567
- Unsecured 56,861,071 49,928,295
Contract assets 6,764,823 5,934,512
64,355,709 56,377,374
Domestic
Considered good 26.2 20,310,058 18,321,987
Considered doubtful 7,907,572 7,244,064
28,217,630 25,566,051
International
Considered good 26.2 44,045,651 38,055,387
Considered doubtful 57,475 57,475
44,103,126 38,112,862
Expected credit loss on trade debts and contract assets 26.3 (7,965,047) (7,301,539)
26.4 64,355,709 56,377,374

26.1 These are secured against customer and dealer deposits having aggregate amount of Rs. 792,070 thousand
(December 31, 2023: Rs. 614,540 thousand). The normal credit period of the debtors is not more than one

month.
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26.2 These include amounts due from the following related parties:

Maximum
aggregate Up to More than
amount 6 months 6 months 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Domestic
GoP related entities 3,773,998 790,472 2,121,886 2,912,358 4,171,000

International
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation 42,005,179 3,254,208 38,750,971 42,005,179 36,399,974

Etisalat - Afghanistan - - - - 638,348
Etisalat's subsidiaries and associates 23,545 16,209 - 16,209 67,209
GoP related entities - - - - 199,239

42,028,724 3,270,417 38,750,971 42,021,388 37,304,770

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
26.3 Expected credit loss on trade debts and contract assets

Balance at beginning of the year 7,301,539 8,516,769
Expected credit loss on trade debts and contract assets 38 2,286,069 1,703,713
9,587,608 10,220,482

Write off against expected credit loss on trade debts
and contract assets (1,622,561) (2,918,943)
Balance at end of the year 7,965,047 7,301,539

26.4 These amounts are interest free and are accrued in the normal course of business.

26.5 Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for services provided to customers
but not billed at the reporting date. Contract assets are transferred to trade debts when the rights become
unconditional.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
27. Loans and advances
Loans

Current portion of long term loans to employees - secured 23 326,911 327,293

Advances - considered good
Advances to employees 27.1 1,343,258 1,253,017
Advances to suppliers and contractors 27.2 2,036,673 1,801,149
3,379,931 3,054,166
3,706,842 3,381,459

27.1 This includes advances & loans provided by U Bank to its employees as per their HR policies.

27.2 These include Rs 26,774 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 26,774 thousand) to TF Pipes Limited, a related
party.
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28. Longterm loans to banking customers

Performing Non performing
Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Restated Restated Restated Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Micro credit
Secured 44,742,049 37,911,982 52,559 276,803 1,186,033 152,248 45,980,641 38,341,033
Unsecured 23,601,817 26314135 2,397,167 6,633,537 7,592,985 2,859,732 33591969 35,607,404
Islamic financing 1,475,629 3,348,217 13,499 106,704 315,273 71,493 1,804,407 3,526,414
Staff loan - - - - - - - -
Advances - gross 69,819,495 67,574,334 2,663,225 6,817,044 9,094,291 3,083,473 81,377,011 77,474,851
Credit loss allowance
against long term loans
- Stage 1 (1,278,360]| | (1,000,885] = - (1,278,360) | | (1,000,885
- Stage 2 = - (863,697)| | (2.391,727) - - (863,697) | | (2391,727)
- Stage 3 = - (4,768,094)| | (2,118,023]| | (4,768,094)] | (2,118,023]

(1,278,360 (1,000,885) (863.697)  (2391727)  [4,768,094) (2,118,023  (6910,1561)  (5,510,635)

Advances - net of
credit loss allowance 68,541,135 66,573,449 1,599,528 4,425,317 4,326,197 965,450 74466860 71,964,216

Long term portion shown
under non-current assets (13,664,090)  [14,619,521)

60,802,770 57,344,695

28.1 Advances - Particulars of credit loss allowance

28.1.1 Advances - Exposure

2024 2023
Restated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Gross carrying amount
at beginning of the year 67,574,334 6,817,045 3,083,473 40,446,963 7,992,537 1,163,522
New advances 54,888,976 62,592 440,314 63,529,293 3,608,945 1,279,370
Advances derecognized or repaid (48,256,387) (992,456) 417,137 | | (35,193,185) (4,663,236) (413,466)
Transfer to stage 284,917 (226,221 (58,697) 48,148 (41,005) (7,143)
Transfer to stage 2 (350,340 486,383 (136,023 (416,819) 421,229 (4,410)
Transfer to stage 3 (3,312,003)| | (2,991,420 6,303,423 (495,496) (420,692 1,116,188
3,255,143 (3,661,122) 6,966,154 27,271,941 (1,094,759 1,970,539
Amounts written off / charged off (1,009,983) (692,697) (955,336 (144,571) (80,733) (50,588)

Other changes - - S - - .

Closing balance 69,819,494 2,463,226 9,094,291 67,574,333 6,817,045 3,083,473
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28.1.2 Advances - Credit loss allowance

2024 2023
Restated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Balance at beginning of the year 1,000,885 2,391,727 2,118,023 725,042 3,746,177 502,593
New advances 549,300 16,580 187,514 773,490 1,096,947 430,539
Advances derecognized or repaid (1,199,508 (127,601) (68,106) (265,999)| | (2,420,452 (22,312)
Transfer to Stage 1 13,064 (11,213) (1,851) 2,480 (1,939) (541)
Transfer to Stage 2 (141,655 197,957 (56,302) (143,368] 144,857 (1,489)
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,313,195) (1,342,423) 2,655,618 (408,814) (322,879 731,693
(2,091,994) (1,266,700 2,716,873 (42,211) (1,503,466 1,137,890
Amounts written off / charged off (29,807) (231,149) (589,015 (7.870) (14,284) (21,580)
Change in exposure 2,399,276 (30,181) 522,213 325,924 163,300 499,120
Closing balance 1,278,360 863,697 4,768,094 1,000,885 2,391,727 2,118,023
28.2 Advances - Credit loss allowance details
2024 2023
Restated
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Outstanding gross exposure
Performing - Stage 1 69,819,494 1,744,146 15,149 67,574,333 5,313,690 126,483
to be specified
Under Performing - 30,370 1,193,468 - 1,503,355 17,169
Other assets especially mentioned
Non - Performing
Substandard - 171,520 2,502,235 - - 1,079,125
Doubtful - 513,738 3,355,855 - - 888,794
Loss - 3,452 2,027,584 - - 971,902
- 688,710 7,885,674 - - 2,939,821
Total 69,819,494 2,463,226 9,094,291 67,574,333 6,817,045 3,083,473
Corresponding credit loss allowance
Stage 1 (1,278,360 = = (1,000,885) - -
Stage 2 = (863,697) = - (2,391,727) -
Stage 3 = = (4,768,094) - - (2,118,023)

(1,278,360) (863,697) (4,768,094  (1,000,885)  (2,391,727) (2,118,023
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28.2.1 This portfolio is classified into different stages based on SBP implementation guidance for IFRS-9 and
specific communication by U Bank with the SBP.

2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
28.3 Particulars of write offs / charge offs
Against credit loss allowance (2,658,016) (406,777)
Directly charged to profit & loss account - (97,738)
(2,658,016) (504,515)
28.4 Movement in impairment allowance for credit losses is as follows:
2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Balance at beginning of the year 5,547,784 4,973,816
Impairment charge for the period / year 2,731,019 (390,060)
Write off reversals - 815,759
Write off recoveries - 246,007
Advances written off (1,125,708) (97,738)

Balance at end of the year 7,153,095 5,547,784
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2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
29. Deferred income tax
Deferred tax (asset] / liability relating to:
Accelerated tax depreciation 10,735,915 9,715,598
Accelerated tax amortization 3,102,961 3,489,888
Provision for stock in trade, stores and spares (226,021) (144,966)
Allowance for expected credit loss (4,437,450) (4,185,734)
ROU assets 155,830 (67,711)
Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of fair value through OCI securities 164,498 (18,635)
Lease liability (550,195]) (609,771)
Contract cost 1,712,319 1,091,558
Liabilities claimable on payment (11,458,663) (11,458,663)
Vendor liability 470,250 -
Tax Loss (8,252,034) (13,026,611)
Minimum Tax (5,131,781) (2,363,515)
Long term investment and other receivable (288,196) (215,696)
Remeasurement of employees retirement benefits (232) (71,295)
Others (129,061) (107,109)
Impact of remeasurement of financial assets - 5,029
Unrealised exchange loss (2,764,313) (1,724,746)
(16,896,173 (19,692,379)
Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year (19,692,379) (8,940,736)
(Reversal] / Charge for the year in respect of:
Accelerated tax depreciation 1,020,317 2,599,333
Accelerated tax amortization (386,927) 2,716,384
Provision for stock in trade, stores and spares (81,055) 264,585
Allowance for expected credit loss (251,716) 991,702
ROU assets 223,541 (66,236)
Lease liability 59,576 (2,904)
Contract cost 620,761 83,463
Liabilities claimable on payment - (5,281,870)
Vendor liability 470,250 -
Tax Loss (9,473,181) (13,955,248)
Minimum Tax (2,768,266) (812,159)
Long term investment and other receivable (72,500) (215,696)
Remeasurement of employees retirement benefits 13,060 (9,307)
Impact of remeasurement of financial assets (5,029) (308,818)
Surplus / (deficit) on revaluation of fair value through OCI securities 183,133 (17,643)
Others (21,952) (100,563)
Unrealised exchange loss (1,039,567) (1,724,746)
(11,509,555) (15,839,723)
Tax loss claimed / submitted for claim 14,305,761 5,088,080
Balance at the end of the year (16,896,173) (19,692,379)
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29.1

Recovery of deferred tax asset against minimum turnover tax and other deductible temporary differences
is based on the Group achieving sufficient profitability. The Group estimates recoverability of these deferred
tax assets based on future taxable projections. Significant assumptions used in preparation of future
taxable projections are average revenue per user growth, subscribers/customer growth, increase in loan

disbursement and cost optimization.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
30. Income tax recoverable
Balance at beginning of the year 32,356,188 28,865,114
Current tax charge for the year - P&L (3,103,675) (9,417,516)
Tax loss claimed / submitted for claim 14,305,761 5,088,080
Tax (charge) / credit on re-measurement gains - OClI - 31,202
11,202,086 (4,298,234)
Tax paid during the year 8,746,712 7,789,308
Balance at end of the year 30.1 52,304,986 32,356,188
30.1 This balance will be adjusted against future tax liability.
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
31. Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Deposits 415,550 325,425
Prepayments
- Pakistan Telecommunication Authority - a related party 9,647 29,060
- Prepaid rent and others 2,056,174 2,235,833
2,065,821 2,264,893
Other receivables
Due from related parties 31.1 96,939 72,631
Accrued interest receivable 31.2 14,878,989 12,834,746
Funded Pension 11.1 2,951,439 6,251,822
Receivable from Government of Pakistan 31.3 2,164,072 2,164,072
Federal Excise Duty [FED) 31.4 3,804,870 3,804,870
Grant receivable 368,023 167,550
Others 4,806,912 6,777,849
Less: Impairment loss on other receivables (1,215,576) (1,914,972)
30,337,039 32,748,886
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Maximum aggregate Up to More than
amount 6 months 6 months 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
31.1 Emirates Telecommunication
Corporation 71,305 - 71,305 71,305 71,305
Pakistan Telecommunication
Employees Trust 25,634 24,308 1,326 25,634 1,326
96,939 24,308 72,631 96,939 72,631

31.2 This represents mark-up accrued on advances and investments.

31.3 This represents the balance amount receivable from the Government of Pakistan, on account of its agreed
share in the Voluntary Separation Scheme, offered to the Holding Company’s employees during the year
ended June 30, 2008.

31.4 This includes payments under protest on account of FED on interconnect charges. The Honourable
Supreme Court has decided the case in favor of the Holding Company.

This also includes federal excise duty on technical service fee of Rs 521,759 thousand (December 31, 2023:
Rs 521,759 thousand) paid by PTML to the taxation authority under protest.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
32. Short term investments
Amortized cost
Lending to Financial Instituition 32.1 12,195,250 453,672
Federal Government securities - 4,610,832
Fair value through Profit or Loss
Non Government debt securities - 2,274,782
Market treasury bills - Maturity upto 6 months 1,697,008 5,670,394
Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
Federal Government securities 147,255,738 37,839,658
Non Government debt securities 83,293 299,896
161,231,289 51,149,234

32.1 These are secured against underlying Market Treasury Bills. The differential between the contracted rate
and resale price is amortized over the period of related contracts and recorded under mark-up / return/
interest earned. These carried mark-up at the rate of 12.5% to 22.9% (2023: 22.80%) per annum.
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2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
33. Cash and bank balances
Cash in hand 1,827,897 1,956,673
Balances with banks:
Local currency
Current account maintained with SBP and NBP 33.1 5,140,886 4,165,678
Current accounts 1,280,430 2,339,866
Saving accounts 33.2 5,035,063 3,458,450
11,456,379 9,963,994
Foreign currency
Current accounts - USD 33,465 thousand
(December 31, 2023: USD 24,040 thousand) 9,321,664 6,775,882
Saving accounts - USD 4,690 thousand
(December 31, 2023: USD 4,240); and EUR 790
thousand (December 31, 2023: EUR 760 thousand) 1,535,061 1,432,848
10,856,725 8,208,730
33.3 24,141,001 20,129,397
33.1 This includes balance maintained with SBP to comply with the requirement of Prudential Regulations for
Microfinance Banks to maintain minimum cash reserve not less than 5% (2023: 5%]) of the U Bank's time
and demand deposits liabilities with tenure of less than one year.
33.2 These carry mark-up ranging between 5.86% and 23.5% (December 31, 2023: 6.5% and 23.5%) per annum.
33.3 Bank balance includes Rs. 212,391 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs. 81,812 thousand) carrying profit at
the rate of 5.87% (December 31, 2023: 11.1% ) per annum from Shariah arrangements.
2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
34. Revenue
Broadband & IPTV 49,280,794 41,184,622
Cellular and other wireless 81,241,114 64,050,623
Fixed line voice services 8,685,123 8,254,353
Revenue from retail customers 139,207,031 113,489,598
Corporate and wholesale 43,573,895 38,568,386
International 12,121,637 12,257,113
Banking 24,879,405 24,351,730
Total revenue 219,781,968 188,666,827
34.1 Revenue is net of trade discount amounting to Rs 3,154,454 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 2,988,412
thousand) and Federal Excise Duty / Sales tax amounting to Rs 34,299,081 thousand (December 31, 2023:
Rs 28,524,740 thousand).
34.2 Revenue amounting to Rs. 5,236,373 thousand [December 31, 2023: Rs. 4,757,439 thousand] has been

recognized during the year from opening contract liability.

261
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2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

35. Cost of services
Staff cost 35.1 16,415,322 15,835,992
Outsourced staff cost 2,652,533 2,391,431
Security service charges 1,552,925 1,420,741
Interconnect cost 3,957,755 3,949,220
Foreign operators cost and satellite charges 9,568,871 9,197,354
Fuel and power cost 27,814,527 25,545,329
Cost of devices sold 3,863,862 2,800,379
Amortization of contract costs 24.7 5,023,263 4,293,687
Rent, rates and taxes 8,288,959 5,296,424
Repairs and maintenance and IT cost 11,702,915 10,586,931
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 19.5 30,811,152 28,466,840
Depreciation on ROU assets 20.2 4,915,492 5,148,942
Amortization of intangible assets 21.9 6,754,805 6,828,244
Annual license fee and regulatory charges 35.2 4,994,528 4,173,099
Markup / interest expense - U Bank 18,971,242 15,491,094
Other expenses 5,094,303 4,505,908

162,382,454 145,931,615

35.1 This includes Rs 1,518,233 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 1,467,699 thousand) in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

35.2 This represents the Group's contribution to the National Information Communication Technology
Research and Development Fund (National ICT R&D Fund), Universal Service Fund (USF), annual license
fee and other regulatory charges, in accordance with the terms and conditions of its license to provide
telecommunication services.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

36. Administrative and general expenses
Staff cost 36.1 10,654,493 8,781,151
Outsourced staff cost 2,415,242 2,047,063
Technical services assistance fee 36.2 6,798,458 5,759,237
Fuel and power cost 1,085,497 901,866
Gas and water 155,829 128,551
Rent, rates and taxes 556,297 441,392
Repairs and maintenance 1,883,867 1,616,364
Travelling and conveyance 956,669 876,249
Legal and professional charges 36.3 1,150,927 916,410
Billing and printing expenses 363,234 412,312
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 19.5 1,709,172 1,426,286
Depreciation on ROU assets 20.2 1,542,090 1,447,737
Amortization of intangible assets 21.9 968,371 531,736
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 704,947 72,111
Other expenses 37.2 1,914,319 1,442,323

32,859,412 26,800,788




optel ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

36.1 This includes Rs 387,195 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 397,557 thousand] in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

36.2 This represents the amount payable to Etisalat - UAE, a related party, under an agreement for technical
services at the rate of 3.5% of the Group’s consolidated revenue.

2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
36.3 This includes auditor’s reumeneration as follows:
Statutory audit, including half yearly review 36.3.1 36,978 20,500
Other non-audit services including advisory services 2,704 30,096
39,682 50,596
36.3.1 This fee is inclusive of out of pocket expenses.
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
37. Selling and marketing expenses
Staff cost 37.1 3,480,197 3,352,140
Outsourced staff cost 806,923 728,491
Sales and distribution charges 2,051,369 1,750,090
Contract cost amortization 24.7 2,470,970 1,997,682
Advertisement and publicity 37.2 4,213,314 4,119,118
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 19.5 125,949 133,692
Others 156,567 186,621
13,305,289 12,267,834

37.1 This includes Rs 58,529 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 247,819 thousand] in respect of employees
retirement benefits.

37.2 (i) Donations that exceed Rs 1,000 thousand are given to the parties given hereunder:
2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Names of Donees

Rashid Khan Trust - 5,000
Shifa Foundation 1,000 -

1,000 5,000

(i) This also includes penalty paid during the year related to various non-compliances identified by the
State Bank of Pakistan during its inspection of U Bank.
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2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
38. Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets
Impairment loss on:
Trade debts and contract assets 26.3 2,286,069 1,703,713
Loans to banking customers 28.4 2,731,019 (293,322)
Provision for diminution in the value of investments 100,075 (16,848)
5,117,163 1,393,543
39. Otherincome
Income from financial assets:
Return on bank deposits 39.1 7,334,682 12,336,902
Dividend income 580,643 3,157,687
Interest on investment in Government securities 221,887 1,156,911
Late payment surcharge from subscribers 550,142 14,539
Gain on fair value remeasurement of forward
exchange contracts - 257,720
Exchange gain 953,189 -
Others 1,110,428 781,493
10,750,971 17,705,252
Income from non-financial assets:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,772,771 6,096,548
Government grants recognized 12 4,447,562 2,572,248
Re-chargeable projects income 599,676 1,087,626
Rental income 1,323,148 1,089,939
Scrap sales 2,334,271 1,673,036
Others 390,399 176,667
14,867,827 12,696,064
25,618,798 30,401,316

39.1 Return on bank deposits includes Rs 268 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 63 thousand) earned from
Shariah arrangements.

2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
40. Finance costs and other expenses

Interest on:
Long term loans from banks 31,522,825 35,622,368
Short term running finance 7,125,423 2,527,630
Long term vendor liability 4,149,775 4,315,653
Lease liabilities 3,087,046 2,074,533
License fee 904,524 941,419
Employee retirement benefits 3,883,563 3,069,926
Exchange loss - 5,431,396
Impairment of goodwill on acquisition of DVCOM Data 21.2 = 656,102
Bank and other charges 1,960,396 897,924

52,633,552 55,536,951
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2024 2023
Restated
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
41. Income tax
Current tax 30
Current year 5,199,930 6,311,662
Prior year (10,186) 3,105,854
Deferred 29
Current year (11,692,688) (12,339,517)
Prior year - (3,211,421)
(11,692,688) (15,550,938)
(6,502,944) (6,133,422)
41.1 Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
Profit before tax (Rupees in thousand) (20,897,104) (22,862,588)
2024 2023
Percentage Percentage
Applicable tax rate 29.00 29.00
Tax effect of amounts that are not deductible
for tax purposes 0.91 -
Others 1.21 (2.17)
2.12 (2.17)
Average effective tax rate charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss 31.12 26.83
2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
42. Earnings/ (loss) per share - basic and diluted
Profit for the year Rupees in thousand (14,394,160) (16,729,166)
Weighted average number
of ordinary shares Numbers in thousand 5,100,000 5,100,000
Rupees (2.82) (3.28)

Earnings per share
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43. Non-funded financing facilities

The Holding Company has non funded financing facilities available with banks, which include facilities to
avail letters of credit and letters of guarantee. The aggregate facility of Rs 26,100,000 thousand (December
31, 2023: Rs 27,600,000 thousand]) and Rs 17,350,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 18,350,000
thousand) is available for letters of credit and letters of guarantee respectively, out of which the facility
availed at the year end is Rs 9,313,640 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 13,448,900 thousand) and Rs
15,074,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 11,098,373 thousand) respectively. The letter of guarantee
facility is secured by a hypothecation charge over certain assets of the Holding Company, amounting to Rs
176,250,000 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 125,650,000 thousand).

2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
44, Cash generated from operations
Profit before tax (20,897,104) (22,862,588)
Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 32,646,273 30,026,818
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 486,637 66,457
Depreciation of right of use assets 6,457,015 6,599,690
Amortization of intangible assets 7,723,176 7,359,979
Amortization of contract costs 7,494,233 6,291,369
Reversal for obsolete stores and spares 22,933 (672,545)
Impairment loss on trade debts and contract assets 2,386,144 1,784,603
Impairment loss on non performing loans to banking customers 2,731,019 (391,060)
Provision for employees retirement benefits 6,078,519 5,186,640
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,772,771 (6,096,548)
Return on bank deposits and Government securities (7,112,795) (11,179,991)
Release of deferred government grants (4,447 562) (2,572,248)
Finance cost 49,095,467 46,956,962
Impairment of goodwill on acquisition of DVCOM Data - 656,102
Unearned revenue realized (180,397 -
Exchange (gain) / loss (953,189) 5,431,396
Imputed interest on loans and advances (345,027) 39,789
Imputed interest on lease liabilities 3,180,117 2,352,427
78,592,688 68,977,252
Effect on cash flow due to working capital changes:
(Increase) / decrease in current assets:
Stock in trade, stores and spares 1,557,770 (1,256,272)
Trade debts and contract assets (10,364,479) (12,163,003)
Loans to banking customers (5,233,663) (26,659,706)
Loans and advances (325,383) 828,093
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 3,924,395 (14,670,038)
(10,441,360) (53,920,926)
Increase / [decrease) in current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 14,370,002 8,090,229
Security deposits 214,282 (91,927)
14,584,284 7,998,302
82,735,612 23,054,628
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44.1. Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Liabilities Equity
Sub- Unpaid /
ordinated Loansfrom  Vendor  Licence fee Lease unclaimed Interest  Revenue
loan banks liability payable liabilities dividend accrued reserve Total

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Balance at December 31, 2023 1149701 122380402 67,616,244 11391488 17,066,360 209256 4973189 5,419,438 230,206,078

Changes from financing cash flows
Draw-downs / additions - - || 17,397,323 -1 7,919,620 - - - || 25,316,943
Repayments (149.701) | 117,374,550 || (18,631,486) || (263,233} || [10,544,782) (1,125)|| (47,352,012) -1 | 40432211
(149,701) 117374550 (1,234,163 (263,233)  (2,625,162) (1125) (47 352,012) - 65749 154

Other changes

Interest cost on lease liabilities - - - - || 3,180,117 - - -1 3,180,117
Liability related changes - g g - (732,908) - || 49,095,467 - || 48,362,559
2447209 - 49,095,467 - 51542676
Total equity related changes - - (21.498,097) (21,498,097)
Balance at December 31, 2024 1,000,000 239754952 66,382,081 11,128,255 16,888,407 208131 6,716,644 (16,078,659 325,999,811

Balance at December 31, 2022
as previously reported 1450227 153365933 59835318 13769419 18327587 200814 1916674 22125868 271,000,840

Changes from financing cash flows

Draw-downs / additions - - 129,774 - - - - -1 1,294,774
Repayments (22,095] || (29,520,197) - || [4,834,344) || (8,289,445] (558 || 40,441,832 - 11 1(83,108,471)
(22,099) (29520,197) 1294774  [4834,344) (8,289 445) (558)  (40,441,832) - [81,813,697)
Other changes
Interest cost on lease liabilities - - - - 2352427 - - 2,352,427
Liability related changes (278.431) || (1,465,334) || 6,486,152 || 2,456,413 || 4,675,791 - || 43,498,347 -1 1 55,372,938
Effect of restatement - - - - - - - 228,828 228,828
(278.431)  (1465,334) 6,486,152 2,456,413 7,028,218 - 43498347 228828 57954193
Total equity related changes - - - - - - - [16935,258] (16,935,256)
Balance at December 31, 2023 1149701 122380402 67,616,244 11391488 17,066,360 209256 4973189 5,419,438 230,206,078
2024 2023
Note Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
44.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 33 24,141,001 20,129,397
Short term running finance 16 (51,678,636) (48,138,253)

(27,537,635) (28,008,856)
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45. Remuneration of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Executives
The aggregate amount charged in the consolidated financial statements for remuneration, including all
benefits, to the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executives of the Group is as follows:
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Executives
Key management Other
personnel executives
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Managerial remuneration - - 268,180 212,887 859,155 804,017 6,284,296 4,291,833
Honorarium 300 300 - - - - - -
Retirement benefits = - 6,998 5,071 96,096 50,452 478,470 302,098
Medical = - = - 44,518 39,115 329,170 203,045
Housing - - 179,987 143,055 43,724 42,781 264,750 250,423
Utilities - - 60,195 34,990 87,472 62,264 472,770 302,627
300 300 515360 396,003 1,090,965 998,629 7,829,456 5,350,026
Bonus paid = - 218,108 122,297 275,041 286,389 1,603,948 930,518
300 300 733,468 518,300 1,366,006 1,285,018 9,433,404 6,280,544
Number of persons 1 1 1 1 63 67 2,107 1,590
The Group also provides free medical and limited residential telephone facilities, to all its executives,
including the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman is entitled to free transport and a limited residential
telephone facility, whereas, the Directors of the Group are provided only with limited telephone facilities.
Certain executives are also provided with the Group maintained cars.
The aggregate amount charged in the consolidated financial statements for the year as fee paid to
20 directors including chairman (December 31, 2023: 21) is Rs 302,168 thousand (December 31, 2023:
Rs 291,789 thousand) for attending the Board of Directors, and its sub-committee meetings.
46. Rates of exchange
Assets in US dollars have been translated into Rupees at USD 1 = Rs 278.55 (December 31, 2023: USD 1 =
Rs 281.86), while liabilities in US dollars have been translated into Rupees at USD 1 =Rs 278.55 (December
31,2023: USD 281.86).
47. Financial instruments and risk management
47.1 Financial risk factors

(a)
(i)

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, other
price risk and interest rate risk], credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’'s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on its financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors (the Board). The Board has prepared a ‘Risk
Management Policy” covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and investment of excess liquidity. All treasury related transactions are carried out within the parameters
of this policy.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises mainly from future commercial
transactions, or receivables and payables that exist due to transactions in foreign currencies.
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The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the United States Dollar (USDJ], Arab Emirates Dirham (AED), Euro (EUR]) and Chinese Yuan (CNY].
Currently, the Group's foreign exchange risk exposure is restricted to the amounts receivable from /

payable to foreign entities. The Group’s exposure to currency risk is as follows:

2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
usbh
Trade and other payables (11,183,995) (12,356,841)
Long term vendor liability (1,339,344) (1,695,853)
License fee payable (13,198,607) (12,650,466)
Trade debts 44,099,114 38,506,594
Cash and bank balances 10,626,594 7,971,704
Net exposure 29,003,762 19,775,138
EUR
Trade and other payables (523,476) (426,151)
Trade debts 193,364 280,647
Long term vendor liability (136,220) (432,657)
Cash and bank balances 230,129 237,024
Net exposure (236,203) (341,137)
AED
Trade and other payables - (5,570)
CNY
Vendor liability (41,807,357) (41,886,156)
The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:
2024 2023
Rupees per USD
Average rate 278.48 279.98
Reporting date rate 278.55 281.86
Rupees per EUR
Average rate 301.24 302.74
Reporting date rate 290.08 311.50
Rupees per AED
Average rate 75.82 76.23
Reporting date rate 75.84 76.74
Rupees per CNY
Average rate 38.71 39.55
Reporting date rate 38.16 39.63

If the functional currency, at the reporting date, had fluctuated by 5% against the USD, AED, EUR and CNY
with all other variables held constant, the impact on profit after taxation for the year would have been
Rs 468,765 thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 797,249 thousand) respectively higher / lower, mainly as a
result of exchange gains / losses on translation of foreign exchange denominated financial instruments.
Currency risk sensitivity to foreign exchange movements has been calculated on a symmetric basis.
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(ii)

(iii)

Other price risk

Other price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency
risk], whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its
issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

Financial assets include investments of nil (December 31, 2023: 5,570,319 thousand) which were subject to
price risk.

If redemption price on mutual funds at the year end date, fluctuate by 5% higher / lower with all other
variables held constant, total comprehensive income for the year would have been nil (December 31, 2023:
222,813 thousand) higher /lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower redemption price on units of mutual
funds.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

At the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the interest rate profile of the Group's
interest bearing financial instruments at the year end:

2024 2023
Restated
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Financial assets
Fixed rate instruments:
Staff loans 1,172,074 1,153,297
Short term investments 1,697,008 5,670,394
Bank balances - savings accounts 6,570,124 4,891,298
9,439,206 11,714,989
Variable rate instruments:
Market treasury bills 159,534,281 45,478,840
Loans to banking customers 74,466,860 71,964,216
234,001,141 117,443,056
243,440,347 129,158,045
Financial liabilities
Fixed rate instruments:
Deposits from banking customers 136,612,183 104,062,544
Floating rate instruments:
Long term loans from banks 239,754,952 122,380,402
Long term vendor liability 63,282,703 61,453,039
License fee payable 9,972,090 10,090,613
Short term running finance 51,678,636 48,138,253
364,688,381 242,062,307
501,300,564 346,124,851
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Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Therefore, a
change in interest rates at the date of consolidated statement of financial position would not affect the total
comprehensive income of the Group.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

If interest rates on variable rate instruments of the Group, at the year end date, fluctuate by 1% higher /
lower with all other variables held constant, profit after taxation for the year would have been Rs 927,879
thousand (December 31, 2023: Rs 996,954 thousand) lower / higher, mainly as a result of higher / lower
markup income on floating rate loans / investments.

(b)  Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the
other party, by failing to discharge an obligation. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is as follows:

2024 2023

Restated

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

Long term loans and advances 12,607,513 10,602,475
Trade debts and contract assets 64,355,709 56,377,374
Loans to banking customers 74,466,860 71,964,216
Loans and advances 3,379,931 3,054,166
Deposits and other receivables 25,681,924 28,594,095
Short term investments 161,231,289 51,149,234
Bank balances 22,313,104 18,172,724

364,036,330 239,914,284

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited, because the counter parties are banks with reasonably high
credit ratings. In case of trade debts, the Group believes that it is not exposed to a major concentration of
credit risk, as its exposure is spread over a large number of counter parties and subscribers. Allowance
for expected credit loss from contracts with customers amounts to Rs 5,117,163 thousand (December 31,
2023: Rs 1,393,543 thousand).
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The credit quality of bank balances and short term investments, that are neither past due nor impaired,
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about
counterparty default rate:

Rating Rating

Short term Long term Agency

National Bank of Pakistan A-1+ AAA PACRA
Bank Alfalah Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
MCB Islamic Bank Limited A-1 A+ PACRA
Soneri Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited A-T+ AA+ PACRA
The Bank of Punjab A-T+ AA+ PACRA
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
Askari Bank Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA
Allied Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
United Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
Banklslami Pakistan Limited A-1 AA- PACRA
Bank Al-Habib Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
Faysal Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA
Citi Bank, N.A P-1 Aa3 Moody's
Albaraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited A-1 A+ VIS
Mobilink Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A PACRA
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited A-1+ AA VIS
JS Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA
Sindh Bank Limited A-1+ AA- VIS
Silk Bank Limited A-2 A- VIS
Bank Makramah Limited A-3 BBB- JCR-VIS
Standard Chartered Bank (Pakistan) Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA
Meezan Bank Limited A-1+ AAA VIS
The Bank of Khyber A-1 A+ VIS
First Women Bank Limited A-2 A- PACRA
Samba Bank Limited A-1 AA VIS
U Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A+ VIS
Khushhali Microfinance Bank Limited A-2 A- VIS
Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited A-1 A VIS

(c)

Due to the Group’s long standing business relationships with these counter parties, and after giving due
consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not expect non-performance by these
counter parties on their obligations to the Group. Accordingly, the credit risk is minimal.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with

financial liabilities. The Group follows an effective cash management and planning policy to ensure
availability of funds, and to take appropriate measures for new requirements.
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The following are the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities:

Carrying Less than One to five More than
amount one year years five years
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000

As at December 31, 2024
Long term loans from banks 239,754,952 134,887,702 104,533,917 333,333
Lease liabilities 16,888,407 4,458,672 10,263,014 2,166,721
Security deposits 1,654,053 1,654,053 - -
Long term vendor liability 66,382,081 35,565,847 30,816,234 -
Trade and other payables 139,984,582 139,984,582 - -
Interest accrued 6,716,644 6,716,644 - -
License fee payable 11,128,255 2,328,854 8,414,833 384,568
Unpaid / Unclaimed Dividend 208,131 208,131 - -
Short term running finance 51,678,636 51,678,636 - -
Deposits from banking customers 136,612,183 96,741,897 39,870,286 -
671,007,924 474,225,018 193,898,284 2,884,622

As at December 31, 2023
Long term loans from banks 140,988,976 41,958,557 93,697,086 5,333,333
Lease liabilities 21,016,844 5,353,044 13,713,388 1,950,412
Security deposits 1,439,771 1,439,771 - -
Long term vendor liability 68,209,769 17,403,361 50,806,408 -
Trade and other payables 97,035,783 97,035,783 - -
Interest accrued 4,973,189 4,973,189 - -
License fee payable 11,391,488 125,862 10,701,167 564,459
Unpaid / Unclaimed Dividend 209,256 209,256 - -
Short term running finance 48,138,253 48,138,253 - -
Deposits from banking customers 105,796,975 85,465,584 20,331,391 -
499,200,304 302,102,660 189,249,440 7,848,204

47.2 Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values. Fair value is determined on the basis of objective evidence at each reporting
date.

Fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 and 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which is as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices] or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable
inputs).
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Details of the Group's assets / (liabilities] fair value hierarchy as at December 31 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Long term other investments 2024 - - 51,427 51,427
Market treasury bills 2024 - 1,697,008 - 1,697,008
Federal Government securities 2024 - 147,255,738 - 147,255,738
Forward exchange contracts 2024 = (260,294) = (260,294)
Long term other investments 2023 - - 51,427 51,427
Market treasury bills 2023 - 5,670,394 - 5,670,394
Federal Government securities 2023 - 37,839,658 - 37,839,658
Forward exchange contracts 2023 - (184,598) - (184,598)

Measurement of fair value

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs for assets / liabilities categorized into level 3

Type

Non listed equity
investments -
Thuraya Satellite
Telecommunication
Company

Non listed equity
investments - Alcatel
- Lucent Pakistan
Limited

Valuation technique

Discounted cash flows:
The valuation model
considers the present value
of projected cash flows,
discounted using long term
discount rate that reflect
the risk inherent to the
investment in these equity
instruments

Discounted cash flows:
The valuation model
considers the present value
of projected cash flows,
discounted using long term
discount rate that reflect
the risk inherent to the
investment in these equity
instruments

Significant unobservable
inputs

Long term discount rate 9%
(31 December 2023: 9%)

Future free cash flows

Long term discount rate
15.5% (31 December 2023:
15.5%)

Future free cash flows

Sensitivity of input to
fair value

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
(decrease] in the discount rate
would decrease (increase) the fair
value by Rs. 5,570 thousand (Rs.
6,960 thousand] (31 December

2023: Rs.5,545 thousand (Rs. 4,933
thousand)).

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease] in the future free cash
flows would increase (decrease)

the fair value by Rs. 2,360 thousand
(Rs. 2,270 thousand) (31 December
2023: Rs. 2,351 thousand (Rs. 2,263
thousand))

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
(decrease) in the discount rate would
decrease (increase] the fair value by
Rs.264,820 thousand (Rs. 298,970
thousand) (31 December 2023:

Rs. 363,425 thousand (Rs. 413,156
thousand))

1% (31 December 2023: 1%) increase
[decrease) in the future free cash
flows would increase (decrease) the
fair value by Rs. 189,040 thousand
[Rs. 182,800 thousand) (31 December
2023: Rs. 246,260 thousand (Rs.
231,748 thousand))
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Valuation techniques for assets / liabilities categorized into level 3

Type Valuation technique

Market Treasury Bills

Federal Government securities

Forward exchange contracts

The fair value of market treasury bills is determined using the prices /
rates from Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP).

The fair value of Federal Government securities is determined using
the prices / rates from Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP).

The fair values of forward exchange contracts transactions are
determined using forward pricing calculations.

473

Financial instruments by categories - 2024

Financial assets as per consolidated
statement of financial position

Long term other investments
Loans and advances

Trade debts and contract assets
Loans to banking customers
Other receivables

Short term investments

Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities as per consolidated
statement of financial position

Loans from Banks
Subordinated debts

Vendor liability

Trade and other payables
Security deposits

Unpaid / unclaimed dividend
License fee payable

Lease liabilities

Interest accrued

Short term running finance

FVOCI - FVTPL - FVTPL - FVOCI-  Financial assets
equity equity debt debt at amortized
instruments instruments instruments instruments cost Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
51,427 51,427
- 15,987 444 15,987 4bk
64,355,709 64,355,709
74,466,860 74,466,860
- - 27,855,668 27,855,668
1,697,008 147,339,031 12195250 161,231,289
- - 24,141,001 24,141,001

Amortized cost

239,754,952
1,000,000
66,382,081
139,984,582
1,694,053
208,131
11,128,255
16,888,407
6,716,644
51,678,636
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FvoCl - FVTPL - FVTPL - FVOCI-  Financial assets
equity equity debt debt at amortized
instruments instruments instruments instruments cost Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Financial instruments by categories - 2023
Financial assets as per consolidated
statement of financial position
Long term other investments 51,427 - - - - 51,427
Loans and advances - - - - 12979467 12,979,467
Trade debts and contract assets - - - - 56377374 56,377,374
Loans to banking customers - - - - 82,087560 82,087,560
Other receivables - - - - 30,158,568 30,158,568
Short term investments - 567039 2274782 38,139,554 5,064,504 51,149,234
Cash and bank balances - - - - 20,127,045 20,127,045
Financial liabilities as per consolidated
statement of financial position Amortized cost
Loans from banks 122,380,402
Subordinated debts 1,149,701
Vendor liability 67,616,244
Trade and other payables 126,585,304
Security deposits 1,439,771
Unpaid / unclaimed dividend 209,256
License fee payable 11,391,488
Lease liabilities 17,066,360
Interest accrued 4,973,189
Short term running finance 48,138,253

48.

Capital Risk Management

The Board's policy is to maintain an efficient capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence, and to sustain the future development of the Group’s business. The Board monitors the return
on capital employed, which the Group defines as operating income divided by total capital employed. The
Board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(i) to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders: and

(i} to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may, for example,
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce the debt.

The capital of U Bank is managed keeping in view the minimum CAR (15%) required by the Prudential
Regulations for Microfinance Banks / Institutions. The adequacy of the capital is tested with reference
to the risk-weighted assets of U Bank. The calculation of capital adequacy enables U Bank to assess the
long-term soundness. As U Bank conducts business on a wide area network basis, it is critical that U Bank
continuously monitor the exposure across the entire organization.
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49.

50.

Employees’ Provident Funds

Investments out of the provident funds have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of
the Companies Act ,2017 and the rules formulated for this purpose.

Transactions with related parties

The Government of Pakistan and Etisalat International Pakistan (EIP), UAE are the majority shareholders
of the Group. Additionally, the Group's associate T.F. Pipes Limited, Directors, Chief Executive, Key
management personnel and employees retirement benefits are also related parties of the Group. The
remuneration of the Directors, Chief Executive and Executives is given in note 45 to these Consolidated
Financial Statements. The amounts due from and due to these related parties are disclosed in the respective
notes including note 12, 13, 15, 22, 23, 25, 26, 29, 30, and 31. The Holding Company has also issued a letter
of comfort and corporate guarantee in favor of PTML and U Bank as disclosed in note 18.24. The Group had
transactions with the following related parties during the year:

Aggregate % of
shareholding in the

Particulars Holding Company

Shareholders
The Government of Pakistan 62.18%
Etisalat International Pakistan 26%

Associated undertakings
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation - Ultimate Parent Company Not applicable
Etisalat - Afghanistan Not applicable
Etihad Etisalat Company Not applicable
Etisalat - Egypt Not applicable
Etisalat - Nigeria Not applicable
Emirates Data Clearing House Not applicable
TF Pipes Limited Not applicable
Telecom Foundation Not applicable
Pakistan MNP Database (Guarantee] Limited Not applicable

Employees retirement benefit plans
Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust
PTCL - General Provident Fund Trust
PTML - Employees Provident Fund
PTCL - Employees Gratuity Fund
PTML - Employees Gratuity Fund
U Bank - Employees Provident Fund
U Bank - Employees Gratuity Fund

Other related parties
Pakistan Telecommunication Authority
Universal Service Fund - The Government of Pakistan
National ICT R&D Fund
Pakistan Electronic Media Regularity Authority

Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable

Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable
Not applicable

Chief Executive, directors and key management personnel

The Group also has transactions with Chief Executive Officer, directors and other key management

personnel which are disclosed in note 23 and 45 to these financial statements.
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Following particulars relate to the Holding and associated companies incorporated outside Pakistan with
whom the Group had entered into transactions during the year:

Names Country of Incorporation Basis of Association

Holding Company

Etisalat International Pakistan United Arab Emirates Holding Company

Associated Companies
Emirates Telecommunication Corporation  United Arab Emirates Associate of the Holding Company
Etisalat - Afghanistan Afghanistan Associate of the Holding Company
Etihad Etisalat Company (Mobily) Kingdom of Saudi Arabia  Associate of the Holding Company
Etisalat - Nigeria Nigeria Associate of the Holding Company
Emirates Data Clearing House United Arab Emirates Associate of the Holding Company

Details of Transactions with related parties

2024 2023
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Shareholders
Technical services assistance fee 6,798,458 5,759,237
Associates
Sale of goods and services 7,840,169 9,369,982
Purchase of goods and services 2,190,919 1,761,323
Expenses reimbursed to Pakistan
MNP Database (Guarantee) Limited = -
Rentals paid to Pakistan Telecommunication Employees Trust (PTET) 945,750 831,626
Employees retirement benefit plan
Contribution to PTET 990,436 959,087
Contribution to Gratuity Fund 382,094 250,894
Contribution to Provident Fund 106,322 82,610
Other related party
Charge under license obligations 2,842,722 2,482,838

Transactions with the entities controlled by Government of Pakistan, have not been separately disclosed as
these are ordinary transactions conducted in normal course of business.

51. Operating segment information

51.1 Management has determined the operating segments based on the information that is presented to the
Board of Directors for allocation of resources and assessment of performance. The Group is organized into
three operating segments i.e. fixed line communications (Wireline), wireless communications (Wireless)
and banking. The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from voice, data and other
services.

51.2 The Board of Directors monitor the results of the above mentioned segments for the purpose of making
decisions about the resources to be allocated and for assessing performance based on consolidated
comprehensive income for the year.
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51.3 The segment information for the reportable segments is as follows:

Wireline Wireless Banking Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Year ended December 31, 2024
Segment revenue 106,707,679 95,493,660 24,879,405 227,080,744
Inter - segment revenue (6,302,413) (996,363) = (7,298,776)
Revenue from external customers 100,405,266 94,497,297 24,879,405 219,781,968
Segment results 4,801,121 (9,858,724) (9,336,557) (14.,394,160)
Year ended December 31, 2023
Segment revenue 94,602,705 77,290,777 24,352,151 196,245,633
Inter - segment revenue (6,340,686) (1,237,699) (421) (7,578,806)
Revenue from external customers 88,262,019 76,053,078 24,351,730 188,666,827
Segment results 8,778,196 (24,966,827) (540,535) (16,729,166)
Information on assets and liabilities of the segments is as follows:
Wireline Wireless Banking Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
As at December 31, 2024
Segment assets 312,773,909 217,760,775 275,897,220 806,431,904
Segments liabilities 296,343,468 194,236,144 279,586,037 770,165,649
As at December 31, 2023
Segment assets 269,026,776 216,245,839 158,454,684 643,727,299
Segments liabilities 238,860,349 192,751,809 154,824,920 586,437,078
51.4 Other segment information is as follows:
Wireline Wireless Banking Total
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Year ended December 31, 2024
Depreciation 18,008,309 13,823,969 813,995 32,646,273
Amortization 747,637 6,848,703 126,836 7,723,176
Finance cost 21,995,397 19,106,143 11,532,012 52,633,552
Interest income 516,713 1,626,582 8,607,676 10,750,971
Income tax expense 2,039,017 (3,947,542) (4,594,419) (6,502,944)
Year ended December 31, 2023
Depreciation 16,543,159 12,827,888 655,771 30,026,818
Amortization 799,906 6,426,415 133,659 7,359,980
Finance cost 9,428,521 28,771,286 17,337,144 55,536,951
Interest income 278,778 (3,662,172) 16,877,207 13,493,813
Income tax expense 4,425,086 (9,895,679) (662,828) (6,133,421)

51.5

51.6

The Group’s customer base is diverse with no single customer accounting for more than 10% of net

revenues.

The amounts of revenue from external parties, total segment assets and segment liabilities are measured
in a manner consistent with that of the financial information reported to the Board of Directors.

279




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

52. Number of employees
2024 2023
(Number) (Number)
Total number of persons employed at year end 20,718 22,093
Average number of employees during the year 21,383 21,768
53. Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Gross amount Amount not in Net as per
subject scope of statement of
to offsetting Offset Net amount offsetting financial position
Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
As at December 31, 2024
Trade debts 43,855,454 (5,940,017) 37,915,437 34,405,319 72,320,756
Trade creditors (6,708,478) 5,940,017 (768,461)  (23,294,466) (24,062,927)
As at December 31, 2023
Trade debts 46,130,906 (6,953,681] 39,177,225 24,501,688 63,678,913
Trade creditors (9,941,501) 6,953,681 (2,987,820) (19,180,559 (22,168,379)
54. Restatement and reclassifications
54.1 Restatements

Certain prior period adjustments have been made in these consolidated financial statements, nature of
material adjustments are stated below:

One of the subsidiaries of the Holding Company, recognized deferred tax asset at a rate of 39% while
the Group’s effective tax rate is 29%. The comparative figures have been adjusted at 29%.

The Group has obtained exemption from the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) from applying the Effective
Interest Rate (EIR) method, in respect of its financial assets of U Bank. This has resulted in change in
accounting policy. Accordingly, the Group has adjusted the comparative figures.

Loans issued to employees at no interest or below-market rates, the difference between the fair value
and nominal value was recognized as an immediate loss in the statement of profit or loss, instead
of being treated as a deferred employee benefit. This deferred benefit reflects the value of interest
savings for employees. Accordingly, the Group has adjusted the comparative figures.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, grant income recognized in the statement of
profit or loss resulted in overstatement of ‘deferred government grant’. This has been adjusted by
recognizing additional grant income in appropriate periods.

Remaining adjustments, primarily relating to certain lease arrangements, property, plant and
equipment acquired under vendor liability and other assets of the Group, did not have significant
impact on figures reported in the statement of profit or loss. The Group has, however, adjusted the
comparative figures to enhance comparability.

The above-mentioned corrections have been retrospectively incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements, under the International Accounting Standard - 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, and the comparative financial amounts have been restated.
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The impact of these restatements along with reclassification as described in note 54.2 is reflected below:

As at December 31, 2023

As previously Impact of Impact of As
reported Reclassification Restatement Restated

Statement of Financial Position Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 257,309,044 115,598 (1,055,749) 256,368,893
ROU Assets 14,819,391 - (20,557) 14,798,834
Intangible Assets 59,366,749 - (15,224) 59,351,525
Loans to Banking Customers 23,012,862 (8,683,267) 289,926 14,619,521
Deferred Tax Asset 18,673,013 2,396,303 (1,376,937) 19,692,379
Stock in Trade, Stores and Spares 10,509,772 - (37,102) 10,472,670
Loans to Banking Customers 59,074,698 (1,730,003) - 57,344,695
Loans and Advances 2,704,285 107,568 569,606 3,381,459
Receivable from Government of Pakistan 2,164,072 (2,164,072) - -
Prepayments and Other Receivables 20,017,711 12,968,774 (237,599) 32,748,886
Short Term Investments 52,145,297 (883,269) (112,794) 51,149,234
Cash and Bank Balances 20,127,045 2,352 - 20,129,397
Others 103,669,806 - - 103,669,806
Total Assets 643,593,745 2,129,984 (1,996,430) 643,727,299
Liabilities
Long Term Loans from Banks (98,551,603) 1,465,334 - (97,086,269
Subordinated Debt (577,894) (571,807) - (1,149,701)
Customer Deposits (20,331,391 (18,211,920 - (38,543,311)
Lease Liability (12,933,697 150,950 (61,659) (12,844,406)
Employees’ Retirement Benefits (34,656,221) 1,705 - (34,654,516)
Deferred Government Grants (32,074,477) - 510,965 (31,563,512
Long Term Vendor Liability (50,806,408 (68,322) 661,847 (50,212,883
Trade and Other Payables (134,588,742) (5,541,564) - (140,130,306)
Customer Deposits (85,465,584) 19,946,351 - (65,519,233)
Subordinated debt (850,238) 850,238 - -
Lease Liability (4,071,005) (150,949) - (4,221,954)
Others (110,510,987 - - (110,510,987)
Total Liabilities (585,418,247) (2,129,984) 1,111,153 (586,437,078)
Equity
Accumulated loss (21,313,850) - (763,784) (22,077.634)
Statutory and other reserves 1,031,474 - (121,493 909,981
Others 78,457,874 - - 78,457,874
Total Equity 58,175,498 - (885,277) 57,290,221
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For the year ended December 31, 2023

As previously Impact of Impact of As

reported Reclassification Restatement Restated

Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000 Rs ‘000
Statement of Profit and Loss
Revenue 188,074,785 - 592,042 188,666,827
Cost of services (151,884,838) 5,889,115 64,108 (145,931,615
Administrative and general expenses (25,640,613) (843,611 (316,564) (26,800,788)
Selling and marketing expenses (10,734,108 (1,533,726 - (12,267,834)
Impairment loss on trade debts and

contract assets (1,191.121) - (202,422) (1,393,543

Other income 30,247,758 9,359 144,199 30,401,316
Finance costs and other expenses (51,778,864) (3,521,137) (236,950) (55,536,951)
Income tax 7,362,767 - (1,229,345) 6,133,422
Loss after taxation (15,544,234 - (1,184,932) (16,729,166)
Earning per share (EPS) - basic (3.05) - (0.23) (3.28)

54.2

Reclassifications

Prior year figures have been rearranged, wherever necessary, for better presentation

Reclassification of corresponding figures of the financial statements is given below:

From

Balance sheet

Receivable from Government of Pakistan

Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Short term investments

Trade and other payables

Long term loans to banking customers
Loans to banking customers
Prepayments and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Prepayments and other receivables
Long term loans from banks

Deposits from banking customers (ST)
Deposits from banking customers (ST)
Subordinated debt (ST)

Subordinated debt (ST)

Lease liability (LT)

Employees retirement benefits

Profit and loss account

Cost of services

Administrative and general expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
Cost of services

Cost of services

Other income

Cost of services

Selling and marketing expenses

To

Prepayments and other receivables
Long Term Vendor Liability

Trade and Other Payables

Cash and bank balances
Prepayments and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments and other receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax asset

Loans and advances

Trade and Other Payables

Deposits from banking customers (LT)
Trade and Other Payables
Subordinated debt (LT)

Trade and Other Payables

Lease liability (ST)

Trade and Other Payables

Finance costs

Finance costs

Finance costs

Cost of services

Administrative and general expenses
Administrative and general expenses
Finance costs

Finance costs

Finance costs

and comparison.

Amount
Rs ‘000

2,164,072
68,322
144,901
2,352
883,269
115,598
8,683,267
1,730,003
1,815,973
580,330
107,568
1,465,334
18,211,920
1,734,431
571,807
278,431
150,950
1,705

2,335,213
397,874
327,481
395,610

1,341,760

2,256,817

9,358
350,935
100,275
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54.3 Further, as the impact of above restatement and reclassification on balances presented as of January 01, 2023 is not
material, the consolidated statement of financial position as of that date has not been presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

55. Date of authorization for issue

55.1 These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company
as on February 11, 2025.

i:\NN\EJ @Wﬁ/

Chief Financial Officer President & CEO Chairman
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SHAREHOLDING

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

No. of Shareholdings Total shares
shareholders From To held

25,075 1 100 2,428,112
8,676 101 500 2,634,242
2,598 501 1,000 2,254,314
2,574 1,001 5,000 6,744,674
698 5,001 10,000 5,644,423
264 10,001 15,000 3,389,133
186 15,001 20,000 3,469,585
132 20,001 25,000 3,127,950
91 25,001 30,000 2,596,307
49 30,001 35,000 1,628,448
49 35,001 40,000 1,902,854
24 40,001 45,000 1,041,847
90 45,001 50,000 4,456,396
18 50,001 55,000 962,287
15 55,001 60,000 882,920
16 60,001 65,000 1,000,821
14 65,001 70,000 953,510
13 70,001 75,000 958,654
15 75,001 80,000 1,191,691
8 80,001 85,000 676,000
13 85,001 90,000 1,149,806
7 90,001 95,000 650,046
46 95,001 100,000 4,585,544
4 100,001 105,000 413,118

5 105,001 110,000 543,833

7 115,001 120,000 829,702

8 120,001 125,000 993,875

5 125,001 130,000 641,100

7 130,001 135,000 927,321

4 135,001 140,000 556,602

3 140,001 145,000 426,521
17 145,001 150,000 2,535,228
3 150,001 155,000 452,013

3 155,001 160,000 478,500

5 160,001 165,000 818,707

3 165,001 170,000 508,945

b 170,001 175,000 1,044,500

3 175,001 180,000 530,600

3 180,001 185,000 545,700

1 185,001 190,000 185,500

1 190,001 195,000 195,000
20 195,001 200,000 3,987,417
1 205,001 210,000 210,000

3 210,001 215,000 641,297

1 215,001 220,000 217,000

2 220,001 225,000 445,500

1 225,001 230,000 229,068

2 230,001 235,000 470,000

1 235,001 240,000 236,000

3 240,001 245,000 733,500

b 245,001 250,000 1,498,000

2 255,001 260,000 514,000

2 265,001 270,000 537,000

3 270,001 275,000 822,500

1 285,001 290,000 290,000

6 295,001 300,000 1,794,200

5 300,001 305,000 1,513,037

1 305,001 310,000 310,000

1 310,001 315,000 312,500

2 325,001 330,000 651,732

1 330,001 335,000 335,000

2 335,001 340,000 678,215

3 345,001 350,000 1,046,000
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SHAREHOLDING

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

No. of
shareholders

UG NN N G (NGNS N JRt QNSNS NS SN ) NEENS NS NN NO J 00 J S SN N N

From

350,001
355,001
360,001
370,001
385,001
395,001
400,001
405,001
430,001
435,001
440,001
445,001
450,001
470,001
490,001
495,001
505,001
520,001
525,001
540,001
545,001
565,001
595,001
605,001
625,001
645,001
675,001
690,001
695,001
745,001
765,001
790,001
795,001
800,001
825,001
870,001
880,001
890,001
895,001
900,001
940,001
945,001
975,001
995,001
1,080,001
1,125,001
1,170,001
1,245,001
1,250,001
1,255,001
1,325,001
1,375,001
1,395,001
1,495,001
1,505,001
1,510,001
1,530,001
1,545,001
1,570,001
1,580,001
1,625,001
1,635,001
1,795,001

Shareholdings

To

355,000
360,000
365,000
375,000
390,000
400,000
405,000
410,000
435,000
440,000
445,000
450,000
455,000
475,000
495,000
500,000
510,000
525,000
530,000
545,000
550,000
570,000
600,000
610,000
630,000
650,000
680,000
695,000
700,000
750,000
770,000
795,000
800,000
805,000
830,000
875,000
885,000
895,000
900,000
905,000
945,000
950,000
980,000
1,000,000
1,085,000
1,130,000
1,175,000
1,250,000
1,255,000
1,260,000
1,330,000
1,380,000
1,400,000
1,500,000
1,510,000
1,515,000
1,535,000
1,550,000
1,575,000
1,585,000
1,630,000
1,640,000
1,800,000

Total shares
held

353,900
360,000
365,000
375,000
387,073
1,200,000
801,377
410,000
430,500
439,218
445,000
1,350,000
451,500
475,000
494,000
2,997,006
509,877
525,000
526,000
545,000
550,000
566,490
599,000
1,214,374
626,000
650,000
678,500
690,400
2,100,000
750,000
770,000
793,175
800,000
803,605
830,000
870,500
883,000
890,318
900,000
902,645
941,100
950,000
980,000
4,000,000
1,083,103
1,130,000
1,171,330
1,250,000
1,254,849
1,260,000
1,326,000
1,378,643
1,400,000
1,500,000
1,505,500
1,510,300
1,530,600
1,550,000
1,572,500
1,581,500
1,630,000
1,635,790
1,800,000
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No. of Shareholdinas Total shares
shareholders From 9 To held
1 1,855,001 1,860,000 1,860,000
1 2,000,001 2,005,000 2,004,498
1 2,030,001 2,035,000 2,032,962
1 2,095,001 2,100,000 2,100,000
1 2,140,001 2,145,000 2,140,189
1 2,195,001 2,200,000 2,200,000
1 2,205,001 2,210,000 2,208,931
2 2,270,001 2,275,000 4,549,455
1 2,335,001 2,340,000 2,339,884
1 2,395,001 2,400,000 2,400,000
1 2,495,001 2,500,000 2,500,000
1 2,515,001 2,520,000 2,516,029
1 2,615,001 2,620,000 2,617,562
1 2,720,001 2,725,000 2,721,500
1 2,735,001 2,740,000 2,737,000
1 2,825,001 2,830,000 2,825,067
1 2,995,001 3,000,000 3,000,000
1 3,080,001 3,085,000 3,084,050
1 3,280,001 3,285,000 3,284,139
1 3,345,001 3,350,000 3,347,600
1 3,685,001 3,690,000 3,688,900
1 3,895,001 3,900,000 3,900,000
2 3,995,001 4,000,000 8,000,000
1 4,495,001 4,500,000 4,500,000
1 4,985,001 4,990,000 4,989,500
1 4,995,001 5,000,000 5,000,000
1 5,135,001 5,140,000 5,138,126
1 5,335,001 5,340,000 5,335,915
1 5,495,001 5,500,000 5,500,000
1 5,945,001 5,950,000 5,950,000
1 6,545,001 6,550,000 6,550,000
1 6,860,001 6,865,000 6,865,000
1 6,995,001 7,000,000 7,000,000
1 8,015,001 8,020,000 8,016,992
1 8,150,001 8,155,000 8,153,908
1 8,635,001 8,640,000 8,635,019
1 9,000,001 9,005,000 9,000,010
1 22,590,001 22,595,000 22,595,000
1 48,070,001 48,075,000 48,072,693
1 50,875,001 50,880,000 50,879,599
1 55,890,001 55,895,000 55,893,800
1 57,060,001 57,065,000 57,060,074
1 61,060,001 61,065,000 61,060,637
1 196,385,001 196,390,000 196,387,991
1 407,805,001 407,810,000 407,809,524
1 918,190,001 918,195,000 918,190,476
1 2,974,680,001 2,974,685,000 2,974,680,002

40,956 5,100,000,000




SHAREHOLDERS

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

S. No. of Shares
No. Categories of Shareholders Shareholders Held Percentage
1 Directors, Chief Executive Officer,

and their spouses and minor children 9 9 0.00
2 President of Pakistan 2 3,171,067,993 62.18
3 Associated Companies, Undertakings

and related Parties 2 1,326,000,000 26.00
4 NIT and ICP 2 3,000 0.00
5 Banks, Development Financial Institutions,

Non Banking Financial Institutions 17 100,002,804 1.96
6 Insurance Companies 9 70,678,531 1.39
7 Modarabas and Mutual Funds 34 50,244,774 0.99
8 Shareholders holding 10% 1 2,974,680,002 58.33
9 General Public

a. local 40,461 219,701,545 4.31

b. Foreign 192 126,700 0.00
10 Others 228 162,174,644 3.18

Total (excluding : shareholders holding 10%) 40,956 5,100,000,000 100.00

Trades in PTCL Shares

The Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary, Head of Internal Audit and
their spouses and minor children have not traded in PTCL shares during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

S. Number of Number of
No. Shareholder’s category shareholders  shares held

i Associated Companies, Undertaking and Related Parties

ETISALAT INTERNATIONAL PAKISTAN (LLC) - FIRST CDC ACCOUNT 1 918,190,476
ETISALAT INTERNATIONAL PAKISTAN (LLC) SECOND CDC ACCOUNT 1 407,809,524
TOTAL 2 1,326,000,000

ii. Mutual Funds

CDC - TRUSTEE AKD INDEX TRACKER FUND 1 7,000,000
CDC - TRUSTEE AL HABIB ASSET ALLOCATION FUND 1 248,000
CDC - TRUSTEE AL HABIB STOCK FUND 1 2,275,000
CDC - TRUSTEE ALFALAH GHP ALPHA FUND 1 5,950,000
CDC - TRUSTEE ALFALAH GHP ISLAMIC DEDICATED EQUITY FUND 1 60,000
CDC - TRUSTEE ALFALAH GHP ISLAMIC STOCK FUND 1 195,127
CDC - TRUSTEE ALFALAH GHP STOCK FUND 1 599,000
CDC - TRUSTEE ALFALAH GHP VALUE FUND 1 5,335,915
CDC - TRUSTEE FIRST CAPITAL MUTUAL FUND 1 250,000
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL - STOCK FUND 1 2,140,189
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL EQUITY FUND 1 2,737,000
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL FINANCIAL SECTOR INCOME FUND PLAN | - MT 1 165,000
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL GROWTH FUND 1 2,274,455
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL INVESTMENT FUND 1 750,000
CDC - TRUSTEE HBL ISLAMIC EQUITY FUND 1 1,083,103
CDC - TRUSTEE JS MOMENTUM FACTOR EXCHANGE TRADED FUND 1 3,284,139
CDC - TRUSTEE MCB PAKISTAN ASSET ALLOCATION FUND 1 1,000,000
CDC - TRUSTEE MCB PAKISTAN STOCK MARKET FUND 1 3,688,900
CDC - TRUSTEE NATIONAL INVESTMENT (UNIT) TRUST 1 1,860,000
CDC - TRUSTEE NBP INCOME OPPORTUNITY FUND 1 135,000
CDC - TRUSTEE NBP MAHANA AMDANI FUND - MT 1 10,000
CDC - TRUSTEE NBP SAVINGS FUND - MT 1 830,000
CDC - TRUSTEE NBP STOCK FUND 1 2,339,884
CDC - TRUSTEE NIT STATE ENTERPRISE FUND 1 1,378,643
CDC - TRUSTEE NIT-EQUITY MARKET OPPORTUNITY FUND 1 902,645
CDC - TRUSTEE PAKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND 1 50,000
CDC - TRUSTEE UBL ASSET ALLOCATION FUND 1 365,000
CDC - TRUSTEE UBL RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND - EQUITY SUB FUND 1 229,068
CDC - TRUSTEE UBL STOCK ADVANTAGE FUND 1 2,208,931
TOTAL 29 49,344,999

iii Directors and their spouses

MR. ABDULRAHIM A. AL NOORYAN!I
DR. MOHAMED KARIM BENNIS
MR. AHAD KHAN CHEEMA

MS. BROOKE MARIE LINDSAY

MR. KHALID MURSHED

MR. IMDAD ULLAH BOSAL

MR. JAWAD PAUL KHAWAJA

MR. KHALED HEGAZY

MR. AZFAR MANZOOR

TOTAL 9
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CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Number of Number of

S. No. Shareholder’s category shareholders  shares held
iv. Executives

TOTAL - -
V. Public Sector Companies and Corporations

TOTAL 3 113,307,774
vi. Banks, Development Financial Institutions,

Non-Banking Financial Institutions, Insurance Companies,

Takaful, Modaraba and Pension Funds

TOTAL 33 115,076,113
vii.  Shareholders holding five percent or more

voting Rights in the Listed Company

ETISALAT INTERNATIONAL PAKISTAN (LLC) - FIRST CDC ACCOUNT 1 918,190,476

ETISALAT INTERNATIONAL PAKISTAN (LLC) SECOND CDC ACCOUNT 1 407,809,524

PRESIDENT OF PAKISTAN 1 2,974,680,002

PRESIDENT OF PAKISTAN 1 196,387,991

TOTAL 4 4,497,067,993
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THIRTIETH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the thirtieth Annual General Meeting (the ‘meeting’] of Pakistan Telecommunication
Company Limited (the "Company’) will be held on Wednesday, April 30, 2025 at 10:30 a.m. at PTCL Nest Office,
Sector G-8/4, Islamabad, to transact the following business:

1. To confirm minutes of the 8th Extraordinary General Meeting held on November 6, 2024.

2. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2024, together
with the Auditors” and Directors’ reports.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 223(6) of the Companies Act, 2017 (the “Act’], the Annual
Audited Financial Statements of the Company have been uploaded on the website of the Company
which can be downloaded from the following link and/or QR enabled code:

Weblink QR Code

https://ptcl.com.pk/uploads/Annual%20Report%202024.pdf

3. To appoint Auditors for the financial year ending December 31, 2025 and to fix their remuneration.

4. To transact any other business with the permission of the Chair.

By order of the Board

x.g 3 _HQ
Islamabad Zahida Awan
Dated: April 7, 2025. Group Company Secretary
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Notes:

1.

Participation in the Annual General Meeting

In compliance with the instructions of Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (the ‘Commission’]
promulgated vide its various Circulars, the Members are encouraged to attend the AGM through video-
link or by consolidating their attendance through proxies. The Members who are willing to attend and
participate at the AGM through video-link are required to register their particulars by sending an email at
company.secretary(@ptclgroup.com. Such Members are requested to register by providing their credentials
i.e. Name, Folio Number, Scanned copy of CNIC (both sides), Cell Phone Number and Number of Shares
held in their name through email with subject ‘Registration for PTCL's AGM'. Video link and login details will
be shared with only those Members whose emails, containing all the required particulars, are received at
the given email address before 05:00 p.m. on April 28, 2025. The Members can also provide their comments
and suggestions related to the agenda items of the AGM at email address: company.secretary@ptclgroup.
com

The Company will follow the best practices and comply with the instructions of the Government and the
Commission to ensure protective measures are in place for wellbeing of its Members.

As per directions of the Commission, no gifts will be distributed at the meeting.

Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint another person as his/
her proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf. A corporate entity, being a member, may appoint any person,
regardless of whether he is a member or not, as its proxy. In case of corporate entities, a resolution of the
Board of Directors /Power of Attorney with specimen signatures of the person nominated to represent and
vote on behalf of the corporate entity shall be submitted to the Company along with a completed proxy
form. Proxies in order to be effective must be received by the Company at the Registered Office not less
than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting.

Closure of Share Transfer Books

The Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from April 19, 2025 to April 30, 2025 (both days
inclusive). Transfers received by our Share Registrar, FAMCO Share Registration Services (Pvt.) Limited at
8-F, Near Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block-6, P.E.C.H.S., Shahra-e-Faisal, Karachi at the close of business on
April 18, 2025 will be treated in time for the purpose to attend the Annual General Meeting.

Change of Address

Members holding shares in physical form are requested to notify any change in address immediately
to our Share Registrar, FAMCO Share Registration Services (Pvt.) Limited. Members holding shares in
CDC/Participants accounts are requested to update their addresses with CDC or their Participants/Stock
Brokers.

Notice to shareholders who have not provided their CNICs

As per directives of the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan ("SECP”) issued vide S.R.0 No.
831(1)/2012 dated July 5, 2012, the dividend warrants should bear the Computerized National Identity Card
Number ("CNIC") of the registered shareholder or the authorized person, except in case of minor(s) and
corporate shareholder(s]). Members who have not yet submitted photocopies of their valid CNICs are once
again requested to provide the same with their respective folio numbers to Company’'s Share Registrar,
FAMCO Share Registration Services [Pvt.) Limited to ensure disbursement of their dividend withheld with
the Company. Members holding shares in CDC/Participants accounts are also requested to update their
CNIC/NTN with CDC or their Participants/Stock Brokers.
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5. Payment of dividend electronically (e-mandate])

Under the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, it is mandatory for a listed Company to
pay cash dividend to its shareholders only through electronic mode directly into bank account designated
by the entitled shareholders.

In order to receive dividends directly into their bank account, shareholders holding shares in physical form
are requested to fill in Electronic Credit Mandate Form available on Company’s website and send it duly
signed along with a copy of CNIC to the Company’s Share Registrar, FAMCO Share Registration Services
(Pvt.] Limited at 8-F, Near Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block-6, P.E.C.H.S., Shahra-e-Faisal, Karachi.

Shareholders who hold shares with CDC or Participants/ Stock Brokers, are advised to provide the mandate
to CDC or their Participants/ Stock Brokers.

6. Further Guidelines for CDC Account Holders

CDC account holders will have to follow the guidelines issued by the SECP through its Circular 1 of January
26, 2000, stated herein below:

A. For Attending the Meeting

(i) In case of individuals, the account holder or sub account holder and/or the person whose securities
are in group account and their registration details are uploaded as per the Regulations, shall
authenticate his/her identity by showing his/her original CNIC or original passport at the time of
attending the Meeting.

(i) In case of corporate entity, a resolution of the Board of Directors / Power of Attorney with specimen
signature of the nominee shall be produced [unless the same has been provided to the Company
earlier] at the time of the Meeting.

B. For appointing Proxies

(i) In case of individuals, the account holder or sub-account holder and/or the person whose securities
are in group account and their registration details are uploaded as per the Regulations shall submit
the proxy form as per the above requirement.

(ii) The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons, whose names, addresses and CNIC numbers
shall be stated on the proxy form.

(i) Attested copies of CNICs or passports of the beneficiary owner and the proxy shall be attached with
the proxy form.

(iv]  The proxy shall produce his/her original CNIC or original passport at the time of the Meeting.

(v) In case of corporate entity, a resolution of the Board of Directors/ Power of Attorney with specimen
signature should be submitted along with the proxy form to the Company.

7. Consent for Video Conference Facility

Members can also avail video conference facility in Karachi & Lahore. In this regard, please fill the following
and submit to registered address of the Company at least 10 days before holding of the meeting.

The video facility will be provided only if the Company receives consent from members holding in aggregate
10% or more shareholding residing at Karachi or Lahore, to participate in the meeting through video
conference at least 10 days prior to date of meeting, the Company will arrange video conference facility in
that city subject to availability of such facility in that city.
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The Company will intimate members regarding venue of video conference facility at least 5 days before the
date of meeting along with complete information necessary to enable them to access such facility.

I/we of , being a member of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited
holder of Ordinary Shares(s) as per Register Folio No. hereby opt for video
conference facility at

Signature of member

8. Circulation of annual audited financial statements through QR enabled code and weblink

As allowed by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide its Notification S.R.0.
389(1)/2023 dated March 21, 2023, the shareholders of the Company in their general meeting held on April
28, 2023 had authorized the Company to circulate the annual audited financial statements through QR
enabled code and weblink instead of circulating the same through CD/DVD/USB. Soft copies of the Annual
Audited Financial Statements are available on Company’s official website www.ptcl.com.pk.

9. Deduction of withholding tax on the amount of dividend

The following information is being disseminated for information of the members in accordance with the
instructions of the SECP promulgated vide its Circular No. 19/2014 of October 24, 2014;

(i) The Government of Pakistan through Finance Act has made certain amendments in section 150 of
the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 whereby different rates are prescribed for deduction of withholding
tax on the amount of dividend paid by the companies. These tax rates are as under:

al For filers of income tax returns: 15%

b) For non-filers of income tax returns: 30%

All shareholders whose names are not entered into the Active Tax-pavers List (ATL) provided on the
website of FBR, despite the fact that they are filers, are advised to make sure that their names are
entered into ATL before the date for payment of future cash dividend otherwise tax on their cash
dividend will be deducted as per the rates prescribed by the authority.

(i) Forany further query/ problem /information, the investors may contact Company’s Share Registrar,
FAMCO Share Registration Services (Pvt.) Limited, 8-F, Near Hotel Faran, Nursery, Block-6,
P.E.C.H.S., Shahra-e-Faisal, Karachi (Ph. # +9221- 34380101 and +9221-34380102. Email: info.
sharesfdfamcosrs.com).

(i) The corporate shareholders having CDC accounts are required to have their National Tax Number
("NTN") updated with their respective participants, whereas corporate physical shareholders should
send a copy of their NTN certificate to Company or its Share Registrar, FAMCO Share Registration
Services (Pvt.) Limited. The shareholders while sending NTN or NTN certificates, as the case may
be, must quote company name and their respective folio numbers.

10. Conversion of physical shares into book entry form

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 72(2) of the Companies Act, 2017, Shareholders having physical
shareholding are encouraged to open a CDC Sub - Account with any authorized Broker or Investor Account
directly with CDC, to convert their existing physical shares into scrip less form. It would be pertinent to note
that per the existing regulations of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited, trading of physical shares is not
permitted. Conversion of physical shares into scrip less form will facilitate the shareholders in many ways
e.g. safe custody and ease of sale or purchase of shares at their convenience.
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PROXY optel

PAKISTAN TELECOMMUNICATION COMPANY LIMITED

|/ We

of

being a member of Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited, and a holder of

Ordinary Shares as per Share Register Folio No. and/or CDC Participant 1.D. No.

hereby appoint Mr./Mrs_/Miss

of as my / our proxy to vote for me / us and on my / our behalf
at the Thirtieth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday, April 30, 2025 at 10:30 a.m. and at any
adjournment thereof.

Signed this day of 2025.

Five Rupees
Revenue stamp

For beneficial owners as per CDC List.

1.  Witness 2.  Witness
Signature Signature
Name Name
Address Address
CNIC No. - - CNIC No. - -
or Passport No. or Passport No.
Notes:
i) The proxy need not be a member of the Company. v If a proxy is granted by a member who has

deposited his / her shares into Central Depository
Company of Pakistan Limited, the proxy must
be accompanied with participant’s ID number

i) The instrument appointing a proxy must be duly
stamped, signed and deposited at the office of
the Company Secretary PTCL‘ PTCL Head Office, and account / sub-account number along with
Ufone Tower, Plot 55C, Jinnah Avenue, BlueArea, attested copies of the Computerized National
Islamabad, not less than 48 hours before the time dentity Card (CNIC) or the Passport of the

fixed for holding the meeting. beneficial owner. Representatives of corporate

i) Signature of the appointingmember should match members should bring the usual documents
with his / her specimen signature registered with required for such purpose.
the Company.




AFFIX
CORRECT
POSTAGE

To,

The Company Secretary,

Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited
Room # 100, Block E, PTCL Nest Office,

Sector G-8/4, Islamabad-44000
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To, .

The Company Secretary, d/"/gtf’r
Pakistan Telecommunication Company Limited W&;{ﬁ{[xvg&
Room # 100, Block E, PTCL Nest Office, s . 5 .
Sector G-8/4, Islamabad-44000 U Tt GG E S <100 4
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Pakistan Telecommunication
Company Limited

PTCL Head Office Room #17, Ufone
Tower, Plot #55-C, Main Jinnah Avenue,
Sector F-7/1, Blue Area, Islamabad





